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A.B.N 88 000 014 675

24 October 2006

The Manager, Companies
Australian Stock Exchange Limited
Company Announcements Office
Level 4

20 Bridge Streef

SYDNEY NSW 2000

Dear Sir/Madam

RE:  Woolworths Limited — Listing Rules 3.17. 4.5 and 4.7

Woolworths Limited advises that the 2006 Annual Report, Notice of Annual General Meeting
and Proxy Forny, will be lodged with Australia Post for dispatch to shareholders today, 24
October 2006.

The Annual General Meeting is to be held on Friday 24 November 2006 at the Parkside
Auditorium, Sydney Convention and Exhibitien Centre, Darling Harbour, Sydney NSW,
cormmencing at 11lam and will be broadcast live on the Woolworths Limited website at
www.woolworthslimited.com.au, for those shareholders who are unable to attend the meeting.

Copies of the documents to be mailed are attached.

For and on behalf of
WOOLWORTHS LIMITED

i

PETER J HORTON
COMPANY SECRETARY

1 Woolworths Way, Bella Vista, NSW 2153 PO Box 8000, Baulkham Hills, NSW 2153 Australia
Telephone {623 8885 6000 Facsimile £02) 8888 6001
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Sales up 20.4%
from continoing
aperalions.

Earnings before
inkerest and
taxation (EBFT)
up 32.3% to
$1,722.2 miflion.

Total sales for this
vear comparad with
lagt vear up 20.4%
bor $37.734 mition.

EBIT marging
irapraved from
4.16% in 2005
4.56% tn 2006,

Earnings before
interest, taxation,
depreciation

and amaortisation
(EBITDA)

ap HLEY to
$2,244.4 million.

Barnings per shave
(EPS) up 14.8%

by YLD cents
(ATFRS adjusted).

Final dividend
per share (DIPS)
A1 cents to bring
Eoskal DPS for the

vear fo 59 cents, up

15, 7% with total
dividend paid and
proposed for the
year amounting

to approximately
$692.4 mitlion.

Reduction in
iventory days
{excluding
Progressive and
Taverner) from
304 davs to
291 days, a
recuction of

1.3 days.

Net operating profit
after tax up 24.3%
0 1,076 millon.
Average retuin on
funds employed
(ROFE) was 28.6%.
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James Strong,
Chairman,

Rager Corbett,
nutgoing Chief
Exscative Officer and
MWichae! Luscornbe,

Chief Operating Officer,

CHAIRMAN’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS

EPS {cents)

RECORD RESULTS

[am pleased to report on another outstanding vear
for Woolworths, with Roger Corbett (in his [ast vear
as Group Managing Director and CEO) and his
management team agatn delivering record results
actoss a wide range of performance criteria.

This is highlighted by the achievement of a net
profit after tax of $1 billion for the first time, a real
landmark. It has enabled the deltvery of excellent
returns for shareholders with earnings per share
increasing by 14.8% and with a total dividend of
59 cents per share, up 15.7%.

KEY PRIORITIES

The continuing improvement over the last eight
vears reflects the constant focus on two key priorities
= driving cost reductions and efficiency, combined
with healthy growth internally and by acquisitions.

The huge improvements via Project Refresh and
building a new supply chain system have ensured
Woolworths ts at worild standards in terms of
efficiency and cost-effectiveness. These are a great
credit to the tearns throughout the Group who have
planned, implemented and refined these complex
arrangements to make them a great contributor to
the future of the business for many years ahead.

COMPETITIVE ENVIRONMENT
All of thig has been achieved in a very competitive

environment, and some pressures on the prevailing
econamic climate in parts of the market.

SUCC

FUL ACOQUISITIONS
A forther testament to a well-balanced performance
brv Roger Corbett and his team i the simultancous
acquisitions and integration of major new assebs,
including Progressive Enterprises Limited
supertmarket operations in New Zealand, the
Taverner Hotel Group, the Bruce Mathieson Group
(BMC) and the Australian Leisure and Hospitality
Group (ALF.
TRIBUTE TO ROGER CORBETT
O behalf of all shareholders and the Board,
Ewould like to pay tribute to Roger Corbett for an
outstanding performance ag Managing Director and
Chief Executive. His period of leadership has seen
Woolworths transformed to great advantage for its
investors and staff,
Roger has shown remarkable dedication, energy,
passion and high ethical standards which have set
a wonderful example for everyone tn the Group.
The Board acted very deliberately to ensure Roger
will be available for selected tasks and advice without
i any way cutting across the role of his successor as
CEQ, Michael Luscombe,

MICHAEL LUSCOMBE

The Board was delighted to appoint Michaed to
become CEO and Managing Director from within
our talented sentor management ensuring a
smooth transition with continuity and his long-
term expertence.

Orver the recent vears, the standard of its
management beam and their stability has been a
major factor in the success of the Woolworths Group.

Large, complex enterprises must have very competent
teams driving every detailed part of the bustness.

GOVERNANCE

This Annual Report contains a section dedicated
to reporting on our continted attention to higi's
standards of governance. Woolworths has a small
but dedicated Board of Directors, and | thank them
for thely part in the success of the Group.

CONTRIBUTION BY OUR PEOPLE

Woolworths has an ih"lpi’t“;‘;f'\ft" and dedicated tearmn
of approximately 175,000 people spread across many
operations and stores. Our performance is a resalt
of their efforts, individually and collectively.

On behalf of the Board, [ thank them for their
contribution, enthustasin and pride in our business.

{ o3

At

IAMES STRONG
CHAIRMAN



GROUP MANAGING
DIRECTOR’S REPORT

O behall of my colieagues and ali of the
approximately 175, (K members of the Woolworths
tearn, [ am proud to report to vou another excellent
result for the financial vear 2005/2006. This vear
our net profit atter tax (NPAT) exceeded $1 billion
{51, 0144 million) for the fivst time In Woolworths'
history, which is an oulstanding result and milestone
for the Group. This result reflects the commitment and
dedication of the Woolworths' team and consistent
delivery against our clearly articulated strategies.

The strong operating performance this veas
was achieved despite undertaking significant
transforming business changes, incurring one-off
costs associated with the transition to our new supply
chain and the focus on Integrating our acquisitions.
The management tearn al Woolworths has performed
outstandingly, keeping focused on the customer in a
challenging and transitiontng veay.

TRADING ACHIEVEMENTS

Our Australian Supermarket divigion traded
strongly. Comparable sales growth was skrong over
the vear and consistent with expectations.

The New Zealand Supermarket division traded
above our expectations. Woolworths acquired this
busiress on 2 November 2005, There are significant
apportunities to enhance this business with good
progress being made on many of these initiatives.

BIG W had a solid result for the vear in a difficuit
market. Sales exceeded $3 billton for the fivst time in
BIG Ws trading history and compasable sales growth
for the vear wasg broadly in line with expectations,
despite a tightening of discretionary spending.

There continues to be positive widespread acceptance
of aur Every Day Low Pricing strategy.

Dick Smith Electronies produced an excellent
restlt with double-digit sales and EBIT growth.
Comparable sales {after adjusting for the impact
of negative movements in the New Zealand dollax)
also increased by a healthy 10.6%, carrying on
from the excelient comparable sales growth shown
in 2005,

Petrol now has comprehensive coverage acre
Australia and continues to deliver significant retail
volumes of petroleum products, whilst providing

avalued discount to our Supermarket and BHG W
customers. With full vear petrol sales of $4.4 billion
and a network of 491 sites across Australia, we are
weli-placed to continue to grow and consolidate this
key business.

Liquor - The continued developrment and roflout
of our liquor outlets across Australla, trading under
the brand names of Woolworths Liquor, BWS and
Pran Murphy's, has allowed us bo meet our stated
medium-term target of $3.5 billion in annoaal liquor
sales even eatlier than expected. Ab vear end we had
over ote thousand lquor outlets around Australia,

BUSINESS ACHIEVEMENTS

Significant benefits are being achieved from
improving the IT and supply chain proces
{Project Refresh) to world-class standards and now
we are starting to reap the benefits arising from these
improvements. These initiabives provide Woolworths
with a major strategic advantage going forward and
underpin our forecast cost reductions,

Sitce its inception in 1999 Project Refresh has
concentrated on a number of initatives including
a major business restructuring program which saw
signiftcant changes in the way we do business.
Over the past seven vears to the end of FYD6,
Project Refresh has deltvered cost savings amounting
to 4.51% of sales. Measured in terms of dellars,
this was a cumulative saving of $5.3 biilion.

ACQUISITION ACHIEVEMENTS

o

TFhree significant acquisitions have been undertaken
during the yvear: Progresstve New Zealand {including
20 ex-FAL Australian supermarkets), Taverner and
BMCG. Each of these acquisitions has contributed
significantly to the Group result and we have
already made excellent progress in integrating these
operations into the Group.

Qur expansion info New Zealand has been
particulatly pleasing as this has expanded our base
mavrket and allows us to wtilise our organisational
strengbhs bo directly benefit the ultimate consumer
by way of better value, increased range and customer
focused service. Qur initial initiatives in the
New Zealand market have been well recetved and




we look forward to expanding on the goodwill we
have developed and improving the overall shopping
experience across this market.

iy hotel acquisitions have provided an
appoertunity to refocus out efforts on repositioning
and improving our performance in all areas of our
hetel and retail liquor businesses. There have been
outstanding improvements in the cost of doing
business in our Hotels division as a number of
initiatives implemented post-acquisition, including
restructuring and rationalising of support offices,
systems and processes, have allowed tor improved
operating efficiencies at all venwes. Further, we have
also continued and enharnced our focus on our efforts
i regard to responsible gaming practices.

Duying the vear we also completed the successful
sale of eleven of our Distribution Centres for
$846 million. The transaction was very competitively
priced and provides Woolworths with the Hexibility
toratter and adapt its Distribution Centres to meet its
changing operational needs over time.

THE FUTURE

The past vear has been an exciting and challenging
one for Woolworths and T am greatly indebted to
e Board, my colleagues and our supply partners
for their continued support and dedication.

Our performance i3 truly indicative of the hard work
and commitment of Woolworths people at every
level of our business and my thanks go to each one
of them. Indeed, T firmly believe that the finest retail
leaders in this country wear a Woolworths name
badge. H is the continued efforts of all these people
that ensure Woolworths has excellent foundations for
continued growth.

Finally, | want to take this opportunity to thank
all the staff of Woolworths for making me part of
this family for many years. [ have been fortunate to
meet countless emplovees, suppliers and customers
over this Hime, and it is truly the people that make
this company great. I leave Woolworths in the
most capable hands of the Board and Michael
Luscombe. T lnow they will be ably supported by
Wouolworths” extremely strong, stable and expetienced
management team and the dedicated people who
serve and support the customers in all of our stores,
[ feel proud that F have been a part of the drive to
propel the company to greater success and market
leadership whilst matntaining our core values and
cuitere. s on that confident note | can say, that the
best is yet to come.

()L_\_/UJL

ROGER CORBETT
GROUP MANAGING DIRECTOR AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The strong operating performance
this year was achieved despite
undertaking significant transforming
business changes, incurring one-o
costs associated with the transition
to our new supply chain and the
focus on integrating our acquisitions.
The management team at Woolworths
has performed outstandingly,
keeping focused on the customer in a
challenging and transitioning year.









Group Managing Direstor's Report

AUSTRALIAN
SUPERMARKET DIVISION

(INCLUDING LIQUOR AND PETROL)

Dhuring the vear 46 new supermarkets were opened
£k 29 stores, 2H: 17 stores) which includes 20 ex-
FAL Australian stores (from 2 November 2005}, Total
trading area in Australian Supermarket grew by 6.1%
which was in excess of ouy stated range due to the
ex-FAL Australian stores acquired during the vear.
The buik of the stores were opened towards the end of
each half vear.

Inventory levels for the year for the Australian
Supermarket division were down by half a day
fexcluding the one-off impact of 20 ex-FAL Australian
stores and Taverner retatl}. This is despite the impact
of dual stocking requived during bransitioning to
our new DHstribution Centres (DCs) and the impact
of mowing stock from DSD 1o ouy new DO network.
StackSmart and AutoStockR systems continue
to provide us the opportunity to betber manage
inventory levels without decreasing stock availability.

crima

FOOR AND LIQUOR I
For the full vear, Australian Supermarket division Taverner retail has been included in the

sales increased L% of which Food and Liguor
sales in Australla prew 8.0% with comparable sales
prowing 3.7% during the vear. Inflation in the vear
was fust over 2%.

Cost savings continue to be vigorously pursted.
The Australian Supermarket division’s cost of doing
business declined by 59 basis points during the year
even after we expensed $80 million of transition
costs associated with moving to our new supply chain
arrangements.

Woolworths” policy is and has consistently been to
reduce costs and lower prices. This will remain oug
fundamental strategy moving forward. However,
Food and Liguor gross margins improved reflecting
fmproved buving and shrinkage control and the
benefit Bowing from the reduction of direct store
deliveries. The reduction in direct store deliveries
lowers the costs of goods as suppliers” costs are
reduced resulting in improved gross margins,

Fot the Australian Supermarket division, EBIT grew
faster than sales, increasing by 18.7% compared with
sabes prowth of 11.0%. The Australian Supermarket
division's EBIT margin increased from 4.19% last vear
by 4.49% this yvear, an increase of 30 basis points.

Supermarket division and Taverner’s hotel operations
have been included in our Hotels segment from

& February 2006. BMG has been consolidated from

1 haly 2005, and included in the Supermarkets
division are BMG's retail operations with BMG's
hotel operations included in our Hotels segment.

All our existing liquor operations, including Dan
Murphys, BWS and attached liquor, continue to
perform well and recorded strong growth in both
sales and profits. Total liquor sales for the vear wese
$3.5 biliton (FY05: $2.6 billion) which represents the
achievernent of our medium-term target of $3.5 billion
in anmual liguor sales eaglier than expected.

Dan Mugphy's has expanded its operations in the
vear with 15 stores opened {three of which were
in Queensland} bringing the total number of Dan
Murphy's stores to 52, We now have the sites and
the licenses to have in excess of 100 Dan Murphy's
around Australia over the next bwo to three years.
Dan Murphy's provides customers with excellent
value for money, extensive product ranging,
personalised service and expertise.

At the end of the vear Woolworths Limited had
A5 liquor outlets.




SUPERMARKETS

EYD& [ FY36 Changs Sales {Smi
Financial summary {Australiaj AGAAPT AIFRSE  AIFRSY AIFRS

kets

Notes

{1}

Irciudes ALH retall
liquar results from
1 Movermber 2004,

{2}
F¥05 restated
under AIFRS.

{3}

Includes 20 ex-FAL
Austraiian store results
from 2 Movember
2005, ALH retaill,
MGYY retaii and BMG
retai for the 52 weeks
anded 25 June ZG08
and Tavernier retall
fram & Febroary 2008

{4}

Inciudes ligoor, petral
and New Zealand
supermarkets.




Group Managing Direstor's Report

SUPERMARK

CSTORE NUMBERS (AUSTRALIA)

NSW & ACT




PETROAL

For the full vear, petrol sales were $4.4 billion, an
increase of 32.7% (FY(5: 50.7%) which was driven

by a combination of higher petrol prices and growth
in the number of canopies. Petrod compagable sates
increased by 21.6% during the vear with comparable
volumes having increased 1.3% over the vear. In

the closing week of the fourth quarier, sales volume
reached approximately 76 million litres. As at the
end of the financial vear, we had 491 petrol stations
including 131 Woolworths/Caltex alliance sites.
Excluding the alliance sites, we opened an additional
21 petrol canopies during the vear.

Petrol EBLT increased 46.7% 10 $53.1 million
reffecting volume growth through new and existing
canoples and good cost control at a margin of 1.21%.

Customers highly value the Woolworths discount
offer particulaly in periods of higher petrol prices.

(k)]

Represents

MNew Zealand siore
results from

Z November 2605,

| sammary {

NEW ZEALAND SUPERMARKETS PROCRESSIVE

New Zealand has enjoved a pleasing post-acquisition
petformarice. We are confident of our ability, working
with our New Zeatand colleagues, to strmgihc nand
grow this huf;uw‘,s New Zealand comparable sales
increased by 3.5% in (3 and by 3.8% tn Q4. Overall
food mﬂalmh in va Zealand was between 1.5% and
2.0%, consistent with prior periods. In New Zealand
two new supermatkets have been opened since

2 November 2005, The opportunities that will enhance

the performance of the New Zealand business include:

- reducing costs through:

- obtaintng improved buving efficiencies;

— strearnlining support office functions, processes
and systems between Woolworths and the
current New Zealand business;

- applving Woolworths” supply chain, inventory
management and Jogistics technology to reduce
supply chain costs and practices;

— improving the working capital of the business
mainly by better inventory management;

- applying Woolworths' operational expertise to
enhance overall performance, through tmproving
store range, merchandising, store lavout and in-
store execution and by appiving fair and consistent
pricing — all of which will grow sales;

— investigating the viability in the New Zealand
marketplace of mtmducmg new formats including
general merchandise, liquor and pharmacy; and

— furthering suppiier relationships providing
opportunity for Australian and New Zealand
suppliers to widen their markets. Several major
inttiatives are currently underway.

We are pleased to report that each of these
initiatives s in progress and we expect to see positive
outcomes over the next vear. Some improvements in
price competitiveness were undertaken during the
second half of the financial year. The realisation of all
svnergies will be over a two to three-vear period from

date of acquisition.

I




Group Managing Director's Report

GENERAL
MERCHANDISE

BIGW

BIG W had a solid sales result for the vear in a difficult
market. Sales for the full yvear were $3.1 billion,
which represents the first time that BHG W sales have
exceeded %3 billion, an increase of 7.2% over the
previous year (LHO8: 7.6%, 2FH06: 6.8%).

Comparable sales increase for the vear was 1.4%.
BIG W's business performance broadly parallels
the performance of the national economy with a
strong performance in Western Australia and slower
performances on the eastern seaboard, in Victoria and
particularly New South Wales.

The rebuilding process in Buying and Support
furrctions is wel 1 advanced. The personnel and range
changes have been largely completed in the soft
poods area with pleasing resuits. Work continues in
the hard goods area, however good results are being
achieved in the areas already completed.

Clearly, interest rate increases and petrol prices
are impacting on discretionary spending, however,
as indicated, the impact is not consistent across the
nation. The carrent economic circumstances including
allowing for the effect of tax cuts are also impacting
negatively or certain demographic groups. We
anticipate and are planning for discretionary spending
tor remain constrained for the remainder of FYO7.

BIC W continues to remain focused on providing
customers excellent value for money through
consistent application of our Every Day Low Pricing
strategy. BHG W has a substantial price advantage
in the marketplace.

Gross margins improved 16 basis points mainly due
to a change in sales mix, in particular strong apparel
sales. CODB hag increased 28 basis points over last
vear primarily due to the inability to fractionalise costs
as a result of lower L‘<'>mpz-1mb§o sales. Inventory levels
were well-managed being 2.9 days down on last year.
fine O W stores were opened in the vear
(LH6: three stores, ZHO8: six stores), taking the total
number of stores tn the divisiorn 1o 129,

{1}
F¥O5 restated
under AIFRS.
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Group Managing Director's Report

GENERAL
MERCHANDISE

onsumer Ele

An excellent result all round with the diviston
reporting double-digit growth in both revenue and
earnings. Sales for the full vear reached $1,167 million
(15.9% increase on last vear) with comparable store
sales increasing by 10.8% . After normalising for

the negative effect of exchange rate movernents in
New Zealand dollars {in the last quartes) sales would
have increased 16.4% with comparable sales being
k6%, Sales of plasma and LCD televisions, in-car
navigation devices and the MP3/1Pod categories have
enjoved healthy growth. Durdng the yvear, 27 new
Dick Smith Electronics, Powerhouse and Tandy stores
wete opened, with three of those being opened in the
fourth quatter taking total stores to 366.

The consumer electronics formats of Dick Smith,
Powerhouse and Tandy continue to prove to be an
excellent set of formats to take full advantage of the
technological evolution that is, and will continue to
fmpact customer demand.

The consumer electronics business continued
to provide customers with lower prices reflected
by reduction in gross margins by 99 basis points
underpinned by continued and significant reductions
in the cost of doing business.

Funds emploved have increased due 1o an increase
i fined assets and inventory associated with the new
store rollout.

Inventorny control was strong with days stock on
hand at vear end down 1.8 davs, compared with the
previcus year, on sales growth of 15.9%.




Fyon Fyig FY0§ Change %
Financial summary AIFRS" AIFRS  AIFRS -

{1}
FYQ5 restated
undsr AIFRS.

15



Group Managing Direstor's Report

FY05 FY05 FYDS Change
Financial summary AGAAPY SUAIFRSE AIFRS

Hotels

Hotel sales of $850 miliion represent an increase
of 104.3% reflecting good growth in the existing
business and the inclusion of BMG for the fuil
52 weeks and Taverner from & Febwuary 2006,
Comparable sales increased by 3.4% dmmg the
veay which is a good result considering the initial
fmpact on revenue of the phased implementation of
smoking bans in Queensland, with the requirement
that two-thirds of ail venues be smokefree, Our
experience to date in this regard places us in a good
pusition to manage the final phase of smoking bans in
Queensland, with all venues being 100% smokefree
From July 2006,
Since the acquisitions of AL, BMG, MOW and
Taverner, we have been focusing on repesitioning
and improving the performance of all operational
ayeas. Comparable gaming revenue continues to grow
vear on yeat at 3 A%, Buying margins have and will
continue ko lmpm\rv prim&ll!\,’ asaresult of movm;.,
b Woolworths buying terms.
There have been outstanding Improvements
in CODB attributable 1o a number of initiatives {
implemented post-acquisition, including Represents ALH
restructuring and rationalising of support offices and Tﬁgigﬁi’ﬁ:? ;8:32
implementation of operating efficiencies at all venues. 1o 28 June 2005,
EBIT margin of 17.78% s slightly down on the half 2
vear margin of 20008 primarily due to the inclusion of  Fvos restated
the Taverner Hotel Group that had lower initial EBIT under AIFRS.
marging. Further improvermnents in Taverner’s EBIT )
marging are avatlable following on from the busirness Represents
improvements made to date in the rest of the Flotels ALH/MGW/BMG

gt ness, Hoted results for
. . . 12 th d
'AE the end of the year we had a premium portfolio Tav?r?zgr 33& o
of 25{ hotels, including eight clubs. from 6 February 2008,









Project Refresh, since its commencement

in 1999, has concentrated on a number

of initiatives including a major business
restructuring program which saw significant
changes in the way we do business as well as
numerous successful cost reduction programs
which continue. Ouver the past seven years fo

the end of FY06, Project Refresh has delivered

cost savings amountmg fo 4.51% of sales.
Measured in dollars, this was a cumulative

saving over the last seven years of $5.3 billion.

Our current focus is on our end-to-end supply chain

fmprovement program. Oug supply chain strategy

was developed after evaluating systems and logistics

features of leading global retailers following which

we determined an appropriate and optimum solution

for Woolworths. This solution addresses the following

kev design considerations:

- comimon integrated systems sequired ko support
supply chain operations;

- store supply chain costs {from the supermarket back
dock ko the sheld);

- Bistribution Centre (DX [ocation and numbers;

- DC function {cross-docking and How-through);

- composite supply chain fintegrating cold and
ambient);

- transport management {primary and secondary
freight); and

- process improvements across the network,

Project Befresh has
significantly snhanced
aur abitity 1o to plan
volumes and stook
flow thraugh DCs and
stares on s daily basis
This enables greater
resource planning and
increased productivity,

Woolworths carried out extensive and detailed
planning to ensure each initiative would be effective
on implementation. The overall plan is broken down
intoa series of detailed plans which are individually
monttored in terms of costs, Functionality and timing
to ensure all aspects are delivered. Each initiative
is on its own a significant improvement. However,
the interaction of these initiatives provides greater
fmpetus to the overall project outcomes, benefits and
Woolworth's competitive position.

Significant progress has been made to date with
tmplementation now well down the track on many of
the major projects which are now approaching their
completion phase, a brief overview of which follows.

The technology required to support our new supply
chair is critical to its success arnd was complex in
its construction. We have now passed the high risk
part of our IT application development and are now
dpp?\ ing the systems throughout our company with
far better than expected results. The technology and
systems are critical in achieving svnergies in any
supply chain transformation. These systems will have
direct application to our recent business acquisitions
which will be a critical enabler to deliver our
svnergies and future growth of these acquisitions.

Our inventory replenishment systems are well-
established and embedded in the business. As
previously reported, StockSmart {DC forecast
based replenishment) has been implemented
fully in our DCs and AutoStockR (store forecast
based replenishment} has been rolled out to all
supertmarkets five months ahead of the ortginal
schedule and under budget. Further, we have
expanded AutoStockR to cover other areas not
ortginally planned because it has been so successtul.

We continue to atilise the significant advantages
that these systems provide, and more will follow
as we complete the roliout of our new Point of Sale
technology This is currently operating in over 300
supertmarkets and 50 BG W stores.

The combination of StockSmart, AutoStockR and
our Warehouse Management Systermn has stgniticantly
enthanced Woolworths” ability to plan its volumes and
flows through both DCs and stores on a datly basis.
This provides an enormous opportunity to effectively
plan [abour tnputs, therefore increase productivity
and to obtain a higher level of “In” stock performance
which adds to customer satisfaction whilst reducing
stock levels and costs. This is exactly as planned and
in the post-implementation stage is producing actual
results exceeding expectations.

Supetmarket DCs will be reduced From 31 DCs
to nine Regional DHstribution Centres (RDCs) and
two National Distribution Centres (INTICs), The
strategic location of these DCs is imperative in
order o optimise network efficiencies. Ouy Perth
R13C was completed ahead of schedule and within
budget and is now fully operational. Our RDCs in
Adelaide, Wyong, Wodonga and Townsville are fully
operational — on thne and on budget. Alf sites are
performing well and supported our stores at record
service levels. Construction is almost complete on oux
Brishane RO, mnmﬁaﬂ('mmg has commenced and
will be completed in the 2007 financial vear, ahead of
time and on budget.
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In Victoria our chilled and frozen supply chain is
ander contrack with an external provider Quy strategy
in Victorta will be reviewed over this period with our
learnings from Sydney and Brisbane built inko our
final solution.

Frvvestiment in existing Distribution Centre
infrastrocture has been undertaken in New
South Wales and Victoria to further enhance the
Fature DC network. Both our Mulgrave (VIC)
and Yennora (NSW} sites are fully operational
as NBCs. Construction work is now complete at
our Minchinbury RDC and the new temperature-
controlied section of this faciiity commenced
aperations in June.

On establishing our RDCs we have exited other
sites in Western Australia, South Australia and
Townsville. During the last half vear we have
alsoy exited bwo sites in Sydney. We will exit other
non-RODC/NDC sttes tn New South Wales and
Queensland during 2006/ 2007, These generally
coincide with the termination of the leases
as planned.

The rationalisation of DCs, combined with new
crows-dock and Bow-throush processes, supported
by new warehouse management svstems, will utilise
very effectively our site advantages and further reduce
costs and stock levels.

Reducing the volume of our direct store deliveries
ts reducing costs by utilising our DC infrastructure as
well as eliminating administration costs.

For stores, the introduction of phased
replenishment, store restocking capabilities, along
with store-ready unit load devices such as shelf-ready
trays and roll cages is reducing overall costs.

Roll cages have been successfully implemented in
Western Australia, South Australia and Queensland
with expectations having been exceeded. Rollout
at our Wyong and Wodonga RDCs has also been
completed {urmg thie vear.

The cost of inbound freight will be reduced by
Woolworths' management of inbound Freight volumes
into our DC and atilising our Transport Management
Svstem {TMS) (developed by Woolworths). With
the TMS now implemented for primary freight,

a new secondary freight system is being piloted

b ensure the optimisation of transport loads and
routes and visibility of stock in transit at any point in
tirne. Rollout has commenced and ts aligned to the
commissioning of our new RICs.

Managing primary freight makes it possible to better
manage critical delivery timing into our DCs therefore
increasing operational efficiencies and improving safety.
Woolworths” transport for inbound freight has been
very effective, outperforming indastry benchmarks.

We are now capitalising on the intellectual
property in logistics and our new supply chain for
supermarkets and focusing on our liquor business
which hag grown rapidly over recent vears. We are
currently completing our strategy For liquor supply
chain, many elements of which are in place,

Woolworths values its relationship with its
suppliers and aims to work with them to improve
efficiencies across the supply chain to our mutual
advantage. The advent of improved technology will
further our relationship with our suppliers. We will do
this through collaboration with our vendors, sharing
information, requesting feedback on areas to improve
and by harnessing innovation so that mutuaily
beneficial outcomes are achieved.

Overall our supply chain inftiatives age nearing the
completion phase. We are moving to full operational
implementation with the resulting benefits flowing
this year and in the vears ahead.
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trategy

and

Growth

Woolworths' wiston is fo continue be drive s core
retail business, bringing to its customers greater
convertence, quality, value, range, freshness
service. Woolworths' strategy to achieve this vision
and to continually grow the business is outlined
below and is deeply entrenched tn the Board and
management. The strategies that have driven ouy
growth to date will continue. The strategies are
clear and management is focused. The skills and
commitment of our experienced retail tearm wiil
drive our contirued success.

Cleasly, the focus now is on maximising the
benefits from our new technology, sopply chain and

actieving the synergies from our recent acquisitions.

The majority of benefits of recent key initiatives will
arise over the next three vears.

We will maintain and enhance our long-term cost
advantages we have obtained under Project Refresh.
Oy focus remains on continually enhancing
the customer offer rewarding customers with
value, range, freshness, service and convenience.
We will continue to lay further foundations for
sustainable profitable growth, We will Further
leverage our core capabilities and scale which are
clear diivers of growth,
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PROJECT REFRESH ~
LOWER COSTS AKEY ENABLER

Stage 1: Underpinned cost savings to date,
prerequisite for stage 2.

Stage 20 Our new logistics system and Distribution
Centres provide s with a significant strategic

and competitive advantage, which will underpin
our ability o reduce costs over the next five years
rinimum 20 bps p.al), benefiting both customers
and shareholders. We will leverage this technology
and knowledge into other areas of our business such
as lquos and Progressive in New Zealand and assist
in achieving planned synergies for recent acquisitions.

ACCOUASITIONS - BOLT-ONS HAVEAND WILL
CONTINUETO ASSIST IN DRIVING GROWTH

Recent acquisitions comprise FAL, MGW, ALH,
BMG and Taverner which all add scale and quality
to Woolworths” current business portfolio. Foodland
provides a new market with many opportunities
and hotels provide us with a new growth segment.
Allhave synergies readily achievabie over the next
three years.

CONTINUING OPPORTUNITY

IO GROW MARKET SHARE

The Australian food, liquor and grocery (FLG)
market continues to be highly competitive by world
standards. Woolworths” market ghare of FLO remaing
below 30%, which is low by woild standards.

Independent grocers and speciality food stores hold
just under 501%.

DEFINED PLANS TO CONTINUE
SPACE ROLLOUT

it is anticipated that Woolworths will add between
15-25 new supermarkets each year and together with
expanding existing stores will grow supermarket
trading area by more than 3% pet annom.

Tt is intended to add 610 BIG W stores cach vear
(6% to 8% space rollout p.a, up to 15 Dan Murphy's
stores each yvear and continue to rollout consumer
electronics.






Focus will continue on planned store efficlency
fmprovements e.g, centre of store and better
utilisation of space.

Space roliout is supported by detailed plans
For the next three to fve vears idenlitying specific
sites. Minlmal cannibalisation s expected.

LEVERAGE SCALE AND STORE DISTRIBUTION

Woolworths has considerable experience and has been
stccessful in introducing new categories and formats
such as liquot, petrol, electronics, hotels, Woolworths
Select and expanding existing categories eg. fresh food,
digital photo, mobile phones and ATMs. Woolworths
comsiders that there are further opportanities to branch
into new formats and catepories whilst continuing to
expand the existing business.

INCREASED EMPHASIS ON
PRIVATE BRANDED GOODS

Woolworths' product range features the major
fndustry brands and a strong private label business.
Woolworths Homebrand continues to be Australia’s
largest selling grocery brand. Woolworths
Homebrand is at the leading price point in the market
with the best quality at that price point. The new
Woolworths Select is a premium range of Woolworths
branded product and will be at least equal to or better
quality than the existing category leader but at a lower
price. Rollout has commenced and has been very well
accepted by customers. Woolworths will continue to
support, develop and grow national brands.

CONTINUED FOCUS ON IMPROVED
IN-5T L)R EEXECUTION AND SERVICE

Woolworths will continue to focus on improving
in-store execution, ranging, stock avatlability and
customer service.

GROW NEW INTERNATIONAL INTTIATIVES

India

Woolworths has entered into arrangements with

the Tata Group to develop a consumer electronics
busiress in India, Woolworths will provide sourcing,
wholesaling and some management support. The Tata
Group will own and manage the retail operations.

Hong Kong (antd India) buying offices

Bruring the vear Woolworths established a buying
office in I lcmg Kong to divectly source products

for distribution in Australia. We currently have
approximately 30 people in Fong Kong with plans to
gronw this offtee steadtly over the next bwo vears.
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LEVERAGE WOOLWORTHS CORE CAPABILITIES

Woolworths has developed expertise in kev areas that
will be useful to support futuye growth. These include:
— acquisitions and integration skills;
— world-class ITsupply chain;
— levw cost culture;
- retall management expertise — high volume,
low marging and
- key business relationships: Caltex, BMG, Tata.

PERFORMANCE TARGETS

Woolworths targets four key areas of performance

measugement for its business in the long term, namedy:

— sales will grow in the upper single digits assisted by
bolt-on acquisitions;

— EBIT growth outperforming sales growth assisted
by cost savings;

— EPS prowth outperforming E
by capital management; and

- maintenance of its targeted credit ratings.

3T growth assisted

Woolworths” Jong-term objective is for EPS
growth to outperform EMT growth. However, when
Woolworths undertakes major acquisitions which
resuldt i the need to defer tts normal ongoing capital
management initiatives for a period of time, EPS
growth in relation to such periods will not outperform
EBLT growth.

FOODLAND ACQUISITION

In the latter part of the first half, Woolworths acquired
Foodland Assoclated Limited’s New Zealand business
{Progressive) plus 20 Australian ex-FAL stores.

Fhe 20 stores were carefully selected and complement
the Woolworths store network. The acquisition value
wag approximately $2.6 billion. Woolworths obtained
control on 2 Novernber 2005,

BMG ACQUISITION

On 1 Judy 2005, AL Group Pry Lid acquired

26 hotels and eight club management contracts
previously owned by interests associated with Bruce
Mathieson for $199.2 million in cash and 191.7 million
shares issued at a price of §1 per share.

TAVERNER ACQUISITHON

ALH Group Pry Lid acquired 100% of the shares of the
Faverner Flotel Group for an enterprise value of $3771
milion effective & Febraary 2006, The acquisition
brought with it 33 hotels throughout Victorta, South
Australia and New South Wales {urther enhancing the
portfolio of hotel assets in the Group.






Woolworths currently sets its capital structure with

the objective of minimising its weighted average cost of
capital whilst retaining a flexibility to pursue growth
and capital management opportunities. Consistent with
this objective, Woolworths has targeted, achieved and
maintained its credit ratings of A- from Standard &
Poor’s and A3 from Moody's Investor Services

Capital
Management

CAPITAL RETURNS

To the extent consistent with these objectives and
target ratings, Woolworths undertakes capital return
strategies that seek to Increase EPS and distribute
franking credits to shareholders, mainly through
ordinary dividends and share buvbacks. Over the
past eight vears, over $4,700 million, comprising

off and on-market buv-backs and disidends, hag
been returned to shareholders (including the final
dividend for the financial vear ending 25 June 2006).
Woolworths' capital management strategy hasg
enhanced EPS giowth whilst allowing Woolworths
to take advantage of growth opportunities, such ag
thie ALH and FAL acquisitions. Woolworths will
re-examine opportunities for future share buy-
backs once the Progressive New Zealand integration
is further advanced. Franking credits available

Fe distribution as at 25 June 2006 amounted to
$613.1 million (prior to final dividend).
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SHAREISSUANCE

To assist in strengthening the balance sheet and to
maintain current credit ratings during a period of
major acquisitions, integration and bustness change,
Woolworths hag entered into an underwriting
agreement in connection with the WOW DRI which
ensures that an amount equal to 1H0% of all interim
and final dividends pavable in the calendar vears 2005
and 2006 is subscribed for Woolworths shares.

Also during the vear Woolworths issued 1.6 miflion
shares in respect of the acquisition of FAL. I addition
shares were issued under emplovee option plans.

DERT RAISINGS

Four sighificant debt transactions were undertaken
during the veay, which are detatled below.

These transactions locked in low levels of interest
rates, provided staggered matuyities to assist in
refinancing fexibility tn the Futuare and provided
broader sources of funding in different markets.

T Medium Term Notes of AS300 million were issued

in September 20035 into the domestic market with a

maturity date of 27 September 2008,



2 Senior Notes totailing US$725 million
fASHO.E million) were issued in November
2005 into the US bond market under Rule 1444
fRegulation 5). USS300 million (A$410.4 million)
matirres on 15 Novernber 2011 and U5%425 miilion
fASHET.4 million) matures on 15 November 2015,
Meditm Term Notes of AR350 million were issued
it Mareh 2046 inte the domestic market with a
matugity date of 14 Mavch 201 L
4 An offer of new securities called Woolworths Notes
raiged AFO00 millton on 5 June 2006, Waoolworths
Notes are quoted under ASX code WOWHB.
The Woolwaorths Income Notes (WINs) were
redeemed on 3 June 2006,

L

SALE AND LEASEBACK OF
IHSTRIBUTION CENTRES

O 14 hune 2006 i was announced that Woolworths
had entered into arrangements ko sell and leaseback
11 Distribution Centres for $846 million. This
transaction is a good outcome for ali parties and

it provides Woolworths with the Hexibiltty to altes
and adapt its DCs to meet changing operational
requiremnents over time. $547 million of the sales
proceeds was recetved in July 2006 with a further
$94 million due to be received by December 2006
{Perth, Townsville) subject to lease consents. The
balance of $205 millton is comprised of $180 million
to be received for Brisbane by March 2007 and $25
million to be recetved for Yennora, at Woolworths'
aption, by Jure 2007,

BALANCE SHEET AND CASH FLOW

il

Inventory at vear end increased by 17.6% on a
sales increase of 20.4%. This translates toa 1.3 day
reduction {excluding Progressive and Taverner).

Chiry cash flow and balance sheet remain strong
following the acquisition of ALH, FAL, BMG and
Taverner. Cash generated by operating activities was
$1.7 billion up 409% on the prior vear reflecting strong
earnings growth and benefits from working capital
management.

Property, plant and equipment has increased
From $3,359.3 miliion to $4,079.6 millior. Thisis
mainly due to fixed assets acquired as a result of the
acquisition of FAL and BMG, the fitout of the new
Distribution Centre network as part of our suppiy
chain initiatives and new store rollout.

Intangibles have increased from $2,046.4 million
b $4,756.6 million. This increase has been driven
by the acquisitions in the first half vear of BMG

and FAL resulting in the acquisition of liquer and
gaming lcences ($125.0 miliion), brand names
($244.7 million) and goodwill {32,126.9 million}. In
the second half, the Taverner acquisition resulted in
additional liguor and gaming licences ($200.0 million)
and goodwill ($138.6 miilion). Offset agatnst these
increases was a decline in the value of intangibles

in FAL New Zealand owing to movements in the
New Zealand dollar ($242.7 million), which is
recorded in the foretgn currency translation reserve.

Trade creditors and other creditors have increased
ag a result of a combination of business acquisitions,
the increase in inventory and general business growth,

Net repavable debt has increased by $1,387.4 million
o $3,799.5 miflion primarily as a result of debt
acquired to fund the acquisitions and ongoing
operations of the business.

ROIFE declined in the FYU period mainly as a
consequence of the acquisitions of FAL and Taverner.
Funds emploved are included in full, however the
EBIT arising {rom these acguisitions will relate to
part of the yeay only (FAL from 2 November 2005,
Taverner from 6 Febroary 2006).

CENTRAL OVERHEADS, NET PROPERTY
INCOME AND TAX EXPENSE

With respect o the full vear, central overheads have
increased by $9.2 million. The key factors causing the
increase primarily relate to CEQ retivernent pavments
and costs assoclated with the expansion into India.
Net property income was $18.3 million which is
slightly less than last year.
Tax expense is 30.3% up from 29.1% last
veay primarily due to inclusion of Progressive

L

New Zealand where the tax rate is 33%.

FUTURE OUTLOOK

We anticipate overall Group sales growth for FYO7 to
be in the range of 8% 0 12%. We also anticipate that
EBIT will continue to grow faster than sales in FYD7.

Net profit after tax for FY(7 is expected 1o grow in
the range of 1% to 21%.

Our long-term EPS objective is to outperform EBFT
growth, asststed bry capital management. However, in
FY(7 EPS will be impacted by shares issued onder the
Croup's emplovee shave option plans, on acquisition
of FAL and under the Dividend Reinvestment Plan
underwiiting arrangements.

This guidance is given subject to current retail
trading paticins and the present business, competitive
and economic climate continuing,

We anticipate overall
Croup sates grawth
tor FYO7 to b in the
range of B% to 12%.
W also anticipate
that EBIT will continue
1o grow faster than
sales in FYOT7,

MNet profit after tax
for FYO7 is expectad
1o growe in the range
of 169% 10 21%.
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“Meni Viclentis
Woolworths -

- " Store Manager
CHelping staff reach
“theie full potentiat is :
something [roreally - 7
Cpassionate about.

C-Ultimately, if our staff

- are happy therour

L. customers are happy.”.




You can count on
Woolworths’ people to
deliver the right result.
Whether it's delivering
great service to our
customers or great
support to our stores,
every contribution of
every team member counts
towards the continued
success of the business.

‘When we caonverted w

Jessica Thisl
Sydney Natianal
Distribution Certre
Recsiving Clerk

a Maticnal Distribution
Centra as part of Project
Refresh, a number of
naw syslems wara
intraduced. The result
has been improved
efficiencies that have
enalled us 1o increase
the number of pallets
we accept sach day
fram 1,000 to 16001
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Tire Hunt
Weohaorths

Liguor Assistant
Businsyss Manager
'Ower the past 12
moriths, we have been
working closely with
local growers and
producers 1o source
an exclusive collection
of wines, now known
as the Baily & Bally
range. Cusicmers are
loving the guaity and
affardability.




Patrick Prasad

BiG W Stors Manager
‘In preparation for

the apening of our
new siore we took on
200 ernployees from
the local area. Marny
had never worked

in retail before but
seeing everyone some
tagether as a team in
such a short period

of time has heen
incradibly satisfying.”

We welcomed
20,000 new
colleagnes to the
family as part of
the integration
of PEL in New
Zealand, taking
our tofal nmumber
of emplovess to
175,00

We also effected the
smooth Bransition of

300K people to our
e Digtribubion
Centre networl ~

a remarkable
achievement.

The Woolwarths
Fong Kong buving
office opened for
business, creating
emploviment and
opportunity for
tocal residents.

Thousands of
emplovees acToss
the country, in all
divisions, continued
ko receive fraining
and accreditation
through the
Woolworths
Academy.

Fraineeships and
apprenticeships
continued to play
at important role
in developing

the voung people
in out business
with almost 4,000
currently irvolved

in these programs.

Sayed Zallowa
Wonlworihe

Weat Apprentice

1 ' not serving
custamars, |m out
the back learning the
trade. Each day § out,
dice and slice mors
than ore hundrad
different fresh

mgat produsts -
that 25,000 a yvear.
There are B00

athar young meat
apprentices at
Yooiies, We all

da aur it

ACHIEVEMENTS
DURING 2006

2,600 people made
the move to the new
support office at
Norwest in Sydnev
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As a major retailer,
employer, customer and
corporate citizen,
Woolworths” imprint
touches the community
in a multitude of ways.

Responsible

Sociaily, economically and environmentally,
Woolworths is working hard to maximise the many
positive benefils of our business through ef

leadership and the developrment of best practice policies.

In 2006, Woolworths rele irst-ever
Corporate Social Responsibility report ag part
of an ongoing commitment to achieving greater
transparency acioss these particular areas of our
operations. The detailed report ts available online at
wwwwoolworthslimited.com.au.

Reducing sur environmental impact

Woolworths is committed to reducing its
ervironmental footprint through a wide range

of initiatives that tackle our key areas of mpact —
energy consumption, waste management, packaging,
fuel consumption and hazayd management,

We will continue fo seek ways in which we can

3z

imptove our performance and take an active

lead on tssues of environmental concern,

In 2006 we:

— saved 3% of electricity costs via our Energy
Management lighting svstem (EMS);

— achieved validation of our NSW Greenhouse Gas
Abaternent Certificate (NGACY scheme in the 2005
audit and received the full complement of NGACs
aliocated to our business for energy reduction;

- continued to undertake energy efficiency activities
involving our bakery ovens and chicken cookers, as
well as the installation of power factor correction
urits in stowes;

- became a willing participant in the Federal Encrgy
Efficiency Opportunities program. This requires
auditing and reporting on energy effictent activities
actoss the entire business over a five-vear period;




Ire 2008 we hetped to
achieve a reduction of
45% in the annualised
rate of plastic
chackout bags issusd,
a8 a member of the
Sustralian Maticnal
Retalers Assaciation
{ANBA).

designed our Notwest support office to Ecologically
Sustainable Development standards, complete with
energy eificient svstems, recycling programs and a
one million litre water tank;

utilised energy efficient equipment including heat
reclaim systems for refrigeration, HOFC in air
conditioning svstems and T5 lighting in all our
supermarkets;

cormmenced trials of a state-of-the-art carbon
dioxide refrigeration system in a new supermarket
in N5W;

introduced a new green waste project, where
supermarkets” organic waste is collected and
processed to produce green energy, which is then
sold i the national electricity market;

accelerated cardboard, polvstyrene and plastic
recycling initiatives with increased education and
awareness Programs;

esfablished programs to minimise polvstyrene use
in the entire business;

helped 1o achieve a reduction of 45% in the
annualised rate of plastic checkout bags

issued, as a member of the Australian National
Retailers Association (ANRA). We have also
established a Plastic Bags Task Force with the
Federal Department of the Environment and
represertatives from ofher State Governments
and industry bodies, to seek to identify
environmentaily sound and commercially

feasible degradable alternatives to the cuirent
high density polvethylene bags used by
supermarkels across Australta;

mintmised the amount of water run-off to the
protected wetlands adioining Wyong Distribution
Centre, by constructing swales to control the flow
of water into the wetlands, preventing Aooding and
reducing the impact to the habitat of a protected
and endangered frog species;

constructed the roofs of our Distribution Centies
{08) 5o that water can be harvested into tanks
for use in the day-to-day operations of the DC
fe.g. Tushing toilets, reticulation);

comnissioned an independent waste management
strategy, using Wyong DC as a sample study, in
order to identify waste management opportunities
to be used in all of Woolworths DCs; and
commissioned an independent Energy audit

at Wyong DO o tdentify energy efficiency
apportuntties. Recom mendations are current] ¥
being developed into action plans ready for
implementation across all Woolworths DCs.

Puiting safety and health first

Safety is a core value at Woolworths and whilst our

business priortties may change, this value remains

constant. While we still have much to achieve, ouy

businesses have taken a major step forward in 206

in embedding the principles of safety [eadership into

our activities.

The reed to increase safety awareness and reduce
at-risk behaviouys is integral to achieving our safety
vision. EHective safety leadership is crucial to the
success of our satety programs. n this regard we
are in the process of implementing our ivadvrahlp
prograrm, “Satety the Woolworths Way”,

In striving o maintain our Safety and Health vision
of ensuring we go home from work without injury or
ilness, Woolworths achieved the following business
improvements in 2006:

- Lost time injury frequency rates were reduced
h\’ Jitk

- Workers compensation claims were reduced by §%.

— Toraseist in the development of our leaders we have
engaged D E Scott Gelles, Professor of Phystology
from Virginia Tech University in the US o conduet
seminars for our Leadership Teams and Store
Managers.

— To address the high number of bandsaw related
injuries in our meat departments we were
instrumental in designing, developing and
implementing a guarding sodution which hag
contributed to an injury reduction of over 70%
across Australia.

- We implemented a Croup-wide central safety and
compensation reporting and database system,
STARS. The system has provided additional
rigewts and consistency bo our overall performance
reporting and data management processes which

will contribute to improvements in incident analvsis

and risk mitigation.

Sustaining local producers

Woolworths fully understands the importance

of maintainitg the long-term viability of rural

and regional communities both in Australia and

New Zealand. Essential to this is the management

of a sustainable domestic agricultural industry.

Woolworths is a major customer of Australian and

New Zealand farmers, growers and producers and

we work hard o provide them with the best supply

apportunities that we can. In 2006 we:

- purchased over 97% of our fresh produce from
dormnestic farmers, growers and producers;

- positively discriminated in favour of domes
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manufacturers when tendering Private Label
contracts. We have a long history of supporting
Australian producers, with our move into the
New Zealand market we have commenced
initiating similar programs in support of New
Zealand suppliers; and

- continued to pursue our extensive import
replacernent program o help local growers and
farrners develop domestically grown products that
reduce the need to import. In 2006, we further
expanded our Australtan gatlic initiative and were
able to launch an all natural and all Australtan
garlic paste for the full vear — the only Australtan
product of its kind on the market.

Doing business with integrity

Asense of integrity is ingrained in the Woolworths

cuiture. We are committed to always being fait,

respectful, responsible and transparent in all our
dealings with colleagues, customers and suppliers.

Right across ouy business, we abide by voluntary

codes of conduct tn relation to suppiler trading

relationships. Woolworths also continues to

make significant investinent in compliance

programs and works closely and proactively with

reguiators and industey authorities to help improve
industry practices and community standards.

In 2006 we:

- established a Group compliance function which is
independent of the trading divisions and support
functions and will implement a formal review,
monitoring and reporting of all compliance
obligations actoss the Group, We have commenced
this major cross-divisional project and have
identified the significant number and variety of
compliance requirements throughout the business
and will be preparing compliance programs for
each of the trading and non-trading functions
which will provide reports to sentor management
and the Audit, Risk Management and Compliance
Committee and to the Board on a regular assuzance
basis as well as in relation te individual non-
compliance incidents;

- extended our Coundry of Origin product labelling
bevond mandatory sequirements and worked in
close consultation with FSANZ 1o trial and evaluate
new industry-wide guidelines; and

- as an inaugural member of the Produce and
Grocery Industry Code of Conduct, which was
established by the Federal Government in 2000, we
participated in a major review of the Code which
was aimed at providing a forum for the resolution
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The Melbourne 2008
Carnmanweaith
Games was enjoysed
by 3,000 Vistarian
sohooichildran, thanks
1o Wonbworthe,

of disputes between suppliers, wholesalers and
tetatlers in the produce and grocery sectors.

The review has resuited in the expansion in the
members of the Council administering the Code
and in particular in broadening the primary
producer representation ensuring that the Code

can assist in resolving supplier related issues
on a non-formal, efficient and expeditious basi




The Fresh Future
fundraiging campaign
rungs anngally in

all Woolworths
supenmarkets, raising
mithons of dollars sach
yaar for children's
haspitals and wards
acrass Australia,

The monsy pays far
assential sguipment
and helps 1o fund vitat
mudical research,

Creating a better life for Australian families
Woolworths is an integral part of hundreds of local
comununities right across Australia. Qur objective is
to be a good netghbour in every possible way and to
support those communities that support our stores,
In 20406 we:

= browght 300 Victorian schoolchildren to the
Commornwealth Games in Melbourne;

- raised over $4 million for children’s hospitals and
wards across Australia;

- responded swiftly to support victims of Cvelone
Larry in cash and in kind, helping to rebuild homes
and business

- arranged for 250 inspiring Australians to visit rural
and regional communities on Australia Day;

- delivered the Harmony Day’ message of
muiticulturalism and tolerance to over 300
communities across the country; and

- channelled significant funds back into every
community in which we have a supermarket via
detlations to thousands of local schools, charitie
and communily groups.

o

i1
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Brizce Mathieson
CES ALH Group

MNaum Orikui
Director of Supermarkets

Greg Foran
General Manager
BIG W

Advin Ng
General Manager
DSE

Marty Hamnett
Managing Director
PEL, Mew Zealard

Grant (' Brien
General Manager
Freestanding Liguor

Richard Umbats
General Manager
Buying & Marketing

Ramnik Narsey
General Manager
Patrol
Peter Smith
General Manager
Supermarket Cperations



DIRECTORS
STATUTORY REPORT

Thiz Report is giver by the Directors in
raspact of Woolworths Limitad (the
Cormpany) and the conscidaied antity
consisting of the Company and the
entities it controlled (the Groug) for the
financiai pariod ended 25 June 2008,

THE DIRECTORS

Tha persons who have been Diraectors of
the Company at any time during or sincs
tha end of the financizl period and up o
tha date of this Report are:

J A Strong  Chairman

M C Corbett Groug Meanaging Director
and Chies Fxecutive Officer
{rastiring 30 September 2008)

JF Asthury

AE Clarke

M5 Deane

O 3 Grady

L M Euilliar

M Luscombe®™

Catails of the experience, gualifications,
spacial msponsrbalrtms and cther
girectorships of dsted cormpanies in
respect of each of the Cirectors are sat
out against thair resgective narmas from
pages 36 to 37,

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr Patar Jobin Horton BA LLE,

Mr Patar Horton joined Woohworths in
Novemper 2005 as Group General
Counsgel and Company Secrelary.
Previously Mr Peler Morton was General
Manazgar Legal and Campany Secratary
at WMC Resources Limited.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group
dusing the pariod consfs‘;cd of food,
liquor, petrol, general marchandise
and consurmnar ele{:tfonics retaiing
through chain siore oparations,
together with hotel, gaming and
anteriginmeant cperations.

Note n

Guring the yaar, the Company complated
the acquisition of Foodland Associzted
Lirmited (FAL) with stores in both
Australia and New Zezland. In addition,
the Company completed the acquisition

of BMG and the Tavernar Hotel Group
which were integrated into the Group
with the assisiznces of the ALM Group
covering hoetal management, gaming &nd
antariginmeant.

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS AND
REVIEW OF OFERATIONS

The net amount of consolidaied profit for
tha financial pariod after income tax
aexpense and Woolworths Incorsa Notes
IWiNs) disthibutions attributable ©
mambers of the Company and its
controlled entitias was $1,014.6 milion
(2C0%: 816.2 miflion),

Areview of the operations of the
consclidated aentity and its principal
businesses during the financizl pericd
and the raesuits of those cperations are
safoutin the Chairman’s Report and the
Group Managing Director’s Report from
pages 3 1o 16 inciusive.

DIVIDENDS

Thg amounis set out below have been
paid by the Compary during the financizl
period or have been declared by the
Lirgctors of the Company, by way of
dividend, bui not paid daring the
financial period up to the date of this
Feport. Al dividends ware Tully frenked
gl the tax rale indicatled.

Frinking fax rale

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN
THE STATE OF AFFAIRS

Other than as referred to in the Group
Managing Director’s Report, the
significent changas in the state of affzirs
of the Group dusing the financial pariod
wera as foliows:

Anetincreass in the issued share capital
of the Company of 120,437,733 fully paid
ordinary shares as 4 rasult of;

{ft  the fssue of 81,592 5686 fully paid
crdinary shares to sharehoidars of
FAL an 24 Novarmber 2005 as part of
the consideration for the d’qubI[iOﬂ
of &l the issued sharss in
Progressive Enterprises Holdings Lid
IPEM Shzres). The PEH Shares were
acquired by a wholly-cwned
subsidiary of Woohworths Limitad
MAOW), Woolworths iINZ)
Supsrmarkets Limited under &
scheme of arrangerant,

{fi) the fssue on 7 Ociobar 20085
17,980 513 fully paid ordmdr\/ shares
and the issug on 28 April 2008 of
17 650,083 Tully paid crdinary shares
pursuani to the Cividend
Reinvestmeant Plan and the Dividend
Reirvestmant Plan Underwriting
Deed in respect of the 2005 finat
dividend and the 2006 intarim
dividand reapectively,

Dhzidend Totid paid fimagable

", cenlsfshare S
Final 2005 Dividand
Pzid on 7 Octobar 2005 30 27 2872
Intarim 2G08 Dividand
Paid on 28 April 2008 30 28 326.0
Final 2008 Dividand
Payabla on € October 2006 30 31 3673

Mr Loscombre Decame a Director
effective 1 June 2006 and s
currently Chief Cperating Officer.
Mr Loscombe will become Group
Maraging Director and Chisf
Executive Dfficer effective

1 Octaber 2008,

40



liH) theissue on various dales, for cash
at tha relevant exercise price, of
3,204, 551 fully paid ordinary shareg
as a rasult of the exercise of oplions
Aeld by & number of executives undar
the Exacutive Option Plan (EOP).

On % July 2005, 6,306,3CC options were

grantad under tha EOP,

Triee wers no issuss of Tully paid
ardingry shares pursuant 10 the
Employas Share Plan or 1o the Eraployes
Share Issue Plan made during the
finzncial period,

As et 25 June 2008, there ware 94,4068

agrmployess of the conzolidated antity and
71407 (2005: 72,834) employed by the
Company.

MATTERS SUBSEQUENT TO THE
END OF THE FINANCIAL PERIOD

Excapt for tha matiers disclosed below,
in the Chzirman's Report and the Group
Manzging Director’s Report from

pages 3 1o 16, there is, at the data of this
Report, no cthar maiter or circumstances
which has arisen since 25 June 2006 that
has significanily affacted or may
significantly affect the Group's
oparations, the resuits of those
operations or the slate of affairs of the
Group in future financial periods,

Meetings

af Lhre

wlilst i LHrector
Abtended {Held

Finatl dividend

On 2% August 2008, the Directors
declarad a final dividend of 31 cents per
shara, fully franked at the 30% tax rata,
on sach of the issusd crdinary sharas of
tha Company. The final dividend is
payable on & October 2008

Grant of options

On 1 Juiy 2008, 6,906,300 opticns ware
grarted under the EQP Between 25 June
2006 and 22 Sepiermber 2006, 2,759,053
shares were alloiled ag & result of the
exarcise of options grantaed under the
£0P in July 1999,

DIRECTORS INTERESTS IN
SHARES/OPTIONS

Particulars of Directors’ refavant interasts
in sharas in the Company 23 at
22 Saptember 2006 are sat out below:

Drivector Relevnt fnferest

J P Asibury® 10,912
AT Clarke 41,832
H O Corbatt 293,165
H 5 Deane® 40,000
2 .J Grady 34,670
£ L Huilber® 60,000
J A Strong 70,475
M Luscombe 408,280

* These relevant interests include
superannuation fund, trust, joint or other
awwnership structure, as appropriate.

: Muetings of Audit
Tl
Aftended/Held

Superannantion

Attend c!d_f'H{’Jd

MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS

The table below sets oul the numbar of
raaalings of tha Company's Dirsctors
tincluding meeatings of Commitiess of
Dirsctorg) held during the firancial pariod
anded 25 June 2008 and the number of
raaalings attended by sach Director.
Tha Board has praviously determinad
that in order 10 deal effactively with &l
ftha matters requiring its consideration,
including cngoing sirategic issuas, five
{the Board meelings wera hald over
two days. in addition o attending format
Hoard and Board Commities meelings,
the Directors underiake other duties
including attending stratagic raview
sessions, ratail market study trips, as
wedl as Board and Board Cormmilies
Meeating preparation and resaarch,
These additional responsibifities
constitute & further significant time
cornmiimant by Directors,

The Superannuation Policy Commitiea
was gstabiishad on € Juna 2006, No
migetings of the Superannruation Policy
Committes took place in thea financial
vaar endad 25 June 2006,

Meetings of
Pevsonal Policy
Comrimifiee
Adtended f{Held

AE Clarke™ 9/

55

110

1 C Corpe 1030 175 3

M S Dea 10/10 33 212

[ J Gragy' 810 11 5% i

L A LHuillier 10/30 414 2

J A Strong!l? 10/10 &/4 4/4 4

JF Astbury®® 10/10 444 515

M Luscombe 0/0

Notes 2) {3) {5}

1 Member Feople Policy Cammittes.  Member Corparate Gavernance Thess are mestings of ad hoo

kﬂ} ber Audit C ) s Grady retired as Chair and from Committes, Commiitees which attended to
ember Augit Lommittes. the Committes in August 2008, 14 special matters on behalf of the

Chair of the Board of Trustess of

the Woolworths Groug
Superannuation Scheme.

Board and meestings of Directars
held by sircular resclution.

41



DIRECTORS
STATUTORY REPORT

REMUNERATION REPORT

1 INTRODUCTION

Al Woolworths, ail of cur employeas
play an impartant role in delivaring the
Company's financizl performance and
our rermuneration policies have bean
developed (o provide market competitive
remunerztion in order 1o sustain
Woolworths' competitive advantage and
profact the intarests of shareholders,

Woclworths recognises that
rermunerstion is an important factor

i atiracting, motivating and retaining
izleniad employass, in conjuncton
with other alements of our approach o
paople management, The Woolworthg
Academy provides training and
developmaent for amployeas 10 learn
and develop the skills they need to
succead in their current roles and the
developrment opgortunitias 1o anabla
tham (o reach their full potential.
Effective succession planning includes
promotion and appoinimeant of
ampioyass 1o naw challenges within
the business.

Woolworths hag an achisvernent and
parformance-criented culture which our
remuneration policiss drive and suppori.
In recogrising the importance of our
people to our success, in excess of
37,000 current Woolworths” employees
participate in various eguity-based
schames, sharing in the Company’s
success and sligning their experience
with that of other shareholders.

2 REMUNERATION POLICY

Mermungration policy i aligned with
both cur financial and siratagic business
objectives and recognises thal peopls
are 4 major contabuior 1o susiainad
irmprovarsents in performanca.

Woclworths” remuneration policy for all
EXaCUlives ansuras:

ramunaration is market competitive
and dasigned 1o attract, motivaie and
restain key executives;

dermznding performance measures
are applied 0 both gshort and fon
terrn "atrisk” remunaration;
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short terra performance is linked

o both financial and non-financial
parformance meagures, znd

long tarm performances is measurad
through creation of sharahoidar vaiue.

Company prolection and employment
stahility is provided through
pre-established employment agrasmanis
limiting the amount of termination
payraants and providing for restriciiva
covenants on any Tuture empioyrmant

by compatitors,

2.1 Role of the People Policy
Committee

The Commilice works closaly with
Management 1o réviaw Drocesses and
programs to ensure Remuneration
Policy is impiemanted. Accordingly,
rmanzgamant provides the Cormmiiles
independant extarneal advice on key
rermunesslion issues, as required, The
Cormmitiae acts on sehall of the Board
and shareholders to ensure that in
refation (o iis human resources, the
Company:

gstablishes and implemants a human
rasourcas strategy 1o ensure that
approprigiely wnlested and trained
people are sveilable o achisve the
Businass Stratagy,

undartakes the approprizta
pariormance managemant,
succession planning and development
aclivities and programs;

provides affective remunaration
poiicies naving regard o the creation
of vaiue for shareholders and the
exlernal remunaration market;
provides a safe working envircnmaent
for alt amgloyess;

complies with alf legal and regulatory
requirements and principles of good
governancs; and

reports o sharaholdars in ling with
reguired standards.

of three independant non-exacutive
Directors. Al the dete of this Raport,
rmambers are Roderick Deang (Chair,
previcusly Dizne Grady), Jamas Strong
znd Adrienne Clarka, The members’
sttendance at Commities Mestings is
satout on page £1.

3 EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION
INCLUDING EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

3.1 Gverview

Woolworths” cursent ramuneration
structura is comprissed of two
COMEonants:

fixeed rermunaration which is bass
salary, superannuation coniributions
and where appropriate, the use of a
fully maintained motor vehicla; and
the variable or "at risk” component
which is performance-basad and
comprised of a cash-basad Short
Tarm incentve Plan (STiP) and a Long
Tarm incentive Plan ([LTIP),

The total remuneration package of all
axecutives 13 designed Lo ansure an
appropriate mix of fixed remuneration
with shori and long term incantive
opporiunities. The relative waighting of
fixad and variable components, for target
performancea, varies with rode level and
complaxity, Ganerally, the progortion

of remunerzstion “at risk” increases

with arganisation responsibitity and
socountiability leval. Woolworths

requites & significant proportion of senior
executives’ (olal potental reward 1o be al
risk to raward performance in both the
shaort and fong term. To ensure alignment
hetwaan the Company parformance andg
individual performance, Woolworths
zims o posgition all senior execulives’
ramuneration at

tha median cf tha refevant market
for fixed remunaration: and

the third quartile of the relevant
markat for total remunearation for
oulstanding pericrmance.



Woohworths

s tzrgels the mix of fixed and varizble ramunaration as follows:

Percertge of fotal farget resinneration

Targut Target

shori-ferm lony-lerm

Fived incendive fcentive

rennTeraEon 5T (LTTE)

s " k2

Diract raports 0 CEG 40 30 30

Other senior executives 60 20 20

Specific arrengements exist for the CEO The STIP provides an annual cash

which are described in Section 3.5 incentve that is basaed on a maximum

Exe{:u;iv’» Service Agresmesnis. These
sp‘:m grrangernants may vary from
the gc-,n@rdl orinciples outiingd in the
foHlowing sections.

3.1.1 Fixed remuneration

The amourt of base salary is determined
by raferance o indepandent rasearch
considaring the scope and nature of the
rola and appropriate market raies as wall
as the executive’s individual performance
and exparience. Base salaries are aligned
io tha median of tha relavant markaet
Whilst Woolworths conducis anrual
remmunesation reviews, there zra no
guaranteed remuneralion increases
contaimed in Executive Service
Agrepmenis. ANy INCreases are
detarminad by individual performance,
aconomic indicators and market data.

3.1.2 Vanable "at fisk” remuneration

Ramuneration that is variable and

”-‘pf-‘r‘d@n't upcn parformance is
daliverad through the STIP and the LTIP.

3.1.2.1 Short Term Incentive Plan (STIP)
The STIP hag teen structured io ensure
fhat paymants are closely aligned o
business performance and are designaed o

deliver Comgpany performance
improvemants over the prior yaar;
provide rewards subject to the
achisvermnesnt of rigerous periormance
targets; and

align individual objectives 1o Cormpany
and business-spacific chjectivas.

p{’r'(“en'[am“ of the exesutive's base
salary. The CEQ's STIP is calculaiad up
10 a maxirmum percaentage of fixed
remuneratiorn.

STiP s puydbm upen the achiavement of
Woohworths' financizl Xey Result Areas
(KHAs], 25 well as a component for
non-financiat or individug! performance.
Generzlly the compona nts are wiightad
0% 1o financial KRAs and 30% o
non-financiat or individugl gerformancea.
The financial KIRAs may be measures
such gs Sales, Earnings Before intarest
and Tax (E8IT), Return on Funds
Employed {(ROFE) and Cost of Doing
Buginess (CODB). Nore-financial
ragasuTes may include objectives such
zs reducing stalf turnover rates and
performance in zreas such as safety,
shrinkage and food safaty compliance
ratings. All targets are set at the
beginnring of the nancial vear for each
businass within the Woohworihs Group
and are measurad i"a%d o
improvements o the pricr year.

There are three fovels of targatad
performdrw for asch measure:

thrashold, which is the minfrmum
improvemeant 1o iast year's resulis
raquired to qualify for any incentive
payment;

targel, where established
parformance largeis have been
acheved, and

streteh, whera performance targets
have baen axceadad.

The targets and weightings for each
MORASUNE ATe adjucsted at the beginning
of the firanciat year o reflact the
specific financiz! objectives of each
business within the Wocolworihs Group
for that financial year. This resuiis in
gach exacutive having & STiP that is
diractly linkad to thefr individual annual
business chisctivas,

The Peopie Policy Commitiae reviews
znnually the ongoing approprizienass
of the STIP inciuding performance
raaasuras, weighting of parformance
rmeasuras, parformance hurdles, and
zssassrnent of performancs and
resward oulcomas.

3.1.2.2 Long Term incentive Plan {LT1P}
The other varfabie ramuneration
component is the Long Term Incantive
Plan which is designed to

gtiract, retain and motivate &l
axanulives

aign exacutive rewards o shareholder
value craation; and

provide rewards that are linked o the
Company's strategic, financizl and
huran resourcas objectives.

Long term incentives have baan in place
since 1993 and have been provided
throcugh various executive cpticr: plans.
Since 1999, ong term incentives have
been provided through the Executive
Option Plan which was designed 1o
reward executives for share price and
garnings growth, Performance measures
ralate o curnulstive Barmings per Share
(EPS) growtih and Total Shareholder
Heturn {T5R) refative (o peer companies.
£PS and TSR offer a balance batween
internat and external performante
indicators and are sligned to shareholdar
experiencas. In addition, sinca 2002,
Executive Option Plan participation
has beean linked 1o execulives
eriaring inte Service Agreaments

thzt offer the Company protection and
provide clarity for executivas,
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Fromm 2003 &l Supermarkaet and BIG W
store managers and buyers zs weli g3
distribution centre managers becama
aligible o pariicipate in the Executive
Optian Plan.

Al tha 2004 Annual General Maating,
sharahoiders approved the introduction
ol a new iong term incentive, the
Woolworths Long Term incentive

Plar:, The Plan has four Sub-Plans that
iogather can provide Oplions,
Parformance Rights, Performance Shares
or Cash Awards. This Plan zllows the
Board flaxibiity to detarmine which of
the Sub-Plan's awards will be granted 1o
deliver the overall LT cbjectives. Like
the previous Executive Option Plan,
stringent gerformancs measures are sel
annuaily and relate 1o EPS and TSR
hurdias,

In the avant of cessation of amployment,
both the Executive Option Plan and

tha LTIP Rulas provide the Board with
discretion as to the treatrmant of
unvestiad long @rm incentive swards,

Executive Option Plan

This Plan was approved by sharsholdars
irt Newvarnber 1999, There are five
franches and gach trancha is subject to
parformance hurdlas astablished by the
Paople Policy Commitias and approvad
by the Board, Hurdias refate (o
curmnulztiva EPS growth and to relativa
TSR, As at 25 June 2008, there were
30,348,968 cptiens issued under this
Flar:. This Plar was last offerad with an
affective grant date of 1 July 2004,

The Exgcutive Option Plan has the
following festures:

the exercise price 1% sat al the
weighted avarage market price of &
Woolworths Limited crdinary shase on
the five trading days prios to the date
approved by the Board as the affective
data of optiong for the purpose of
determining the exercise pericd ang
performance hurdles;
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an exgrcise pariod that commaeanceas
aftar five yvearg, subject 1o
parformance hurdles being met and
with a raaximurn exarcise pariod of
five and a half years;

upch exarcise, asch option entitles the
option holder 1o oneg ordinary fully
paid Woalworths Limitad share;
vasling is subject (0 two periormance
hurdlas based on cumulative EPS
growth and refative TSR measured
over the performance pariod;

the performance maasures, EPS
growth and refative 73R each
rapresant 50% of the oplions graniad;
EPS is the non-ditutive EPS which

is meszsured 3s the net profit of the
consolidated entity after cuiside
aquity interests divided by the
weighted average number of shares
on issue fincluding ordinary shares
and dividend rainvastment alfotments,
but exciuding shares heid by
Woolworihs' custodian) over tha
parformance pericd;

the EPS cormponant vasts in four
tranches, dependent on attaining
average annual growth of either 10%
or 1% a5 foliows:

Percertige of
aptions i total
grant thal may

T e exergised

ithe fifth tranche (50% of options) is
linked 1o relztive TSR and measures
the growth in the Company's shara
price pius dividends notionzlly

reinvestad in the Company's shares

measured over five years Trom the
grant date bul averaged for thrae
months (o eliminate volatility.

Thig rafiects the incrazse in value
delivered to shareholders over the
parformance period;

TSR parformance is measured against
CoOMmparaior companies comprised of
the SEP/ASX 100 Industrizls indax,
axcluding companies in the ASX
Banks and Finence Accurnuization
Index, ASX All Resources and ASX
Trusts and any companias in the
comparator group that have mergad,
had & shara reconstruction or baen
de-hgted as &t the measuremant dele;
TSR parformance measurement for
ihe purposa of caloulating the numbear
of cplicns 10 vest is carried out by

an independent third party; and

Perfornuance
huridfle
for be qohieved

fuor vesting Exgrcise peritd

Tranche 1 12.5%

dyear  Between d - 5.5 years
10% EFS  from the efisctive date

Tranche 2 12.5%

Botwaen & - B35
from the efiscti

4 year
11% EPS

Tranche 3 12.5%

Il

Batwaan & - 5.5 yaars
from the effective date

5 year
105 EPS

Tranche & 12.5%

Baiwaan & - 5.8 yaars
from the effactive date

5 year
1% EFS




the parcentage of the lotal number of
oplions granied that vest is depandant
on Waclworths ranking refative 1o the
parformance of the above comparaior
companies. The following fable sets
out the TSH vesting scheduls:

Waoalworihs
TSR equals or

excewds Hhe folloaring

Percenfon
of opltions
i tofad gramt

mercentile of the and
CORIPITETY COMPRIITS reised
60th percantiia 12, 5%
B85th parcentile 25.0%
F0th pereentile 37.5%
78th parcentile 50.0%

Woolworths Long Term Incentive Plan
The Woolworths Long Tarm Incentive
Plan has four Sub-Plans as describad
below. This provides the Board with the
Hexibility to determine which of the
Sub-Plans will best meet the overall LTIP
abjectives. 1t should e noted that wo
date the Company has used Optionsg
under the Option Sub-Plan o satisfy
LTIP grants.

£or the 2007 financial year the Board

has deterrninad that tha LTIP offer will be
raade under the Option Sub-Plan and will
sontain periormance hurdles the same
g3 those dr%c* ied for the Exscutive

1 Option Sub-Plan

The Option Sup-Plan delivars a right to
tha holdar of an option to aoquirs a share
gl a future date, subject o performance
hurdles being met and the paymant of an
BxXercise price.

2 Parformance fights Sub-Plan

Tre Performance <~hg s Sub-Plan delivers
& cantractual right to & future grant of a
Company share 1o the right holder at a
future date, subjact to the performancea
hurdles baing rmet. Each Performance
RKight has the following featuras:

it can be exarcis
pdymen[, and
pon exercisa, sach Parformance
Rlcm gntities the right holder 10 tha
issua of ong ordinary fully paid
Wioolhworihg Limited share,

ad for no monaiary

Curvent position title

3 Parforraance Share Sub-Flan

The Parformance Share Sub-Plan
provides for a contractual right to &n
imreadiate grant of Company shares to
participants, entitlement to which is
subject to performances hurdles being
zchieved. Each Performance Share hag
tha following features:

it can be exercised for no moneiary
payraant; and

partcipanis raceive dividends or othar
distributions and entitlemants as an
ordinary Company shareholder.

4 Cash Award Sub-Plan

The Cash Award Sub-Plan provides

for participants 1o receive cash-basad
long-term incentives subject 1o spacifiad
performance hurdles being met.

Directors and execulives

Al key managemant parscnnel wera
amployed by Woolworihs Limitad during
the yaar The following is 2 list of the key
ragnagement parsonnel of Woolworths
Lirmited and their positions at the date of
thiz Heport.

Executive Directors
Roger Campbali Corbett
Michaal Luscormbea™
Chairman

James Alexander Strong
Non-executive Directors
Leon Michael Lt4uillier

Group Managing Drmc tor and Chisf Exac
Criaf Oparating Otficer

Non-exacuiive Director; member of the Audit Committas and Chair of it

Superannuation Scheme

Adrienna Elrabeth Clarke
FRoderick Shaldon Deane
Giare Jennifer Grady
John Fraderick Asthury®
Exgoutives

Tom Pockatt™

Steve Bradley

Marty Harnngtt™

MNaurm Omikai

Non-exacutive Director and mamber
Mon-executive Director
MNon-exacutive Director and membar
Non-gxacutive Direolor

tha Peopla

and Chair of ¢

Chief Financial Officar

Chief Logistics and Information Officer
Managing Dirscior -
Diractor of Suparmarkets

Prograssive Entarps

isas Limitad

cutive Officer, ug until 30 Septamoer 2006

Chzgirman of the Board and member of the Audit Committee znd People Policy Comimities

e Woolworths Group

of 1t Policy Commitlae
and Cheair of the People Polcy Commiltes™

of the Audit Commities™
tha Audit Commilties

Notes (2)

{4

{6}

(1}

Mr Luscombe was appainted Chief
Cperating Officer on 1 June 2066
and it has been announced that
Mr Luscombe will become CEO an
1 Oetoher 2006, Pricr ta 1 June
200%, he was Directar of
Supermarkets,

Mr UHuillier was appointed a
Director and Chair of Waoolworths
Group Superannoation Scheme Py
Ltd effective 1 May Z008.

(3)

r Deane assumed the Chair of
the Peopie Policy Committes in
September Z0086, previausly held
by Wle Grady.

Mr Asthury resighed as a Director
and Chair of Woolworths Groug
Superannuation Scheme Pty Ld
effective 30 April 2008,

{5}

It has been announced that

MWy Pockett will joir the Board.

MWy Pockett will stand for election
ai the Annual General Meeting an
24 Novernber Z008.

WMr Harmnett was appointad
Managing Director - Progressive
Enterprizses Limited on 26 April
Z008. Prior to this appointment
Mr Harmnett was Direcior of
Business Development,

{7}

Wr Onikul was appointed Director
of Supermarkets on 1 July 2008,
Priar to this appointment

Wr Onikul was the Director

of Liguor and Petral, A%
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3.2 Conditional entitlierment to and shareholdings

The 1able below surmmarisas the movernents during the year in hoidings of option infarests for the kay management personnal

i tha Company for the geriod. An option entitias the holdar to one ordirary fully paid Woolworths Limited share. There is no amount
unpaid cn oplions exercised.

Cntions
Hulding at
27 fune Optons granted is Options
25 rerieration’ it
N, N, 5 N, #
S Bradlay 872,500 820,000 177,200 262 500 2,667,000
M Harmset: 460,000 40,000 88,600
M Luscorbe 485,000 80,000 177200 75,000 973,500
N Onikul 160,000 80,000 177,200
T Pockett 50000 80,000 177,200
Total 2277500 360,600 797400 337500 3,640,500
Notes E]] {2}
“DOpticns granted as remuneration”  The value of options exercised The armount paid per share
i the total fair vaiue of options during the year is calculated as exptoised was $8.17 and na
granted during the yvear determined  the market value of shares on the amounts rermain unpaid, No other
by an independent actuary. This Australian Stock Exchange {(ASX) cptions waere exercisad by key
will be amortised over the vesting as at close of trading on the date management peraonnal.
periad, the options were exercised after
dedusting the price paid 1o
axercise the apticns.
Cntions
Hulding at
27 fune OpHons granted is Optivns
petlets remuneration’? YerCise
N, N, 5 N, #
S Bradiay 960,000 150,000 291,660 437,500 3,217,375
B Brookes 970,000 60,000 116,400 750,000 4,732 500
T Flood® 660,000 350,000 2,747,500
M Harmnet: 610,000 150,000 291,660 300,000 1,893,600
M Luscombe 272 500 150,000 291,660 537 500 3,378,375
N Orikul 210,000 100,000 184,060 750,000 4,732,500
T Pockett 350,000 150,600 281,000
Total 5232500 760,000 1,474,400 3,125 000 20,701,250
Notes {0 (2} 3)
M Flood retired 371 August 2004 Granted as remoneration is the total - The value of aptions exercised
and My Luscombe was appoimed fair value of options granted during  doring the year is caloulated as
Director of Supermarkets. All of the yvear determined Iy an the market value of shares on the
M Flood's cutstanding and independent astuary. AKX as at clase of trading on the
vested options lapsed as at his date the options were exercised
retirement date. after deducting the price paid ta

exefcise the options,
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Optivns Oustions Vested ot 25 June 2006

Halding at
25 fune
Oyptions Lapyed 2HMxas Total Exercishle Linexercisible
M, k3 M, Mo, o, M,
490,000 - 175,000
500,060 100,000 100,000 BC,000
490,060 BC,000
240,000
580,000
2,300,000 100,000 100,000 275000
{3)
The number of ordinary shares
urder option as at 25 June 200§
is aguivalent 1o the aption halding
at that date.
Options Orptions Vested ot 26 June 2005
Holdinyg at
25 fune
Oyticns Liapued ™ A Total Linexercisible
M, k3 M, Mo, M, M,
672,500 87500 87500 225,000
260,000 500000
310,000 414,800 - 200,000
460,000 50,000 12,500 37500 250,000
485,000 25,000 25,000 350,000
180,000 BOC,000
500,000
310,000 A14,BC0 2,557,500 162, 500 12,500 150,000 2,025,000
{4} (51 {6)
The value of lapsed aptions was Mo amount is payable as of 26 June  The numbrer of ordinary shares
determined based on the fair value 2005 in respect of shares issued as  under aption as at 26 June 2005
af the cptions as at date of lapse a result of the exercise of optians is eguivalent to the options holding
using the Marte Carlo Simulation during the year, ai that date.

Binomial method.
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The table balow surrmarisas the movernants during the year in hoidings of shares in Woolworths Lirited hisld by tha key

rmanagemant parsonnel.

Shareholding

Shares pecelies

Ofrer

Sharefwlding

al 26 fune [T cluiges in af 25 e

205 af opstia sharehul 20336

Ne, A, M Mo,

M Corbeait 293,165 293,185

S Bradlay 61,863 262 500 54,9261 269 437

M Hamnet: 5,000 5,000

M Luscombe 656,926 75,000 (323,636 408,250
N Orikul

T Pockett

500,000

{302,009

197,691

Shareholding
wt 20 fuie

Sthres Issned

Shares issned

Shareholding
2T fune

2005 wader DR under NEDSI 26336

M, M, N, M,

J 1 Astbury B 386 42 2,081 10,475
AE Clarke 38,766 G682 2,081 41,4585
RS Deanes 40,000 40,000
[ Grady 33,80 269 34,670
L & U'MHudilfer 18,044 59,044} G0, 000
J A Strong 68337 1.879 : 70,018

Notes N

Figures in brackets indicate that
thesa shares have heen sald or

otherwise dispased af,
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{2}

Comprises new shares issued as

a result of participation in the
Dividentd Reirmvestment an on the
safma basis as transactions by other
shareholders and on-market

transactions.

3

Comprises shares issued under
tha Non-executive Tirectars” Share

Flan (MEGSP).



The tabie below sets out the grants of options and outstanding options for the key manzgamant personnal in Woolworths
Lirnitad for the pariod 27 June 2008 10 25 June 2006,

Nu.of Marinum
aptions Exercise el
af 25 fune Price af ansrd Laiv value
Crrarad dite 20067 Expiry dafe per oplicn fo mest per option'
S Bradiey WGH2002 160,000 3112/2007 $i284  vOw2007 $248,000 $1.55
WGH2003 100,000 33/12/2008 $12.80  1/0H2008 $115,500 5118
HO72004 180,000 3¥12/2009 511.54 1072008 $581,250 $3.88
WGH2005 80,000 3122010 516.486 1072010 $177,200 $2.22
490,000 $1,121,950
M Hamnett HOT2001% 100,600 137 20M 51088 1/072004 $141,2890 $2.83
WGH2002 go,00C  3112,2007 $1284  yow2007 $93,000 $1.55
WGH2003 1H0,000  3312/2008 $12.80  1/0H2008 $173,250 5118
HOTI2004 B0,000  3312/2009 1184 1012008 5581,280 $3.68
WGH2005 40,600 3122010 516.486 1072010 $88,600 $2.22
500,600 $1,077.380
M Luscombe 1072002 160,000 31/12/2007 $12.34 02007 $248,000 $1.85
WGH2003 100,000 33/12/2008 $12.80  1/0H2008 $115,500 5118
HOTI2004 B0,000  3312/2009 51184 1012008 5581,280 $3.68
WGH2005 80,000 3122010 516.486 1072010 $177,200 $2.22
490,000 $1,121,950
N Okl WGH2003 60,000 33/M12/2008 $12.80  1/0H2008 $89,300 5118
HOTI2004 100,600 33/12/2008 51184 1012008 $387.800 $3.68
WGH2005 80,000 3122010 516.486 1072010 $177,200 $2.22
240,000 $834,000
T Pockett 1072002 200,000 31/12/2007 $12.34 VOHZ007 $310,000 $1.85
WGH2003 1H0,000  3312/2008 $12.80  1/0H2008 $173,250 5118
HOTI2004 B0,000  3312/2009 51184 1012008 5581,280 $3.68
WGH2005 80,000 3122010 516.486 1072010 $177,200 $2.22
580,000 $1,243,700

Mo araounts warg paid or payvable by the recipient on racaipt of the option.

The mirimum vaiue yai 1o vest is tha minimum value of options that may vast if the performance criteriz are not met. It is
assessed as nil for each oplion grant and has nol baen specifically detailed in the table above on the basis that ne opticns

will vest if the parformance criteria are not satisfied,

Notes

(1)
The number of cptions at 25 Juna
2006 comprisas baoth options that
have vested and have not been

exercised and options yet to vest.

{2)

Options not exercised within six
months of exercise date lapse.

{3}

The maximum value of award 1o
vest represents the value of
amplayes benefit expensa that will
b recorded in fuiure reporting
peficds in respect of optians

acurrently an rssue.

{4)

The fair value per option was

determinad Iy an independeant

{5}

actuary using the Monte Carlo
Simutation Binamial methaod.

50% of the 1/07/Z001 options grant
was yel to vest a1 25 June 2008,
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No, of No, of No. of No.of No.of
aptions eptions aptions aptions Opticsns Firir vl
Exeriise 26 fune Qrianted exercised lapsed 23 fure af shires
Gorant date Expiry dote e 2% during year during year during year 20316 received't
07889 148072008 $5.11 951,875 B51,375 400,500 $97137533
107/2000 HOV2010 $6.17 2,252,125 1,842,750 309,375 331,958,478
72001 HO7201 $10.89 6,107,882 710,426 87713 5285843 $12,095,308
1#07/2002 31272007 51294 5388,00C 774,000 4,612,000
072003 3112/2008 $32.60 6,568,350 659,000 5,910,350
H27/2004 3112/2008 $i1.84 £752,750 653,260 7,099,500
072005 3122010 $16.48 ~ 6,908,300 190,200 €,715,400
29,020,082 6,908,300 3,204,551 2,374,863 30,348,968 $53,191,317

MNote {1}
The fair value of shares received is
determined by multiplying the
average monthly market price by
the nurnber of aptions exercised in
that month,

3.3 Relationship of variable remuneration o Woolworths' financial performance

Worolworths' axecutive remunaration is direcily relatad to the parformance of the folowing rasuiis through linking of short and

lang tarm incentive targets o these measurss.

The effectiveness of the STIP in driving year-on-year growth and business improvements is highiighted in the folowing tabis.

Fach of these elernants is currantly linked to Woclworths STIP

In monatary terms, since 2002;

2002 203 2064 MM 2605 20306
Fioe Year Performince Table AGAAY ATFRS AlFRS
Satas ($m) 24,4873 2B, 371 27,634 31382 31382 37734
EBLT ($ro) 833 G946 1,065 1,283 1,302 1,722
ROFE (%) 381 42.8 443 37 425 2869
CODB (%) 2184 21.55 2116 20,80 2073 20.47
Note {1}
Impacted by increase in Funds
Employed fallowing the acguisition
of ALH.
- Sazles have increased by rmore than 50% asince 2002,
EBIT has increasad by more than 160%:;
ROFE has daclined in FY0S5 and FYDE due 10 the acquisiticns of ALM, FAL, Taverner and BWIG. 2005 and 2006 had partial

sarnings from the respective acguisitions that occurred at various times over that two yaar pedod; and

- CODA has decreased,

Whilst EBIT hizs doublad over the pericd, STIP paid 10 exacutives has remained at less than 10% of EBIT cver the same pariod.
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The following shows the performance of the Company {as measured by the Company's TSR and the comparison of the
Company's TSH (o the ASX 100 Index.
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A cormngarison of the improved financial performance and banafits for shareholder wealth derived from Wooiworths' long-lerm
incentive arrangements and the number of options granted 1o all executives are shown in the following table:

Year ended June M 23 2004 200005 2334
EPS {cants per share) 50,24 53,09 67.40C 78918 90,86
Total dividends {cants per share! 33.0 380 45,0 51.0 580
Market capitalisation ($ million) 13,797 12,945 11,875 17,483 22,827
MNo. of options granted 10 executives (millicn) 8.5 a4 75 78 6.9
Fair vaiue par aplion {$) 283 155 116 3.488 2,22
MNo. of exacutives granted options 149 333 1,277 1,354 1,464
Note (1)

Grants under the Long Term
Incentive Plan ware extended ta
Store Managers and Distribution
Caentre Managaers in this and
subsecuant years.



DIRECTORS

STATUTORY REPORT

REMUNERATION REPORT

3.4 Remuneration tables

Set out in the following table is the remuneration for the key management personnel of Woolworths Limited during the financial

yvear anded 25 Juns 2006,

Shorrt-term

employee benefits

Post-emnsoyment

Short terin No- Retivement
Salury oisft manetay Swper- allowsmce
it foes bonus benefis’ animition accrual®
& ¥ 3 & ¥
Non-executive Directors
J ¥ Astbury® 170,000 1,872 12,138
AE Clarke™ 120,000 1,872 10,800 (27,777
M S Deane 130,000 1,872 1,700 44 584
L 2 Grady 130,000 1,872 11,700 30,600
L b4 UlHuillier® 195,000 1,972 12,138 321,621
J A Strong® 330,000 1,872 12,139 138,333
Executive Directors
R C Corbelt 3,071,683 2,291,746 51,086 3,000,000
M Luscombe 853,121 714,800 31120 106,000
Exgcutives
S Bradley 733,063 566,366 23,057 103,478
M Hamnett 535 788 508,430 1,875 844,000
N Orikul 122,184 641,044 15,229 160,000
T Pockett 745,699 738,404 26,135 110,435
Total 7,781,638 5,481,790 170,144 574,530 3,508,761
Notes E)] {2} {3)

*

These fees include fees sacrificed
far the purchase of shares in the
Company under the Non-executive
Directars” Share Plan,
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Marn-monetary benefits include the
cost to the Sompany of matar
vehicles, fringe benefits tax and
other items where applicable, in
gridition ta the deemed premium in
respect of the Directors” and
Dificers” Indemnity insurance.

These amounts are only payvable to
Mon-executive Directors upon
retirerment, The Board resolved
affective T January 2004 that in
redation ta the Direstars” Retirement
Allawance any Director appoirted
frarm that date would mot enter into
a Directors” Retiremant Deed with
the Comgpany. This resalution was
made prior 1o the appointment of
Mr Astbury and conseguently he is
nat entitled to a retirsmant
allowance. The $3 million payment
ta Mr Corbett relates to his
retirerment benefit as disclosed in
Sectian 3.5.1.

The Lang Term Incentive Flan
referred 1o in the table is anly
applicable to Mr Corbertt.



Other long-ferm Shire-bissed

benefits

mitgments

Loy

seFice

Lom-ternt
incentive

Ostiones s 4
% af tofal
PEIHLT-

Acerued
refirement

feane ol : Toted eration iy

¥ $ S ¥ k3 $

s e e

104,895 600,000

188,256 406,250

173,672 650,000

B30, 732 861,250

482,444 1,045,000
262123 200,000 10,778,646
723086 239,929 2,022076 11.9%
20,3583 239,829 1,666,246 14.4%
9,559 240,098 1.443,548 6.6%
38,828 94,253 1.61%,538 5.8%
19,427 265,559 1,906,653 13.5%

422,390 2,300,000 1,079,766 21,096,979 3,582,500

{4

Frofessar Clarke attained the
maxitnum 10 years ertitlemant to
this allowance at 27 June 2004,

Therefore, no further provision was

made in the year ended 25 June
2008, The recduction of $27.777 in
the sllowance ascrued at 25 June
2006 arose due to the method of
caloulating the accrual using an
average of a rolling three yvears
fee base for the three years to

June 2006,

(5}

Mr LHuilliar receives an additional
fes of $65,000 per annum as a
Mor-executive Girector and
$10,000 per anrunm as Chair of the
Audit Committes of ALH Group
Lirmited. These fees were also
included ity the determination of
Mr L Huillier's Girectors Retirement
Allowance.

(B}

These nombars represent tha
current year apparticnment of the
fair value of unvested ogtions, an a
pro rata basis over the total vesting
pariad, determined by an
independent aciuary.
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Set out i the following table is the remuneration for the Executive Diractor, non-executive Directors and other key managemant
parsonnal of Woohworths Lirmited during the financiz! yvear ended 26 Juneg 2008,

Shorrt-term

employee benefits

Post-euysoyment

Shorf term N Retivement
Salury oisft manetiary Swper- allowsmce
it foes bonus benefis’ animition accrual®
& k3 3 & k3
Non-executive Directors
JF Astbury™ 188,974 1722 11,585
AE Clarke® 120,000 1722 16,598 (41,345]
M5 Deane 130,000 1722 11,585 73,021
0 2 Grady 130,000 1722 11,585 76,686
L M UlHuillier 184,000 1732 1% 585 75,532
J A Strong® 330,000 1,722 11,585 166,369
Executive Director
1R C Corbelt 2,354,037 3,043,300 85,195
Executives
S Bradiey 608,473 338 874 24,465 90,435
M Harmsett 549,087 284 661 16,224 78,000
M Luscormbie 619,185 453,423 17301 87.000
N Onifeul 803,865 447 297 23,898 95,000
T Pockett 620,951 433,655 32,163 91,522
B Brookes™ 37,097 378,512 28,758 74,000
T Flood 386,057 26,393 22,000
Total 7370,706 5,372,722 243,729 607,480 350,243
Notes n {2} (3}
. Mon-monetary benefits include the  These amounis are anly payvable to The Long Term Incentive Plan

These fees include fees saorificed
far the purchase of shares in the
Company under the Non-executive

Cirectars” Share Flan,

B

cost to the Company of matar
vehicles, frings benefits tax and
other items, where applicable and
alza Directars’ and Officers’

Indermnity insurance.

Mon-executive Directors upaon
retirement and on having satisfied a
iU three year service periad.

referred 1o in the table is anly
applicable to Mr Corbett.



Other long-ter

benefits

Loy

Fil

Lo Term
ingentive

Shave-bised
mitgments

Ostiones s 4
% af tofal
PEIHLT-

Acerued
refirement

Jeroe ol Ostiang Toted eritkicn iy

¥ $ S ¥ k3 $

200280 - .

90,975 G2A7TT

216,328 361,666

219,973 620,000

283,839 539,629

509,676 906,667

30,264 3,000,600 8,492,796

17,457 240,205 1,328,989 18.8%
56,692 169,185 1,153,839 14 1%
52,487 171,201 1,400,608 12.2%
17,672 BE,313 1,238,045 4.5%
11,620 165,694 1,355,504 12.2%
16,392 92,748 1,123,507 B.3%
1,860 438,310

204,444 3,000,600 904,348 18,051,668 3,055,734

{4

These numbers reprasent the
current year apportiorment of the
fair valoe of unvested options, on a
priv rata basis over the total vesting
periad, determined by an
independent actuary.

(5}

As a result of the adoption of
AIFRS, the tasis for measaring the
fallowing elaments of remuneration
in the comparative period have

changad:

amounts for defined benefit
pians have een included based
ori an allocation of the current
service cost and recognised
past service cost for each

Rl oyee;

amounts for acorued annual
leave have been includad in

salaries and fees; and

amounts for acorued long
service leave have been
included in other long term

berefits.

Comparative alances have been
armended to reflect this change.

{6}

Wr Brookes was part of the key
managemant persennel in 2005
and was appointed Director of

Marketing on 1 July 2005,
Wr Broockes resigned from the
Campary on 12 Aprit Z008.
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3.5 Executive Service Agreements
3.5.1 Chief Executive Officer

{Roger Corbett)

The CEO's Service Agresmeant which was
affective 6 Septembear 2004 terminatas on
30 September 2008 and inciudes the
cormponants of remuneration to be paid
i the CEQ during the tarm of the
Agresment. Upon retirament at the end of
the tarm, the CEO is entitled fo receive &
paymant of & retirerment benafit of

$3 migon in addition to payment for STIP
and LTIP as detailed below, as well ag
statutory lsave entitlements and
suparannuation benefits. The Agreams
also provides Tor hig consultancy senvices
i Woolwaorths from his rativermeant in
Septambear 2008 until September 20711
ard a restraint that wifl pravant him from
providing services 1o majer compatiiors
of Woolworths in Australasiz, for which
Mr Corbett will be paid $600,000

DEr A,

Short Term incentive Plan
The rmaximars annual incantive
opportunity is 130% of fixed
remunesztion, with the actusl payment
0 ba deterrminad by the Board having
regard o the achieversent by Mr Corbett
againgt parformance criteria which
are sat azch year by the Board, The
parformance criteria are based on 2
combination of detailed measuremenis
of corporate and fingncial performance
and the implementation of strategic
operational objectives,

Long Term Incentive Plan
The CEQ participated in the Exaculive
Option Plan in 2000 under the same
tarms and conditions as other execustives
but subjact o 4 three year vesting period.
Al the 2004 Annual General Meeting
shareholdar approval was given for tha
Board to grant up 1o two million options
o the CEO on the basis that up 1o one
rrfllion cotions would ba granted for each
of the 2004 and 2005 financial years,

The Board subseguently determinad
that the above arrengement would be

58

reptaced with cash-based incenlives
of up to a maximurm of $3 million per
anrum in relation to key strategic
initiztives for the financial years ending
30 June 2005, 2008 and 2007, in addition
10 conventional performanca measuras,
urther measures will be considered by
’h’v Board thet closely align the stratagic
positicning of Woclhworths including:

growih and market share in kay
business categories;

pursuing acouisitions and slliance
strategies;

iniziation of managemaent changes 1o
prapare for succession and smooth
trznsition for the naw leadership tearn;
and

developing Turther strategic initiztives
o ansure future growth.

3.5.2 Chiaf Executive Officer
{Michael Luscombae)
Tha Company is finalising the details
of Mr Luscombe's Service Agragmant,
which wili be announced on comgiation,

3.5.3 All other executives
Since 2002, LTIP particigation has baan
offered subject o executives entaring
into Servica Agresments with the
Company. The Service Agresments
include the componants of remuneration
paid 1o exacutives (as detailed in
Section 3.2) but do nol prescribe how
remuneration levels are 1o be modifisd
from year 1o year, Thay do not provide
for a fixed term although these Service

Agrasments can ba mrminated on
spacifiad notice. For all of the exacutivas,

the Cormpany is r'equw"d 1o Give &
rrinirrurs of fwo months” notice.
Mowever, the Company raiains the
right to terminate any Service
Agrasmant immadiataly in & number
of circumstances inciuding fraud,
dishonesty, breach of duty or
ENPropar Conauct,

Alf of the executives are required (o
provide the Company with a minimum
of four weeks' notice of tarmination. in
additicn, for all executives, the Company

rgy elect 10 invoks a restraint paricd not
exceeding 12 months.

All executives are entilied 10 receive
thair sigiutory leave entitlements and
supgrannuation benafits upon
tarmination. 1n relation o incantive
plars on termination, where an exacutive
has resigned, STIP is paid only if the
axacuiive is employed on the last day

of the financial year. In relation to LTIR,
zatment of vestled and unvested
oplions, in &l instances of separation,
refnains subjact 1o the discration of the
Hoard in accordance with the Plan rules.

4 NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
REMUNERATION

4.1 Non-executive Directors’
remuneration policy and structure
Non-executive Directors’ fess ars
detarmined by the Bozrd within the
zggregate amount approved by
sharsholdars, The current maximum
agoragaie amount which rmay be
paid in Diractors” fees, as approved
a2t the Annual Genaral Meeting on
25 Novempar, 2005 is $1,750,000 per
annum. No Directors’ fees are paid 1o
Exacutive Direclors,

Asgof T August 2008, the amount of
Direclors” base fees pmd to aach

non-executive Director is 5168 000 per
gnawm, The Chairman receivas a mullipla
of ithrae times this amount. The feas for
iractors appointed prior o January
2004 ware increased effective 1 Auqu%[
2008 foldowing their dacizion to "iresze”
thair retirermant banefis (ses Section 4.3
belowl. Fees for Directors appoinied
after December 2003 who were not
previcuslhy antitled o a ratiramesnt
sllowance wera increasad effective

T Juby 2008,

i addition o the above base fees, the
non-exacutive Directors, cihar than the
Chairman, receivae a fee for servica on a
Hoard Comemitias {excepl the Corporale
Governanca Committeat The feas for
sarving as a member of a Board




Commitiea ara $22,500 for the Audit
Commitise and $15,000 for the Peogls
Folicy Commitiea. A Board Commities
Chizir receives 345,000 for chaiding the
Audit Commitzae, 330,000 for the
Paopls Policy Committes and $20,000
for the Woohwaorihs Group
Superannuation Schamae,

Feas for Directors who are Directors of
the controlled entity ALM Group Py Lid
(ALH) are 375,000 and for being Chair of
the ALK Audit Committes $22,500.

Anovarsess Directlors Allowance

of $10,000 iz &lso provided o any
Non-gxecutive Dirgciors residing oulside
Australia, reprasenting the additional
Hrne and cost involved in atiending

1o Board and Board Commiiles
responsibiitios.

The atruciure znd favel of non-executive
Cirectors” fess was basad on
intdapandant research and advice from
axternal ramuneration agvisors, The
advice takes into considerastion the feas
paid to non-exacutive Directors of
Australian listed corgorations, the size
and cormplexity of the Company's
oparations and the rasponsibilities 2nd
workload requiremants of Directors,
Directors (with the exception of tha
Chaziny receive a base Tee for being a
Lirector of the Board, and additional
fpes for either chairing or being a
rerniar of a Board Cormmitles or
sarving on the Boards of controliad
antitiss. No elermant of the ramuneration
afl ary Non-axacutive Director is
depandent on the satisfaction of a
parformance condition,

4.2 Non-executive Director Share Plan
The Non-axecutive Dirsctor Share Plan
(NEDSP) was established foliowing
approval by shareholders &t the
Company's Annual Ger Meating on
26 MNovamber 1899, The NEDSP allows
non-execulive Diractors 1o forego some
of their future pre-tax Directors” fees

10 acquire sharas in the Company at
prevailing markel prices on the Australian
Stock Exchange. The rules of the NEDSP
are virtually identical to the Woolworihs
Exacutive Managemeant Share Plan as
dascribed in Noig 24. During the

52 weak pericd ended 25 June 2008,
5,981 sharas (2005: 5177 weara
purchased under the NELSP,

4.3 Non-executive Directors’
retirement benefits cease

Dirpclors” Retirerment Deads, which ware
approved by sharsholdess in Novamber
1998 entitled sach non-axacutive
Siractor (zppointed prior 1o January
20044 1o raceive an allowanoe on
retiremmant as a Diractor (Allowancal aftar
& minimurm period of service, The Boasd
datarmined that it should imglemaent
changes 1o non-executive Diracior
ramunaraidon consistent with developing
rarket practice and guidelines by
dizcontinuing the cr-going accruai of
benefits under the existing retiramant
benefits arrangernents an 1 August
2008, The benelits accrued 1o that date
will be indexed by reference o the bank
bifl rate and may be rolled into a defined
benedil superannuation furd until
relirement occurs. With the cessation of
tha retiremant banefits, ad non-exsoutive
Directors shall recaive the same base
faes as sat out in Section 4.1 sbove.

4.4 Remuneration tables for
Non-exacutive Directors

£or the financial year ending 25 Juna
2006 datzilz of tha remunaration of the
non-executive Diraciors are set out at
Saction 3.4 of this Report.

4.5 Sharehoidings of non-executive
Directors

for tha fingncial year ending 25 June
2006 detzils of sharaholdings of
non-executive Diractors is sef out al
Saection 3.2 of this Report.

4.6 Appointrnent Letters, Deeds of
Access, Insurance and Indemnity,
Disclosure Deeds

The Company and each of the
Non-execulive Dirsctors have entered
inlo an Appointrant Letter togeihar
with 2 Dead of Accass, Insurance and
Indamnity, a Disclosure Deed {as
required under the ASX Listing Rules).
Tha Appointmen: Letier covars the
key aspects of the duties, role and
rasponsitilities of non-exacutive
Diractors.

Non-sxecutive Directors are not
zppointed for a specific term and thair
zppointment may be terminated by
notice from the Director or otharwisa
pursuant o seciions 2038 or 2030 of
the Corparations Act 2001,
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ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION

Except as set out below, the oparations
of the Group are not subjact to any
particular and significant environmental
ragulation undar & law of tha
Commonwealth of Australia or of

any of its States or Taritorias.

The Woolworths Petrol operations are
subfect to regulations and standards
governing the constiuction and opearation
of the facilities relating to tha storage &nd
dispansing of petrolewrs products,

The Group may &lso from Hme to time

be subject to various State end Local
Government food licensing requirermants
and environmental and own planning
regalations incidental to the development
of shopping centre sites,

As outlined in the Group Managing
Director's Report the Group has
implarnenied a number of anvironmental
initiatives. The Group has not incurrad
any significant liagilities under any
amaronmeantal legislation.

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
INDEMNITY/INSURANCE

lit The Constitution of the Company
provides for an indammnity (o the
maximum extent permittad by law)
in favour of each Director of the
Comgany referred to from pages 36
to 37 of this Report, the Compary
Secratary, directors and secrataries of
ralatad bodiss corporate of the
Company, and previous directors and
secrataries of the Company and its
ralated bodies corporate (O '
against any liabiity to third parties
{cther than refated Woolwerths Group
cormpanias incurred on or aftar
15 Aprit 1994 by such Gificers unless
the Hability arises out of conduct
invoiving a lzck of good faith, The
indemnity includes cosls or expenses
incurred by an Officer in succassiully
defending proceedings or in
connecion with an gpplication in
which the court grants reliaf (o the
apecified persons unde
Corporations Act 2001,
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lii) Each Diractor hizs enterad into a Deed
of indaranity and Access which
provides for indamnity against Hzbility
as & Direclor, excepl to the extent of
indemnnity under an ingurance policy
o whare prohibited by statute, The
Ceed aiso entitles the Director to
actaess Comgany documents and
records, subject 1o undartakings as o
confidentiality.

liij Curing or since the end of the
financial pericd, the Company has
paid or agread 10 pay & premium in
ragpact of & contract of inzurance
insuring Officers {and any persons
who ara Officers in the future) against
carizin liabiities incurrad in that
capacity. Disclosure of the tolal
arnount of the preriums and the
nature of the ligbilities in respect of
such insurance is prehibited by the
cortract of insurance.

AUDITOR'S INDEPENDENCE
DECLARATION

The auditor's independence declaration
is inciuded on page %2 of the Annual
Meport,

NON-AUDIT SERVICES

Gusing the year, Deloitte Touche
Tohrnztsu, the Company's audizors,
have parformed certain other services
in zddition 1o their statuicry duiies.
The Beard is satisfliad that the provision
af those non-audit servicas during the
year ig comgatible with, and did not
comgromise, the auditor independence
requirernants of the Corporations Act
2007 or as set out in Professionat
Statermnaent 81, Profassionat
Indepandence. 11 did not involve
revipwing or zuditing the auditor's

owrt work, acling in a managamest

ar decision-rmaking capacity for the
Company, acling as an advocate for
the Company or jointly sharing risks

or rewards.

ey

Detalls of amounts paid or payable 1o the
zuditor for non-gudit sarvices provided
during the year by the auditor arg
outlined in Note 4 (o the Financial
Statgments.

ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS

The Company is of & kind refarred 1o in
Australian Securities and Invastmants
Commission Class Order 98/0700 dated
10 July 1998 pursuant to section 341(7)
of the Corporations Act 2007 relating to
tha “rounding off” of amounts in the
finzncial report and Directors” Report.
in accordance with that Class Ordar,
smounts tharein have sean rounded of
10 the naarest tanth of a million doflars
axcept where otherwise indicated.

This Report is made oul in accordance
with a Rasolution of the Diractors of the
Company on 22 September 2008,

ﬁwm

Jarnes Strong
Chzirman

L.C0

Hoger Corbett
Group Managing Direciorn/CED
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AUDITOR'S DECLARATION

Deloitte

The Chairman

The Board Audit Commities
Woohworihs Limited

1 iWoolworths Way

Beiz Vista NSW 2153

22 Saptamber 2006

Daar Board Maembars

Woolworths Limited

In accordance with saction 307C of the Corporations Act 2007, | am pleased to provide the
foflowing declaration of indepandence to the directors of Woolworths Limited,

As lead audit partnar for the audit of th

have baan no contraventions of;

(it the auditor indepandence requiraments of the Corporations Act 2001 in relztion o the

audit; and

(if) any applicabls code of profassicnal conduct in relation to the audit.

Yours sinceraly

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOMMATSU

Fod Smith
Parinar
Charfared Accountants

Liability firmited by the Accountants Scheme, approved under The Professional Standards Aot 38584 (MEW)

@ financial statamants of Woolworths Limited for the
B2 weeks endad 25 June 2006, | declare that to the bast of my krnowledge and belief, thers

Caloitie Touche Tohmatsu
ARN, 74 480 127 06D

Grosvanor Place

225 Grorge Strast

Sydrey NSW 2000

PO Box N250 Grosvenor
Place

Sydney NSW 1220 Australia
X 30307558

Tel +61(0) 2 8322 7000
Fax: +61 (00 2 8322 700
vy deloitie.com.au

damber of
Dzloitie Touche Tohmatse
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Corporate Governance is at the core of
: Company's and Board's approach 1o
the anhancament of shareholder valua
and protection of shareholdars' funds.

Woclworths is committed to ensuring its
policies and practices in the critical areas
of financial reporting, ramunaration
reporting and corporate govermnance
rmaet the highast levals of disclosure and
compliance.

The Company has reviewed its current
Corporate Governance Policies and
Praclices against the ASX Corporate
Governance Councii {ICGC) Best Practice
Recommendations (Recommaeandations)
and considers that, excapl as
axplicitly indicated, thry meal tha
Recommendations {or the financial
pariod anded 25 June 2006,

Al information that the CGC
recormmend is publicly aveilable
on the Woolworths websita —
wwww woolworthsliimitad. com.au,

Thie following sats out the Company’s
position ralating o each of the ASX
Principles of Good Corporate
Governance.

1 LAY 5OLID FOUNDATIONS FOR
MANAGEMENT AND OVERSIGHT

Board respensibilities and objectives
The Board of Directors of the Company
acknowledgas its accountability 1o
sharahoiders for the creation of
sharehoider vaiua and the safeguarding
of sharsholders’ funds.

The rotes and respongibilities of the
Board are formalised in the Board
Chartar as set out below, which defing
the matiars that are resarvad for the
Board and itz Committaes, and thosa
that are the responsibility of the CEOQ
and managamaent
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In summary, the Board is accountable
to sharshelders for Woolworths'
performance and its responsibilities
intlucte:

1 Strategy - reviewing strategic
direction and approving corporate
strategic initigtives;

2 Board parformance and composition
Pvaluating the performance of the
Board and determining its size and
composition;

3 Lezdership selection - evaluaiing the
pert o'mcmcc of and set '{‘hnq the
Chiat Exa Hioer [CECY and

the Chief Financial Officer (CFO);

4 Succassion and ramuneration
planning ~ planning for Board,
CEQ and executive succession
and remuneragtion and setiing
More-axacutive Director remuneration
within shareholder approved limiis;

B Finencial performance - raviewing
Woolworths” budget, monitoring
management and financial
parfonmance;

6 Finzncial reporiing -~ considering and
approving Wooiworths” half-yearly
andg annual Financizl Statemants;

7 Risk mansgemant ~ reviewing and
meoritoring the gffactivenass of risk
management and compliance in the
organisation in respact of matarial
operational, financial, compliance and
stratagic risks;

8 Relaticnship with tha ASX and
regulators, and continuous disclosure
- ragintaining an appropriate levet of
diaiogue with the ASX and other
reguiators and ansuning that the
market and shareholders are
c‘oniifuou‘sly iﬂforr*ﬁt‘d O"' ir%"‘O"rT*a'thﬁ

matariz {szc:c,t on im pm,e ar volume
of the Company’s shares and ensuring
that internat processes and
procedures Tecilitate compliance;

9 Sccial responsibility - congidering the
social, ethical and anvironmenial
impact of Woolworths zctivities znd
operstions and seting standards and
moritoring compliance with the
Company's sccial responsibility
policies and practices; and

10 Audit

i

External - salocting and
racommending to sharaholders
tha zppointment of the extemal
auditor. Determining the duration,
rarmunaration and terms of
appointment of the extarnzl auditor
and gvaluating their performance
and ongoing independance.
Additionally, the Board maintains a
diract and ongoing dizglogus with
the external auditor.

lii Intarnal - maintaining a
constant and close review of risk
”T]&r]ﬁfﬁ](‘m@"ﬁ'{ and coraplianse
management, utilising the internal
audit func[ion and comgiance
function regorting to the Audit Risk
Management and Compgliance
Commitiee. This process is
supplemeniad by the review of a
key audit and compliance reports
and management (asponses and
action plans in respect of any
findings.

Whilst at ali times the Board retaing Tull
responsibility for guiding and monitoring
tha Cormpany, in discharging its
responsitilities, it makes use of Board
comymnitiess. Specialist cormmiilaes are
able 1o focus on a particular area of
responsitiity and provide informad
feadback 1o the Board.

To this and the Board has established the
following Committess:

Audit Risk Managemeant and
Compliance Commitias;

Caorporate Governance Commitias;
Paople Policy Commitise; and
Supararnuation Policy Commities.



The dey-to-day managemeant and
operations of the Company are the
responsibiity of the CEC who reports
0 the Board, on kay management and
oparaticnal issues inciuding:

developing and imglamaeanting
corporate strategies and making
recommendztions (o the Board on
significant corporate strategic
initiatives;

making recemmandations for the
appoirimant of senicr managameant,
deterrmining terms of apoointment,
avaluating parformanc
developing and maini
succession plang for senior
managament rolesg,

devaloping Wociworths annual
budget and managing day-to-day
operations within the budget;
maintaining an affective risk
managemeant and compliance
framewark;

kaaping the Board and market fully
informed about material continuous
disclosure; and

maraging day-io-day operstions in
accordance with standards for social,
athicat and envircnmantal practices.

Details of ezch Director's attendancs
at Board and Commitiee mestings is
geiziled in the Directors” Report on
paga 41

2 STRUCTURE THE BOARD
TOADD VALUE

Composition of the Board/Committees
Tha Beard has sdopled a policy of
ansuring that it is composad of a
majority of independent non-executive
Directors who, with the executive
Uirgclors, comprise an appropriate mix
of skills to provide the necessary

breadth and degth of knowiadge and
axperience 1o meet the Board's
responsitiities and chjectives,

Details of the skills, experience and
axgeriise of each Cirector are sat out
from page 36 to 37 of this Repori. With
tha exception of the CEO, the COO
fwho will succead the current CEO on

1 Ociobar 2006) and the CFG, &l of tha
Oiractors are Non-exacutive Directors
znd sach are considared 1o e
independant,

A determination of non-executive
Directors” independence is bazed on
tha Boards individual and ongoing
zasassment that the Direcior is frae of
any material business or any othar
relztionship that could be reascnzably
considered to interfare with the exercise
of their independent judgemeant,

inorder for a Director to be considared
independent the Board detarmines that
the Dirgctor does not have & material
relztionship with the Comparny, other
than soialy as a conseguance of being
g Direclor

A materizl relationship” includes a direct
ar indiract interest or relationship that
couid reasonably be considerad o
influence in & material way the Direclors’
decisions in selation to the Company.
When considaring wheathar a relztionship
is “rnaterial”, the Beard will consider the
rateriality 1o ezch of the Company, the
Director and the person o organisation,
with which the Diracior is related (gs
customas, supplier or advisor). Whilst the
Board has not sat matarizlity thrasholds,
itwill consider gli refationships on a case
by case basis.

Ary Diractor who considars that hafshe
has or may have a conflict of interesi or e
ratarial parsonsgl interast in any matiar
soncarring the Company 18 required (0
giva the Directors immaedizia notice of
such interagt.

The Chairrnzn is elecied by and from
the non-executive Direciors each of
whor is appointed to the Corporate
Governznce Commitles. The
Non-sxecutive Directors are also
zppointed 1o 8l least one of the Audit,
Hisk Management end Compliance

or to the Policy Commities of the
Company’s Supsrannuation Plan,

The Audit, Risk Management and
Compliance Commities and People
Bolicy Commities have sach adopied
comprehansive Charters defining their
rofes and responsibilities as summarisad
in this Raport.

information on the Company's Chairman
is sal out on page 36

Information on the Company's CEQ is zet
out an page 36.

Thera is no spacified term of office

for non-executive Diractors and the
pericd since appointmeant of ezch
Non-executive Diractor is sat out from
page 36 tc 37.

The Board reviews, as considered
zppropriate, tha terms of the
ppointment Letiar to ensure thay ars
consistant with the ASX Princigies and
fAecommandalions.

Corporate Governance Committes
The Corporate Governance Commities
consists of the non-exacutive Direciors
znd itz main responsibifities are 10
review all matless relating 1o corporate
governance inciuding the composition,
oritaria for mambearship, appointmant,
retirement end gerformance of the
HAoard of Direciors, the Board
Committees and the Chist Exacutive
Officer of tha Company.

The Committes alse monitors the
Company’'s Corporale Governance
policies and practices against relevant
axtarnal banchmarks.
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CGC Recommandation 2.4 calls for

the Board (0 establish a Nomination
Committee. The Board has estlablishad
tha Corporata Governance Commitias
with, arnongst other rmatters,
responsibiiities commeansurate with a
Neminaion Commiliea. In this respect,
tha Corporate Governance Commitias
is rasponsible for the,

asgesemant of the necassary and
desirable cormpaiancies of Board
mambars,
raview of i
plans;
evaluation of the Board's
performance; and

racommeaendations for the appointment
and removal of Direclors.

13 Board's succession

Directors’ independent advice
The Directors, the Board and the Board
Commitlass ara ﬁmpowc-“-r--'d 10 saek
oxtrmul profassicnal advice, as
onsiderad nacessary, &l the Company's
c*xpemp sibiect 1o prior consuiiation
with tha Chafrman. If apgropriate, any
advice so raceived will be made availabla
0 ali Direciors,

FPROMOTE ETHICAL AND
RESPONSIBLE DECISION MAKING

Directors’ policy statements
The Dirgciors have approved and
adopied a Ciractors Manuat comprising
Folicy Statemenis setling oul thair lagsl
and fliduciary duties relating o
exercise of due care and ditigence;
BRASUING continuous disciosura of
matarial matters;
dealing with conflicts of interest and
dutisg;
access to Company documants,
information, insurance, indemnities
and indepandant advice,
confidentizlity;
dealing in securities of the Company
and insider trading; and
fair, opan, athical and honeast
standards of conduct and deating.
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Policy on trading in
Company securities
Thg Comgany has a poficy which
requiras Dirgclors, exsculives and

anlor managers who trade, or proposs
o trade, in the securities of the
Company, 10 act in accordance with
strict guidelings which prohibit trading
ir the Compeany's sacurities other than
during fixed periods of 42 days
immediately following the release of the
haif year and Tull year resuiis 1o the ASX
and following tha Company’s AGM,

Notwithsianding this policy, there is no
pariod dusing which an individual is
axarmpt from the requiremenis of the
Corporaticns Act in regard o insider
frading prohibitions.

¢ SAYECGUARD INTEGRITY
IN FINANCIAL REPORTING

Financial report accountability
Woohwaorthe' Chiel Executive Gfficer
iCLO‘ and Chief Financial Officer (CFO)
e required 1o state 1o the Board, in
wz'i'tfng, that the Company’s Financial
Statermnents and Reporis present a true
and fzir view, in ali material respects, of
the Company's Tinancial condition and
aparationz| resuits &nd are in aecordance
with relevant Accounting Standerds.

As part of tha prowsc of approving the
Financial Statements, the CEO and CFO
provide staternants in wzwtmq 10 the
Board on the affectiveness of the
uor*ﬁpdny 8 visk managerment and
intarnal compliarnca control systems.

Audit, Risk Management and
Complance Committee

Thg Audit, Risk Managament and
Complianse Commities of Directors is
comprised of non-executive Directors
whio, at the date of this Regort, are
Massrs J F Astbury [Chairl, J A Strong,
L M Liudlier and Ms B J Grady, The
Commitiese provides advice and
assistance to thae Board in fulfilling

the Board's responsibilities relating

0 the Group's risk maragemeant andg

comgliznce systems and practice,
Fnancial Statements, finencial and
raarket reporing processes, internal
accounting and conirol systems, intarnal
and externat audit and such othar
ratiers as the Board may request

fror time to time.

The Committes glso provides advice
and assigtance to the Board on the

I OrT”“iur]CG framework and iis
effectiveness including legal and
requlatory compliance, heaith and safety,
privacy, environmeani, trade praciices
and fair rading, trade weaighis and
msasures, and smploymant obligations.
Wootworths has specilic poficies and
processes for addressing thase and
ather compliancs araas and the
Committae recaives and reviews
reguiar managemeant reports in

gach of these areas.

The Committes processas are dagignad
10 establish a Qr'oac'tfvo framework

znd diglogue in which the Commitiae,
raanagernent and exiarndl and imiarnal
guditors raview and assass the risk
framework, the quality of sarnings,
liquidity and strength of the Income
Stataments and Balance Sheels, and
trangparency and accuracy of reporting.
'I'h@ Commitm@ ra-'{“ormneﬁds any aclions

it cozﬁsrdammm.

Composition

Membership: The Audit, FRisk

Mdrédgemmt dnd Compliancs

Committes comprisaes &t least thrae

indapandant non-axacutive members
of the Board, appointed by the

Board, each of whom the Board

has detarminad has no material

relationship with the Cormpany

and each of whom is otherwise

“indapendant”,



Special Reviews: The Commitias
underizkes other special aclivities as
requested by the Board,
Indepandent Advice: The Committes
has the authonty o engage
irgdepandent iagal, accounting and
ather advice (o assist it 1o carry out
it duties.

Complaint Mandling Procedures:
The Commitlee has established

Cualifications: Al mambers

have appropriats business and
financial expartise 10 act eMactivaly
as mambars of the Commitiae,

as determined by the Board.

Chair: Tha Chair of the Coramitiae

is an indepandent non-exgtutive
Ciractor who is not the Chair of

the Board,

Secretary: The Sacretary of the Audit

Responsibilities

The Committes reviews and approvas,
annually, ithe overall zudit sirategy of the
Groug which uses a risk framework to
identify, assess and assign zccountability
for risk and audit procedures. This
ensures that the activities of external

and internal audit are focused and
coordinagled and that thare is no
duptication of affors,

Committes is appointed by the Board
and has ragponaibility for circulating
rminutas and matters arising from
sach meeting to all members of the
Cormmitles and the Board.

Access and reporting

Lirect Access: The Audit, Risk
Management and Compliance
Committes maintaing diract,
urfetiered access o external audilors,
inlernal zuditors and management.
The Commitise meeis regularly with
axlermal and internal auditors and the
Board and Commities mesl wilh the
external and intsrmal audite:ss, &t least
onace & year, without any managserment
prasent. The Committes has full
access to the Group's records and
parscringl. Tha Committes Chair
comrmits additional timea and may
meat with the CEOQ, the CFO, senior
maragament and axternal and
internal zuditors between Commitiae
meetings (o discuss and review
mattars ralating to Commitias
functions as appropriata.

FReporis: The key issues and reports
discuzsed at each Commiltes maeting
ara reported to thae Board by the Chair
of the Committas a2t the immaediztaly
foliowing Board maeeting. The
Cormmittes's Charter inciudes
providing periodical reports to the
Board on the most significant risks
facing the Group and the mitigation
strategies and practices adopiad

by managament.

Rizk Manzgamant: The Commities
assisis the Board in oversesing
managamants actionsg in the
avaluation, managamaeant and
reporting of material coparational,
financiat compliance and

siratagic rsks.

Accounting Standards and Quality:
The Commitiee oversees the
adequacy and effactiveness of the
Group's accounting and financial
policias and controls and sk
manasgament aysterns and seesks
assurance of compliance with ralevant
ragulatory and siaiuiory reguirgraants.
Financial Aeports: The Commitise
oversees the Group's fingncial
reporting processas and reporis

on the results of its activities to the
Board. Spacificaily, the Commitise
reviews with management and the
axternal sudiior, the Group's annual
and intarim Financizl Steatements and
Reporis 10 shareholdars,

Internai Controls: The Commities
axaminegs the adequacy of the nature,
exlant and effectiveness of the
intarnal zudit control processes of
the Group.

Coraplignce: The Commitiee assigls
the Board in fulfilling its compliance
rezponsibilities and ovarsaes and
reviews the Group compliance
frarmework and its effectiveness,

Tha Commities 2150 assists
manageamaeant 1o fostar and support

a complianaces culture.

procedures to review complaints
received by the Company concerning
accounting and othar matters which
fa within the scope of its Charter,
including any confidential and
anonyrious subrissions by
ampioyess,

External audit appointment
and supervision

Appaointmeant: The Commitiaa
nominztes the external zuditor 1o

the Board and this appointmeant is
revigwed every thres vears. External
gudit performance is reviewed
annuatly.

Pariner flotation: The Company
requires the position of the lead client
sarvice sudit paringr o rotate avery
five years,

Indepandence: Review and rmonitor
tha independancea of the external
auditor. The Company will ot invite 1o
ba appointed as Direclors any ex-zudit
parinarg, Furthar, any ex-partngrs

ar senior parsennel who may be
proposed for appointmeant in &
managamant position will e subject
10 Board approval,

Services: The Commiltes raviews
additonat audit and non-gudit
sarvices by axternal auditors for
Appropriateness against an
astablished freamework,
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Consulting: The Commities reviews all
non-audit-relzted “consulting” fanders
and submissions from the accounting
firms. Howsaver, the Commiliae has
nol sat any nominal “cap” on the fevet
of non-zudit services 1o be performed
oy the exigrnal suditors, as thay
consider that this may restrict the
ability for the Company 0 access the
pest advisors for the particular task,
The Commitias has groceduras Lo
raview proposed services by the
providers of the external zudit which
are dnreiated 1o acdil assurencs
activities,

Audit Plzns: bach yaar, the Committee
reviews and approves the overall
scope and plans for the externai audit
activities, including staffing and fass.
Audit Reporis: The Commitias
raviews il audit reporis provided

by the extermnal auditers,

Internal audit appointment

and supervision

- Appointmant The Commities
is involved in the performance,
assassment and appoirmmv-m or
termination of the HMezd of Internat
Aadit, who reports (o the Group
Managing D|"={‘10r
Audit Plans: The Commities reviews
the cverall %Ccpo anrnual plans end
sudget for internal audit df“{wr?ir%
and ovarsees the afignment of risk
management programs and internal
audit activities.
Reports: The Commitiae reviews |
kay intarnal audit reporis.
Access: The Commitles has ragular
direct access 1o the Head of internal
Audit.
Fesourcing: Tha Commilias ansuras
that tha intermal audit function i3
adeguately rasourced 1o delivar
the approved annual gudit plan,
Independence: The Commitias
reviaws the independence of the
[starnal Audit function and that it
is nol invoived in exacutive
decision-making.
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Compliance

- Continuous Disclosura: The
Committes reviews detaited policies
and proceduras dr%fand 1O Brsure
complignee with the ASX Listing
Ruias in respact of COMinUous
disclosure
CEQ/CFD Cartification: Tha
Committes approvas the scope of
risk rmanagement and internal controls
o be coverad by the CEOQ/CFO
Certification and satisfies itself that
the underlying certification is
approprizie.
Lagal Comgliance/Raguiatory Matiars
The Commitles receives raporis and
recormmendztions on significant legal,
corapliance Or regulalory rmaties that
may have a raterial effect on the
financial statermnents or compliance
policies.

5 MAKE TIMELY AND
BALANCED DISCLOSURES

The Company has detailed policies

and grocedures designad 10 ensure
compianca with the ASX Listing Rules
continuous disclosure requirgrmants and
gecountability at senior management
leval Tor that compliznce. A surmmary of

thase policies and procaeduras is available

on the Caompary’s wabsite.

6 RESPECT THE RIGHTS

OF SHAREHOLDERS

The Company is commitiad 1o keaping
sharehoidars fully informed of significant
developments and activities of tha
Company. This commitrmant is dalivered
through the Company’s website
wwwowoohvorithslimited corm.au)
which inciudes financial and sharehoidar
information that is updated reguiarly

o ansurs ransparancy and a high leval
of communication of the Company's
oparations and financial situation, 1o

the extant that thig information is not
commarcially sansitive.

information available to shareholders
includes, but is not dmited to, the
Company's annual reports, hall-yearly
reports, guarterly sales results, share
price updates, dividend history and
=l cthar ASX announceraenis by

tha Company.

The Board requasts the extarnal auditor
1o attend each Annual Ganerzl Meaiing
of the Company and 1o be available to
answer sharsholder questions about the
conduet of the audit, preparation and
content of the auditor's report, the
sccounting policies adopied by
raanagement and auditor independeance.

7 RECOGNISE AND MANAGE RISK

Risk management

Woolwaorths has a sound sysiarm of risk
raanagernent and internal control { has
& risk management policy Tramework and
governance structure designad 10 ensuse
that the risks of conducting business are
progerly managed.

Management is respongibie 1o tha
HBeard for identitying, managing,
reporling upen and implernanting
maasures 10 address risk,

The Board overseas and reviews the
affectiveness of risk maragemaeant in the
orgarisation and is assisted and advised
in thig rote by its Corporate Governance
Committas, Audit Risk Management
and Comgilance Committes and Peopla
Palicy Committea, Furthe:, internal audit
and managament provides regular
complance assurance reposls o the
Hoard and its Commitless.

Certification

in complying with CGC Recommeandatian
7.2, the CEOD and CFO state 1o the Board
irwriting that the integrity of Financial
Statements is founded on sound
systems of risk managameant and
internat compliance and contrel which
imgalements the pot aviopied by

the Board and that the Company's risk
managemant and internal comgliance
gnd controf systams ars opezaimg
sfficiantly and effectively in all maierigl




respects. In addition, in the current pariad,
certification by the CED and CFO stating
whelharn

the financial records of the antity for
the financial yaar have been progerly
maintained in aocordance with
section 286 of the Corporations Act;
the financial statemants, and the
noies o the financial statements,
for the financial year, comply with the
ralevant accounting standards; and
the financial statements and the notes
for the financial year give & rue andg
fair view:

is required in accordanca with the

Corporations Act and has baen

recaived by the Directors.

The Board's rofe in certification inciudes:

deterraining the scope of fsk
manageament and internal sontral

to be coverad by the CEQ/CFD
cartification;

confirming the banchrmark criteriz -
the Company uses the criteria
contained in the Comrmittes of
Sponsoding Organizations of the
Tragdway Commission framework
upcr which zn assesament of the
alfactivanass of internal controls

wifl be based: and

satisfying itsell that the process
underlying cartitication is appropriate
and that the CEQ and CFO zrg justified
in proviging their certification.

8 ENCOURAGE ENHANCED
PERFORMANCE

Tha Chair is responsibie for monitoning
the contribution of individual Directlors
and counsetling therm on any areas which
rright help irmprove Board performance.
Thig hias worked well in the past and

the Board engages exiarnal assistance,
as appropriate, in reviswing this procass.
The performance evaluation of kay
exacutives is undartaken hy the

CEG in conjunction with the People
Faolicy Cormimitiea.

9 REMUNERATE FAIRLY
AND RESPONSIBLY

People Policy Committee

CGC Recommeandation 8.2 proposas that

tha Board establishes & Rermuneration
Committee. The Board has astablished
& Paople Policy Comrmittas which,
amongst other matiers, has
responsibilities commensurata with

& Remuneration Committes,

The Remuraration Commitiae's
racomrmendad responsibiiitiss include
a review of and recommendsations (o
tha Board oy

execulive remunesation and inceniiva

policies;

the rermuneration packages of senior
managarment,

the Company's recruitment, ra
and termination policies and
procedures for senicr management
evelugtion and assessment;
incantive schemes;

superannuation arrangamaents; and
the remuneration framework for
Cirgclors.

The Peogie Policy Commitias hasg
responsitiiities in relation to each of
thess matters, exsept suparannuation
which is the responsibility of the
Superannuation Poicy Committes.

The Committes works closaly with
rmanagemant o revigw processas and
programs o ensure Remuneration
Bolicy is impiemented. Accordingly,
raanagement providas the Commitice
indepandant axtarnal advice an kay
rermuneraion issues, as required.

The Committes acts on behalf of the
Hoard and shareholders to ensure that
in relaticn W0 s human rescurceas,

tha Company:

sstablishes and implemenis & human

rescurees stratagy 1o ensura that
appropriataly talented and rained
paople zre svailable (o achiave the
Business Stratagy;

undertakes the appropriate
performance management,

tantion

succession plananing and devaloprnant

activities and programs;
provides effective remuneration

policias having regarnd to the crastion

of value for sharehoidars and the
axiarnal rarmunaration rmarkat;

provides a safe working environment

for ail amployees;
compligs with aif legat and reguiaior
requirgments and principies of good
govaernancs, and
reporls o shareholders in ling with
raquired standards,

The Peogie Policy Commitles of

¥

Hirectors comprises nor-exasuiive

k4

Siractors, who at the date of the Haport
are; Or B S Deang (Chain), Prof A E Clarke

znd Mrd A Strong. Ms B J Grady was
tha Chair until the conciusion of the
raeting of the Committas in August
2008, following which she retired from
tha Committes and Br B S Deane
becarna the Chair of the Committas.
Their attendance at meatings of the
Commiittes is set out on paga 41 of
the Direciors’ feport,

Remuneration Report

In gccordance with the Corporations
Act 2607 (section 3004) disciosuras
in relation to Director and axecutive

remur@ration are inciuded in a separale

somponent of thae Cirectors” Report,
entitled Remunerztion Report. The
Hemunaration Report is set oul from
page 42 1o 57 Full detzils of the
Company’s remunesstion phitosophy,
structure, including fixed and variabie

rermur@ration, and quantum are detailed

in the Remuraration Report.

65



CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

Emplovee share plans

The Compeany has established various
Plans which have provided far the
aflocation of shares to over 45,000 of
its parmanant employess, Details of
thasa Plans are sef outin Note 24 1o
tha Financizl Statements

"Ermnpiovas Benaefits”.

The Plang are aimed &1 aligning
Woohworths' employes interasts
with those of other Wociworths
shareholders.

1) RECOGNISE THE LEGITIMATE
INTERESTS OF STAKEHOLDERS

Corporate conduct

In addition io the Directors” Policy
Statements sei out on page 62 of this
MReport, the Board has adoptad a
Corporate Governance Manual which
provides for the Board's endorsemeant
of the Company’s corporate governance
policies appliceble to all levels of
Managamant in tha following key arsas:

1 Code of Conduct/Ethics;
2 Trade Practices/Fair Trading Practices;
3 Tendering and Supply arrengements;

4 Gifts znd Graiuitivs/Political
Donations;

b Ccooupational Maalth and
Sefety/Discrimination;

Egual Employment Opportunity;
Continuous Disclosurs,

Comglance;

w0 o~ O

Trading in the Company’s Securities;
and

10 Conflicts of Interest/Cuties

&a

The policles which have bean
incorporated in this Code of Conduct
ganarally apply to all employees and
st out the standards within which
thay are expecied 10 act. The policies
are aimed at the mainteénance of
standards of honasty, integrity and
fair dealing by ai erployees in their
daglings with customaers, suppliers,
the community, competitors and azch
other in tha performance of their duties
and rasponsibilities.
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FIVE YEAR SUMMARY

AIERS AIPRS AGAAL AGAAP AGAAP AGAAD
205t 2005 2005 2002 2003 202
Weks 52 52 52 52 52 53
INCOME STATEMENT
Sales ()
Food and Liquor'™ 28,063.0 235898 23 5696 21,9976 21,0380 19,595.0
Patrol 4,390.4 53,3084 33084 2,184.9 1,730.5 11183
Total Suparmarkets 32,453.4 26,8780 28,8780 241525 22,7495 20,7143
BH5 W 3,118.1 2.908.7 2.908.7 27479 25003 2,2805
Conzumar Elecironics 1,167.1 10075 10075 B86.3 7912 659.0
Total Ganarat Marchandise 4,286.2 39182 3,M6.2 3,604.2 3,281.5 2,939 5
Motels 849.9 4158 4158
37,5895 31,2100 31,2100 277967 26,041.0 23,6538
Wholesale 144.7 142.% 1425 137.2 280.4 819.2
Total Group 37,734.2 31,3525 31,3525 27.933.9 26,3214 24,473.0
Earnings before interest
and tax {$m)
Food and Liquor™ 1,384.9 1,081.5 10772 G941.7 8251 7347
Patrol 53.1 382 36.3 8.6 299 127
Total Suparmarkets 1,448.0 13277 11135 9E0.3 BRAD 747.4
BH5 W 123.1 118.3 18.0 6.2 103.7 935
Conzumear Elecironics 64.0 545 51.8 441 370 268.0
Total Genarat Marchandisa 1871 1728 16848 1803 1407 1215
Motels 151.1 52.8 549
Total trading cperstions 1,786.2 1,383.3 1,338.2 11206 a5 7 BEB.S
Net property incomes 18.3 212 203 1.7 268 34.2
Mead office overheads 84.1) (74,9 (779 (79.0) (767 778
Total unsllocatad {65.8) (537 (578 57.3) 501 (43.8)
1,720.4 1,2899.8 1,280.6 10633 945 6 B2E3
Wholesale 1.8 2.5 24 1.6 01 7.4
Total Group 1,722.2 1,302 1,283.0 1,065 1 Q45 7 #3277
EBIT to sales (5%}
Total Suparmarkets 4. 46 419 4.14 3.97 3.76 3.8%
BH5 W 395 4.07 4.08 4.28 415 410
Conzsumear Elecironics 548 5.41 514 4.598 468 4.5
Motels 17.78 12.7G 13.20 -
Wholesale 1.25 1.7% 1.68 1.31 0.04 0.90
Total 456 418 4.09 3.50 3.40
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AIERS AIERS AGAAD AGAAL AGAAP AGAAP
06 2065 2008 20604 2003 202
Weeks 52 52 52 52 52 53
INCOME STATEMENT (%)
Sales 37,134.2 31,352 5 31,352.5 279339 26,3214 24,4730
Cost of goods sold {28,289.6) {23,550.2) 23,545 9] (20,975 5} {19,703.0) {18,296.0)
Gross profi 9,444.6 78023 7BoZ8 £,958.4 6,6816.4 61770
Gross profit margin (%) 25.03 24,59 2489 24,97 2514 25.24
Cost of doing businass (COGRB) (7,722 .4) 16,500.2) 16,5196 {5,803 31 568727 15,344.3)
CODA (%) 2G.47 2073 20.80 2110 Z1.55 27.84
Saliing, genaral and admin axpenzes
lexciuding rant, depraciation and
amoriisation) (6,130.1) 5,184.0) 1515373 (46759 14,5387 4,2688.3)
ERITDAR 3,314.5 2,818.3 2,6848.9 2,2825 21027 18887
FEITOAR margin (96 8.78 85.35 8.45 817 /.89 772
Fent {inciuding flout rent) {(1,070.1) (900.2) (G049 B09.8) (788.7) (70500
EBITDA 2,244 .4 1,783 1,744.C 1,472.7 1.344.0 11837
EBITDA margin (%) 5.95 5.48 5.56 R.27 577 4.84
Capraciation {522.2) (41605 416.2% (3708 (3709 32770
Armartisation of goodwiil - 4181 [Z8.0) [27.4) (23,33
EBIT 1,722.2 1,302% 1,283.0 1,085 9457 B327
EBIT margin (%) 4.56 476 4.08 387 358 3.40
Irtarast {201.8) 1104.9; 1085} (&7.3) 39.7] h0.5)
WiNg and Woolworihs Nolas interest {47.9) 45 2) 45,2} 42.9) 141.71) (3983
Profit nefore tax and abnormal items 1,472.5 1,182.0 11283 9749 H64.9 742.4
Taxation {445.8) 334.8) 3377 (286.7) [255.0) (218.5)
Frofit after tax and beafore
abnormal terms 1,0286.7 B17.2 7918 688.2 509.9 5230
Minority iniarest {12.1} .03 (1.3} 10.4) 10.4) 107
Profit atiributabie to mernbers of
Woolworths Limited after tax andg
servicing income notes 1.014.6 B816.2 750.5 6878 6095 B23.2
BALANCE SHEET
Funds employed ($m)
Irventory 2,316.1 1,989.6 19773 18470 1,843.1 1,838.4
Accounts payable {2,778.5) 2,330.8) 2,335 61 (2178.3) (2.078.9) (2,000.8)
MNet invastment in inventory {462.4) (370.2) 13RE.3) (328.3) [235.8) {162.2)
Fixed assais and invasiments 41721 34288 35819 2,758.8 24850 2 3668
Intangisias 4,7589.4 2.046.4 2.011.4 R72.3 BES 3 5450
Heceivables 1,174.4 611.5 689.9 4230 5431 4986
Other craditors {1,838.7) 1,483 .8) 11,4578} 1,267 (1,3186.1) {O89.6)
Total funds employed™ 7,804.8 42301 4,487 2ARTT 23618 22886
@t tax balznoos 252.3 162.2 1472 56.7 21.3 (7.9
Frovision for dividend® - 188.9)
Net assets employed 8,057.1 4,412.3 46143 2,216.4 21828 20898
Nat repayable daby™ {(3,799.5) (2,432.1) (2,417.2} (FB3.9) (359.6) (237.3)
Net assets 4,2576 2,000.2 EREEYA 2,0582.5 1,823.2 1,822.5
Noilgholdars' equity [WINsg)® - 583.0 B83.0 5830
Minority intarest 2298 26.0 333 52 4.8 4.4
Sharasholders” aguity 4,027.8 1,874.2 2,183.8 1,484.3 1,235.4 1,235
Total equity 4,2576 2,000.2 EREEYA 2,0582.5 1,823.2 1,822.5
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FIVE YEAR SUMMARY

AIFRS AIFRS AGAAP AGAAP AGAAP AGAAD
2006 2005 2005 2002 2003 202
Weeks 52 52 52 52 52 33
CASH FLOW (M)
EBITDA 2,244.4 1,718 1,744.C 14727 1,3440 11837
Movermant in net investment
ir invantory 61.4 44 3 {4401 97.3 781 2478
Other operating cash fiows 127.8 100.4 808 £9.2 1555 387
MNet interest paid (including cost
of income notes) {253.2) 161.5: (1815} (95.7) (82.3) 974
Tax paid {475.3) 1398.3) 3983 3241 283.8) (238.1)
Operating cash flow 1,705.1 1.214.4 1.221.0 1,219.4 1,209.5 1,134.7
Payments for progerty, plant and
aquipmarnt {1,411.7) 11,1805 11,180.5) e 1593 4) 1596.7)
Procasds on disposal of proparty,
plant and eguipment 328.7 977 977 1381 1145 203.8
Mafor acquisitions - debt funded {1,464.7) 11,2088 11,2088 {257.0)
Other invasting cash Hows {178.1} {787 i76.8) 1.4 85,3 1938
Free cash flow (1.020.7) M153.9 (73472 640.2 6653 3909
Movarmnant in gross debt 1,0678.6 1,312.7 1,312.8 1133.7) 18.3 1114.4)
Cividends paid - (2019 (26191 (3468.9) 1307.3) (251.5)
Buy-back of shares - 1140.9) (5347
ew shares issued 409 128.C 1200 472.9 501 4.0
Effecis of exchange rete
changes on balance of cash
hald in forgign currancies {8.7)
Net cash flow 92.1 #H4.9 H34 616 (7.7 33.0
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AIFRS AIERS AGAAD AGAAD AGAAP AGAAP
2006 2005 2005 204 2003 202

Weeks 52 52 52 52 2 53
SHAREHOLDER VALUE
ROEE {pre-tax return on
funds employed) {Ye}’
Normal 28.62 42 64 38.73 40,32 42 81 38.07
Du Pont analysis
{abnormals excluded} (%)
EBIT o gales 4.56 416 4.09 3.81 359 3.40
Sarvice burd 85.50 Bz 47 88.02 91.53 91.46 2915
Tex burden™ 69.72 7054 7010 7059 7052 TOET
Aszelium 3.41 4.24 415 4 64 483 453
Financizl feverage!" 3.69 462 438 4.48 4,70 4.97
Feturn on equity™ 33.81 50.93 4357 50.95 49.34 4813
Earnings per share
Ordinary shara price cloging {%) 19.36 16.48 16.48 11.62 12 68 1315
Markel capitalisation ($ro) 22,8819 17493.2 17,4832 11,8748 12,8450 13,7470
Weighted avaraga shares on issue 1,116.3 1,630.6 10837 1,020.5 1,049.2 1,041.3
Normal basic EPS cents per shargf™  90.89 7919 7574 67.40 BE.09 50.24
EPS pre-goodwil amortisation
cents per share) 80.89 7915 7975 704 60.70 52.48
Intarirm dividend ($m) 32b.9 250.5 2509 2136 1G2.0 1870
Interirn dividend (Cents par share) 28.0 280 24.0 21.0 8.0 150
Final dividend [$m)i4 3671 2872 2872 2489 2151 188.49
Final dividend (cents par shara) 31.0 270 270 24.0 210 HERY,
Total dividend ($m) 683.0 534.2 5382 4625 4G 345,09
Total dividend {cants per share} 59.0 B1.0 B0 450 350 330
Payout ratic (before abrormals) (%) 68.30 65594 68.M BY.24 66.79 66.11
Pricefaarnings ratio (times) 21.3 208 218 172 2.8 6.2
Fricafcash flow ratio {timasg) 12.67 13.8% 14 09 3,76 11.03 12.086
Growth rates {% increase)
Sales 20.35 12.24 12.24 813 7.55 1701
Sales per eguivaient weeak 20.35 12.24 12.24 6.3 9682 14,50
Salas par square mea
(rormalised 52 weeks)™™ 1.14 110 130 1.41 373 4.45
EZITDA 30.64 16.66 18.42 .58 13.54 16.46
EBIT 32.26 2225 20.48 1263 13.57 17.84
Profit sefore tax and abnormal itemns 27.82 18.17 15.84 1272 16.50 14,06
Profit after tax and sarvicing
income notas 24.30 1867 14.93 12.85 1840 22.24
Narmal basic EPS 14.76 1750 12.37 16.03 15.63 2510
FINANCIAL STRENGTH
Sarvice cover ratfo (tmas)"® 6.90 867 B.35 1.81 11.70 9.22
Fixed charges covar {iimeas) 2.50 248 2.48 252 2.50 2.32
Sales to invaniory (Y%F17 17.61 16.48 16.40 1534 14.30 13.71
Cagpital expenditure 1o EBITDA (%) 62.90 8871 67.69 48.80 4415 50.42
Operating cash flow par share 1.53 118 117 139 R 108
Mepayable gearing {S681H 4716 54.67 52.38 7.39 847 11.52
Sarviced gearing (%) 4716 54.67 52.38 33.7C 4318 3882
Current agsetls 1o current fabifities (%) 84.54 B1.06 B1.60 Bk 44 BO.79 0385
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FIVE YEAR SUMMARY

AIERS AIPRS AGAAL AGAAP AGAAP AGAAD
205636 2005 200% 2004 2003 202

PROBUCTIVITY
Stores {number)
Supermarkets
NSW and ACT 238 233 233 234 228 227
Quaensiand 161 147 iy 143 141 130
Victoria 182 183 B3 179 17% 173
South Australiz and Northern Territory 69 69 E9 63 63 60
Wastern Ausiraia 79 &4 Ga 60 58 559
Tagmania 27 a7 27 29 25 29
Supermarkeis in Ausiratia 756 723 723 708 694 G676
Supermarkais in Naw Zealand 198
Total Supermarkets ah4 723 723 708 694 676
Fraastanding Liguor 204 162 192 192 164 139
ALH Group retail outlets 432 382 382
CabaxWMWOW Petrol 131 17 17 44
WOW Petrol - Australia 360 3398 339 315 287 256
WOW Petrol/Convenience - New Zaaland 22
Total Supermarket division 2,103 1,783 1,753 1,259 1,145 1,073
Generat Merchandise
345 W 129 120 120 HE 104 96
Dick 5mith Elactronics 223 202 202 164 153 147
Cick Smifth Hlactronics Powearkicuse 20 18 e 18 6 15
Tandy 123 122 122 148 179 204
Total General Merchandise 495 462 482 441 457 462
Motels (ALH Groug 2006
includes eight clubs) 250 169 169
Total Group 2,848 2,384 2,384 1,700 1,597 1,533
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Jume 2005 Opemed iAcquived Closed fuene 200348
Stores {movemnent}
Austratian Supermarkets
MNaw Scuth Walas 233 3 13 238
Queesnsiand 147 14 161
Victoria 183 Z 13 182
Scuth Austratia and Northern Territory 69 69
Wastern Australia &4 17 i2) 79
Tasmania 27 - 27
Total Australian Supermarkets 723 41 (8] 756
Supermarkeis - New Zezland 198 198
Total Supermarkets 723 239 (8] 954
Frasstanding Liguor 182 17 (5] 204
ALM Groug retail dguor outlers™® 382 79 {29) 432
Cattex/\WOW Patrol 17 15 l 131
WWOW Patrol ~ Austrais 339 21 360
WOW Patrol/Conveniencea - Naw Zealand 27 22
Total Supermarket Division 1,753 383 {£3) 2,163
General Merchandise
EHERYY 120 9 129
Gick Smith Blectronics 202 21 223
Cick Smith PowerHousa 18 z 290
Tandy 122 4] (7] 123
Total General Merchandise 462 40 {7 485
Motals [ALM Grouph# 169 B2 i 250
Total Group movement 2384 515 151) 2,848
AIERS AIFRS ACAAR AGAAP AGAAP AGAAR
2006 20855 2005 2004 2003 202
Wenks 52 52 52 w2 52 53
Area {sqmy}
Supermarkats {Australiaf 1,780,086 1,878,343 1,678,343 1,823,530 1,574,640 1,498 696
General Merchandise 843,316 TR3,685 783,685 731,788 695,338 540,832
Total 2,623,402 2,462,028 2,462,028 2,358 318 2,260,978 2,140,528
Sales per square metre
{normalised 52 weeks! {$)
Supermarkats {Australiaf 13,8241 13,7877 13,7817 13,549.2 13,3611 12,8197
General Merchandise 50825 4,9972 45472 4,925.72 4,7337 45135
Total 11,014.0 10,989.6 10,9898 10,8688 10,718.4 10,3329
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FIVE YEAR SUMMARY

NOTES TO THE FIVE
YEAR SUMMARY

{1)

Inzludes FAL results since

2 Movermnber 2005 and Taverner
retail sales from & Felruary 2008,

{2}

Unallocated expense represents
carparaie costs relating o the
YWoohworths Group as a whole, and
profits derived by the Group's
carparate praperty division
including the disposal of
davelopment properties, Thaese
afmounts are not identifiable against
any particular ocperating segment
and accordingly they rermain
unallocated, as required by
Accounting Standard AASE 114
Segmaent Beporting.

{3}

Funds emploved is net assets
axcluding net tax balances,
mrovision for dividends and net
debt, and assets and liabilities as

a result of hedging per AASE 139
Firancial Instrumarnts: Becagnition
and Measurermnant.

{4

Foltowing the introduction of
AASE 1044 Provisions, Contingent
Liatrilities and Contingent Assets;
affective since the year ended

29 dune 2003, {supersedad by
AASE 137 Provisians, Contingent
Lighilitizs and Contingent Assets
fram 1 July 2004}, no provision
far the final dividend has been
raiged as the dividend has not
heen declared, detarmined ar
publicly recomrrended as at

the ralance date.
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{5)

Net repayable debt is gross deby
less cash an hand, cash at bank
andd cash on short-term deposit,

{6)

On 30 Juns 2004, the Company
amended the WiNs Trust Desd.

Az a resalt of these amendments
the cutstanding balance of

SE00T million, includimg issue
caosts of $17.0 millian, s no longer
classified as part of Shareholdaers’
Equity in the Balance Sheet,

The principal amount of

S800.0 million has been reclassified
ag a non-~currert liability and the
$17.0 million of issue costs has
been recorded as an adjustment 1o
retained earnings in accordance
with Australian Accounting
Standards.

{7}

Return on funds employed (ROFE)
is EBIT as a percentage of average
funds employed for the year.

{8}

Service burden is net operating
prodit befare income tax expressed
as a parcentage of EBIT hefore
abmormal items,

]

Tax burdern is narmal prafit after
income tax expressed as a
percentage of normal profit befare
income tax.

{10}
Azset turn is total sales divided by
average total assets for the year.

{11}

Financial leverage s average total
assets divided by average
shareholders” funds for the vear

{12}

Return on equity s profit atter
ncome tax attributaiie to
shareholders, divided by average
shareholders” funds for the vear,

{13}

Mormal basic earnings per share
iNarmal basic EPS) is profit after
tax and servicing WiNs before
abnormal items divided into the
weighted average number of
ardinary shares on issue during the
period. The weighted average
nurnber of shares on igsue has
been calculated in accordance with
Accounting Standard AASE 133
Earnirgs per Share or Accounting
Standard AASE 1627 Earnings par
Share, as relevant.

{14}

The current year figure reprasents
the final dividend value given the
shares on issue as at balance date,
This figure will change i there are
any shares issued between balance
date and the ex-dividend date, Ses
Note 6 for final dividend,

{15}

Excludes Hotels and ALH Group
retail in all periods, Excludes FAL in
2006 due 1o its acquisition being
completed in Movember 2005,

{18}

Service caver ratio is EBIT divided

fry the sum of interest and WiNs
interest,

(17}

Sales to inventory iz total sales for
tha pericd divided by average
rvEn oy,

(18)

Repayable gearing is net repayable
debt divided by net repayable delbt
pibs total equity.

(19)

Serviced gearing is net repayable
debt plus WiNs divided by net
repavable debt plus total eguity,
(20}

Increase daring the year includes
sites acyuired as part of the
Taverner and BEMG acquisitians,

{21}
Supermarkets excludes Petral and
ALH Graup retail outlets.



INCOME
STATEMENTS

Comnsobidited

Wieedrearths Limided

2004 2605 20t 2

Furr the 52 weeks ended 25 fume 2008 Mo Em &m EAl £
Mevenue from the sale of goods 2a 37,734.2 31,3525 27,9231 26,027 8
Other cperating revenue 2a 115.5 1287 99.8 120.2
Total revenue from operations 37.849.7 31,481.2 28,0229 26,1480
Cost of sales {28,405.1 (23,6789} (21,125.9) (19,704.2)
Gross profit 9.444.6 71,8023 6,897.9 6,443.8
Other ravenus 2b 128.2 952 85.1 5.3
Other income 20 16.7 102 - 4.5
Shara of profit in asscciatad company 17 - 2.5 -
Branch expenses {6,099.0} (5,028 91 {4,365.9) 14,1087
Administration expenses {1,768.3} 1,578,272} {1,398.3) i1,330.5)
Earnings before interest and tax 1,722.2 1,302 1,218.8 10838
Financial expense 3 {266.8} 1643} {261.9) (122.6)
Financizl income 3 17.1 14.C 140.0 34.5
Net financing cost {2497} (1503 {121.9) BB
Net profit before income tax expense 1,472.5 11520 1,096.9 9057
Incoma tax expense Ba {445.8} (334.8 {316.4) [288.4)
Profit after income tax expense 1,0286.7 By72 780.5 G713
Net profit attributable to:

Eouity hoidars of the parent antity 1,014.6 8iE.2 780.5 G713

Minority interast 12.1 1.C -
Profit for the period 1,026.7 B2 780.5 7073
Earnings per share {(EPS}
Basic EPS [cants per sharg) 2% 90.89 7918 -
Ciluted EPS {cants per share! 2% 90(.33 78.94 -
Waighted average number of shares usad
in the caloulation of bagic PS5 fmilbdon) 2% 1.116.3 1,0308 -

The income statemaents should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set aut on pages 80 ta 156,

Note (1)

Results for tha 57 weaks ended

28 June 2005 have been restated

ta somply with AIFRS.
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STATEMENTS OF RECOGNISED
INCOME AND EXPENSE

Comnsadidwied

Wiafiworths Limiled

2 2005 2006 peilred

Fr fhe 52 sovels endad 25 June 2006 Mote Fm am S EAl
Movarmnant in translation of foreign cperations
taken to equity 19 {275.9} 1) -
Cash flow hedges {52.6} {52.6)
Mevaiuation of intangibles - 46.8 -
Actuarial losses on defined benelit plans {15.0} 110.0) {15.0) G0
Tax affect of items recognised directly 1o aguity B (6.9} 11300 8.4 3.0
Net income/{expenss} recognised directly in eqguity {350.4} 257 {61.2) {703
Frofit for the pericd 1,026.7 07z 780.5 7073
Total recognised income and expense for the period 676.3 B42.0 719.3 700.3
Attributahie to:
Equity holders of the parant 664.2 HILH 719.3 7003
Minority intarast 12.1 17.4 -

676.3 8429 719.3 7003

The statements of recagnised income and sxpense should be read in conjunction with the nates to the financial statements set out on

pages 80 1o 158,

Note {t

Results {or the 52 weeks ended

28 Jurre 2005 have been restated

1o comply with AIFHS.



BALANCE SHEETS

Consolidated Wocdwaorths Limited

206 it 2606 2
As b 25 i 206 Nofe Em &m EAl £
Current assets
Cash 5259 433.8 331.8 313.2
Trade and ciher recaivables B 1,160.4 5458 328.5 2872
Irventories 2,316.1 1,8969.6 1,602.0 1,519.0
Aszsets hald {or sala 10 115.6 6h.d aG.7 0.2
Other financial asseis 2.8 2.8
Total current assets 4,120.8 3.084.4 2,355.9 21196
Non-current assets
Trade and cther recaivables B 14.0 i 6,204.5 34858
Other financial assets 9 59.5 1.1 3,163.56 1523
Proparty, plant and equipmeant 10 4,055.8 23,3583 2,200.6 1,918.2
Intangities 11 4,759.4 2.048.4 4290 A7T
Dafarrad tax asseis hd 336.9 BT 2728 2441
Total non-current assets 9,225.6 57167 12,260.4 6,219
Total assets 13,346.4 8,775 14,616.3 B,338.7
Current liabilities
Trade and cther payzbles 12 3,5734 29461 5,586.3 289026
Borrowings 14 612.3 2355 610.8 2350
Current tax liabilities Bo 84.6 1055 96.5 115,58
Provigions 18 604.0 5235 481.6 442 8
Total current liabilities 4,874.3 37806 6,785.2 37863
Non-current liabilittes
Borrowings 14 3,764.0 26104 3,696.5 2,589.4
Other financial lizbifities 13 70.7 70.7
Provisions 18 340.7 250.0 296.6 2725
Other a9.1 93.9 77.0 86.3
Total non-current fabilities 4,214.5 2,984.73 41408 289582
Total tiabilities 9,088.8 87749 16,926.0 6,744.5
Net assets 4,257.6 2,000.2 3.690.3 1,584 .2
Equity
lssued capita 18 2,947.8 G981.0 2,947.8 9810
Sharas held in trust 15 {87.1 [102.2% {872.1) {102.2)
Mesarves 19 {288.6} 318 {29.0) 15,3
Hetainad earnings 20 1,465.7 1,083.8 858.6 7001
Equity attributabie to the members
of Woolworths Limited 4,027.8 1,974.72 3.690.3 1,584.2
Minority iniarest 2298 8.0 -
Total equity 4,257.6 20002 3.690.3 1,584.2

The bhalance sheets should be read in conjanction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 30 1o 158
Note 1

2405 balances have been
restated to comply with AIFRS.
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STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

Comnsadidwied

Wiafiworths Limiled

2 200005 2006 peilred

Firr trer 52 qoeeks ended 25 fune 2006 Enm & S EAl
Cash flows from operating activities
Meceipis from cusiomears 39,938.3 33,258.8 31,2154 27,6083
Meceipis from vendors and tanants 287 17.0 4.5 4.5
Payrments 1o suppliers and employess {37.533.4) (31,6016 {29,384.6) [26,138.8)
Interest and costs of finance paid {270.3} {171.9) {264.9) {130.4%
Intarest racaivad EFA 10.4 471 323
Income t8x paid {475.3} 396.3) {419.6) 37183
Net cash provided by operating activities 1,705.1 1,214.4 1,197.9 1,004.7
Cash flows from investing activities
Procaads from the sake of progarty, plant and equipment 3287 97.7 15.0 16.6
Procaads from sale of investmants 1.0 05 - 0.5
Payments for property, plant and aquipment {1.411.7} 1,180.8) (726.7) 1542 1}
Paymant for purchase of invasimeants - 0.4 -
Loans o relaied entitias - {1,908.0) i2,023.5)
Uividend received from related entity - 6.1 - 2.4
Payments for purchaze of businesses {1,643.9} {1,291.6) {22.8) [24.2)
Net cash used in investing activities {2,725.9} {2, 368.2) {2,642.5) [2,870.3)
Cash flows from financing activities
Procesds from issue of equily securitias 40.9 1281 40.9 28
Regaymeant of shori-term deposils {0.3} 3.2 -
Proceeds from external borrowings 11,0689.2 10,8827 11,087.6 10,8407
Repaymeant of extarnat borrowings {10,010.2} 19 570.0) {9,665.2) 19,103.0
Dividends paid - [201.9) - (20193
Net cash provided by financing activities 1,119.6 1,238.7 1,463.3 16639

atincrease in cash hald 98.8 849 18.7 it
Effecis of exchange rate changes on balance of cash
held in foreign curencies (8.7} -
Cash at the baginning of tha financial pericd 433.8 348 313.2 314.8
Cash at the end of the financial period 525.9 433.8 331.9 313.2
Non-cash financing and investing activities
In accordance with the Company's Dividend Reinvestmaent Plan {DRP}
100% {2008; 60%) of the dividend paid was rainvesiad in the shares
of the Company.
Uividends 613.1 499.8 613.1 4809 8
Iszuance of shares under the DRP {6131} (267.9) {613.1) 129793
Net cash outflow - 2019 - 208

On % June 2008, tha Company redeemead the Woolwerths income Notes. Of the $600.0 million radeemed, $231.3 million was

raliad into the Woealworths Notas,

The Company issued shares as part of the consideration for business acquisitions as disciosed in Note 30

The statement af cash flows shauld be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set aut on pages 80 1o 156,

Note {t}

Results {or the 52 weeks ended
28 Jurre 2005 have been restated

1o comply with AIFRS.
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Comnsobidited Wieedrearths Limided
2004 265 20t 2
Firr the 52 woveks ended 25 Jume 20048 Em S EAl £
Recongciliation of Net Cash Provided by Operating
Activities to Profit from Ordinary Activities after
Income Tax Expense
Profit from ordinary activities after income tax expense 1,026.7 B2 780.7 G133
Cepraciation/amortization charged to income statemant 522.2 ME.C 3501 321.3
Impairmant of receivebles 3.1 0.9 1.1 .4
Share of profit in agsociated company - 2.8} -
Ineffeciiveness of hedges {3.0} {3.0)
Share-based payments expanss 13.2 1.2 13.2 10.2
Difference between defined benafit expense and
cash contributions (9.0} 9.0 {9.0) X
Intercompany intarest recaivable - 929 -
(Profityloss on sale of property, plant and equipmant {16.7} 103,21 14.6 4.9
Financing costs capitalised {3.4} (7.7 {2.9) 7.7
lincressal/decrease in defarred iax asset {b.3} 13181 9.1 34,5
Increasefdecreasa) in current tex liabilivy {27.8} 24.3 {19.2) 117.21
lincressei/decrease in trade and othar receivabias {34.1} 110,21 {18.9) (575
linpregsei/decrease in inventonias {107.6} 16173 {81.5) (53.9)
Increasefdecreass) in trade and othar payables 168.0 17.4 141.9 B85.8
Increasef{dacreass) in sundry cradilors and provisions 177.8 1099 114.6 G4.4
Net cash provided by operating activities 1,705.1 1,214.4 1,197.8 10047
Acquisition of businesses
Ceatails of the aggregaie cash culflow relzting o the acquisition of
busingzsas and the aggregata assels and Habilities of those
busingzsas as &l the date of the acquisition wera as follows:
- property, plant and eguiprment 8791 381.0 10.3 01
- inventories 269.7 69.0 1.5 0.8
-~ liquor and gaming licances and othar intangibles 3931 10287 8.2 111
- brand namas 2441 13.9 -
- cash acguired 67.4 64,2 -
- othar assets 103.6 58.3 -
- interast bearing liabilities {353.7} 4241 -
~ accounts payable {3G2.2) 1478} -
- PIoVISIons {87.9} (451 -
- pther Hahilities {95.b} (118 - 1.7
- ITHNOrYy intarests - (27.0: -
~ revaluation resarve gttribuiable o parent entity
as a result of previous cwnarship interest - (23.5) -
- nat gsselis proviously equity accouniad - 3.5} -
Net assets acquired 9177 9463 20,0 103
- goodwlll on acquisition 2,315.3 436.4 2.8 13.9
Fair value of net assets acquired 3,233.0 1,3827 228 242
Analysed as follows:
Consideration
- gruity issued 1,336.0 -
- gouity issued o minority intarest 191.7 -
- ¢ash paid 1,711.3 13827 228 242
3,233.0 13827 228 242
Cazh paid 1,711.3 13827 228 242
Less: cash paid during previcus financial year - (26.9 -
Less: cash balances acguired {67.4) 54,2} -
Cash consideration paid this year 1,643.9 1,291.6 228 242

Detaits of acguisitions are shown at Note 30,
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NOTESTO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Woolworths Limited (the "Company™) is a company

domiciled in Augtraiiz. The financial report of the Corpany

for the 52 weeks ended 25 June 2008 c“o*“ﬂpricm the Company
and its subsiciaries togethar referred 10 as the "consolidaied
entity™) and the consolidaiad antity’s interest in jointly
controdled sniities.

Thg financial report was authorised Tor issue by the Directors
on 22 Septarmber 2006,

A Staternent of compilance

Thne financial report is & general purposs f"'r\anc'ia‘ report
which has bean prepared in accordance with tha Corporations
Act, Accounting Standards and Urgent 1ssues Group
Interpratations, ard comghes with other requirameants of the
law. Accounting Standards include Australizn equivaient to
International Financizl Reporiing Standards (AIFRS),
Cormplianca with the AIFRS ansuras that the consolidaied
financial statements and notes of the conasclidaled entity
comply with irdernational Financial Reporiing Standards {(FRS)
The parent entity financial statements and notes zlso comgly
with IFRS excapt for the disclosure requiraments in JAS 32

Financial Instruments, Disclosure and Prasantation as the
Australian equivalant Accounting Standard, AASE 132
F-'iﬂar‘(“i:—;l I'ﬁg'tr'U’nQ

Y Jicclowrr and Pra ‘-;(‘r][d[iOr] dom;

entw whc:re s sc-,pdra“_e financiai siaie mont% are prmc m’d
togathar with the consclidated financial statemenis of the
consclidated entity.

Thiz is the consolidatad entity’s first Tull year financial report
prepared in accordance with Austrslian Accounting Standards,
being AFRS and AASE 1 First-time Adopticn of Australian
aguivalents o internationzl Financial Reporiing Standards
[AASE 13 An explanation of how tha ransition to AIFRS has
gffectad the reported financial position, fingncial performance
and cash flows of tha consolidated entity and the Company is
provided in Note 31, This note includes reconciliations of eguity
and prodit or loss for comparative pariods reportad under
Austrzliar GAAP (previous GAAP or GAAPY

In the current finzncial year the consolidated entity adoptad
AASHE 132 Financial Instrumants: Disclosuse and Prasentation
(AASE 132} and AASB 139 Financia! instruments: Recognition
and Mazsurermnent (AASE 139) for the first time. This change
in accounting policy resultad hom the election mada in
accordance with the rransition rules containad in AASE Y

which doas not raguire the resiatement of comparative
iformation for financial mstruments within the scope of
AASHE 132 and AASE 139

BG

B Basis of preparation
The financial raport is presentad in Australian dollars.,

The financial repori is preparad on the hisiorical cost basis
axcept that the foliowing assets and dabilities are stated at theiv
fair vaiue: dedvative financial instruments, financial instremeants
hald for trading and financial instruments classified as
available-forsale,

Tre Company is of & kind refarred Lo in ASIC Class

Order 98/100 dated 10 July 1998 and in accordance with the
Class Ordear, armounts in the financial report and Directors’
Report have bean rounded off 1o the nezrest mitlion dollars,
uniess otherwisa stated,

The entity has efacted 10 early adopt the foliowing revised
accounting standards:

AASE 118 Emviployes Banafits {December 20040
Application date of the standard is 1 January 2006;
AASE 2004-3 Amendmants (o Australian Accounting
Standards (Dacernbar 2004) zmending AASE 119 Erployee
Banafits, AASE 1 First-time Adoption of Australian
aguivalents to international Financial Reporting Standards
July 2004), AASE 107 Presentation of Financizl Statemants,
AASE 124 Related Party Disclosures. Application data of the
standard is 1 January 200€;
AASE 2005-1 Amendments 1o Australian Accounting
Standards (May 2008} amending AASE 133 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Mezsurement, Application
date of & tandard is 1 January 2008;
AASE 2008-4 Amandmenis to Australian Accounting
Standards (June 2008) amending AASB 138 Financizl
Instruments: Recogniticr and Messurament, AASE 132
Financiz rruments: Disclosure and Prasentation,
AASE 1 Firgt-time Adoption of Austrafian eguivalents to
International Fingncizsl Regorting Standards (July 2004),
AASE 1023 Ganeral Insurance Contracts and AASE 1038
Life nsurance Contracts. Application date of the standard is
1 January 2006;
AASE 2C05-5 Amandments to Austraiizn Accounting
Standards (June 2005) amending AASB 1 First-tme
Adopiicn of Austrzlian eguivalents (o International Firanciai
Raporting Standards {July 20043 and AASE 139 Financial
Insts umrmq Recognition and Mezsuremant. Application
date of the standard is 1 Jenuary 2006;
AASH 2003 B Amendmenis to Australian Accounting
Standards (June 2005) amending AASE 3 Business
Combinations. Application dete of the standard is
1 Jaruary 2008;
AASE 2005-11 Amendmants (o Australian Accounting
Standards (Septemper 2008) amending AASE 3101
Presentation of Financial Stztements, AASE 112 Income
axas, and AASE 132 Financial instrurmnenis: Disclosure and
Presgntation, AASE 133 Earnings per Share, AASSE 139
Finzancial instrursants: Recognition and Measurement znd
AASE 141 Agricultura. Application date of the standard is
31 Dacernber 2005,

Ta




AASE 200641 Amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards (January 2008) amending AASE 121 Tha
Effacts of Changas in Forgign Exchange Ratas (July 20040,
Application date of the standard is 1 Jaruary 200%; and
UIG 4 Determining whethar an Arrangemant coniains a
Leasa. Applicetion date of the standard is 1 January 2006,
tssued standards not eatly adopted
The following standards and amendmants weres available for
aarly adoption bul have ol been applied by the consolidated
antity in these Fingncial Stataments:

AASE 7 Financial mstruments: Disclosure (August 2008)

raplacing the presentation raguirements of financial
instrumeants in AASHE 132, AASB 7 is applicable for annual

reporting pedods beginaing on or after 1 January 2007,
AASE 200810 Amendmants (o Austradzn Accounting
Standards (Seplember 2008} makes consequentizsl
armendments 1o AASE 132 Financial Instruments;
Cisclosuras and Prasardation, AASE 101 Prasantation of
Fingncial Statements, AASE 134 Segmant Reposting,

AASE 117 Leazes, AASE 133 Earnings per Share, AASH 139
Finencial instruments: Recognition and Measurement,
AASE 1 Firsttime Adoption of Austrslian eguivalents to
International Financizl Reporting Standards, AASE 4
Inzurance Contracts, AASH 1023 General Insurance
Contracts and AASE 1038 Life Insurance Contracts,

arising from the release of AASE 7 AASE 200510 1s
applicable for annual reporting perfods beginning on or aftar
1 Jaruary 2007,

AASE 2008.9 Amendmants 1o Auslralian Accounting
Standards (Saptamber 2008} amending AASE 4 Insurance
Contract, AASE 1023 General Ingurance Contracts,

and AASE 132 Financial Instrumaeants: Cisclosure and
Presentation, and AASE 139 Financial Instruments, The
initial application i nol expacted to impact the resulls with
the exception of the requirament to recognise any financial
gudrariess st fair vaiue. Woolworths is currently raviewing
the application of this raguirement 10 it business.

AASE 2008-9 is appliceble to reporting periods beginning
on or aftar 1 January 2008;

UIG & - Scope ofl AASE 2. Application date is for reporting
pericds beginning on or after 1 May 2008; ¢
UIG 2 - Heazssssment of Ermbedded Darivatives.
Application date is for raporiing periods beginning on
oraltar 1 Jung 2008,

o

The consolidated entity plang 1o adost AASB 7 and

AASE 200590 in the year ended 2€ June 2007 The initial
appication of AASE 7 and AASB 200810 is not expeciad o
have an impact on the financial resulls as the standzrd and the
amendraent are primarily concerned with disclosurgs, UIG B
and UG B are not expected to have & significant impact on the
finzncial results of the buginess, if any. The consolidaied endity
i currantly invastigating the impact that AASE 20059 will
have on the resuiis of tha businass, if arny.

Except for the change in accounting polcy ralating to
clagsification and measurement of financial instrumanis as set
outin Note 1E, F, J and 2 the accounting policies set out
helow have been appied consistantly o ali pariods presenied
in these Financial Statements. They #1so have bean appiied in
prapasing &n opening AIFRS balance shaet 51 28 Juna 2004 for
the purgeses of the transition 1o AIFRS, as required by AASE 1.
The impact of the transition from pravious GAAP to AFFRS is
axgiaingd in Note 31, Whare relevant, the accounting policies
applied to the comparative pericd have been disclosed if they
diffar fram the currant period policy. These accounting policies
hava been consistanily appiad by sach entity in the
sonsoldatad antity.

The preparation of a financizl report in conformity with
Australian Accounting Standards requires managseraent 1o
rzka judgarments, astimataes and assumptions thet effect the
application of policies and reperted amounts of asseats and
liabilities, income and expanses. The eslimates and associaled
zssumptons are based on historical experience and varicus
other faclors that are balieved (o be reasonzble under the
circumstancas, the rasuits of which form tha basis of making
the judgements about carrying values of assats and lfabilitias
that are not readily apparant from other sourcas. Actual resulls
ragy differ from these estimates,

> Basis for consolidation

f) Subsidiaries

in thase Financial Stateraants, Woohworths Limited is s
to as the “Company” and the "Consciidated” Financial
Statements are those of the consolidated entity, comprising
Woolworths Limited and s controllad antities.

Arrec

Subsidiaries are enlities controlled by the Comgary. Control
axists when the Company has the powar, direcily or indirectly,
to govarn the financial and oparating policies of an entity so

2% 10 obtain penefits rom its activities. In assessing control,
potgntial voling fighis that presently zre exercisable or
sonvertisie are mken into acceunt. The Financial Statements of
subsidiarias are included in the financial report from the date
that control commeances until the dete thal control ceases.

Mirority intarests in the eguity and results of controlled
antities are shown as 8 separate item in the consolidated
financizl report.

{iiy Associates

Investments in associates are sccountad forin the
consoidatad financial report using the sguity method.
Undar this mathod, the consclidated antity's sharg of the

in the income statameant, and iis share of post-acquisition
raovemeants in reservas is recognised in consolidaied reserves.
The cumulative post-acquisition movaments are adjusted
zgainst the cost of the investment. Associztas are those
antities ovaer which the conzclidated antity exarcizes significant
influgnice, but not conirol.

81



NOTESTO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
{CONTINUED)

C Basis for consolidation {continued}

{il} Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intragroup balances, and sny unrealised gaing and losses or
incorme and expenses erising from intragroup transactions,
ara gliminatad in praparing the conzolidated financial report.

Unrezlised gainsg arising from trangactions with asscciates are
aliminaied o the axtent of the conaclidated entity’s intarast

i tha antity with adjustments made 1o the “Invesimant in
gssooiates” and “Share of associates’ net profit” accounts,

Unreslised losses are elimimated in the sarme way as
unraadsed gains, but only (o the extent that there is no
avidence of impairment,

D Foreign currency

Transactions in foreign currencies are ranslated &t the foraign
axchange rate ruling 21 the date of the transaction. Monetary
assels and liabiities danominated in foreign currencies at the
balznce sheet date are transiated 1o Austraden dollars at the
foraign exchange rate ruling at that date. Non-monatary agsets
and liabilitiag that are measured in terms of historical costin &
foreign currency are translated using the exchange ratle al the
date of the ransaction.

Exchange differerces are recognised in the profit or loss in the
period in which they arise except that

exchange differences on transactions entered inte in order
to hedge certain foreign currency risks; and

exchange differances on monetary itlems receivable from

or payable (o a forsign cperation for which settiemeant is
ngither plannad nor likaly 1o occur, which form paeri of the
net invastmant in a foreign cperation, which are recognisad
in the foreign currency translation reserve and recognisad in
grofit or lozs on disposal of the nat invastment,

Financial statements of foreign operations

The zssets and abilitdes of forgign operations, inciuding
goodwill gnd fair valua adjustments arising on congolidation,
are translated (o Australian dollars ai foreign exchange rates
ruling at the balance shaet date, Revenue and expense items
ara translated &1 the avarage exchange rates for the pariod.
Exchange differances arising on transiztion of foreign
oparations, it any, are recognisaed in the foreign currancy
translation reserve and recogrised in consolidatad profit and
loss on disposat of the foreign cperation.

B2

E Derivative financial instruments

Current period policy

The consolidaied antity may use derivative Tinancial
instrurnenis 1o hedga its exposura 1o foreign exchange and
intarest rate risks arising from operational, financing and
investment activities. In accordance with i3 lraesury policy,
tha consclidated antity does not hiold or issue darivative
fingncial instruments for trading purposes. Mowever,
darivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are
accountad for as trading instruments.

Darivative financizl instruments are recognisad initislly at

fair value on the date a derivative contract is enlered into.
Subsequent 1o initial recognition, derivative finansial
instrurnents are stated at fzir value. The gain or loss on
remeasurement 1o fair value is recognised immediately in profit
or loss unless the derivatives gualify for hedge sccounting
wheraby the recognition of any resultant gain crioss depends
an the naturs of the item being hedged {rafer Note 1F),

The fair value of interest rate swaps (s the estimated amount
that the consolidated entity would receive or pay 1o tarminsta
the swap gt the balance sheet date, taking inio account current
inwrest rates and the current creditworthiness of the swap
counterparties. The Tair value of Jorward exchange contracts is
thair quoiad market price at tha balance sheat date, being the
present vaiue of the guoted forward price.

Comparative period policy

The consolidaied entity may entar inte Torwsard foreign
axchange contracts and interast f2le swap agreaments.
Accounting for forward exchange contracts and infarest rate
swaps was in accordance with the comparative pariod
accounting policy set out in Note 17

The aet amounti recaivable or payable under inferest rate swap
agraements waes prograssively brought to acoount over the
pariod o settamant. Tha amount recognised was adiusted
against intarest expensa during tha period,

F Hedging

Current period policy

fi} Cash flow hedges

& cash flow hedge is a hedge of an exposura 1o uncertain
future cash flows. A cash flow hedge regults in the uncestain
future cash flows being hedged back into fixed armounis.
Woolworths” cash flow hedges include:

— intarest rate swag contracts that convart floating interast
rate payments on sorrowings inte fixed amounts; and

- crogs-currency intarast rate swaps that convert foraign
currency dencminated princigal and interest rate payments
on offshore loang into fixed Australian dollar armounis.



Whaere a derivative financial instrurment is designated as a

hadge of the variakility in cash flows of a recognisad assat
ar liability, or & highly probable foracasted tranzaction, the
affactive part of gny gain of loss on the derivetive financial
instrurnant iz recognised directly in aguity.

When the forecested fransaclion subseguently resuils in the
recognition of & non-financial assst or non-financial liability,
ther azsociated curmuiztive gain or loss is removad from eguity
and inciuded in the initial cost or othar carrying amount of
tha non-financial asset or fiakility If & hedge of & Jorecasiad
fransaction subsaquently rasults in the recognition of a
finencial assat or & financiat liagility, then the associated
gaing and losses that wera recognised diractly in equity

are reclzssified inlo profit or loss in the same pericd or
pariods during which the asset acguired or ligbitity assumed
affects profit or loss fie. when interest income or expense

iz recognisad),

The ineffective part of any derivative designated as & hedge
is recognisad immediztaly in the income statamant,

When a hedging instrumant axpires or is soid, termimatad
or exercised, or the entity revokas designation of the hedge
retationship but the hedgsd forecast transaction stil is
axpecled Lo ocour, the cumuiative gain or loss at that point
remaing in equily and is recognisad in accordance with the
above policy when the franszction ocours. i the hedged
fransaction is no longer expacted 1o ake piace, then the
curmnulative unsealised gain or foss recognised in aguity is
recognizsed immediately in tha income statement,

fif) Fair value hedge

A fair vatue hedge is a hedge of a fair value (e
"mark-to-market”) exposure arising on a recognised
balznce sheeat asset or ligbibity, A fair value hedge resuits in
tha fair vaiue exposure baing offsst. Woolworths' fair vaiue
hadgas include:

Cross-currasncy intarest rate swaps (CCIRS) that convart
fixed interest rate forsign currency borrowings into floating
rate Australian dollar borrowings. The CCIRS offsats tha
foreign curreney and fixed intarest rate fair value exposuras
ariging on thosa borrowings,

Chzngas in the fair value of darivatives tha! are designaied
and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in profit or losg
immadiziely, togathear with any changes in the fair value of the
hadgad assat or liability that is attribuizble 1o the hadged risk.

HMedge accounting is discontinued whan the hadge instrument
axpiras or is sold, ferminated, exercised, or no longer gualifies
for hedge accounting. The adiusiment 1o the carrying arnount
of the hedged fterm arising from the hedged risk is amortised
10 profit or foss from that date.

fiii} Hedge of monstary assets and labilities

Whan z darivative finzncial instrument is used (o hedge
asoonomically the forsign exchange exposure of a recognised
raonetary asset or Hzbility, hadge sccounting is not appied and
zny gain or loss on the hedging instrument is racognisad in the
incomes statamaent,

Comparative period policy

il Specific commitmaents

Exchange gains and losses, and costs, pramiums and
dizcounts on tranzactions intended 1o hadge the purchase or
sale of goods or services ware deferred up to the date of, and
included in, the measuremant of the purchase or zale.

Inthe case of hedges of monetary itams, exchange gains and
lozses ware brought to account in the pariod in which the
axchange rates change. Gains or costs asdsing on antry into
such hedging transactions ware brought to account over the
lives of the hadges.

Where a hedging transaction is tarminated prior to rztusity
znd the undarlying fransaction was stifl expectad (0 ooour, any
gains or losses ocourrtiag prior to termination continued (o be
defarred and warg brought 1o account in the measurement of
tha undarlying tranzaction. Where the underiying transaciion
was no longer expecied o ccour, any previcusly deferred gaing
znd fosses weare tzken o the income statement at the date of
tarmimnation.

Whare a hedging transaction is redesignated as & haedge of
gnother ransaction, gaing and losses arising on the hedge
prior to its redesignation were only deferred whers the original
anticipaiad ransaction is still expected to ocour, Where the
arigina] trangaction is ne longer expected (o ocour, gny gains
or }sses refating to the hadges instrement ware inciuded in the
incoma statement for the period.

fif} General commitments

Fxchange gains and losses on other hedge transactions wars
rot deferred, but ware Srought 10 acoount in the incoms
statement in the period in which the exchangea raies change.
Gains or costs arising on antry into these transactions zre
brought o account at the tirme of entry and amortisaed over the
lives of the hadgas.
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NOTESTO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
{CONTINUED)

G Property, plant and equipment

Freshoid lznd and buildings and development properties
are maasured at cost, Borrowing and oiher holding and
developrment cosls on property under development are

Land and buildings held for sale gre classified as current assets
and are vaiued at the fowar of cost and fair value less costs to
sall and depreciation on such assets ceasas.

ems of progerty, plant and equigment are stated 8t cost
lezs ascumulated depraciztion {see below) and impairment
losses (rafer Note TN} The cost of self-constructed assets
includes the cost of matarizls, direct labour, and an
appropriate proportion of production overhigads. The cost of
self-constructad assals and acquired asseis includes
astimates of the costs of dismantling and ramoving the items
and restoning the site on which they are located where il is
probable that such costs will be incurrad, and changeas in tha
rmeasurement of existing liabifities recognised for these costs
rasulting from changas in the timing or cutflow of rescurces
requirad (o settle the obligation or from changes in the
discount rate.

Frogeriy that is being constructed or developed for future use
as investraant proparty iz classified as property, plant and
equipment and stegted at cost until construction or
daveloprment is completa.

Whare parts of an itarm of property, plant and eguipment have

gifferant useful lives, they are accounted for as saparaie items
of proparty, plant and equipmeant,

{i} Leasad assets

Leases whareby the consolidatad entity assumes substantiaiy
a4 of the risks and rewards of ownershig are ciassified as
finance leases, Property zoquired by way of a finance lease is
stated 2l an amount egual o the lower of ils fair value and the
present value of the minimum leass paymenls at inception of
the lgase, Bss accurnuleled depreciation (see bealow) and
irpairment losses {refer Note TN)L Lease paymentis are
gecounted for as described in Note 31U

{ity Depreciation

ta) Buitdings, fixtures, fittings and plamnt

Buildings and plant comprising lifts, air-conditioning, fire
profection systems and other ir aticns are depreciztad on a
straight-fine basis over the estirmated uselul Iife of the assel to
the consolidated entity. Estimates of remaining useful lives are
made on a ragular tasis for all assats.

They expectad usalul lives are as follows:

2008 2005

Buildings
Fixturas, fittings and plant

25 1o 40 yaars
310 10 years

2510 40 years
31010 years

B4

b} Leasehold improvements

The cost of leasehold fmarovaments is amortised over the
remaining period of the individual leases or the estimaled
usaful life of the improvement 1o tha consolidated entity,
whichever is the shorter, Leasehold improvements heid at the
reporting date are being amortised over a maximurn pariod
of 20 yaars,

fc} Plant, equipment and shop fittings

Plant, equigment and shop fittings lincluding application
software) are depraciated on a straighi-line basis over the
astimated usaiul Ife of the zssel to the consolidated entity,
Estimates of remaining useful lives are made on a ragular basis
for all assais.

The expaciad useiul lives are as inilows:

20086 2005

Piant, squipment and fittings 2.5 t0 10 years 2.5 10 10 years

fel) Proceeds frorm sale of assets

The gross proceads of assel sales are recognized at the date
that an unconditional contract of sale is exchanged with the
purchaser. The net gain {net loss) is recorded in other incoma.

H Goodwil]

Business combinations prior to 27 June 2004

Goodwill is included on the basis of its deemed cost, which
reprasents the amount recorded under pravious GAAP,

The classification and accounting treatraaent of business
combinations that cocurrad prior to 27 June 2004 have nol
besn recensiderad in preparing the consclidatad entity’s
opaning AIFAS transition talance sheet.

Business combinations since 27 June 2004

All businass combinations are accouniad for by applying the
purchase method whereby entitiss and businesses acguired
are aocourdad Tor using tha cost mathed of accounting,

by {air values are assigned o all the identifizble
underlying asseis acguired and ligbidties assumed, inciuding
contingant lzbilities, al the daie of acguisition,

Goodwill represants the difference betwean the cost of tha
acquisition and the fair value of the net identifiable assets
acquirad. Goodwill is not amortised, but tested for impairment
annually and whenever an indicaton of imgpairmant axists,
irefar Note INL Any impairmaent is recognised immadiately

in profit or loss and is not subsequantly reversed.

Goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulatad impairment
losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash-genarating units. In
respect of associatas, the carrying amount of goodwill is
included in the carrying armount of the investment in the
asscciate. Any impairment is recognised direstly in the income
statermant and iz not subsaquently reversed.



| Other intangibles

{i} Brand names

Brand names are velued a1 costl. Brand names are considerad
10 have an indefinite useful #fs. As & consequaence, no
arnortisation hag been charged. Thay are tested for impainment
annually and whenever an indication of impairment exists.

Any impairmaeant is recogrised immediataly in profit or loss.

{it} Liquor ficences

Liguor licences are valued at cost. Liguor licences are
considared to have an indefinite usaful life. As a consaguance,
no armortisation has baen charged. They are tested for
impairment anncally and whenavar an indication of imgairmeant
axisis, Any impairmient is recognised immediately in profit

ar logs,

{iiij Gaming licences

Gaming licences arg valued &t cost, Gaming licances are
considared to have an indefinite usaful life. As a consaguance,
no armortisation has baen charged. They are tested for
impairment anncally and whenaver an indication of imgairmeant
axisis. Any impairment is recegnised immediately in profit

ar loss.

{iv} Research and development

Expenditura on rasesrch sotivities, underiaken with the
prospact of gaining naw technical knowledge and
understanding, is recognised in the income statameant as
an expanse as incurred.

Expenditura on devalopmaent activities, whareby research
findings are applied Lo & plan or dasign for the production

of new or substantiaily improved groducts and processes,

is capitalised if tha product or process is wohnically end
commarcizlly feasible and the consolidated entity has
sufficient regources 1o complete development. The expanditure
capitalised includes the cost of materals, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of overheads.

Other developrmant expenditure i recegnised in tha income
staternant as an expense as incurred. Capitalised developrmeant
expenditure is stated at cost less accumulated arnoridsation
(see pelow] and impairment losses {rafer Note TN}

{v) Other intangible assets

Other intengible asseis thet are zequired by the consolidaiad
anlity are statad at cost. These zre considaered to have &n
indafinite useful life. As 2 consequence, no amortization has
been charged. Expanditure on internally genarated goodwill
and brand names is recognised in profit or loss as an expense
as incurred.

J investmaents

Current accounting paolicy

intorests in controlled antities are accountad for in the
sonsolidatad Financial Stataments as aet cut in Nota 1C

and at cost in Woolworths Limited's Financial Staternants,
invastments in associates are sccountad for under the aguity
rnathod in the consolidated |"ir‘di‘“1C}|d' Statements and the cost
mathod in Woolworths Limited's Financial Statemenis,

Financial instrurnants hald for trading are classifiad as currant
zasets and are statad at fair value, with any resultant gain or
loss recognisad in the income statament. The consolidated
ardily has not designated any other financizl assets or fiabilities
=5 maasured at fair value through the income statemant.

Whare the consolidated entity has the positive intanl and
zhility 1o hold Governmeant bonds to maturily, they are stated
st amortisad cost less impairment losses rafer Note TN

Comparative accounting policy

niarests in listed and gnlisted shares are carried at the lowar
of cost and recovarable armount in Woolworths Limitad’s
Fnancial Staternants, intarast in semi-Government securilies
are cartied at amortised cost, cafoulzted after accounting for
the dizscount or premium on acguisition. Intarest income is
taken 1o account s revenua on an effective yisld basis.

K Trade and other receivables
ade and other recefvables are statad at their ¢o
impairment fosses refer Note IN).

sl lass

L inventories
Shortiife retail stocks are valued at the lowar of average cost or
nal reaidsable value.

Longlife retail stocks have baen valued using the retall
inventory method to arrive at cost, The retail inventory meathod
detarmines cogt by reducing the value of tha inventory by the
sppropriate gross margin percentage which takas into account
raarkdown prices.

Warshouse stocks are valued at the lower of average cost or
nat reaisable value,

Thess methods of valuation are considered to achiave a
valugtion raascnably approximating the lower of cost and

net realsable value, Costinciudes all purchase related rebates,
settlemnant discounts and other costs incurrad 10 bring
inventory 1o its condition and location for sala,

Net regfisable value is the estimated sefling price in the
ardinary course of business, less the estimated costs of
compiation end seiling expanzes,



NOTESTO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
{CONTINUED:)

M Cash and cash egquivalents

Cash znd cash eguivalents comprige cash balances and call
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less.
Bank overdrafls that are repayabla on demand and form zn
integral part of the conscidatad entity’s cash managemaent are
included as a component of cash and cash sguivalents for the
purposa of the cash flow statement.

N Impairment

The carrying amounts of the consclidated entity’s tangible
assels, excluding inventories (refar Note 1L and deferred tax
assels {refer Noie W), are reviewed &t azch reporting dais
10 determing whather there iz any indication of impairmant,
If any such indication exists, the assetl’s recovarzble amount
is estimated {rafer balow).

For goodwilt and other intangitle assets that have gn indefinite
useful life and intangible assels that are not yel availzble

for use, the recoverable smount is estimated annually and
whenaver thara is an impairment indicator.

Animpairment loss is recogrised wheanevar the carrying
amount of 2n asset or its cash-generating unit {CGU) exceads
its racoverabie amount, mpairmant losses are recognisad in
tha income statement unless the assaet has graviously bean
revvalued, in which case the impairment foss is recognised as
g reversal 1o the exiant of that previous revaiuation with any
axcass recognised through the income siatameant,

{i} Calculation of recoverable amount

Tne racoverable armount of tha conzolidated entity's
irvestments in held-to-matusity securities and receivables is
calculzted as the prasent value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the original effective interest rate (La. the
affective interast rate computed at initizl recognition of

these fingncial assats). Recaivables with & short daration

are not discountad,

Impairmant of receivablas is not recognisad until objective
avidence is available that 2 loss event has occurred. Significant
receivables are individually assessad for impairment,

Impairmmant testing of significant receivables that are nol
assessed as impaired individually is performed by placing
tham into portfcios of significant receivablas with sirmilar
risk profiles and undertaking & collective gssessment

of impairment.

MNon-significant receivables are not individuszlly zesassed,
Insigad, impairment testing is performed by placing
non-significant recaivables in portictios of similar risk profiles,
based on chjective evidence from histeorcal exparience
adjusted for arny effecls of condilions existing at ezch
baiance data.

Ba

The recoverable amount of other gsseis is the greater of their
fair vaiue less costs 1o seli and vaiue in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discountad to their
present vaiug using @ pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
rrrarket assessrmants of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. For an azsaet that does not genarate
largaly indepandent cash inflows, the recoverable amount

iz detarminad for the cash-genarating unit to which the

assal belongs,

Arimpairment ioss will be recognised whenaver the carrying
amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit excesds its
recoverable amount, impairment losses wil be recognised

in the income statament. Impairmeant losses recognised in
respect of g cash-generating unit will be aflocated first lo
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwil! allocated 1o the
cash-ganerzting unit and then to reduce the carrying amount
of the other assets in the unit on & pro-rata basis to their
Carrying armounts.

{ii} Reversals of impairment

Arimpairment joss in respect of a hald-te-matusity secusity or
receivable is revarsed if the subsaguent increase in recoverable
amount can be related objectively to 2n avent occurring after
the impairment 088 was racognisad,

Arimpairment Joss in respact of goodwill is not raversed. In
respect of othar assets, an impairment foss is reversed i there
has baen a change in the estimaies usad o determing the
recoverable amount.

Arimpairment loss s revarsed only 10 the exiant that the
assal’s carrying amount does not excead the carrying amount
that would have been determined, net of depreciation or
amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognisad.

O Capital

{i} Debt and equity instrumeants

Dabi and equity insirurnents are classified as aither liahiities or
as souity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
ITENYEMIEn.

{ii} Transaction costs on the issue of equity instrumeants
Transaction costs arising on the issue of eguity mstrumaeants are
recegnised directly in eguity as & reduction of the precesds of
the aguily ingtruments 1o which the costs relate. Transaction
costs are the costs that are incurred directly in connection with

have baen insurrad had those instruments not been issued.

{iil} Interest and dividends

Interest and dividends are classified 28 expenses or as
distributions of profit consistent with the balance sheeat
clagsification of the related debt or eguity instruments or
component paris of compound ingtruments,



P Borrowings

Current accounting policy

Borrowings are recognised initizlly at fair value less
fransaction cosls. Subsequent 1o inilial recognition,
borrowings are stated &1 amortised cost with any difference
betwaan cost and redamption vaiue baing recogaised in tha
income statemeant over tha period of the borrowings on an
affective interast basis.

atiribuiable

Borrowing costs directly atirtbutablie to buildings undar
construction are capitatised s part of the cost of those azssts.

Comparative period policy

Bark foans are recognised at their principal amouni, subject
0 set-off arrangements. Interest expanse was gccrued at the
contracted rate and inciuded in trade and cthar payablas,

Dabantures, bils of exchange and nolas payable ware
recognised whan issued at the net procesds raceived, with
tha premiurm or giscount on issus amortised over the peariod
10 maturity. Interast expense was racognisad on an effective
yiald basis.

Q Employee benefits

The Company sponzcrs a superanauation plan that provides
gocurmulztion type benefils o permanent salared employeas
and their dependants on retirement or death, Definad
benafits have sean praservad for mambars of cartain former
superannuation funds sponscrad by the Comgpany, which are
now provided forin the plan.

The Company's commitment in respect of accumuiation
benefits undar the scheme is limited to making the specifiad
contitutions in accordance with the rules of the plan and/or
any statutory obligations.

{i} Defined contribution plans

Obligations for contributions 1o defined contribution pension
plang are recogmaed as &n axpensa in the incomes ststamant
gz incusred.

{it} Defined benefit plans
The consolidatad antity has early adopted the revised

Woolworths is the employer sponsor of & definad banalit
sugarannuation fund. Undar AIFRS, the ampioyer sponsor
iz raguirad to recognise a Hability (or asset} whare the

The consolidated entity’s net cbligation, in respect of
defined benefit plans, is calculated separately for sach plan
by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees
have earned in returm for their service in the current and
prior pericds. That benefit iz discounted o determineg its
prasant value.

The discount rate is the yield al the balance sheet daie on
Governmant bonds that have maturity detes approximaling the
tarms of ihe consolidatad antity’s obligations. The caicuiation
is parformad by a guaified actuary using the projectad unit
oredit method,

Wiien the benefits of a plan are improved, the portion of
the increased benafii relating to past service by employeas
is recognised &s an expansa in tha income statement on a
straight-ling basis over the average pericd until the benefils
hecorme vestad, To the extent that the benefiis vest
imraadiately, the expense is recognised immediately in

the income statament,

Al movemants in the defined banefit obligation are recognised
in the incorme statement axcepl actuarial gains and lossas.

Al actuarial gaing and losses as at 28 Juna 2004, the date

of transition to AIFAS, were recognised. Actuarizl gains znd
losses that arise subsequent 1o 28 June 2004 are recognised
irn Tl in retained sarnings in the pariod in which they ocour
gnd are prasented in tha sigtement of recognised income

and expanse.

Wiien the celoulation resulls in plan assels exceading lizhilities
1o tha consclidated antity, the recognised agzset is limited to the
nat total of any unreccgnised acluarial losses and pasl sarvice

cosis gnd the present value of any Tuture refunds from the plan
ar raductions in future contributions o the plan,

{iit} Long-term service benefits

The consolidated ertity’s net ocbligation in respsct of long-lerm
service benefits, cther than pansion plans, is the amount of
future benefit that employsas have ezrned in retum for their
sarvice in the current and pricr periods. The obligation is
caloulated using expectad fuiure increases in wage and salary
rates including related crecosts and expecied setllemant
dates, and is discounted using the rates atlached 1o the
Commonweaith Government bonds at the balance shaat date
which have maturity dates approximating 1o the terms of the
sonsoiidatad antity's obligations.

{iv) Share-based payment transactions

Eouily settied share-based payments form part of the
remuneration of amployaes {including exscutives) of both
the consolidatad entity and Company.

gy



NOTESTO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
{CONTINUED)

Q Employes benefits {continued)

The consolidated entity and Company recognises the fair vaiue

45 oplicns) 23 an employee benelil expenss progortionally over
tha vasting pariod with a corresponding increase in equity.

Fair value is measurad &t grant date using a binominal model
performance
conditions, The fair value par instrumaeant is muitiplied by the
nurabear of instruments expecied to vest based on achisvermneant

conditions} o determing the total cost. This total costis
recognised as an emplioyes benalil expense proportionaiy
over the vasting pedcd during which the employess becoms
unconditionzlly entitled 1o the instrumants,

On westing and over the vasting pericd the amount recognised
as anr amployes benelit expenss will be adjusted to rellect the
actual number of options that vest excapl where forfeiture is
due 1o failure to achieve market-based parformance conditions.

As permitied by the elections availzble under AASE %,
Woolworths has nol retrospectively recognised the fair value
of share-based paymenis that have vested prior o 1 January
2005, Furthermore, no adjustment has baen made for
share-tased payments granted oefore ¥ Novermnber 2002,

Tha consolidated entity operated an Ermployes Share Plan

(ESPY whereby It provided interest free foans 10 seleciad
ampioyees 1o purchase shares in the Company. All shares
acquirad under the ESP are held by a wholiy-owned subsidiary

aof Woolworths as trustes of the share plan trust. Dividenos
paid by Woolworths are used to repay the foan {after payment
of a portion of the dividend 1o the amployee (o covar any

iax liabiities)

Thz leans are limited recourse and if the employes elects not
to repay the loan, the underlying shares are sold o racover the
oulstanding loan salance. These have been accounted for as
an ophon in tha Financial Siatemeants.

Under AIFRS, & liability equal 1o that part of these receiveble
balances not yel repaid by the employes has been recognised

as g liability as the financial institution Has recourss (o the
Cormpany untii the share plan vesting conditions have
baen satislied.

{v} Wages and salaries and related employee beneafits
Provigion is made Tor bengfits accruing 1o employeas in
respect of wages and salaries, annual leave, long service laave
and sick leave whean itis probable that seitemeant will be
raquired and they are capablae of being reliably measurad.
Provigions made in respect of employees benefits, which are
axpected o be seltled within 12 months, are recognisad, and
ara measurad at their nominal valuas using the remunaration
rata expectad 1o apply at the tme of setllement.

B8

Provisions made in respect of employes benafiis which ar
not expactad 10 be setiled within 12 months, are recognisad
and measured &35 the present value of expeaciad future
paymienis 1o be mads in respact of sarvices provided by
amployees up 1o pariod and. Considaration is given 1o
expected fulure wage and salary levals, exparience of
amployee departures and periods of service. The expactad
future cash fows are discounted, using inferest rates allaching
to Commonwazlth Governmant guaranieed securitios which
have tarms to roatarity, matching their estimated tming as
closely as possible,

R Provisions

A provision is racognisad in tha balance sheat when the
consclidated antity has a grasant lagal or constructive
obligation &s a result of a past event, and it is probable that
an outilow of aconomic benefits will be raguired to setile
the obligation,

When some or all of the econcrmic benafits required to seltle
g provision arg axpected 1o be racovered from a third party,
the recaivable is recognised as an assel if itis probable that
recovery will be received and the amount of the receivable
can ba measurad ralizbly.

The amourt recognised as & provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required 1o setlie the present obligation at
reposting date, taking inlo account the risks and uncertaintias
surrounding the obligation. Whera a provision is measurad
using the cash flows sstimaied 1o settle the presant chligation,
its carrying amount is the presant value of those cash flows,

{i} Restructuring

Provision Tor restructurings is recognised when the
consclidated antity has developed a detaited formal plan
for the restructuring and hag eithan

(2 enterad into firm contracts 1o carry out the restruciuring; or

(ol raised a valid expeciation in those affected by the
restructuring that the restructuring will ocour,

{iit Onerous contracts

& provigion for onarous contracts is recognised whan the
axpecled benaliis 1o be derved by the conscidated antity
fror & contract are lower than the unaveidable cost of
meating its obligations under tha contract.

{iii} Self-insurance

The consolidated antily provides Tor self-insured fabilities
refaling 10 workers compansation and pubilc liability claims.
The provisions Tor such ligbiities are based on independs
actuarizl assessrants, which consider nurnbers, amounts
and duration of claims, and aliow Tor Tuture inflation and
rvestment raturns,

3}

Allowance is included for injuries which coourrad belore the
balence date, Hut where the claim is expected to be notiflied
gfter the batance date.

The provision is discounted using the Commonwealth
Governmaeant bond rate with & maturity date approxirsting
the tarm of tha consclidatad antity’s obligation.




{iv} Warranty

The consclidated entity provides Tor anticigated warranty
costs when the underlying products or services areg scid.
The provision is based upon historical warranty data.

fv) Dividends
The consolidated antity provides for dividends whan the
dividend is declared by the Board of Directors.

S Trade and other payables

These amounts reprasent liabilittes for goods and services
provided to the consolidated entity and Company which wera
ungaid at the end of the pericd. The amcounts are ungecured
and are usually seitled within 45 days of recognition.

T Revenus recognition

In generzl, revenue is recognissed only when it is probable that
the econcmic benefils comprising the revenue will flow 1o the
antity, the flow can be relisbly measured and tha antity has
transfarrad the significant risks and rewards of ownership,

In addition o these genaral criteria, specific revenue
recognition criteria apply as foliows:

{i} Sates revenue

Satas revanue represents the revenue sarmad from the
provision of products and rendering of services 10 pariies
extternal 1o the consclidatad entity and Company. Sales
revanue is only recognised whan the significant sisks and
rewards of ownarship of the products, including possession,
have passad o the buyer and for services when z right (o be
compensatad has been altained and the siage of complation
of the coniract can be reliably measured,

Revenue is recognised on a commissicr-only basis where
Woohworths acls as an agent rather than a principal in the
franszction. Revenue is recognised net of returns.

Revende from the sale of cusiomer gift cards is recognised
wiian the card is redesmed and the custemar purchases the
goods by using the card. Where a revenua ransaction involves
tha issie of a voucher thal may be subseqguantly redesmed,
tha future axpectad cost of setiling the chligation is

provided for,

{ii} Rentat income

Rental incomea is racognised on a straighi-ling basis over the
tarm of the lease. Lease rentals granted are recognised &s an
irtagral part of the tolal rental income.

{iiij} Financing income

Interest incoma is racognisad in the incomea siatement as it
accrues, using the effective interest method. Gividend income
iz racognisad in the income statemant on the date the entity’s
right 1o raceive payraents is established which in the case of
guoled securities is the ex-dividend date.

tJ Leases

{oases are classified as finance leases whanaver the tarms
{the lpase transfer substantially all the risks and rewsards of

ownarship (o the lassea. All othar lezsas are classifiad as

oparating leases.

Operating lease payments

Payments made under operzting leases are recognised in the
incomea statement on & straight-Yna basis over the tarm of
the lease,

Fixed rale increases 10 lsase rental payrments, excluding
sontingant or index-basad rental increases, such as CPI,
turnover rental and other sirmilar increases, are recognised on
z straighl-ling basis over the lease term. An gsset of liabitity
arisas for the differance batween the amount gaid and the
lsase axpansa brought to account on a straighi-lineg basfs.

Lease incentives received are recognisad in the income
statement as an intagral part of the total lsase expense and
spread over the leage term.

V Net financing costs

Net financing cosls comprise interest payable on borowings
calculated using the effective interast method, dividends on
preference shares classified as Hzbilities, interast receivabie on
funds investad, dividend income, Toreign exchange gains and
loszes, and gains and fossas on hedging instruments that are
racognised in tha income statement {rafer Note 1F).

W Income tax

income tax in the income statemant for the periods presentad
comprises current and defarred tax. income ax is recognised
in the income sialemant axcapt to the extent that it relatas

1o itemns recognised dirsctly in eguity, in which case it is
recegnised in aguity. Where it arises from the initial accounting
for & businass combination, it is taken intc sccount in tha
detarmination of goodwill or excess,

Current tax is the expaecied tax pavatie on the taxable mcome
for the vear using fax raies enacted or substantially enacted at
the balance sheel date, and any adjustrment 10 tax payable in
raspact of pravious yaars, Current tax for current and prior
pericds is recognisad &3 a izbility to the extent it is unpaid,

Oefarrad izx is provided using the halance sheat liabifity
rathod, providing for temporary differences oetween the
carrying arnounts of assels and liabilities for financizl reporting
purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.

In gocordance with AASE 112 Income Taxes, the following
termporary differences are not provided for: goodwdll, the initizl
recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting
nor taxzble profit, and diffarences relating to investmeants in
suzbsidiarias 10 the extent that they will probably not reverse in
the foreseeable fulure whare the consolidatad entty is able o
sontrol the reversal of the temporary differences.
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
{(CONTINUED)

W income tax {continued}

The amount of defarred tax provided is based on the expectad
rrannar of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of
assetls and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
anacted at the balancs sheet dots.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only o the extent that it

is protable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the deductble lemporary differences or unused tax
losses and tax offsets can be uillised. Deferred tax assels

gre reduced (0 the exient that itis no longer probable that
the related tax Denefit will be rezlised.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognised at the same time &s the liability to
pay iha refated dividand.

Ueferred tax assels and liabilizies are offsat whan they relate
o income laxes levied by the same laxalion suthority and the
congolidated entity infands to settle its currant 1ax assets and
liabiities on & net basis.

Tax consclidation

The Company and its wholly-owned Australisn rasident anlities
have formed a tax consolidated group with effect from 1 July
2002 znd are therefore taxed as & single entity frem that date.
The hasd entity within the tax consclidated groug is
Woolworths Lirmited.

Tax sxpensefincoms, deferred tax assets and deferred lax
liabitties arising from temporary differences of the members of
the 1ax consolidated group are recognised by each membear of
the tax consolidated group.

The hasd entity, in conjunction with other mempers of the 1ax
consolidated group, has enterad into g tax funding agraemant
which sets out the funding obligations of marmbers of the tax
consolidated group in respact of income e amounts. The fax
funding arrangements reguire payments 1o the head entity
aqual 1o the current tax liability assumed by the haad entity.

In addition, the head entity is requited (o make paymaents
agual to the current tax asset assumed by the haad antity in
circumsizncas wheare the subsidiary member would have bean
antitled (o racognisa tha currant 1ax assal on a stand-alones
basis. These tax funding rrangements result in the head entity
recogrising an inter-entitly receivable/payabie agual in amount
10 the tax iebility/asset assumed. The inter-antity receivabie/
payabie amounts are at cali,

In respect of carried forward 1ax losses brought inte the Group
on consolidation by subsidiary mermbers, the head ardity wiil

pay the subsidiary member for such losses whan thesea losses
ara transiorred o the Woolworths Limited tax consolidaiad

group, wharg the subsidiary mamber would have basn entitiad
o recognise the benefit of these losses on & stand-alone basis.

B0

X Assets heild for sale

Irmmedizlaly before classification as held for sale, the
maasuramant of the assets (and all assats and liabilities in

a disposal group) is brought up (o date in accordance with
applicable AIFRS. Then, on initial clessification as held for sale,
assels and disposal groups are recognisaed al the lowsr of
carrying amount gnd fair velue less costs (o seil.

Impairmant losses on initizl classification as held for sale are
included in profit or loss, even when there is a revaluation,
The same spplies o gains and fossas on subsaguent
MEMEeasuremant,

Y Goods and services tax

Mevenus, expansas and 23sels are recognised net of the
amount of goods and services ax {GST), excepl where §
amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation

part of tha cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of
the axpense.

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST
included. The net amount of GST racoverable from, or payabia
o, the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) is included as a currant
assat or liakility in the baiance sheet,

Cash flows are included in the statemeant of cash flows on

gross basis. The GST componenis of cash flows arising from
investing and ncing activities which zre recoverablg from,
or payable tg, the ATO are classified as opersting cash Hows.

FA LS

Z Segment reporting

Sagmeant information is presentad in respect of the
consclidated entity’s business and gecgraphical segments
The prirmary Tormal, business segments, is based on the
consclidated entity’s managaement and internal reporting
structura. Intar-segment pricing is determined on an arm's
length Dasis. Segment resuits, asseis and liabilities include
items diractly attributable 1o a segment as wall as thoss that
can be allocaed on d reasonzble basis,

Business segments
The consolidaied entity comprisas the following main
segments:

Superrnarket Divisforr ~ encompagsses supermarkets, ratail
liguor cutlets and petrol outiets;

General Merchandise - ancompassas BIG W discount
foparimant storas;

Consumer Elactronics - encormpasses Dick Smith Electronics,
Tandy and Dick Smith Electronics Powarhousea sioras;

Hoteds - sncompasses on premise liguor sakes, food,
accommodation, gaming and venue hirg; and

Wholesale Division -~ comgrises Stetewide Independant
Whalesaiars (SIW),

Unallocated items comprise mainly income-aaming 2ssels
and revenue, intarest baaring borrowings and axpenses,
and corporele assels and expenses,



Geographical segments

Segmeant assets are pased on the geographical location of the
azsals, Woolworths Limited operates in Australia and New
Zealand with the rmajority of business customers in Austrzlia.
Woolworths operaies in New Zealand following the acguisition
of Foodland supermarkets and has supply arrangemants with
45 franchised siores. The consumer electronics business
oparates stores based in Australia and New Zealand,

AA Accounting estimates and judgements
Manzgament discussed with the Audit Committes the
development, selection and disclosure of the consolidatad
antity's critical accounting policies and estimates and the
appiication of thase policias and estimatas.

The estimates and judgemaents that have 2 significant rigk

of causing & material adjustraant 1o the carrying amounts of
gzsals and liabilities within the next finencial year are sel out
as approprizia in the Notes 1o the Financial Statemants,

The estimates and underlying assumptions are revigwed

on an ongoing Hasis. Revisions 1o accounting estimates and
undeslying assumnglions are racognisad in thae period in which
the estimate is revised if the revision alfects only that pericd;
or in the percd and future periods £ the revision affects both
currant and future periods.
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Comnsadidwied

Wiafiworths Limiled

206 2005 2006 2505
Firr trer 52 qoeeks ended 25 fune 2006 Enm & S EAl
2 PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS
Profif pefore income tax includes the following itams
of revanue, income and expanse:
{a) Operating revenue
Mevenue from the sale of goods:
Other parties 37,7342 313525 27,9231 28,025.0
Mefaled parties - - 2.8
Other operaling ravenue 115.5 128.7 9938 120.2
Total revenue from operations 37,8497 31,481.2 28,6229 268,148.0
{b} Other revernue
Mernt 28.7 17.0 4.5 45
Other 995 8.2 806 708
Total other revenue 128.2 95.2 851 753
Total revenue 37,9779 31.,578.4 28,1080 28,2233
{c) Uther income
MNet profit on disposal of proparty, plant, eguipmaent,
fixturas and fittings 186.7 0.2 - 4.5
Total other income 18.7 HEw - 49
{d} Expenses
Armounts provided for

Impairment of receivables 3.1 2.9 1.1 0.4

Seif-insured risks (Note 16) 88.8 102.8 73.3 95 9
Dapreciation of:

Buildings 229 HEw 1.7 1.9

Plart and squipment, Hxtures and fitlings 435.2 384.0 306.6 2828
Armortisation of:

Leasehold improvaemants 64.1 41.8 41.8 36.8
Total depreciation and amortisation 5222 416.0 3501 3213
Employse bensfits expense™ 4,425 .4 37248 3,404.2 32177
MNet loss on disposal of plant, property, equipmant,
fixtures and fittings - 14.6
Opearaiing lease rantal expenses,

Leasad pramises

- miniraum lease payments 923.2 7501 8h2.5 5B83.9
- contingant rantals 977 806 86.2 725
- sUb-legses 2.4 3.7 - 3.6
Leased aguipment- minimurn legse payments 46.8 &5.8 38.4 573
Total operating lease rental expense 1,070 Q002 717 773

MNote {1}
Emploves bernedits expensa
includes salaries and wages,
defined benefit plan expanse,
defined contriliution plan expense,
termiination benedits, taxable vailue
of fringe benefits, payroil tax, leave
entitlements and share-based
payments expense.
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6 2005 266 b 1051
Furr the 52 qwewies ended 25 furme 20048 S S LT LA
3 NET FINANCING COSTS
Financial expense
Intarast expansa - othar partiss {270.2} {171.8} {264.8) 130,35
Less! interast capitalized™ 34 77 2.9 77
{266.8) FB4. 1 {261.9) (122 .8)
Financial income
Dividand incoma
Relatad parties - 38 - 2.5
Intarast ncome
Related parties - 0.4 128.5 250
Other parties 171 10.G 1.5 70
17.1 14.6 140.0 345
Net financing cost {249.7} {1501 {121.9) (BB
Note (1}
Weighted average capitalisation
raie on funds borrowed generally:
7.0% (2005: 8.0%).
4 AUDITORY REMUNERATION
Auditors of the parent antity
Audit or review of the fingncial report 1.835 1503 1.222 0.975
Other nore-audit related sarvices™ 0777 G240 0.369 2189
2.612 1.743 1.691 1.164
Other auditors™®
Audit or raview of the fingncial report 0.528 0.G34 -
Tax sarvicas - C.003 -
0.528 0.047 -
Total auditors' remuneration 3.140 1786 1.691 1.164

The guditor of Woolworthg Limited is Daleitte Touche Tohmatsy,

Notes

1

Other non-audit services caomprise
FsSistance an varous accalniing
($0.054 millior, 2605

£0.183 million) and tax matters
(H0.190 millior, 2005: $nil} and due
ditigence ($0.528 millian,

2005 §$0.057 millioni.

{2}

Other auditors include international
associates of Deloitte Tauche

Tohrmatsu Austraiia
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Comnsadidwied Wiafiworths Limiled

2106 2005 2006 205
Firr trer 52 qoeeks ended 25 fune 2006 Enm & S EAl
5 INCOME TAXES
{a) Incomn tax recognised in the income statement
Tax expense comprises:
Currgntl tax axpense 451.0 3834 3355 3335
Adiustrments recognised in the currant year in refation
10 tha current tax of prior years 01 113.6) 3.2 [13.6)
Daferred tax relating o the origination and reversal
of ternporary differences {5.3} [35.0) {22.3) 131.5;
Total tax expense 4458 334.8 316.4 2884

Numerical reconciliation between tax expense and pre-tax net profit
The prima facie income 1ax expense on pra-ax accounting profit from
operations reconciles (0 tha income tax expense in the Financial Statermants as follows:

Profit from oparations 1.472.5 1,152.0 1.096.9 9987
Income iax using the domastic corporation tax rate
of 30% (2005: 30%:) 441.8 3458 3281 2987
MNon-deductbie expanses 34 1.3 3.4 13
Impact of differences in offshore 1ax rates 4.3 -
Exarnpt foreign dividend income - {14.4)
Other (3.8} 1.5 i4.9) 2.0
4457 348.4 313.2 302.0
Undearf{icver provided in pricr years 0.1 {13.6) 3.2 [13.6)
4458 334.8 316.4 28B4

{b} Income tax recognised directly in equity

The following currant and deferred amounts weare
charged/icradited) directly to equily during the period:
Deferred tax

Cash flow hedges {1.6} - {1.6)
Transactions charged to foreign currency translation reserve 13.6 -
Actuarial movements on defined beneafits plans {4.5} 3.0 {4.5) HERY)
Mevaiuation of intangible assels - 14.0 -
Other {0.6} 6.3

6.9 11.0 {6.4) (3.0

{fc) Current tax assets and Habilities

The current tax liability for the consolidated entity of $84 8 mitlion {2005:; $105.5 millior) and for Woolworths Limited of
$96.5 million {2008 $115.9 million} represents the amount of income taxas payable in respect of current and prior financial
pericds. In accordance with the tax consolidation legisiation, Woolworths Limited, as the head antity of the Australian iax
consciidated group has assumed the current tax liabilities initially recognised by the members in the lax congclidated group.

{d} Deferred tax balances
Deferred tax assets comprise:

Tax losses - tevanue 10.0

Tarmporary differances 336.9 2T 272.8 2443
336.9 2877 272.8 2443
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Texable and deductible differences arise Trom the following:

Crocitedf Crecited/
Qrsening {Charged i to {Chitrged) o Aciquisitions/ Closirg
Balainoe Tncome Euiity Disposals Budauce
Consolidated 2006 m S S LT LA
Gross deferred tax assets
Proparty, plant and equipmeant 43.7 16.4 {1.3) 10.0 68.8
Provisions and accruals 218.7 38.5 1.4 27.3 286.9
Recognisad tax losses 10.0 {16.0% - - -
Other 277 (6.3} 1.8 9.0 32.0
30641 396 1.7 48.3 38727
Gross deferred tax liabilities
Intangipie assets {14.0) 0.5 - {0.5) {14.0}
Propayments 1.0 {3.9) - - {2.9}
Unraalised foraign exchange diffarences - - {9.6) - {9.6}
Other 06 {30.9) 1.0 5.0 {24.3}
{12.4) {34.3} (8.6) 4.5 (50.8}
28717 5.3 {8.9) 50.8 336.9
Credifedf Credited/
Opening (Chirrged} o (Charged] to Closirg
Balince Inconn Equify Balance
Waoliporihs Limited 2006 Sm S LT LA
Gross deferred tax assets
Proparty, plant and equipmeant 66.1 8.3 - 74.4
Provisions and scoruals 140.5 45.4 4.5 180.4
Other 375 (2.7 1.9 1.7
244.1 26.0 6.4 2765
Gross deferred tax liabilities
Propayments {0.3} {2.5} - {2.8}
Other 0.3 {1.2) - {0.9}
- 3.7 - (3.7}
244.1 22.3 6.4 2728
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5 INCOME TAXES (CONTINUED)

Taxabie and deductible differances arisa from the following:

Credited/ Credited?
Opening {Charged) to {Chargedi lo Acguizitions/ Clasing
Baloice Tncome Egueity Dsposils Balace
Comsolidmied 2005 Fart Enm & forr Fart
Gross deferred tax assets
Property, plant and equipment 16.4 273 437
Provisicns and acoruals 2019 {1.83 3.0 158 2187
Mecognised tax losses - iC0 - 0.0
Other 243 (8.0] 9.6 277
2474 295 30 252 3007
Gross deferred tax liabilities
Intangibie asseis {14.0) 74,0
Prapayments 2.0 3.0 1.0
Other (2.4) 2.5 05 8
(4.4} 5.5 114.00 0.5 2.4
238.0 350 11.0] 257 2877
Crediteds Credifed/
Chsendig (Chirrged} e {Charged) fo Clesing
Bilanee fncome Equify Bualinice
Woeluarrths Linited 2005 Em & EX E0i
Gross deferred tax assets
Property, plant and equipment 287 374 661
Provisicns and acoruals 1508 133 3.0 1405
Oihver 324 5.1 - 37.5
211.9 29.2 3.0 2443
Gross deferred tax liabilities
Prapaymants 1.9 1.6 (0.3}
Othier 0.4 0.7 0.3
(2.3 2.3
2096 315 3.0 2443
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6 DIVIDENDS

Cents per shave Tuntind stencnant Franked Dirte of paynrient
kil &m
Interim 2006 ordinary 28 3259 100% 28/04/2006
Final 2005 ordinary 27 2872 100% 7110/2005
Total 55 6131
bt
Interim 2005 ordinary 24 250.9 100% 28/04/2005
Final 2004 ordinary 24 2489 100% 8A0/2004
Total 48 4498
All dividends are franked 1o 30%.
On 271 August 2008, tha Board of Cirectors declzred a fingl dividend in raspect of the 2006 year of 31c (2008: 27c) per shara

100% franked at @ 30% tax rae. The amount that will be paid on 8 October 2006 (2005: 7 Octobar 20058 wili ba $3871 million
[2005: $287.2 millicr). As the dividend was declared subsequent 1o 25 June 2008, no provision has been inciuded as at
25 dune 2008,

Woohworths has entered Info an underwriting agresment in relation to the Woolworths DRP for the 2008 dividends. Undear this
arrangernent Woolwarihs pays sharehoiders their dividend entitlerment in cash 1o the extent that they have not sleciad 10 take
up their full antitlement undar the Woolwarths DRP end the underwritar subscribas for a number of shares caloulated by
refarence to the zggregate amount of cash which has baen paid 1o sharsholders who have noi elected (o take up their full share
entitlameant under the Woolworths DRP, Thea price per share paid by the underwritar is the average of the daily volume waighiad
avarage rarket price of Woohlworths ordinary Tully paid shares soid on the Siock Exchange Automated Trading System ovar &
pariod of tan trading days commencing on the third trading day after the record date Tor the ralevant dividend.

The undarwriting agreement applied 1o both dividends paid in 2008, The underwriting agreement will apply to the final dividend
payabie in October 2008, Toliowing which the underwriling agreameant will be concluded.
Frartked dividends
Comnsobidited Wieedrearths Limided
2004 2005 2066 2%
Em S EAl £
The franked portions of the dividends proposed as at 25 June 2006
wili be Trankad cut of existing franking credits or cut of franked cradits
arising fraom the paymant of income tax in the period anding
24 Gune 2007,
Franking credits availabie for the subsegueant financial
year 30% (2005 30%) 740.6 6083 7021 5741
They above amounts reprasent the balances of the franking accounts as at the and of the financizl pericd, adjustad for

(=) franking cradits that will arise from the payment of income tax payable 2t the end of the financial period; and
(bifranking debits that will zrise from tha payment of dividends provided at the end of the financial peried.

Franking sccounts are presantad on a tax paid basis.
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7 SEGMENT DESCLOSURES

Business segments
Sales Lo customers
Other operating revenue
Intar-gegment révenue

32,4534
113.9

26,878.0
128.7

31191

2,908.7

Segment revenue

32,5673

27,0067

31191

2,908.7

Elimingtions
Unaitocated revenus/expansas)™

Total revenue
Snhara of net profits of associate accountad

2.5

Sagrmeant result before tax
Unafocated revenus/lexpansas)
- Proparty

- Head office

MNet financing cost

1,448.0

1277

123.1

Profit before tax

Income tax expense

Profit after tax

Segment asseis
Unatosated™

7,385.6

43837

799.6

735.4

Total assets

Sagrmant liabilities
Unadocatad™

2,80907

22752

345.2

3162

Total liabilities

Capital expendiiure
Unaiocated™

3.454.7

8103

90.0

821

Acquisition of assets

Segrmant depraciation and amortisation
UnaHocated®

364.8

293.5

36.7

347

Total depreciation and amortisation

Sagrmeant othar non-cash expanses
UnaHocated™

8.2

6.7

1.5

1.2

Total other non-cash expenses

MNotes {2}

) Hotels comprise onnprem_'rse fiquar
Supestmarkels comprisea salea_:, food, accomm_clndanon,
supermarket stares, iquor stores gaming and venue hire.

and petrol canopies in Australia and

Mew Zealand.
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{3} {4

Yholesale comprises Statewide Unallocated revenue comprises

Independent Wholssaters (SIW} rent and other revenae from
operaiing activities,



Caonsuner Elecironics Hupels™ Wholesale™ Comsobidated

2006 e 2006 205 2006 ptlsiy 2006 235
S Fim S S S S S S
1,167.1 1,007.5 849.9 415 8 144.7 142.5 37,734.2 31,362.5
- 1.6 - 115.5 1287

.3 03 - 224.8 220.4 2251 2207
1,167.4 1,007 8 8b1.6 415 8 3649.5 3682 .6 38,074.8 31,701 6
{226.1) 12207}

128.2 8k 2

378779 31,5764

- - - - 2.5
64.6 54,5 151.9 528 1.8 2.5 1,788.0 1,355.8
18.3 21.2
{84.7) {74.9)
{249.7) {1501

1,472.5 1.182.0

{445.8) (334 8)

1,626.7 8172

408.1 3687 2,404.9 1,530.8 596 577 11,057.8 6,841.4
2,288.6 1,8337

13,346.4 87781

897 112.4 107.8 H3.6 3706 363 3,470.4 28837
5,618.4 3,86n2

93,0888 6,774 6

23.8 348 319.3 1,442 8 1.4 .6 4,489.2 2,450G.6
bb4.7 6008

5,043.9 3,081.4

217 18.2 39.5 23.0 1.3 1.3 464.0 3707
58.2 45.3

h22.2 £16.0

.3 03 - - 10.G 82
8719 74 8

97.9 83.0

i5) {6}

Unallocated comprise sorporate
head office and property division,

Irciudes non-cash transastions
including the Defined Benefit
Liability movement, Financial
Insiruments and Employee Shares

Schame expenses.
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Aunstralia ez Zeveliond Cansalidaled
2006 201 i 2005 2006 201
&in St S &m St Fi

7 SEGMENT DISCLOSURES
(CONTINUED)
Geographical segments
Sales o custormers 34,885.0 311482 2,849.2 204.3 37,734.2 31,382 5
Other revenus 3371 3484 3.5 340.6 349.4
Segmeant revanue 35,2221 31,4976 2,802.7 2043 38,0748 31,7018
Segmant assets 8,397.0 g8,7875 2,660.8 539 11,0578 6.841.4
Capital exgendiiure 1,842.4 24483 2,646.8 2.3 4,489.2 2,450.6

The consofidated entity operates predominantly in Ausiralia and New Zezland. Intersegment pricing is determinad on an

arrs-fangth basis.

Comnsalidated Woalkwoerihs Limlled
Asat Asaf
08 2005 2006 201
S &m S Sari
8 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Current
Trade raceivables 85.1 53.2 35.9 32.0
Other raceivables 963.11" 4340 181.6 1598
Loans to controlled antities - 229 .
Prapayments 112.2 1084 881 95.4
1,160.4 5956 3285 2872
Non-current
Loans to controlled antities - 86,1971 3,477 8
Prapayments 1.4 8.0 7.4 8.0
Other raceivablas 6.6 8.2 -
14.0 16.2 6,204.5 3,485 8
Notes E]] {2}
This includes receivables This includes receivables
of approximately $727.5 million of approximately $242.0 million
from the sale of distribution frarm the sale of the Woolworths
cenires, suppart office at Morwest Business
Park in Sydnaey.
Trade and other receivables are presented net of impairment gllowance.
9 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
Non-current
Controiled entities:
Unligted shares at cost - 3,094.3 1519
Fair vaiue derivatives™
Interast rate swaps 55.8 558
Cross-Curancy swaps 3.0 3.0
Listed equily sacurities &t fair value - 04 -
Unlisted shares at fair value 0t 0.1 -
Other G.6 0.6 0.4 0.4
59.5 1.1 3,1535 1523
Note {1}
There is na reguiremant to
recagrise fair value derivatives
urrder the aceourting paolicies
applicabie 1o the comparative
period. Such fair value derivatives
100 are recoghised in the current geriod

uricder AASE 138,



Comselidated Weolworths Limided
As it
206 r 2005 266 b 1051
Sm S S S
10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Current
Asgsets hald for salg™ 115.6 65.4 a6.7 0z
Non-current
Caveloprmant proparties:
At cost 178.0 16879 -
Less: Accumulizted depreciation {2.6} 2.3} -
175.4 1658 -
Frashold warehouse, retail and cther properiies:
At cost 9084 B70.8 34.8 96,5
Less: Accumulizted depreciation {34.2} (401 8.1 17.83
875.2 B304 26.7 8591
Leasashold improvements:
At cost a93.2 8178 1.2 436.8
Less: Accumuiziad amaortisation {420.8} (25831 {183.3) 1477
572.4 350.5 3779 2891
Plant and equipment:
At cost 6,330.7 51568 3,380.5 2,8593
Less: Accumulizted depreciation {3,897.9) (315348 {1,594.5) {1,418.3)
2,432.8 20037 1,796.0 1,641.0
4,055.8 3,3683 2,200.6 1,919.2
Total property, plant and equipment -
net book value 41714 34247 2,291.3 1,919.4

Note (1}

The consclidated antity intends
ta dispose of certain land and
baildings over the next 12 marnths.

Total property, plant and eguipment - net book value
Ar assessmant as 1o the carrying vaiue of Woolworths-owned proparties a3 at 25 Juna 2008 was parformad. The basis of the

assassmant wag a combination of escarnal market aszessments andfor valuations and Woolworthe propearty group

assassments,
Exiarnal vaiuations are oblained every three years. Based on the most recant assessments, a provision for development 1ossas

of $93.7 mitlicr (2005: $87.3 miltion} is hald as &1 25 June 2006,

MReconciliations of the carrying amounis of sach class of non-current property, plant and eguipmeant at the beginning and end of
tha current and previous finansial paricds gre sat cul in the next table.
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10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

Freehold Wirrehouse,

Develapment Rebail wnd Other Lemsehuld Phant and

Properties Proygserfies Imiprovements Egripmert Total
Copsolidmied 2004 EAl Em & S EAl
Carrying amount at start of parica 165.8 83056 3585 2,003.7 3,359.3
Additions lexciuding additions arising from
acquisition of controlled entities) 555 480.2 168.8 688.8 1,393.3
Additions arising from acquisition of
controlied entities 534 2296 89.2 308.9 67941
Disposals 9.4 {67729} 4.5} {54.5) {746.3)
Transtar 1o assets heid for sale - {76.9} - - {76.9)
Dapreciztion/amortisation expense {1.8) {21.1} {64.1) {435.2) {522.2)
Other {82.8) 112.6 31.8 58.2) 3.4
Fifect of movermnents in Toreign exchange rates 5.1) {1.8} {8.3} {18.7) {33.9)
Carrying amount at end of period 175.4 875.2 572.4 2,432.8 4,055.8
Copsolidited 2005
Carrying amount at start of pericd 723 3436 2842 1.626.9 2,336.8
Additions lexciuding additions arising
fromn acguisition of controlled antities) 916 230C.4 897 588.C 9997
Additions arising from acquisition of
controlizd entities 2177 34,2 1391 391.0
DGisposals (12.3} (0.8} 12.8) (12.2} (2793
Dapreciztion/amortisation expense 0.4} (9.8) 141.8) (36400 1416.0)
Other 14.6 49.4 (14.2] 259 6771
Carrying amount at end of period 656 8305 3595 20037 3,35893
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Developent

Frechold Warehouse,
Retail and Other

Lemsehodd

it and

Promerties Progerties Tnapraneinets Eguipinent Total
Woaliwerihs Limiled 2006 £ Em EAl £
Carrying amount at start of pericd - 89.1 28891 1.541.0 1,819.2
Additions {exciuding additions arising
from acquisition of controlled entities) - 3.7 112.4 6176 7337
Additions arising from acguisition of
controlled entities - = = 10.3 10.3
Disposals - {6.2} {1.8) {20.5) {28.5}
Transter 1o asseis held for sale - {55.8} - - {55.8}
Dapraciation/amortization axpanse - 1.7} {41.8} {306.6) {350.1}
Other - {2.4 200 {45.8) (28.2}
Carrying amount at end of period - 26.7 3779 1,796.0 2,200.6
Woaliworihs Linilted 2005
Carrying amount a1 start of pericd 172 2729 1,302.7 1,592.8
Additions {exciuding sdditions
arising from acquisition of controfed
@ &} 359 684.3 503.0 6092
Additions arising from acguisition of
controlled antities G 0.1
Digposals i3 1.2 123 {13.8]
Dapraciation/amortization axgaense 1.9 136,68 {2828} (321.3)
Other 382 o3 243 522
Carrying amount at end of period 891 2D 1,541.0 18182

Impairment of tangible assets

Al balence date the carrying armount of tangible assets is reviewed to determine whether thers is an indication that the assais
rreay be impaired. I such an indication exists the recoversble amount of the assel, which is the highar of its fair value less costs
10 sall and its valua in use, iz extimated in ordar 1o detarmine the extent of any impairmeant loss,

Tha recoverable armount has baen assessed a1 the cash-generating unit {CGU} level, which is the smalast group of assets
genarating cash flows independent of other CGUs that beneafit from the use of tha respective tangible zssat.

The racovarable amount has baen detarmined Gas

:d or the value in use which is caloulzied using cash flow projections from

2007 financial budgets agproved by management and the Board, The cash flows are discounted 1o prasant value using pre-iax
discount rates batween 11% and 13% depanding on the nature of the businass and the country of oparation. This discount rate

iz desivad from the Group's post-tax average cost of cagpital

Trie key assumplions used in the value in use caleulations include sales growth, CODB reductions and discount razas (which
have baan astimated as describad above). The assuraptions regerding sales growih and CODB reductions ara based on past
experience and expectations of changes in the market,
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Comnsalidated

Wealworths Limiled

Asat Asaf
2 2005 2006 2505
Enm & S EAl
11 INTANGIBLES
Goodwill 2,91.2 836.0 280.8 278.0
Brand narnas 2414 139 -
Liguor and gaming Hcences 1,481.3 1,131.8 148.2 138.7
Other 65.8 65.0 -
4,759.4 2,048 4 4290 477
Reconciliation of movements in intangibies
Brand Liguer and
Goodwil] nimes gining Hoenees Oher Total intangitles
Copsolidmied 2004 EAl Enm & S EAl
Carrying amount at start of parica 836.0 13.9 1,131.5 65.0 2,046.4
Additions grising from acquisition of
controlied entities 2,315.3 2441 3931 - 29525
Other zoguisitions - - 1.8 c.8 26
Dispogals - - {1)) - {0.1)
Feciassification 457 - {45.7} - -
Effect of movements in forefgn
axchange rates {225.8) {16.9} 0.7 - {242.0)
Carrying amount at end of period 2,971.2 2414 1,481.3 65.8 4,759.4
Copsolidited 2005
Carrying amount at start of paricd 4018 1706 5723
Additions arising from acquisition of
controlied entities 436.4 13.9 961.7 65.C 14770
Disposals 1.8 1.8}
Other (0.2 (0.9 (1.1
Carrying amount at end of period 8360 13.9 11315 65 ¢ 2,046.4
Woaluwrrihs Lindled 2006
Carrying amount at start of paricd 278.0 139.7 4177
Additions arising from acquisition of controlled antities 2.8 8.2 11.0
Other zoguisitions - 0.6 0.6
Disposals - {C.1) {0.1)
Other = 0.2) {0.2)
Carrying amount at end of period 280.8 148.2 429.0
Woaluwrrihs Lindled 2005
Carrying amount at start of paricd 263.5 1288 3821
Additions arising from acquisition of controlled antities 3.9 1. 25.0
Other 0.6 2.6
Carrying amount at end of period 278.0 1387 7.7
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Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives are tested for impairmant annually at the balance date ang whanaver therg
iz an indication that the asset may be impairad, Animpairmeant loss is recognisad whenaver tha carrying amount axcasds the
recovarable amount,

The recoverable armount is assessed al the cash-generating unit (CGU) level, which is the smallest group of assets generaling
cash fiows indapendeant of cther CGUs that benefit from the use of the respective intangible asset.

‘he racoverable amount is datarmined basad on the value in use which is calcuiated using cash flow projections from 2007
fingncial budgels approved by management and the Board, The cash flows zre discounted 1o prasent value using pre-iax

discount rates between 11% and 13% depanding on the natwre of the businass and the country of oparation. This discount rate
is derived from the Group's post-tax average cost of capital

Ther key assurmplions used in the velue in use celoulations include sales growth, CODB reducticns and discount ratas fwhich
have baen astimated as describad above). The assumptions regarding sales growth and COBL reductions arg based on past
experience and expectations of changes in the markat,

Brand names relate prirmarity to the Progressive Enterprisas busingss in New Zezland. Thase have been assessed in conjunction
with the refated goodwili

They components of goodwill are as follows:

Conselidated Waoolmwarths Limited
Asat As ot
2004 2005 2066 2%
sm Sm S LA
Supermarkais - Augtralia 506.2 4325 280.8 2780
Supermarkats - New Zezland 1,812.1% -
Consurner Electronics 66.0 5.9 -
MHotals 585.5 338.2 -
Whiolesale 1.4 14 -
2,971.2 836.C 280.8 278.0
No intangitle assats were identiflied as impaired at reporting date.
12 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Accounts payable 2,7785 23358 2,222.2 2,080.2
Leans from controlied entities = 2,852.2 4515
Accruals 733.0 5214 498.7 4376
Unazrmed income 61.9 591 23.2 23.3
3,573.4 2,946 5,5986.3 2,992 .6
13 OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Non-curretst
A fair value
Fair value dervatives™
Cross-Currancy Swaps 70.7 706.7
70.7 707

MNote m
There is no reguiremant 1o
recogrise fair value derivatives
under the accounting palicies
applicabie to the comparative
period. Such fair value derivatives
are recognised in the surrent pariod
under AASE 138.
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Comnsalidated

Wealworths Limiled

Az at Asaf
06 2005 2006 2t
Sm & S S
14 BORROWINGS
Current
Unsecured
At amortized cost (2005 cost)
Short tarm sacurities™ 443.8 140.0 443.8 1400
Short tarm money markeat loang™® 42.0 85.0 42.¢ 95.0
Bank toans™ 125.0 125.6
610.8 2350 610.8 235.0
Secured
Bank loans® 1.5 0.5 -
612.3 2355 610.8 235.0
Non-current
Unsecured
Al amortized cost (2005 cost)
Long-larm securitie 2,607.6 1180 2,606.0 13183
Bank loans® 48990 #84.0 499.0 BED.3
Waoohwerths Income Notes'™ - £00.0 - 8000
Woohworths Noteg™ 591.5 591.5
3.898.1 2.6G0.9 3,696.5 25595 4
Secured
Bank loans® 5.9 9.5 -
3,704.0 2.610.4 3,696.5 25595 4

The following iters includs capitalisad borrowing costs and some Hzbilitiss are issusd at othar thar face valus.
{5}

Notes

{1}

$2450 miliion {2005: $140.0 million}
Coammercial Paper was an issue

at period end and $200.0 millicn
Madium Term Notes issued in
January 2002 are due 1o mature

in danuary 2007,

2}

$42.0 rmilliart (200%: $95.0 million)
money market borrowings, on an
Tiam call basis, were cutstanding
at period end.

(3)

$125.0 million (Z005: $nill was drawn
art a $400.0 million Standby facility
rmaturing within the financial vear of
2007,

]

$1.5 miflion (2005 0.5 miliion) was
drawn against a securaed hank biil
facility, due 1o matura in financial
year 2007,
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I8 COMYHTSes:

$150.0 million Medium Term
Notes ssued i T998, to mature
Acgust 2007, On $70.0 million of
tha $150.0 million of borrowings,
interast is payable hiannuaily ata
fixed bond rate, on the remaining
£80.0 miliion of borrowings,
interast is payable quarterly at the

Bank Bill Swap Hate plus a margin.

. B300.0 million Medivm Term

Motes issued in 2005, 1o mature
in September 2008, Interest is
payable hianrually ata

fixed bond rate.

- %3500 million Medium Term

MNotes issued in 2006, to mature in
March 2017, On $200.0 million

af the $250.0 million interest is
payable hiannually at a fixed bond
rate, ort the remaining

F150.0 rmillion, interest is payabla
quarterly at the Bank Bifl Swap
Rate plus a rmargin,

- USHE0.0 millior (A$E8.2 million)

from a private placement of senior
nates in the United States in 1957,
raturing in September 2007

- 85516 million (AS70.4 milicn)
from a private placement of senior
rrotes in the United States in 1897,
maturing ir Septermber 2007,

- USE500.0 million (ASE82.9 million)
from a private placement of senior
notes in the United States in 2005,
rraturing: USE100.0 million in
April 2015, US8300.0 million in
Aptil 2017 and US$100.0 million
in Aprii 2020,

w USETZ5.0 million (ASZR0.2 milliorn)
of senior notes ssued into the US
tiond market under Rule 1444
Regulation 3] in 2005, maturing:
US5300.0 millicn in Movernber
2071 and US$425.0 million in
Movember 20145,

(6)

$500.0 million (2005: $800.0 million)
was drawn on a frve-year

$800.0 million syndisated revolving
aredit facility maturing in financial
year 20710, Drawings are less than six
months, and may be rolled over an
maturity. Interest is payable on roll-
avar, at a rate caleuiated as the Bank
Bill Swap Rate plus a margin.
Adjusted by amortised borrawing
casts of $1.0 million.

{7}

$600.0 million Woolworths Iheome
Motes were fully redesmed on

5 June 2004,

8

$600.0 million in Woaolwarihs Motes
were issUed an 5 june 2008, These
notes are perpetusl, unsecured,
subordinated, surnulative notes,
Woolwarths Motes entitle holdars ta
receive an unfranked, floating rats,
ctmulative distribution guarterly in
arrears (which may be deferred by
Woaolwaorths at iis discretion), Cartain
terms of the Woolworths Motes may
be changed on a remarketing date
fthe first of which is 15 September
20111, Offzet by unamaortised
porrawing costs of 8.5 million,

)

$5.9 million {2008: $5.5 million) was
drawn on @ bank loan secured by a3
mortgage aver land and buildings
and an equitable charge over the
asaeis of 3 controlfed entity.



Comnselidated

Waedsarths Limided

Asat As it
2004 2005 2066 2%
Em S EAl £
15 FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS
Unrestricted access was available at balance date (o the following lines of cradit:
Total facitities
Bark overdrafig 26.3 2B8.C 11.0 HIRY,
Bark loan faciities 2,284.8 23350 2,267.0 2,3200
2,311 2,383.0 2,27840 2,3310
Used at balance date
Bark overdrafis - -
Barlk lcan faciiities 674.5 959, 667.0 8790
874.5 989.0 667.0 §79.0
Unused at balance date
Bark overdrafig 26.3 2B8.C 1.0 1.0
Barlk lcan faciiities 1,610.3 1,346.C 1,600.0 1,340
1,636.6 1,374.0 1,611.0 13520
Bark ioan fzcilites may be drawn at any time, subject to the covenants of the lending agreements. The majority of faciities

are danominatad in Australian doliars with & small amount aguivalent to AS3.3 million denominaied in New Zealand dollars
(2005: $nilt, The bank overdraft facilities are unsecurad and may be drawn at any time.
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Comnsalidated

Wealworths Limiled

Asat Asaf
2 2005 2006 2505
Em & S EAl
16 PROVISIONS
Current
Employea benafits (Note 24) 511.3 4342 4091 3718
Salf-insured rigks! 71.9 681 66.4 649
Other™ 208 21.2 6.1 6.3
604.0 5235 4816 442 8
Non-current
Ernployes banafits (Note 24) 50.5 444 42.8 38.4
Self-insured rigks" 254.9 2416 235.3 2307
Other™ 35.3 4.0 18.5 4.0
340.7 290.0 2986.8 2725
Total provisions 9447 Bi35 778.2 7153
Movements in self-insured risk provisions were as follows:
Balance al start of pariod 309.7 2830 295.0 2700
Additional provigions recognised 88.8 102.8 73.3 954
Arising from acguisition of controlled entities 2.8 2.8 -
Reductions arising from paymentsfother zacrifices of
future aconomic banefits {74.3} {78.9) {66.6) (70,9
Fifect of movernants in Toreign exchange rates {0.2} -
Balance at and of pariod 326.8 3087 301.7 295.0
Current 71.9 681 66.4 £4.9
Nor-current 254.9 2416 2353 2307
Movernents in other provisions were as follows:
Balance al start of pariod 252 11.2 101 2.7
Additional provisions recognised/ireleased) 1.8 209 15.0 i2.5)
Arising from acguisition of controlled antities 34.3 -
MReductions arising from payments {7.8} i6.9) {0.5) 0.2
Fifect of movernants in Toreign exchange rates {3.4} -
Balance at and of pariod 561 25.2 24.6 103
Current 208 21.2 6.1 6.1
Non-current 353 4.0 18.5 4.0

MNotes 1£}]
The pravision for self-insured risks
represents the estimated fialbility
for workers' compensation and
public liability claims in all
Woolworths” seli-insured
jurisdiciions based on actuarial
valuations.

{2}

Current and nan-current other
Hovisions consist predaminantly
af provigions for anercus lease
contracts. Carrent other
mravisions 3t 28 June 20045 consist
predominantly of a provision far
restructure in ALH.



Comsalidated

As it

2066 2%
St LS

17 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE FQUITY METHOD

Moverents in invegtrments in associates

Fauity accountad amount at the baginning of the financial year - 36
Share of profit from ordingry activities before tax - 3.6
Shara of income tax expense related o ordinary activities - .7
- 2.5
Gividand racaived - {25
Acguisition of controlling interast in associate’™ - (3.6

Equity accounted amount at the end of the financizl yvear

MNote m
During the year ended 26 June
2005, Woolworths abtained controd
of the ALH Group Pty Ltd {formarly
known as Broandwo Py Lid)
which is owned 75% by
Woolworths and 25% by the
Bruce Mathigson Groug.

Comnselidated Waedsarths Limided
Asat As it
2004 2005 20666 26565
Em S EAl £
18 ISSUED CAPITAL
lssued and paid-up share capital
13171,880,672 fully paid ordinary sharas (2008: 1,049 668,030)
Fuliy paid ordinary shares carry ong vole per share and the
rigght to dividends.
Reconcifiation of fully paid share capital
Batance at beginning of pariod 981.0 5754 8981.0 575.4
lssue of shares a3 g result of options exercised under
Executive Share Option Plan 225 047 225 1047
lssue of shares as a result of Dividend Reinvestmeant Plan 613.1 2979 613.1 2979
Incremental proceeds frorm sale of forfeited shares
under Employee Sharg Plan 1.2 30 1.2 30
lesue of sharas &5 consideration for acquired entity 1.330.0 1,330.0
Balance at end of period 2,947.8 981.C 2,947.8 981.0
N (ml M ) N, On) N (ml
Reconcifiation of fully paid share capital
Batance at beginning of pariod 1,649.7 1,0077 1,049.7 10077
lssue of shares as g result of options exercised under executive
share oplion plan 3.2 20.C 3.2 200
legie of shares ag a resuil of Dividend Reinvestmeant Plan 356 195 356 HERS
lssue of shares from sale of forfeited shares under Employes
Share Plan 1.8 2.5 1.8 2.5
lssue of shares s considergtion for acquired antity 81.6 816
Balance at end of period 1,171.9 1,0497 1,171.8 10487
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Az at Asaf
06 20005 2006 2565
Sm & S S
18 ISSUED CAPITAL (CONTINUED}
Shares held in trust
Reconciliation of shares held in trust
Balance at beginning of period {102.2} [120.6) {102.2) 112063
lssue of shares under Employes Shara Plan 15.1 8.4 15.1 18.4
Balance at end of period {87.1} [102.2) {B7.1) 10223
M il N i N, (i) N ()
Reconciliation of shares held in trust
Balanice atl baginning of period 11.8 43 11.8 143
lssue of shares under Employes Shara Plan {1.8} {2.5) {1.8) i2.5)
Balance at end of period 10.0 1.8 10.0 18

Share capital
Moidars of ordinary shares ara antitled (o raceive dividends as declzred from time 1o time and are eniitied 10 one vole per shara

In the event of winding up of the Company, ordinary sharahelders rank after all other shareholdars and creditors and are fully
entitled to any proceeds of liguidation.

Changes (o the then Corporations Law abolishaed the authorised and par value concept in relation 10 share capital issuad from
T July 1998, Therafore, the Company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital and issued shares do not have a
par value.

Share optichs

In accordance with the provisions of the executive share option plan, as at 25 Juna 2006, executives had options over
30,348,968 crdinary shares, in aggregate, with 400,500 of those expiring 1 July 2009 {1993 Opticns), 309,375 axpiring 1 July
20010 {2000 Optiong), 5,299 843 axpiring 1 July 2011 {2001 Gptions), 4,812 000 expiring 31 Decembear 2007 {2002 Gptionsg),
B.910, 350 expiring 31 Decembar 2008 (2003 Options), 7099500 expiring 31 Dacernbar 2009 (2004 Opticns) and the remainter
6,715,400 Options expiring on 31 Dacembear 2010 (2008 Options).

As at 28 Sune 2008, execulives had options over 29,020,082 ordinary shares, in aggragate, with 951,875 of those expiring 1 July
2009 {1998 Optionsg), 2,252,125 axpiring ¥ July 2010 (2000 Optlions), 8,107,982 expiring 1 July 2011 (2007 Cptions), 5,388,000
axpiring 31 December 2007 (2002 Options), 6,569,350 axpiring 31 December 2008 {2003 Options), end the rarmainder, 7,752 750
axpiring on 31 Decembear 2008 (2004 Opticns). Exacutive share options carry no rights to dividends and no voling rights.

Furthaer details of the Executive Share Opticn Flan are containad in Note 24 1o the financial statamants,
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Comnselidated Waedsarths Limided

Ag it As i
206 2005 it 2
Sm S S S
19 RESERVES
Medging reserve {b7.5) {57.5)
Forgign currancy translation resarve {276.0} (R -
Femunaration resarve 285 5.3 285 15.3
Agaal revaluation reserve 16.4 6.4 -

{288.6} 31.8 {29.09) 15.3

Hadging reserve

The hedging resarve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow

hedging instruments relsted fo hedged fransactions that have not yel occurred, The cumulative defarred gain or loss on the
hedge is recognisad in prodit and loss when the hedged transaction impacts the profit or foss, consistent with applicable
accounting policy.

Forgign currency transtation reserve

The forgign currency transiation reserve comprisas all forsign axchange differences arising from the translation of the Financiz
Statements of foreign oparations where their functional currency iz different to the presentation currency of the reporting entity,
as wall as from the transiation of liabiiities that hedge the Company's nat investment in a foreign subsidiary.

Remuneration reserve

The employee remuneration reserve comprises the Tair velua of share-based payment plans recognised as &n expenss in the
income statemeant.

Asset revaluation reserve

The assei revatuation reserve arose on zcquisition of previously equity zccounted investment in MGW and relates 10 the change
ir fair value of the consofidzatad entity’s interast in non-currant assets from the date of acquisition of the inftial invastmant to the
date control was achieved.
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Comnsalidated

Wealworths Limiled

Asat Asaf
2 2005 2006 205
Em & S L35
19 RESERVES (CONTINUED)
Movements
Hedging reserve
Balance at start of period - -
Fffect of change in accounting policy {6.5} (6.5
Cash flow hedges'” {52.6} {52.6)
Daferrad tax arizing on hadges 1.6 1.6
Balance at end of period {57.5} {57.5)
Foreign currency transkation reserve
Balance at start of pariod {0.1} -
MNet exchange differences on translation of foraign
controliad entities {275.9} ) -
Balance at end of period {276.0} 1G] -
Remuneration reserve
Balance at start of pariod 15.3 5.1 15.3 3.3
Compensgation on share-basad paymenis 13.2 0.2 13.2 10.2
Balance at end of period 285 5.3 285 153
Asset revaluation reserve
Balance at start of pariod 16.4 -
Adiustment rasulting from reversion 10 cogt basis - 234 -
Deferrad tax ariaing on revarsion to cost basis - (7.0 -
Balance at end of period 16.4 164 -
Notes {1
Cash flow hedges includes
gainsfiosses) recagnised in eglity
and gainsfilosses) taken 1o the
income siatement.
20 RETAINED EARNINGS
Retained earnings attributable to the members
of Woolworths Limited
Balance at start of the paricd 1,063.8 7710 7001 516.2
Fffect of change in accounting policy {1.% {0.4)
Woohworths Incomea Notas (VWiNs) issue cost - 117.0 - 170
Profit attributablae to mambers of Woolworihs Limited 1,014.6 816.2 780.5 G713
Aciuarial fosses on defined benelit plans {15.0} 1190.00 {15.0) 0.0y
Tax effact of actuarial lozses 4.5 3.0 4.5 3.0
Employsa Share Pian dividends and forfeitures 2.0 0.4 2.6 0.4
Dividends paid or provided {Note 6) {6131} 499.8) {613.1) 1495 8}
Balance at end of period 1,4565.7 1,063.8 8h8.6 7007

Notes 411

Fallawing an amendment to the
WiNs Trust Deed, the WINsS were
reciassified 1o nor-current interast
bearing fabnlity from shareholder
equity. Accordingly, the issue
vosts of $17.0 millian have esn
recarded as an adjustment (o

retained earnings.

12



Comsalidated

As it

2016 2005
21 EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings per share {cents per share) 30.89 79189
Diluied sarnings per share {canis per shara) 90.33 78.84
Basic earnings per share
The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earmings per share are as follows:

St LS
Farnings (a) 1,014.6 8162
Mo, (i) Mo, il

Weighted average number™ of ordinary shares (o) 1,116.3 103086

Diluted sarmnings per share
The earnings and waighted average number of ordinary shares and potantial ordinary shares used in tha caloulation of diluted
eamings per share are as follows:

St LS

Farnings (a) 1,014.6 816.2
Mo, (i) Mo, il

Waighted averags number™ of shares and potential ordinary sharas (o} 1,1231 1,033.5

(z) Farnings usad in the caloulations of basic and diluted sarnings per share reconciles 1o naet profii in the income stalement
gz follows:

St LS
Operating net profit attribuiable (o the mambers of Woolworths Limited 1.014.6 816.2
Earnings used in the calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share 1,014.6 816.2

() Options are considered 10 be potential ordinary sharas and zre therefore excluded from the weighted averages number™ of
ordingry shares used in the calculation of basic sarnings par share. Wheare dilutive, potential ordinary shares gre included in the
caleulation of diluted sarnings per share.

(!} Weaighted average number of ordingry shares and potential ordirary shares used in the caloulation of diluied earnings per share
reconciles o the weighled averzge number of ordinary sharas used in the calculation of basic sarmings par shara as follows:

Mo, (i) Mo, il
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculztion of
basic earnings per share, 1.116.3 103086
Shares deemed 0 be issuad for no consideration in respect of oulstanding
araployes opticns 8.8 3.3
1,123.1 10339

Since 28 June 2006, 2 759,053 shares (2005 £02,000) have been issued {as a resuli of the exercise of oplions). No opticns
(2005 nifl have baen fssusd,
Note 1)

Weighted average number of the Employee Share Pian held by

shares has been adjusted to remove  the costodian comparny, which is
the potential ordinary shares under  consolidated under AIFRS.
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22 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The details and estimated maximurn amounts of contingant liabiities which may becomea payabie are shown below,
Ne provigion has been made in the Financial Statements in respect of these contingencies, however thare is a provision of

$326.8 million for se
that has been recognisad in the balence sheat at balance date.

Comnsalidated

“iasurad rizks {2005 $309.7 million), which includes liabitities relating 1o workers compensation claims,

Wealworths Limiled

Asat Asaf
2 2005 2006 2505
Eni & S S
Guarantees
Bark guarantees’™ 52.8 234 8.7 3
Workers compenzation self-insurance guarantess™ 3624 3045 362.4 3045
Litigation
Litigatior: in prograss or threatened against the Company
and certain of itz controlied entities 13.6 171 13.8 173
Other
Outstanding letters of creditissued to suppliers 381 411 206 245
Guarantees arising from the desd of cross guarantes with
othar entities in tha wholly-ownad group™ - e 320.6 2625
466.9 386.1 7253 6177

MNotes 1£}]
This item mainly comprises
guarantess relating to conditions
set out in development applications
for sale of properties in the narmal
course of business,

14

(2}

State WorkCover authoritiss require
guarartees against workers
compensation salfinsurance
habilities, The guarantee is based
an irdependent actuarial advice

af the cutstanding liability.
Guarantees held at each balance
date do not fully represent the
liability at these dates due 1o delays
inissuing the guarantees.

(3}

As disclosed in Note 28 the
Campary has entered into a deed
of cross guaramee with certain
wholly-owned controlled entities,
The amount disclosed as a
contingent liability represents tatal
ligkiiitizs of the graup of companies
party 1o that class order excluding
imtercompany loans. The extent to
which an outflow of funds will be
required is dependent on the future
cperations of the entities that are
party o the deed of cross
guaranies heing more or less
favourable than currently expected.
The deed of cross guarantas will
continue to operate for the
foreseeable future.



Comnselidated Waedsarths Limided

Asat As ot
2004 2005 2066 2%
Em S EAl £
23 COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE
Capital expenditure commitments
Estimatad capital expendiiure under firm
contracts, not provided for in these Fingncial
Stelemants, payable:
Mot lziar than one year 265.0 B18.C 170.8 3323
Later thar ona year, not later than two years 26 6.5 0.3 76.5
2676 6945 184.1 4088
Operating lease commitrments
Futura minimum rentals under non-canceilable
operating leases aot provided for in these
Financiel Siatements, payabla:
Mot lziar than one year 1,057.9 8835 753.2 685.2
Later than ong year, not iater than five yearg 3.756.3 29712 2,102.2 23816
Later than five years 1.652.3 6,505.2 5,191.1 45498
12,366.5 10,3599 8,648.5 75966
Total commitments for expenditure 12,634 .1 11,054 .4 8,826.6 B.CC5 4

The commitmeants set out above do not include contingent turnover rentals, which are charged on many of the retail premises
leased by the Company and its controded entities. These rentals are calculated zs 8 percentage of the turnover of the store
occupying the premises, with the percentage and turnover threshold at which the additional rentals commeance varying with
aach lgase sgresmeant,

Trie consclideted antity and the Company fezse retall premises and wareshousing facilities for periods of up to 40 years.

Undar most leases, the consolidated entity and the Company ara responsible for proparty taxes, insurance, mainienznce and
axpensas relaind o the leased properties. However, rmany of the more recant lease egreements have been negoliztad on a

with the propertiss.
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Asat Asaf
2 2005 2006 2505
S &m St St
24 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
The aggregate emploves benafit liability recognized and included
irt the Financial Statements is as ollows:
Frovision for employae benafits
Current (Note 16) 511.3 4342 4081 371E
Non-current {Nots 16 50.5 &4.4 42.8 38.4
Accrued liability for defined benafit obligations lincluded in
other nor-currard lizbilities) 38.0 320 380 320
Accrued salaries and wages lincluded in lrede and
othar payabias) 191.6 1779 164.8 E28
791.4 6885 654.7 a805.0

Defined benefit superannuation plans

The following disclosuras in relaton 1o defined banefit suparannuation plans comprise two sections:

(&} dzbility for defined banalil obligation - sets out the accounting Tor the plan as recognised in the financial statements of the
consolidatad antity and the Company in accordance with AASE 118 Employes Benaefits; and

(bifunding of vasted benefits -~ sats out the consolidated entity's approach to funding the acorued vestad banafits payable undar
the plan. This approach is in accordance with epplicable superannuation igws’ guidelines and usas diffarent assumplions (o
the measuremeant of baenefits in section {a).

18



{a) Liability for defined benefit obligation

As ol

25 fune 2336 26 fune 2005
St LS
Cafined banafit obligation™® {1,282) 1,075
FFair vaiue of assels 1,244 1,043
Lizbidty for defined benefil obligations {38) {32%
Fxparience adjustments - liabilities 102 52
Expariance adjustments - assais {71) 41

The conscidatad antity and the Company have used the AASE 1.20A examption end disclosad amounts under AASE 1.20A1p)

above for sach annuzl reporting period prospectivety from the transition date.
The consolidated entity and Company make contributions to & defined banefit glan, Woolworthe Group Superannuation Plan
(WWESP) that provides superannuation benafits for employeeas upon retirement.

The Company sponsors the plan which consists of an accumulation benefit funded by a defined contribution section of
rrermizarship as well as a defined banefits section. The plar also pays aifocziad pansions 1o a small number of pensioners.

The membars and assets of the Woolworths Group Suparannuation Scheme {WGSS) were transTaerrad to the AMP Signature
Super Master Trust under succassor Tund conditions on 8 June 2008, The naw fund will provide the seme superennuation
benefits for employess on retiremeant a5 the plan had up to 5 June 2008,

All disclosuras in this Note are for the consolidatad antity and the Company.

Movements in the net liability for defined benefit obligations recognised in the balance sheet

Asal

25 fune 2336 26 fune 2005

St LS

Opaning net liability Tor defined obligations (32) (31
Contrinutions by empioyer 96 2y
Expansa recoghised in the income staterment {87) (73
Actuarizl losses racognisad directly in equity (Nole 20) {15} {10
Closing net liability for defined benefit obligations {38) 323

Actuarial losses recognised in the statement of recognized income and expenss during the yvear were $315 million
(2G05: 810 million), with cumulative sciuarial lossas of 325 millfon.

Note 1
Ingludes contribution tax hability.



NOTESTO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Asal
25 fune 2008 26 fune 20305
St St
24 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (CONTINUED)
Changes in the present value of the defined banalit chligation are as Tollows:
Opening defined benafit obligation 1,675 926
Current service cost 106 G99
Intersst cost 70 46
Aciuarial losses 86 51
Eraployea contributions 78 80
Benefits paid {125) 1273
Closing defined benefit obligation 1,282 1,075
Chenges in the fair value of fund asseis are as follows:
Opeaning fair value of fund asseis 1,043 a5
Expeciad reiurm'™ 83 72
Actgarial gains™ 71 4%
Coniributions by empioyar 98 82
Eraployea contributions 78 80
Benefits paid {125) 1273
Closing fair value of fund assets 1,244 1,043
Note {1}
The actual return on plan
assets was $154 million
(2005: $113 million).
The Tair value of assets includes no ameounts relating 1o any of the Company’s own financial instruments nor any property
occupiad by, or cihar assets used by, the Company.
The rmajor categories of fund assets as a percentage of olal fund assets are as foliows:
Ovarsess equities 27% 26%
Ausgtratian equities 27% 33%
Fixed interast securities 21% 2%
Proparty 13% 0%
Altarnatives 9% A%
Cash 3% 6%
Expenze recognised in the income statament
St St
Current service costs 106 G99
Interest cost 76 46
Expeciad raturn on fund assets {83 723
87 73

They expanse is recogrised in the talances disclosed in Note 2(d).

8B



The defined benefit obligations have been determined by the plan actuary, My John Burneti, FIAA, Waison Wyatt, using the
projectad unit cost mathod, The following are the principal actuarial assumptions used.

Al
25 fune 2336 26 fune 20605
Uiscourd rata gross of tax) 5.79% 5.11%
Dizscount rate nat of tax} 4.90% 4.30%
Exgected retum on fund assats 71.20% 7.90%
Future salary increases 4.00% 3.00%
The sxpaciad relurns on assels assumplion is determined by weighting the expected fong-term return for sach asset class by

tha target allocation of assets 10 ezch class. The raturns used for sach zssei class are net of investment tax and investmaent feas,

Coniributions for parmanent salaried empioveas of the Comparny and its conircliad entities are made to certain Company
sponzered supsrennuation funds including the plan. These supsrannuation fusds provide lump sum acourmulation benefits 1o
rermniars on relirernant or death. The Company and ceriain of its controlled entities are legally obliged to contribute fo the
Company-sponsored plan at fixed rates as set cutin the Trust Deed and Rules and the Participation Deed between the Company
and AMP Superznnuation Limited, Members contribule 1o the plan at fixed rates depandeant upon their membarship category.

The expacied Company and amployee contributions to the WGSP for the 2007 financial vear arg $35.0 mildon and $42.0 million
respactivaly.

The Company is alsc obliged to coriribute at fixed rates 1o defined contribution retirermant plans for certain empiovass under
indusirial agraemants, fund choloe legislation and the Supearannuation Guaranies Legislation. The Company and its controliad
antitivs contribuie 1o various industry-based suparannuation funds and o the pian for non-saladed employeas.

{b} Funding of vestad benefits
The Company funds the benefits payabls from the plan using a method which provides funding up to mambers’ vestad banafits,
Vested beneflits are those benefils that would be currently payable 1o memiers on retirermnent or resignation from the Company

ar its controlled entities that do not depend on any cthar faciorn

Thig Tunding method is parmitled by the Plan Participation Deed, Plan Rules and superznnuation law and defers the cost of
funding members’ banelits up until the tims the Company financed benefits bagome vasted in the members, Annual actaarial
reviews are performad to monitor the scheme's funding position.

WWESS vasted benefits based on the fast actuarial review, and asseis ai nel market vaius based on the last annual fnancial report
dated 31 August 20085, are set cut below.

2005 203 2003
fim Fi Fm
WESS asseis at net market value 1,0798 #99.0 7680
Mambears vested senafits reserve 1,0768.6% BO3.5W JH2 G
Excess of WESS assats over members vaested banefit resarves 3.2 5 & 6.1
Notes 1) {2} 4)
Members vested berefits reserves Actual members vested bensefits Actual members vesied henefits
are the sum of members vested resarves as at 31 August 2005, reserves as at 31 August 2003,

henefits plus the Additional Death

Benefit Reserve. {3)

Actual members vested benefits
reserves as at 31 August 2004,
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Valuation of vested and accrued benefits for funding purposes

Full actuarial valuations of WGSS are made at intervals of no more than three years. The lzst actuarizl valuation was as at

31 August 2005, A report dated 31 May 2006 by aciuary Johin Burneti, FIAA, concluded that the availzble net assets of WGSS
were sufficient o mest all benafits payabla in the event of WGESP winding up, or the voluntary or compulsory terrmination of the
amgioyrent of each maembar within the Company and its controlled entities.

Member accruad benefits, based on the fast actuarial report, and the fast annual financial report of WGESS dated 31 August
2008, were $1,108.2 milliion, Accrsed bhenefils are the actuarial value of the benafits that the WGESE is expected 10 pay al some
future date and reprasent the surm of the members” accruad enefits plus the Additionzl Death Benafit Resarve,

If the accried benafils funding method was vsed for the scheme for the year ended 31 August 2005, & comparisen of
Woolworths Super's asseis to mambers dccrued penefifs reserves would show a deficit estimated to be $28.2 million
{at 31 August 2004 $30.2 million). There is no obligation on the part of Woolworths Limited to fund this deficit.
Share-based paymaents

Executive Option Plan {Long-Term tncentive Plan}
Long-tarm incentives have been in place since 1993 and have bean provided through varicus exacutive oplion plans. Since

1989, fong-erm incentives have been provided through the Executive Option Plan which was designed 10 reward executivas for
shara price and sarmings growth. The Exacutive Option Plan has the following featuras:

the exercise price is sat at the weighted average market price of a Weoolworths Limited ordinary share on the five trading days
prior to the date approved by the Board as the effective date of options for the purpose of determining the exercise pericd
and pearforrmance hurdles {offar data);

an exarcise pariod that commences after five yvears, subject to performance hurdles being met and with 8 maximum exercise
period of five and & hatfl years (10 years for oplions issued prics (o 2002);

dpon exercise, cach option entites the option holder to one ordinary Tully paid Woolworths Limited share (thera s no
seltlement in cashi;

vasting is subject 1o two performance hurdles based on cumulative Earnings Per Share {EPS) growth and ralative Total
Sharehoider Retwrn {T3R) maessured over the performance perod in addilion 10 a service condition, £P5 and T3H offer 4
palance between internal and external performance indicators and are aligned to shareholder expariancas;

the performance measures, EPS growth and relative TSR sach reprasant 50% of the options granted:;

EPS is the non-dilutive £EPS which is measured as tha net profit of the consolidated entity after outside aquity interasis
divided by the weighted avarage number of shares on izsue (including ordinary shares and dividend reinvaestment aliotrments)
ovar tha performance period;

opiicns subject to the EPS parformance hurdle vest in four tranches, dependent on atizining average annual growth of aither
10% or 1%% as follows:

Trimche Percentage of Options in fotal grand that iy be evercised Performimee furdle (o be achivwd for esfing
Tranche 1 12.5% & year 10% EPS
Tranche 2 12.5% 4 year 11% EPS
Tranche 3 12.5% 5 year 10% EPS
Tranche 4 12.5% Byear 11% EPS
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- the fifth tranche (50% of options} is linked o relative TSR and measures the growth in the Comgary’s share price plus
dividends noticnally reinvestad in the Company's shares comparative 10 a peer group, measured over five years from the offer
date but averaged for three months to elimingte volatility, This reflects the increass in value defivered 1o sharsholdars over the

performance period;
- TSH performance s measured againgt comparator comganiaes comprised of the SEPASX10C industrials Index, excluding
companies in the ASX Banks and Finance Accumulation index, ASX AN Bescurces and ASX Trusts and any companias in the

comparaior group ihat have merged, had a share raconstruction or Dean defisted as at the measurement date;
- the percentags of the total number of options granted thet vest is dependant on Woolworths Limited's ranking relative o the
pariormance of the above comparator companies, The following table seis out the TSR vasting schedule:

Waolinerihs TSR vgroads ar excewds the folloneing percentile of the peer group

Parcentage of opticis in fotad grant that vest and mey be exercised

60tk percentile 12.5%
B850 percentils 25.0%
70th parcentile 375%
78th parcentile 50.0%

The following 1eble summarisaes movamants for the Bnancial year ended 25 June 20086 for cutstanding oplions:

No, of aptions Nu. of opticins No. of aptivins Nu,af options

N of options wranted ererciied Taprsest Mo, of options exercizable

Qffer Lhate Expsiry Dhate Exercise Price 27 June 2005 disring year diring year during year 25 fune 2004 25 furne 2048

071999 H07/2009 $5.11 951,875 {551,375) 400,500 400,500

HO7IZ2000 072010 $8.17 2,252,425 (194270 0 - 308,375 309,375

Y0700 HO7201 $10.89 8,107,982 (730,428} 9413 5,299,843 521,627

HO7I2002 322007 $12.84 5,388,000 {776,000y 4612000
HOTIZ2003 3N2/2008 $:280 6,569,350 653,000y 5,910,350
HOTIZ2004 31/12/2009 $11.84 782,750 (653,250) 7,089,500
HO7IZ2005 31272010 £186.48 6,906,300 (190,800 6,715,400

29,020,082 6,906,300 (3,204,551) (2,374.863) 30,346,868 1,231,502

The weightad average shase prica during the financial vear was $37.34,

The following 1eble summarisas movamants for the Bnancial year ended 28 June 2005 for outstanding cptions:

N, of aptions Nu. of aptios o, of aptions

No. of options wranted erercized lapsesd Mo, of aptions

Qffer Lhate Expsiry Dhate Exercise Price 2§ fume 2004 digrfing year digrfin year during year 27 fune 2005
071998 H07/2009 $531 20,784,375 {19,318,043) (524,457) 951,875 951,875
HO7I2000 072010 $6.17 2,588,250 328,125) (8,000) 2282125 22527325
Y0700 HO7201 $10.89  8739,000 {36C,686) (270,332) 6,107,982 447 898
HO7I2002 322007 $12.84  BrB200C : {(776,000) 5388000

HOTIZ003 3N2/2008 $1280 7331350 (762,000} 6,589,350

HO7I2004 311272009 $11.84 7752750 1752750
43,612,975 7,752,750 {20,008,854) {2,338,789) 29,620,082 3,651,898
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24 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (CONTINUED)
The weighted average shara price during the financial vear was $14 38

The Tair value of the services received in return for share options granted are measured by refarence to the fair vaiue of the share
oplions granted. The fair value of the services is recognised as an expanse on 2 straight-ling basis over the vesting pariod and is
detarminad by mulliplying the Tair value par option by the number of cplicns expected to vest. During the financial yaar endad
2% une 2008, an expense of $10.47 million {2005 $7.5 millfon) was racognised in the income siatament in relation to options
issuad under the Exacutive Opticn Plan,

The estimate of the fair value per option is measured basad on the Monte Cario simuiation opticn pricing modsl performed
by an indepandent vaiuar. The fair value is measured at the grant date which for the purposes of maasurement is the date of
unconditionzl offer by the Company and scceplance by the amployes. This date differs to the offer date above, adjusiad for

The contraciuat exercise period of the opticns set out above is used ag an input into the modal, Othar inputs are:

Wieripfited anerige
Share price Exercise Expected [hizsidend Risk free Sair valu
i

Offer Dhate af gramt date price Vidat ility™ el interes{ rite aptions grinted™
HOHZ003 $11.18 $12.84 18% 4.0% 535% %116
HOTF2004 $15.32 $12.80 17% 3.7% 5.50% $3.88
HOHZ005 $17.05 511.54 16% 3.4% 5.40% $2.22
Notes {1 {2}

The expected volatility is based I accordance with AIFRS transition

on the historical implied volatility Tiies, an expense has only been

caloulated hased on the weighted recognised far the fair value of

gverage femaining life of the share apticns grarted on or aiter
options adjusted for any expected 7 November 2002
changes to future volatility due to

pubplicly availatle information,

The probability of achieving merket parformance conditions (TSR] is incorporated inte the determination of the fair value per
oplion. No edjustment is made o the sxgense for ocplions that fail o meeat the markat condition. Non-rmarket performance
conditions {EPS and service condition) @ra not taken into account in tha grant date fair value meaasurement. Instead the number
of cpiicns expectad to vest are adiustad over the vesting pericd in determining tha expenss o be recognrised in the income
sigtamant,

122



Employee Share Plan {Share Plan}

The Share Plan was established to enzble all empioyeas (other than executive officers) the opportunity to participate in the
acquisition of shares in tha Company gt market price with an interest-fras loan from the Company to fingnce the acquisition.

Loans ara limited in recourse to the proceeads of sale of shares acguired. Dividends and other distributicns on the shares are
applied to repay the loan. The loan may be repaid 2t any Ume aflter thres years and in any event rmust be setiled when the
amployes ceases employment or at the end of 10 years from grant or when a lakeover offer is accepted for the shares,
whichaver is the earliest, Upon sattiemaeant, if the employves elects not 10 repay the loan, the shares will be sold and the Tunds
received alier payment of costs and expenses will be applied to repay tha lcan, All shares acquired under the Share Plan are
held by & whoiy-owned subsidiary of the Company (Woolworths Custodian Pty Limited) as Trustes of the Share Plan, Al any
time after three years from the date of acquisition a participant may reguest the Trustes to transfer the shares, but only if the
lcan mada to zoquire those shares is repaid in full Shares may be fransfarred azriier al the discration of the Cirgctors on the
agrmployess death or ratirament but anly if the foan made (o acguire the shares is repaid in full. The Trustes may exarcise the
voling rights aftached (o the sharaes in the mannar directed by the Directors uniid thay are transferred 1o the participant.

Ag al 25 June 2008, thers were 20,848 (2005: 22,092) participating employess who heid a 1otal of 10,027.062
(2005: 11,811,274 shares, The total amount receivable by the Company in relation (o these shares was 571,461,253
as at 25 June 2006 {2005 $74,.414,734). Curing the 52 week period ended 25 June 2006, no shares ware issuad.

Cue to the non-ecourse nature of the loan, the loan is considered o be an option Tor accounting purposes as the employes s
axposed 1o sguity appreciation of the Company shares over the loan pericd with the option whether to repay the lozn. The
vesting pariod is three yaears from the offer date conditional on the employee remaining employed over this pericd. Any shares
forfeitad are sold on-market and the procesds of this sale are contributed 1o the Woolworths Group Superannuation Plan.

The number and weightad avarage axercisa prices (being the loan vaiue) of these options iz as follows.

Welehied auerage Na.of Wieiphited aoerig

exeroise pice apfion: ererCisy prive antiowns

006 2006 20515 245

Batance at tha beginning of the period $7.51 11,811,971 $7.684 14,261,125
Forfeited during the pericd $8.67 {723,077 %8.55 (3,241,837
Exercizged during the period $6.08 {1,061,132) 5412 11,207,517
Balance at the end of the period $7.13 10,027,062 781 11,811,971
Exercisabie &t the end of the pericd $7.13 10,027,062 $6.43 89,626,010

The weightad average shase price during the pericd was $17.34 (2008; $14.38),

Employee Share Issue Plan (ESIP)
The ESIP allowed for the issue of sharas 1o eligible employeas for no monetary consideration. Tha ESIP complias with the
various conditions specified by Government laxation legislation which enabled permanent employses 1o cbigin a banefit of

up to the $1,600 per emgioyas per annurn by way of 4 tax-free concession on discounis under amployes incentive schamas.
During the 52 weak percd endad 25 June 2008 no sharas (2005 Snill were fssued 1o qualifying employees.

Executive Management Share Plan (EMSP)
remunaraion o acquire shares in the Company on-market at prevaiing market prices on the ASX. During the 52 weaek pariod

ended 25 June 2006, 10,412 (2005 13,224) shares ware purchased under the EMSP No additional expense is recognised in
refation to these shares as they arg acguired out of selary sacrificed remunaration.,
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25 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

Directors and executives

Al kay management personnehwers employed by Woolworths Limited during the year. The Tollowing is a list of the key
managemant parsonnel of Wocohworths Limitad and their positions at the date of this raport.

Current position title

Executive Directors
Roges Campiell Corbet:
Michaeal Luscornbet™
Non-executive Directors
Jarmas Alexander Strong

Eitlier

Lecn Michae

Adrienna Blizabeth Clarke
Foderick Shaldon Deane
Uizne Jenaifer Grady
John Fraderick Astbury

Executives

Steve Bradley
Marty Hamnet
MNausn Gnikul
Tom Pockats

Group Managing Director and Chiel Executive Officer
Chief Oparating Officer

Paople Policy Committas

Mor-executive Diractor, mermbar of the Audit Commities and Chair of the Wociworths
Group Supgrannuation Schames

MNon-executive Director and member of the People Policy Committee
Non-executive Diractor and member of the People Policy Commitias'™
Non-executiva Dirgotor and member of the Audit Commitias'™
Mos-executive Diractor and Chair of the Audit Commitiae

Chief Logistics and Information Officer

Manazging Director - Progressive Eqterprizses Limited
Cirector of Suparmarkets

Chiaf Financial Officer

Notes

1)

Mr Luscombe was appointed Chisf
Cperating Dfficer on 1 Jure 2006
and it has bears announced that
Mr Luscombe will become CED an
1 Sotober 2006, Prior to 1 June
2008, he was Directar of
Suparmarkets.

{2}

Or Deane assumed tha Chair of the
People Folicy Committes in August
2008, following the retiremeant of
Ms Grady from the Committes as
Chair in August 2008,

(3) {4)

Mr Hamnett was appainted Wr Onikud was appointed Divector
Managing Director - Progressive of Supermarkets on T July 2008,
Ermerprizses Lirmited an 28 April
2008. Pricr to this appointment was the Director of Liguor and
Mr Hamnett was Director of Petrol.

Busingss Development. {5)

an 1 June 2008 Mr Pockett was
appointed Finance Directar which

will take effect in Mavember 2006,

Mr Brockes was part of the key managaement parscnnel in 2008 and was appointed Cirector of Marketing on 1 Zuly 2008,
My Brockes rasigned from the Company on 12 Aprit 2006,

Totat ramuneration for key management personned for the Group and the Company during the financial year ara set out balow.

Remuneration by category

Camsadiclaled

Friaf to this appaintrment 3Mr Onikul

2006 20515

5 5

Short-lerm emgioyes benafils 13,413,472 12,885387
Post-ampltoyment benefils 4,081,291 957723
Other long-term benelits 2,522,390 3,204,444
Shara-based paymants 1,679,768 504,346
21,096,919 18,051,670

124



sz result of the sdoption of AFRS, the basis for measuring the following elemanis of remunesation in tha comparative pericd
have changad:

sarvice cost for aach empioyees;

arnounts for accrued annuzl leave have been included in shorttarm employee benefits; and

arnounts for accrued fong service leave have teen included in other long-term benafits.
Comparative balances have bean amendad 1o reflect this change.
Equity instrument disclosures relating to key managemaent personnel
Details of equity instruments provided as compensation to key management perscnnel and shares issued on exercise, logether
with tarms and conditions of tha options, are disclosed in tabies in section 3.2 of the Remuneration feport on pages 46 (o 50
Share holdings
Tha numper of Tully paid ordinary shares in the Company hald during the 52 weeks ended 25 June 2008 by sach Direclor and
other key managameant parscrnal of the Group, including thair related parties, is set cut below,

Opeanine badance

Ofer changes™

Clasing talawce

2i0a No. MNe, Mz,
Directors
J 1 Astbury 8,386 20851 42 10,476
A Clarke 38,766 2 081 682 41,495
1 C Corpett 293 165 293,165
M S Deana 40,000 40,000
O J Grady 33,800 869 34,670
L M L'Huillier 119,044 53,044) 60,000
J A Strong 68137 1,879 70,016
Notes {1 {2}

Comprises shares issued under the  Comprises new shares issued as a

Man-execwtive Directars” Share result of the Dividend Reinvestrment

Fan (NEDOSP). Flan an the same basis as

transactions by other shareholders
and an-market transastions.
Recweioed on
Opening bilance exereise of upfiens™ Other changes Clnsing Galance

2i0a No. N, MNe, Mz,
Other key management personnel
S Bradiay 61,863 262,500 54,926 269 437
M Hameett 5,000 5.000
M Luscombe 656,526 78,CCC (323,636) 408,280
N Osikul 500 000 1302,009) 197,591
Notes (1}

The amount paid per share
expreised was $6.17 and na
amounts remain unpaid, Mo other
cptions ware exercised by key
managemant personnel.

Mr Pockeit hald no shares at the beginning of, or during the Tinancial vear.

125



NOTESTO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

(CONTINUED)
Shaves fzsed Nt

2005 Opening Galenoe under NEDSPH other changes™ Closiuyg talies

Ne, M, My, Ne,
Directors
J ¥ Astbury 7,835 551 £,386
AE Clarks 35,669 2,474 683 38,766
I} C Corielt 3,341,165 (3,048,000) 293,185
M S Deane 40,000 : 4C,000
G 2 Grady 33,031 70 33,801
L b4 U'Huiilier 118,044 138,044
J A Strong 65,825 2,212 88,137

MNotes 1£1] (2}
Comprises shares issued under the
Mon-executive Directars” Share
Pian (MEDSP).

Comprises new shares issued as a
result of the Dividend Reinvestment
Plan an the same hasis as

transactions by other sharehalders
and or-market transastions,

Reveioed on

2 Opening Galance exercise of options Qther chriges Clnsiig halonce
N, M, My, N
Other key management personnel
S Bradiey 58,002 437500 (434,639 61,863
B Brookes 234,936 750,000 {469,570 515,366
T Food™® 26,430 350,000 {348,220} 24,210
M Hamnatt 5,000 300,000 {300,600 5,000
M Luscoribe 167,230 537,500 (67,804} 656,926
N Orikul 131,885 750,000 (381,685} BOC,000

Note {1}
Mr Fload retired 31 August 2006

Gption holdings

The numbers of options over ordinary shares in the Company held during the 52 waeks ended 25 June 2008 by each Direclor
and other key manzgarmant parsonnal of the Group, including thair related parties, are set cut below.

Chstions

Balince

Opening Grantud s Ot vesfed s at Vestund but Viested i Options

20306 Baliice Rentuneralion Exercised  Closing Bolonee 25 Junr 206 net exercisable exercisable durir
No. No. M, Mo, MNo, M MNe,

S Bradley 672 500 B(G,000 262,500) 440,000 175,000
M Harmnet: 460,000 40,000 500,000 100,000 100,000 50000
M Luscornbe 485,000 80,000 (75,000 480,000 BC,000
N Onifeul 180,000 80,000 240,600
T Pockett 500,000 80,000 580,000

Mo cthar key managerment parsonnal hold oplions,

Al shara options issusd o the key manzgersent personnel during the financial yezr wera made in accordances with the
provisions of the Executive Option Plan. The exacutives in the table above were graniad oplions on

valus of the options granted was $18.48 per opion. Further details of the

and the options granted during the financial year are contained in Notae 24 1o the Financial Statamants.
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Crptinns Bl

Operring Crranledd a3 Options pested as at Vestud I

2005 Balinee Remuneration Exercised  (losing Balucs 20 fune 235 ot exercisable

A, M, My, N M N
5 Bradiey 960,000 160,000 (437,500} 672,500 87,500 "7,500 225,000
M Hamnett §10,000 150,000 {300,000} 460,600 50,000 37,500 12,500 250,000
M Luscormbe 872,500 150,000 (537,500} 485,000 25,000 25,000 380,000
N Onikul 810,000 100,000 {750,000 160,000 500,000
T Pockeatt 350,000 150,600 500,000

Loans to key management personnel
Thare were no loans o Directors of the Company or key managaement sersonnal.

26 RELATED PARTIES

Parent entity

Thg wltimate parent entity is Woolworths Limited, a company incorporated in Mew South Wales. The wholly-owned Group
consists of Woolworths Limited and its wholly-owned controlled entities.

Subsidiaties

Disclosures relating 1o interests in subsidizries are set outl in Nole 29

Transactions within the Group

Curing the financig! perod and previous financial pericds, Woolworths Limited advanced and repaid loans to and received 1oans
from, and provided treasury, accounting, legal, taxation and administrative services to, other entities within the Groug.

Ertitias within the Group also exchanged goods and services in sale and purchase transactions, Al transactions occurred on the
basis of normat commercial tarms and conditions,

The details of revenue, interest and dividends transactad within the Group and with cthar partiy-owned controlled entities are
presented beiow:

Comsolidated Weolworths Limited
Asat As it
itlst 20005 21 215
& & 3 g
Mevanue - 2777888
Cividend incoma - 3,818,768 2,450,000
Iniarast income - ABIZY 128,544,086 25,107,644

The balancas of loans to or from controliad antitios is shown in Note 8 z2nd Note 32

Directors and key managemaent personnel
Discloguras relaling 1o Directors and key managemant parsonnal arg set oul in Note 25 and in the Remunaration Report, sat out
ir Saction 3 and Saction 4 lexcept for sub-section 4.6) of tha Directors” Aeport.
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27 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
{a) Financial risk management objectives

The consolidated entity’s corporate treasury function provides services 1o the busingss, coordinates accass o domastic and
international financial markets, and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the consolidated entity.

Tha conacidated entity does nol enler into or rade fingncial instruments, including derivaiive financial instruments, for
spacuiative purposas. The use of Hnancial instruments is governed oy the consolidated satity's poficies approved by the Board
of Diractors, which provide written principles on the use of financial derivatives. Compliance with policies and exposure Hmits is
reviewed by the intarngl zuditors on a continsous basis.

Tha conscidated antily's activilies axpose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and
irterast rates. The consolidated antity entars inte a variely of derivative financial instruments 1o manage its exposurs 10 intarest
rata a&nd foreign currency risk, including:

forward foreign exchange contracts o hedge the exchange risk arising on:

the import of goods for reszle and cagital expenditure;

the balances betwaen Austizlian and New Zealand group entities;
CrOSS-CUIMTENcY swaps 1o manage the foreign currancy risk associated with Toreign currency borrowings; and
interast rate swaps 1o mitigate the risk of rising interest rates.

{b} Significant accounting policies
Datails of significant accounting policies and meathods adoptad, including the criteria for recognition, 1the Bazis of maasurament
and the basis on which income and expanses are recogrised, in respect of each class of financial asset and financial liabitity are
disclosed in Note 1 to the Financial Statemants,

{fc) Foreign currency risk management

The conscldated entity has exposura 0 movements in foreign currency exchange rates through term borrowings and
anticipated purchases of inveniory and aguipment, which are denominated in foreign currencies. In order to hadge against the
rrajority of this exposure, the consolidated entity enters into forward exchange contracts and cross-currancy swap agreaments.
The term borrowings are fully hedged,

Forward exchange contracts and foreign currency options
It is the policy of the consclidated antity 1o enler into forward foreign exchangs contra
and recaipis of up to 100% of the exposure generated,

s to cover Torgign currency payments
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Al pariod end, the details of outstanding forward contracts and foraign currancy options and collars, stated in Austraian doilar

aquivalants ara:

Averagy exchange rife

Oudstimding com ricts

g 2005

Foreign currency
2006 2005
Fm F(C'm

Canfract value
24 25
S &m

Mevement in fuir value
i HHIE
k2 Sm

2005
i

Totid fadr value
20435
Fm

Hedging imports
Forward contracts
Maturing:

Within 12 months
Buy United States
dollars

Buy surcs

Buy Graat Britain
pounds

Foreign currency
options

Collars

Matusing:

Within six months
United States
dollars

Hedging

balance sheet
Forward contracts
Buy New Zeaiand
dollars

075 0.77
0.60 0.63

- .4

- 075078

1.21 -

67.7 g1.0
99 16.1

276.3 -

90.7 79.4
16.6 257

228.0

1.9 0.1
0.6 c.2)

0.3

92.6
7.1

2293

73.5
255

6.9

6.0

As gl reporting date, the aggregate amount of unrealised gains under forward foreign exchangs contracis relating to anticipaied
future ransactions is $2.8 million (2005 $6.4 million lozses). in the currant year, these unrealised gains have baen recognised
through the income statersent,

Tha net investment in New Zealand is not hedged for currency Auctuation as the value of the investment is not currantly

expected (o be rezlized through dizposal.
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27 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

{c) Foreign currency risk management {continusd}

Cross-currency swap agreements

To hedge the dsk of adverse movemenis in foreign exchange raies in relztion o US dollar denocminated Senior Notes issued

by the consclidaled anlity, it enters inlo crogs-currancy swap agreermants under which it agraes 1o exchange specified principal
and interast foreign currancy amounts at an agresd Tuture date ai a specilied exchangea rate,

The following 1able details the cross-currency swaps cutstanding &t reporting date.

Average fnteresf raly Average exchange rile Cantroct vafuy Fuir Viadue
Outstanding confracts 204 2005 206 2005 20336 2005 2006 203005
i1 s S Sm S k2

Buy United States Doltars
haturing:

Floating rates

One to two years™ 0745

871 2.7%

Two to three years™ - BRSW +41.5bp 0.745 67 0.8}

Five yoars plug® BESW +84bp BRSW +80bp 0,753 0.787 16271 6353 (874 249
168942 Jo24 184.7) 23.3

Maturing:

Fixed

One to two years™ 7.30% 0.745 £71

Two to thrae yearg® : 710% 0745 671 2.0

Fiva years plugt

671 671 13 2.0

Notes 2 {3} (5

) These swap instruments include an These swap contracts have cash These fair value calculations

These swap sontracts have fair interast rate sWap component flow hedge designation. include interest accruals aof

® .p : X which has been disclosed in the $0.3 million.
value hedge designation. (4}

interest rate swap contract section These fair value salculations

below and have therefore been . ” =

dasipnatod as cash flow hadges nclude imierest accruals of
® ges. $15.8 million.

{cd} Interest rate risk management
The consclidated entity is exposed 1o interest rate risk s it borrows funds 5t both fixed and floating interest rates. The risk is
rranaged by mainiaining an appropriaia mix between fixed and foating rate borrowings, by the use of interest rate swap contracts.

Interest rate swap contracts

Under interest rete swap contracts, the consolidated sntity agrees 1o exchange the difference between fixed and floating rate
irtarast armounts calculated on agraed nolional princigal armounts. Such contracts enable the consolidated entity (o mitigste
the risk of changing interest rates on debi held, The fair value of interest rale swaps ars based on markel values of equivalent
instrumenis at the reporling date end ars disclosed below. The average interest rate is basad on the outstanding balances at
tha end of the fingncizl year




The following table details the notionzl principal amounts and remaining terms of interast rate swap contracts cuistanding as at

reporting date:

Quistanding floating for

Average conbracted flced Interes{ rate

Notionad principel mmount

Lirdr vadue

fxed contracts 2006 2605 2006 2005 2006 205
% ' Sin i i kA

Forward contracts
Less than one year 827% 5.81% 240.0 1000 (0.4} (0.2
One o two years 5.59% 6.28% 385G 400 2.8 (3.4
Two o thrae yaars 5.83% 5.70% 30 23180 23 1.2
Theee to four years B 55% 5.97% 50.C 3700 1.2 (3.00
Four to five years 5.86% 5.80% 2500 2000 4.3 (2.3
Five yearsg plus 5.84% 5.88% 16271 735.3 454 {19.4)
29221 1,660.3 5.8 {29.5}

The consolidated entity classifies interest rale swaps as cash fiow haedges and states them at fair value, with the axcaption of
one $67 million swap which is designated as & fair value hedge and aiso stated at fair value, A swaps have been designated and

ara effective as hadges.

Maturity profile of financial instruments
The following 1able details the consolidated entity’s axposure to interast rate risk 2t 25 Zune 2006

Fixed interest nuturing in: Non-
Floating  One year e tor Tavo tan Thrw fo Fenr fo Orer interest Effective
2004 Tnterest rote orless  fwo years  Hwee yenrs  four years  fioe years five years bearing Total  imteres rife
2 S A Em k2 A Em k2 am o
Financial assets
Cash and deposits 5259 B259
Trade and other recaivables 10548 1,054.8
Forgign currency conlracts 2.8 2.8
Intarast rale swaps 558 BE8
Currency swaps 3.0 3.0
Other financial asseis a7 o7
1,643.0 1,6843.0
Financial liabilities
Accounts payable 27IRE 27785
Accruals 733.0 7330
Unezrmed income £1.9 61.9
Provisions 9447 8447
Short-darm sacurites 2441 2441 B9I%
Other bank loans:
Fixed 05 5.9 64 6.80%
Variable cevo - 667.0  6.12%
Other ioans 0.4 1. 15 821%
Variable rate domestic notes 2300 - 2300 BIB%
Fixed rate domestic notes 1887 /2 2993 197.9 871 B.08%
Interest rate Swaps (2,8221 2400 3850 3700 50.0 2500 1,8271
U3SD rotes 138.7 1,669.9 18086 650%
WOV Notes 591.5 e 5315  TO0V%
Currency swaps 1,604 .2 B7 M,8271 707 6.7
5051 5118 4852 669.3 50.0 4479 167585 45888 B08050
Net financial liabilities 5051y (511.8) {455.2) (669.3}) (50.0) (447.9){1,675.9}{2,946.9) {7,262.0} -
MNote &3}

This fair value calculation includes
aocrued interest as recorded in
trade and other payailes of

$0.2 millian.
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Fived fwterest maturing in

Floating MNor- Averige

fuaterest e year One fe Oz interest inferest

P rate or duss five years fiwe years Beiring Tkl rirle
&m bRl i St St £ "

Maturity profile of financial instruments {continued)
Financial assets

Cash and deposits 385 3973 4338 5.50%
Trade and othar receivables 4654 485 4
Other financial zsseis 1.1 13
36.5 - - - 83838 930.3 -
Financial liabilities
Accounts payeble 23358 23356
Accruais 521.4 5214
Unearned incoma 551 843
Provigicns B13.5 8135
Short-term securities 143.0 140.0 B 7%
Others bank loans:
Fixad G 7.0 £.80%
Yarizble 8951.9 981.9 6.08%
Oiher loans 11 13
Variable rate domestic noias 820 850.0 5 34%
Fixed rate domestic noles 2700 270.0 6.66%
LSO notes 134.7 #8317 7659 6.37%
WiiNg 6000 8000 7.68%
Intersst rats swaps 11,860.3) 100.0 8250 7353 6.0%%
Cross-currency swaps:
Fixad/fiozting 7024 B 6353 £.30%
844.0 100.0 1,168.1 7317 37307 Ba7E 5
Net financial liabilities {807.5} {100.0% {1,169.1} {731.1 {2,836.9) {5,645.2) -

Cradit risk

Cradit risk refars 1o the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual chligations resulting in financial foss (o the
consolidated entity. The consolidated antity has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterpartios as @ means

of mitigating the risk of financizl loss from defzuits and does not require collatera in respect of financial assets. The consclidated
entity exposure and the credit ratings of itz counterparties are conlinuously monitored and the aggragste value of transactions
concluded is spread amongst approved counterparties. Credit exposurs is conirolied by counterparty limits thet are approvaed

by the Audit Committes. The consclidated antity measuras cradit risk on a fair value basis,

Al the balance sheet data tharg ware no significant cancentrations of cradit risk, The maximum exposure to cradit risk is
reprasanted by the carrying amount of sach fingncial zsset, inciuding dervative financial instrurnants, in thae balance sheat,
Tha credit risk on financial assets of the consolidated entity which have been recognised on the balance shaet, other than
irvastments in sharas, is genarally the carrying amount, nat of 2ny allowanca for doubtful debts.

The recognized financial assets of the consolidaiad entity inciude armounts receivable arising from unreal
firancial instrumeants, For derivatives, which are deliverable, credii risk may alsc arise from the polential f
counterparties 1o meat their obligations under the respactive contracts at maturity.

el gaing on darivativa
iura of the

As at 25 June 2006, no materizl cradit risk exposure existed in refation (o potential counterparty failure on such financial
INSIrumenis.



Liguidity risk

armncunts faling dues for paymant.

Tho consolidaiad antity maintains a liquidity reserve in the form of undrawn bilataral standoy facititios of at least $1 sillion with
unexpired tenors of at least 12 months at all timas.

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities

The carrying valua of cash and cash equivalents, financizl asseis and nondinterast bearing monetary financial liabilities of the
conaclidated antity epproximatas theair fair value (2008 nat fair value) and az such thay have been omitisd from thase
disclosures.

The fzir velue of other moneiary financial assets and liabilities is based upon markat prices where a market exists or the
expectad fulure cash flows, discounted where appropriate by currant interast rates for assets and liabilities with similar risk
profilas,

Forintargst rate and cross-currancy swaps, the fair vaiue has been detarmined by the net present vaiue of cash Hows dus under
the contracts, using a discount rate appropriate (o the type and maturity of the contract. For forward foraign currency contra
the fair value is tzken 10 be tha unrealised gain or loss at period-end celoulziad by referenca to the current forward rates for
contracls with similar maturity profiles,

Asat As af
25 June 2006 26 e 20615
Carrying Fair Carrying Farr
st withue [rhistei sl wilue
Em S L35 &m
Financial liabilities
Bark loans® 8797 680.7 989.0 9890
Short-tar figghtd 448 .8 4493 140.0 1396
3,227.7 3.216.5 1,7205 1,824 8
Total® 4,356.2 4,346.5 28495 2,953.4
Financial assets/{Habilities}
Forwsard forsign currency contracts and foreign
aexchange oplions 2.8 2.8 {0.4]
Intarast rale swaps 55.6 558 (0.3} 129.5)
Cross-curiancy swaps {83.6} {83.6) 8.7 253
Totaf® {25.2} {25.2) (9.0 14.6)
Notes 1 {3} (5}
For the 20086 §i ial vear th griamartised borrowing costs {total unamortised gremium/discount on acorued interest as recorded
or the Inancial year tne of $13.9 millian}; issue of MTNs {tatal of $1.6 million);  in trade and other payables
carrying armount for finansial ($39.3 milliom}; and
liabilities is based on the principal  (2) {4 -2 miiliony; an
autstanding adjusied fon the effect of revaluation of USD unarrartised prepaid interest on CF (B}
horrowings (total of $50.4 millian}; issued (total of $0.8 milliani; acorued interest as recorded

ir trade and ather payvables
{$16.1 millian}.
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28 DEED OF CROS5 GUARANTEE

I"-}umaun[ 1o ASIC Class Order 38/1418, the wholly-ownad

baidiaries listed below are relisved from the Corporations
Ac:‘{ 20010 requirements for preparation, audit and lodgemaent
of financial reporis.

It is & condition of the clzss ordar that the Company and
aach of the subsidizries enter into a Ceed of Cross Guarantee
(Daed). Undar the Deed the Compcmy guarantaes the
payrment of all debts of caL of the subsidiaries in full, in the
avent of a winding up. The subsidizries in urn guarantee the
payrrant of the debis of the Company in full in the event that
it is wound up.

The subsidiaries that are party to the Deed are:
ACN 001 259 3071 Pry Limfted
Advantage Suparmarkats Piy Lid
Adventage Suparmarkets WA Pty Lig
Andmist Py, Lirited

Austrzliar Liguor and Grocery Wholasalers Py L1d
Australian Safeway Storas Py, Lid,

Barjok Pty Lid

Calvarian Pty. Limited

Cenijade Ply. Limitad

Charmtax Py Lid

Dantra Py, Limitad

Dick Srrith (Wh olcsalr) Py Lid

Dick Smith Elacironics Franchising Pty LG
Dick Srrith Zlactronins Pty Limited

Dick Smith Elecironics Staff Suparannuation Fund Pty
Limniiad

Dick Smith Managersant Pty Lid
Drumatar Py Ltd

DSE Haldings Pty Limited

Faboot Pty Lid

Garnbond Py, Limitad
GreenGrocercorn.au Ply Lid

Grocery Wholesaiers Pty Lt

InterTAN Ausiralia Pty Lid

Jack Butler & Staff Py, Lid.

Josona Pty Lid

Leasahold investmanis Pty Lid

Mac's Liquor Stores Py Limited

MNaios Pty Lig

PEM (NZIF) Pty Lid

Philip Leong Stores Pty Limited
Prograssive Eniargrizes Heldings Limited
QFD Py, Limited

Quaansland Property Investmeants Pty Lid
Shglibalt Py, Limited

Univarsal Whclesalars Py Limited
Waaizh Pty. Limitad

e

o~

WooHes Liguor Stores Py, Lid

Wooistar Pty, Limited

Woohworths Australian Communities Foundation Py

Limited, formarly known as Barmos Pty Limited

Woolworths Custodian Pty Lid

Woohworths Exacutive Superannuation Scheme Py Limited

Woolworths Group Superannuation Schame Piy Limited

Woolworths intarnztional) Pty Limited

Woohworths Mcarmqermnt Pty Lid

Woolworths (Project Finance) Py, Limited

Woolworths Properties Pty Limited

Woohworths {:’dblf% hing} Pty Lid

Woohworths (Q'and) Ply Limited

Woolworths (H & 0] Pty Limited
hsg
b
b
b
ih
hyg

Woolworths (South Austratiz) Pty Limied
Woolworths Townsville Nominae Py Ltd
Wooiworths Trustee No. 2 Limited
Woolworths Trust Managemant Pty Limited
Wiooiwort
Wiooiwort

s [Victoria) Ply Limited
(WAL Pty Lirited

A consolidated income statement and consolidated balance
sheat for the closed group reprasenting the Company and

'_ha subsidiaries noted on pageas 136 and 137, which ara party

10 the Dead as at 28 June 2006 is sat out balow.

The following controlled entities (sea Note 28] are excluded

frorn this consclidation:

Australian Independent Retailars Pty Lid
Statewide independeant Wholesalers Limited
GSE (NY Limited

David Redd Flectrorics (1992) Limited

Dicle Smith Elgctronics Limited

Kigora Lands Pty Limited

Wooistar Investments Limited

Woohworths Insurance Ple Limited

OSE Investments inc.

Breadars Righis irdermational Pty Ltd
Bergam Pty Limitad

AL Group Pty Lid, formarly known as Bruandwo Py Ltd
AL Group Property Moidings Pty Limited,
(formerly known as Bruandwo Property Holdings Pty Lid}
Albion Charles Hotel (BMGE Py Ltd
Balaciava Hoiel (BMG) Phy Ltd

Chelsaa Meights Hotet {BMG) Pty Lid

Cherry Hill Tavern [BMG) Ply Lid
Courthouse Brunswick Hotal (BMG) Pty Ltd
Courthouse Hotel Footsoray (BMG) Pty Ltd
Croxton Park Motel {BMG) Py Lid

Caisey's Club Hotal (BMG) Py Lid

Excalsior Motel (BMG) Pty Lid

Firat and Last HMote! {BMG) Pty Lid




Glengaia Hotal {BMG) Piy Lid
Lyrighurst Ciub Hotel (BMG) Pty LG
Manningharn Hote! (BMG) Pty Lid
Milanos Hotal (BMG) Py Lid

Monash Hotel {(BMG) Pty Lid
Moreland Hotel {BMG] Pty Lid

MNu Hotel {BMG) Py Ltd

Ozkleigh Junclion Hote! (BMG) Pty Lid
Palace Motet Hawthorn {BMG) Py Lid
Powael Hotal Footscray (BMG) Pty Lic
Praston tHotal (BMG) Pty Lid
Queensbridges HMotel {BMG) Piy Ltd
Mecacourse Hotal (BMG) Py Ltd
shoppingtown Hotel {BMG] Pty Lid
Waltzing Matitda Hotel {BMG) Ply Lid
Whaeiars Hill Hotel (BMG) Pty Ltd

Australian Leisure and Hogpitality Group Limited

ALH Group {No. 1) Pty Lid
MGEW Hoteis Pty Ltd
Kawana Waters Tavarn No. 3 Pty Lig,

(formarly knowsn as Kawang Waters Hotel No. 3 Py Lid}

Kawana Waters Tavarn No. 1 Py Lig,

(formarly knowsn as Kawana Walers Hotel No. 1 Py Lidh

Kawana Waters Tavarn No. 2 Py Lid,

(formarly known as Kawangz Waters Hotel No. 2 Py Lid}

Dagara Pty Lid

Stadform Developrmants Ply Limited
Fenbridge Piy. Lid.

Vicpoint Pty Lid

Acaridge Py Limited
Chztswood Mills Tavern Py Ltd
Tavarne: Hotet Group Py, Lid.
Araprok Pry. Ltd,

Auspubs Py tid

Cooling Zephyr Pty Ltd

The Common Link Py Ltd

E.G. Fungtions Pry. Lid.
Elizabeath Tavars Pry. Lid.

MG Joint Venture Pty Lid
Fountain Jede Py, Lid.
Madwick Pty Lid

Marksssa Ply. Lid.

Playford Tavarn Pty Lid

Seaford Hoial Pty Limited

The Second P Piy Ltd

Kilirand Hotals {Halzm) Pty Ltd.
Ashwick (Vic) No 88 Py Lid.
Wilarm Auturnn Py, Ltd.
Warribes Plaza Tavern Py, Lid.
Wooiwarths (HI) Sales Limited
Woohworths (MK Procurement Limited

Woolworths Wholssale (Indiz) Private Limited

WOW (INZ) Suparmarkais Lirmited
WOW INZY Finance Limbed
WOW {NZ) Moldings Limited

£l Insurance Limited
Progressive Enlerprises Limited
Catadonian Leasing Limited
Courtdown Foodmarkais Limited
Foodlown Supermarkets Limited
Erash Zone Limited

Ganeral Disthibutors Limited

S H Brands Limited
Supervelue/FreshChoice Limited
The Supply Chain Limitsd
Wiholesaie Services Limited
Wiholesaie Distributors Limited
Wootworths (New Zealand) Limited



NOTESTO THE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Camsadiclaled

2006 2505

For fhe 52 soveks endad 25 June 2006 S EAl
28 DEED OF CROSS GUARANTEE (CONTINUED)
INCOME STATEMENT
Revenues from the sale of goods 31,8831 29,3588
Other oparaling revenus 108.8 287
Toial revenue from operations 31,9929 29 4875
Cost of sales {24,114.1) (222269
Gross profit 7,878.8 12606
Other revenue 110.9 8O
Other income 18.7
Shara of profit in asscciatad company - 25
Branch expenses {H,034.8) (14,6457
Adminigtration expenses {1,580.7) 11,5027
Earnings before interest and tax 1,381.1 1,203.8
Financial expanse {261.9) 123.2)
Financial incomme 188.4 4873
Net financing cost {73.6) 782
Net profit before income tax expense 1,3072.5 1,128.8
INCome ax axpanse {382.2) [322.5)
Net profit after income tax expense 9253 B06
Reconciliation of retained profits
Metained profit &1 the beginning of the pericd 1.036.6 7535

et profit after income tax expeansa 9253 806
Dividends paid or provided {613.1) 14998}
WikNe fssue costs - 70
Actuarial losses on defined benelit plans {15.0) G0
Other 1.9 34
Retained profits at the end of the pericd 1,335.7 1,036.6
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Comsalidated

it 2
As b 25 fusme 2004 EAl £
BALANCE SHEET
Current assets
Cash 361.3 3288
Trade and cther recaivables 10841 56850
Irventories 1,973.8 1,858.6
Aszsats hald {or sala 110.5 85,4
Other financial asseis 2.8
Total current assets 3,542.5 28190
Non-current assets
Trade and cther recaivables 1,892.2 1,807.6
Other financial assets 3.348.8 iCE
Proparty, plant and equipmeant 2,986.2 28210
Intangitias 662.0 606.9
Dafarred tax assat 303.0 2735
Total non-current assets 9,202 7 5,679.6
Total assets 12,834.7 83,4986
Current liabilities
Trade and cther payables 3,289.5 2,754.4
Borrowings 610.8 2350
Current tax liabilities 96.5 5.7
Provisions h34.2 4870
Total current liabilities 4.511.0 3,582
Non-current liabilittes
Borrowings 3,696.5 2,599 4
Other financial lizbifities 70.7
Provisions 3101 2688.4
Other 790 BE.0
Total non-current Habilities 4,156.3 2,975.8
Total tiabilities 8.667.3 86,5875
Net assets 4,167.4 31,9307
Equity
lssued capita 2,947.8 9810
Sharas held in trust {872.1) {102.2)
Mesarves {29.0) 15.3
Metainad sarmings 1,335.7 1,0386
Equity atiributabie to the members of Woolworths Limited 4,167.4 19307
Total equity 4,167.4 19307
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Beneficind holding

Plice of incorporation 20336 235
29 CONTROULED ENTITY DISCLOSURES
Woolwerths Limitad NSW
Controlfed entities of Woolworths Limited:
*  Woolworths Proparties Pty Limited MNEW 106 100
Controllad entity of Woolworths Propertias Pty Limited:
T QFD Py Limited ACT 100 100
2. Dentrz Piy, Limited ACT 100 100
Controlled entity of Dentra Pty Limited:
1. Weaaiah Py, Limited NT 100 100
*  Woolworths {Q'and) Pty Limited MNEW 100 100
» Queensland Property Invastments Pty Lid QLo 100 100
*+  Woolworths {Victoriz) Pty Limiad WIE 100 100
Controlled entity of Woolworths (Victorig) Pty Limited:
i Statewide Indepsandent Whclasalers Limited TAS 60 60
*  Woolworths {South Austratia) Pty Limited SA 100 106
+  Woolworths IW AL Py Limited WA 100 100
*  Ausiratian Liguor and Grocery Wholasalers Pty Lid NT 100 100
*  Woolworths Trust Manzgemaent Pty Limited NSV 100 100
*  Woolworths Trustee No. 2 Pty Limitad NEW 100 100
*»  Woolworihs (Pubishing) Pty Lid QLe 100 100
*  Woolworths Austraiian Communitias Foundation Pty Limitaed NEW 100 100
*  Charmtex Pry Lid NSV 100 100
+  Univarsal Whoigsalars Py Limited NSV 100 100
* Grocery Wholesalers Pty Ltd NEW 108 100
*+  Ausiratian independent Retaillers Pty Ltd VIC 49 49
*» D52 Hoidings Pty Limited MNEW 106 100
Controlled gniities of DSE Heldings Pty Limitad:
1. Dick Sraith Electronics Py Limitad NSW 100 100
Controlled entities of Dick Smith Electrenics Ply Limited:
1. Dicl Smith Efzctronics Staflf Superannuation Fand Pty Limited NSV 100 100
2. Dick Smith (Whoiesale) Pty Lig NSW 100 106
3. Dick Smith Management Pty Lid NSV 100 100
4, Dick Smith Elgctronics Franchizing Pty Lid MNSW 100 100
5. DS {NZ} Limited NZ 100 100
Controlled entities of DSE (NZ) Limitad:
1 David Reid Electronics {1892) Limited N7 100 100
2. Dick Sraith Electronics Limited UK 100 100
3. IntefTAN Australia Py Lid NSV 100 100
*  Woolworths Custodian Pty Ltd NEW 100 100
*  [zboot Py Lid NEW 100 100
Controlled entity of Fahoot Pty Lt
1 Kiaora Lands Pty Limited NSW 1040 100
* Nalos Pty Ltd NEW 100 100
*»  Barjck Pty Lid NEW 100 100
*  Josone Poy Lid MNSW 100 100
*  \Woeoistar Investmaents Limited NZ 100 100
*  Woolworths Insurance Ple Limitad SING 100 100
*  [SE Investments Inc. USA, 100 100
» ACN. 007 259 307 Pty Limited NEW 100 100
* Woeoistar Py, Limited ACT 100 100
*  Woolworths (R & D) Piy Limitad NEW 100 100
Controllad entity of Woolworths (R & 0 Pty Limited:
1. Breeders Rights infernational Pty Lid WVIC 100 106G
*  Advantage Supsrmarkeis Pty Ltd WA 100 100
Controlled entity of Advanlage Supermarkets Pty Lid:
1o Advaniage Supermarkets WA Piy Lid WA 100 100
*  Andmist Pty Limitad NSW 100 100



Beneficind hdding

Plirce of incorperation 204 2iiis
*» Woolworths [(Project Finance) Pty. Limited NS 100 100
»  GreanGrocercom.au Ply Lid NS 100 100
»  Cenjjade Py, Limited NS 100 100
*  Shellbalt Pty Limited NS 100 100
» Gembond Pty. Limited NS 100 100
*  Phitip Leong Stores Pty Limited QLo 100 100
» Woolies Liguor Stores Puy. Lid, SA 100 100
* Calvartan Piy. Limited ACT 100 100
*  Australian Sefewsy Stores Pty. Lid VIC 100 100
*  Jack Butler & Staff Py, Lid. aLt 100 100
*» Woolworths Group Suparannuation Schemea Pty Ltd QLp 100 100
s Woolworths Executive Supsrannuation Scheme Pty Limited QLo 100 109
+  Mac's Liguor Stores Pty Limfted Qe 100 100
*  Bergam Ply Limited NS 75 75
o ALM Group Pty Ltd, formesdly Bruandwe Py Ltd VIC 75 75
Controlled entities of ALH Group Pty Lt
1o AL Group Property Holdings Py Limited, Tormaerly Bruandwo
Progperty Moldings Py Lid VIC 100 1090
2. Albion Charias Motal (BMG) Py Lid VIC 100
3. Belaclava Motsl (BMG) Py Ltd VIS 100
4. Chelsea Haights Hotel (BMG) Pty Ltd WIC 100
B, Charry Hili Tavern (BMG) Pty Lid VIC 100
8. Courthousea Brunswick Hotel (BMG) Pty Ltd VIC 100
7. Courthouss Hotel Fooiscray (BMG) Py Ltd VIC 100
8. Croxton Park Hotet (BMG) Pty Lig VIS 100
9. Laisey's Club Hotel {BMG) Pty Ltd VIC 100
10, Excelsior Hoisl (BMG) Py Lid VIC 100
1. First and Last Hotel! (BMG] Pty Ltd VIC 100
12 Glengaia Hotal {BME) Pty Ltd VIC 100
13, Lyndhurst Club Hotal (BMGE Phy Lid VIC 100
1. Manningham Hotel (BMG) Pty Lt VIC 100
15, Milznos Motel (BMG) Pty Ltd WIC 100
16 Monash Motsl (BMG) Pty Ltd VIS 100
7. Moraland Hotel [BME) Pty Lid VIC 100
18, Nu Hote! (BMG) Pty Lid WIC 100
14 Oaklzigh Junction Hotel {BMG) Pty Lid VIC 100
20. Palzce Hotel Hawthorm (BMG) Py Ld WIE 100
2%, Powsl Hote! Footscray (BMG) Piy Lid VIC 100
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Beneficind holding

Plice of incorporation 20336 235
29 CONTROULED ENTITY DISCLOSURES (CONTINUEDY)
22 Preston HMotet (BMG) Pty Lid WVIC 100
23, Queensbridge Hoiel (BMG) Pty Lid VIC 100
24, Racecourse Hotel (BMG) Pty Ltd WVIC 106
25, Shoppingtown Hoie! (BMG) Pry Lid VIC 100
26. Waltzing Matilda Mote! (BMG) Pty Lid VIC 100
27, Wheaelars Milt #lotal {BMEG) Pty Ltd WVIC we -
28. Australian Lefsure and Hospitality Group Limited VIC 100 100
Controliad entity of Australizn Leisure and Hospitality Group Limited:
1. ALM Group {No. 1 Py Lid QLo 100 100
29 MGW Hotels Py Lid Qb 100 100
Controlled entities of MEW Motaels Py Lid:
1. Kawana Watersg Tavern No. 3 Pty Lid Qb 100 100
Controlled entity of Kawana Waters Tavern No. 3 Py L
1 Kawana Waters Tavern No. T Py Lid Qi 106 106G
2. Kawana Watars Tavarn No. 2 Pty Lid Ll 100 100
3. Dapara Py Lid NSW 100 100
Controlled antity of Dapara Ply Lid:
Stadform Developmants Py, Limited QLo 100 100
4. Fenbridge Puy. Lid Qip 100 100
5. Vicpoint Pty Ltd QLo 100 100
6. Aceridge Pty Limited QLo 100 100
7. Chatswood Hilis Tavern Py, Lid. VIC 100 100
30, Taverner Hotal Group Py, Lid. VIC 100
Controlled entities of Taverner Molal Group Py, Ltd:
1. Armprok Py, Lid. VIC 100
2. Auspubs Pry Lid VIC 100
3. Coocling Zephyr Ply Ltd VIC 100
4, The Common Link Pty Lt VIC 100
5. EG. Functions Py, Lid, VIC 100
6. Elizazeth Tavarn Py Lid, SA 100
7. FG Joint Venture Pty Lid VIC 100
8. Fountain Jade Py, Ltd. VIC 100
9. Hadwick Pty Lid SA 100
10, Markessa Pty. Lid. VIC 100
1. Playford Tavern Pty Ltd SA 100
12, Sesford Hotel Pry, Limited VIC 100
13, The Second P Pty Lid VIC 100
14, Kitrand Hotalz iMallam) Py, Lid. VIC 100
Controlled endities of Kilrand Holels {Hallam) Group Piy Lig:
1o Ashwick Vic) No.88 Pty Ltid. WVIC 100
15 Warm Avturmn Py Lid. WIC 1040
18, Warribea Plaza Tavarn Piy. Lid. VIC we -
+  Leasshold invesimantg Pty Lid WA 100 100
*  Woolworihs Townsvilie Normines Pty Ltd VIC 100 100
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Beneficind hdding

Plirce of incorperation 204 2iiis
Woolworths linternational} Pty Limited VIC 100
Controlled entities of Woohworths {Internationai Pty Limited:
1 Woeolworths (HK Szles Limited K 100
2. Woohwvorths (HK) Procurement Limited MK 100
3. Woolworths Wholesala (Indial Private Limited IN 100
4, WOW (N7} Suparmarkats Limited N 100
Coniroiled antity of WOW (NZ} Supermarkets Limited:
1. WOW {NZ) Finance Limitad, formaerly Foodiand N2 Finance Lid N 100
Controlled entity of WOW {NZ) Finance Limited:
1. WOW (NZ) HMoldings Limited, formerly Foodland (INZ) Holdings Lid NZ 100
Controdled antities of WOW {NZ} HMoldings Limited:
1. FAL Insurance Limitad NZ 100
2. Progressive Enterprises Limited NZ 100
Controlied entities of Progressive Entarprizes Limited:
1. Caladonizn Leasing Limited N2 100
2. Countdown Foodmarkets Lirmited N2 100
3. Foodtown Supermarksts Limitad N2 100
4. Fresh Zone Limited N2 100
5. Genaral Disiributors Limited N 100
6. 5 R 8rands Limited NZ 100
7. Supervalue/FreshChoice Limited NZ 100
8. The Supply Chain Limitad NZ 100
9. Wholesale Servicaes Limited N 100
Controtled antity of Wholesale Services Limited:
1. Whoigszale Distributors Limited N 100
10 Woohvorths {New Zealand} Limited N7 100
Woolworths Management Pty Ltd VIC 100
Progressive Enterprises Holdings Limitad VIC 100
Controlled entities of Progressive Erterprises Hoidings Limited:
1. Drumstar Pty Lid WA, 100
2. PEM INZ IPY Pty Ltd WVIC 100
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30 BUSINESS ACOUISTTIONS

Diate of Proportion of
Entityfbusiness acguirad Principod actini y acquisition  eienership soquired  Cost of soguisition
204 E0i
Changes in the composition of the Group
Progressive Enterprizes Holdings Limited and Supsrmarksts 22008 1C0% 2,285 0
its controlled entities
26 hotels and gight club managaemant contracts  Motels ang liguor ratait HOT 2005 5% 390 b
previously owned by interests associaied with
the Bruce Mathisson Group
33 isasehold hotels comprising tha Taverner Hoteis 6/02/2006 755 RY R
Moted Group
Miscelanaous buginessas Supearmarkats VANOUS 179.7
and liguor ratail

Total 3,238.7
Notes i {2}

The cost of acquisition includes The cost of acguisition includes

consideration paid in cash, and cash consideration and

consideration paid via the consideration paid via the issuanae

issuance of 81,592,689 shares of 191,700,000 shares in ALH

in Woolworths Limited, pius Group Mty Ltd at a price of $1 per

aoguisition costs, At the close share, plus asguisition sosts.

of trading an 2 Movernber 20045,

shares in Woolworths Limited were

trading at $716.30 per share,
2005
ALH Motals and liguor retail 31410/2004 5% 1,275
MGW Motels and liguor retait 20112005 25% IENES
Miscelanaous businesses Supermarkets and liguor retail VANoUS 95
Total 1,382.7
Notes ) {2

Acguisition of aif the issued capital  Acgursition of an additional

im ALH by Woolworths Limited 78%  25% interest in MGW ta give
owred cantrolled entity ALH Group Woolwarths a 75% ownarship
Piy itd. interest,

Actuisition of Progressive Enterprises Holdings Limitad and its controiled entities

On 2 Novermnber 2005, the consolidsted entity acguired all the shares in Progressive Enterprises Holdings Limited and its
controiled entities for $858,005,951 in cash and the issue of 81,592 689 shares in Woolworihs Limitad. At the close of trading
on 2 Novamber 2008, shares in Woohlworths Limfted were rading st $16.30 per share,

The acguired entity operales suparmarkat chaing throughout New Zealand and also owns g number of supermarkets in Australia.

Since acguisition, the business has contributed $2,851.3 million in revenue and 3395 million in net profit &fter ax o the
consclidated entity.

Al the sharas in the following companies were acguired as part of the acquisition:

Cuniipanies registernd fn New Zvalind

Foodland N.Z. Finanee Limitad Whotasale Servicas Limited
Foodland {N.Z.} Moldings Limited Ganarat Distributors Limitad
Fal Insurance Limited The Supply Chain Limited
Progressive Enterprises Limited Whhiclesale Distributors Limited

Czledonian Leasing Limited
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Conpanies registered in Anstralia

Crurmstar Py Lid
PER INZ 1P} Pry Lid

Progressive Enterprizes Moldings Limited

Ther acguisition had the fodowing effect on the consolidatad entity's assets and liabilities:

Wooliwarths Fatr value
recigrnised walies adjusbarents Notes Acqguired aniounts
000 000 LR

Cash 54,080 54,040
Recaivables 41,440 41,440
Irventorias 258,387 11,8413 260,003
Prepayments and cther asseis 5780 5,780
Proparty, plant and equipmeant 366,704 (26,217 1 392,921
Intangibie assels 244 663 158,275 2 56,384
Dafarred tax assat 48,228 14,581 3 33,647
Accounts payabla (288,040} (288, 049)
Accruais 182,713 82713
Current tax liabilities 6,803 8 803
Provisicns (74,728} 18,0803 &4 (58 644)
Intarast bearing liabiities (353,893 (353,693
Net identifiable assets and fiabilities 215,285 126,922 88,363
Goodwil on acguisition 2,073,682
Consideration pzid, satisfied in cash 8952 006
Consideration paid vig sguily issuance 1,329,561

2,288,967
Cash acquired 54,090
Net cash outflow 304,916
Notes 2) {3) 4)
o An independent firm was engaged The fair value adjustments booked Represents onerous laase

Property, plant and eguipment in
both Australia and New Zealand
wata subjected to fair value

ASBLREEMENTS Upon acquisition in

o conduct an external valuation of
trademarks scquired. A value of
$244.9 milliors was determined on

tha basis of the “relief from royaity”

upon acguisition has resuited in an
uplift to the entity’s deferred
tax asset.

commitments identified and
prowvidad far in aceordance with
AASE 3.

accordance with AASE 3. method.
Al Decamber 2005, the initiat accounting had been detsrmined provisicnally. Hevisions have been made o the fair value
assassmant for inventories, proparty, plant and sguipment and provisions for onerous leases In accordance with AASE 3.

The cash consideration abova includas costs incurred by the conscldatad antity in relation 10 the acquisition,

Goodwill has arfsen on goguisition of Prograssive Enterprises Holdings Limnited and its controiled entities primarily because of

tha capacity of the business o generals recu

0 introducea additional syrergias to the benafit of the overall businass.

ag revenus streams in the future and &s the Company baliovas that itwill be ale
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30 BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS (CONTINUED)

Acquisition of hotels and club management contracts associated with Bruce Mathieson

On 1 July 26085, ALM Group Pty Lid (ALM Group), (formerly Bruandwe Pty Lid} a 78% owned subsidiary of Woolworihs Limited,
acquirad 26 hotlels and eight club management contracts previously owned by interests associated with Bruce Mathieson for
$199.2 mition in cash, inclusive of acguisition costs and 181.7 million shares fssued at a price of $7 per gshare. Since acquisition,
the businass has contributed $108.7 millicn in revenus and $319.0 million in nat profit after tax 1o the consolidated entity bafors

outside aguity interesis of $4.75% mitlion,

Ther goquisition had the following effect on the consclidatad antity's zssais &

nd habilities:

Woelzoorths Firze e
recopirised values addjusbments Notes Acguived amowits
$Gu £000 000
Cash 4,833 4,833
Inveniories 1,705 1,709
Property, plant and equigment 208,406 17,409 1 180,897
Intzngibie zssels 125,000 125,000 2
Ueferrad tax asseat 985 985
Eraployes provigions 13,282) 13,282}
Net identifiable assets and liabilities 337,651 142,409 195,242
Goodwill on soguisition 53,204
390 855
Congideration pzid/payabla 164,185
Considaration paid via sguily issuance 193,700
390,855
Cash aoquired 4,833
Current and future cash flows 194,322

Notes n

Arindependent firm was engaged
1o conduct an external valuation of
property, plant and eguipment,
This formed the basis of the fair
value adjustments booked upon
aoquisition.

Goodwill has arisan on zcguisition because of maragemant expertise and customer redationshi
Company balisves will enefit the overall business.
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Acguisition of Taverner Hotel Group Pty Ltd
On 6 February 2008, AL Group Pty Lid acquired ali the shares in Taverner Mote! Group Poy Ltd [THG]) for $377.% million in cash,
inclusive of acquisition costs.

THG comprised 33 leasehoid holels located in Victona {18} South Austrzlia {12} and New South Wales (3 Included in this
porifolio are a nurmbar of “icon” hotals such as Maithew Flinders, Villags Tavern and Castle Hill Tavern. THG was the sscond

THG provides an excellent strategic it with the existing ALH Group hotal business providing pramium complamentary locations
and an additional 27 retait liquor focations of which five Dan Murphy's future site opportunities exist

Thig acquisition consolidates ALM Group’s position in a highly fragmented industry in a highly profitable business segment.
Since acquisition, the business has contributed $B85.8 millon in revenue and 6.9 million in nat profit after tax 1o the
consclidated antity bafora ouiside equity interasts of $1.7 mition,

Ther acguisition had the fodowing effect on the consolidatad entity's assets and liabilities:

Woalworths Firfr valie
recigrnised walies adjusbarents Notes Acqguired aniounts
000 £000 $Gu
Cash 7,866 7,866
Hecaivables 1,535 1,535
Invantories 4,743 4,743
Prepayments and other assals 1,977 1,877
Current tax gssei 28627 2827
Proparty, plant and squipmeant 43727 43,727
Intangibie assets ~ liquor licances 200,000 199,600 1 400
Ceferrad tax asset 2,936 2,936
Accounts payable 116,057) 18,057)
Current tax liasilities {%,080] (3,090]
Provisicns (9,773 (9.773)
Net identifiable assets and liabilities 238,491 199,800 38,891
Goodwil on acguisition 138,648
Consideration paid 377,139
Cash acquired 7 866
Net cash outflow 369,273

MNote M
An independent firm was engaged
to conduct an external valuation
of the liqguor and gaming licences
acquired which have been valued
at 8200 mition.

The initial accounting for the acquisition has been determined provisionally at the acguisition data, Goodwill has zrisen on
acquisiticn because of managament experiise and customer relationships end aynergies that the Company believes will benefit
the overall business.
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Notes to the reconcilfation of implementation of AIFRS
As stated in %rq;wrslcarv accounting policiss Note 1, thase are
the first full year Financial Staternments of the consolidatad
entity and the Company preparad in accordance with
Austrzlian eguivalents 1o International Finencial Reporting
Standards (AIFFS),

The consolidated entity changed its accounting policies on
2B Gune 2004 1o comphy with AIFRS. The ransition to AFRS
iz zoccounied for in accordance with Agcounting Standard
AASE T Firat-time Adoption of Australian sguivalents o
International Reporting Standards, {AASE 1), with

28 June 2004 zs the date of transition, except for financial
instrumnents, including derivatives, whera the date of
fransition is 27 Jung 2008, An explanation of how the
fransition from pravious Austratizn GAAP JAGAAP to
AIFRS has affected the balance shael, income statement
and cash flows of the congolidated entity and the Company
ig sat cut in the following notes and the tabies that
aceompany the noias,

A Reclassifications
Revenus
The AGAAP definition of revenue reguires procesds on sale
of non-current assels 10 be included a3 revenue - this has
xffact of "grossing ug” the income siztement. Under
S the proceeds on disposat will no longer be disclosed
gs revenue. For the congolidated entity an smount of
$303.4 miflicr (Company: $17.1 million} was reclassified
from other non-oparating revenueg o brench expenses for
tha 52 weeks endad 26 June 2005, The net gain on disposal
of $10.2 midion (Company: $4.9 midion) for the 52 weaks
endad 26 fune 2005 was reciassified from branch expenses
to other income. In addition, sorae $37.2 million {Company:
$31.8 million) of operational expenze has been reclassifisd
from branch and administration expenses 1o other

non-oparating reverus in the 52 weeks ended 25 Jung 2006.

Dividend income of $3.6 mildon {Company: $2 4 mition)
has been raclassified from other non-operating revanue
o financial income in the 52 weeks ended 26 Jung 2005,

Reserves

Woclworths has utilised the opticn available in AASE 1 o
reciassity the capital prof fits reserve and general reserves
o retained sarnings. This transfer resulted in a decreasa in
thesa reserve balancas of $68.2 million (Company:

$2 6 million} and $46.9 million {Company: $45 % million)
respectively as at 28 Juna 2004 with a corrasponding
increase in retzined earnings.

Assets held for sale

Under AFRS, non-current assets classilied as heid for sale,
gra presented separately as current assets on the balance
shaal. A non-currant assat is classified zs held for sale it

it carrying armount will be recoverad principally through
a sale tranzaction rathar than through continuing use;
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tha asset {or disposal group! is aveilable for immeadizte
saka in its currgnt condition; and
its sale is highly probabla.

The consolidated entity applied AASE 5 Non-current Azgets
Meld for Sele znd Discontinued Operations, prospectively
from 28 June 2004 (o zssats hald Tor sale and discontinued
oparations. There is no adjustment st transition dats.

AL 26 June 2008, for the consolidatad antity this resultad

in $45.3 midicn [Company: $nil] of zssats being reclassified
from non-current proparty, glant and eguipment to

current assets.

Trade and other receivables
Under AGAAP current and non-current other zsseis
comprising prepayments and deferred costs wera presentad
separately from currant and non-current receivables,
respeciively, on the face of the balance shaet. Undar AIFRS
currant and non-current other assets are grouped togethar
with current and non-current recaivables, respactively and
presented as trade and other receivables on the face of the
balznce sheet. At tha date of transition, this has the effect
of dacreasing currant othaer assets and corraspondingly
increasing currant irade and other receivables by
$112.3 million {Company: $100.4 million). Nor-cusrent other
assels decrsase by $5.7 milion [Company: $5.7 million) with
a corrasponding incraasa in non-currant trade and othar
roccwdblc gl 28 June 2004,

ALZE June 20085, current and non-current other assels
fecrease oy $109.2 million (Company: $86.% mitlion) and
$10.9 million [Compary: $10.9 milion}, raspactively, with
a corrasponding incraasea in current and nor-current trada
and cihar racaiveblag, raspactively.

Trade and other payables

Under AGAAP accounls pavabies and scoruzls were
presented separately on the face of the balance shest. Under
ARS rade pavables and accruals are groupad togethar and
presented as trade znd other payables on the faca of the
balznce shast. At the date of transition this has the effect

of decreasing accruals by $554.5 mildon {Company:

$442.7 mitlicn) with a corrasponding increase in rade

and cther payables. Al 26 June 2005, zeoruals decreased

by $651.9 million (Cormpany: $458.7 rilion} with a
corresponding increass in trade and other payables.

intercompany balances

Intercompany racaivables were presented net of
intarcormpany payvables under AGAAP, Under AIFRS,

as there 18 no legal right of offsat of receivabies against
payablas owing from diffarent counterparties, intarcomparny
receivablas are presentad gross of intercompany payabias.
Al the date of transition this has the effect of incrazsing the
Company's non-current trade and other receivables and
currant trade and othar payables by $436.8 million,




AL 26 June 2005, the presentation of intercompany balances
at gross increases the Company’s non-current irade and
other recaivablas and current rade and other payables by
$451.4 rillion,

Provision for development losses

Provisions for development losses ware prasantad in
accruals under AGAAPR, Under AIFRS this is presanted in
property, plant and equipmaent 1o write down the value of
proparties o their estimated recoverabie amounts, Al the
date of transition this has the effect of decraasing both
acoruals and property, plant and equipmaent by $58.9 million
{Company: $nil).

AL 26 June 2008, accruals, assets held for sale and groparty,
plant and equiprment decrease by $75.8 million ([Company:
$nith, $8.% eniflion (Company: $nil} and $87.5 million
[{Company: $nil), raspactivaly.

Provision for long service leave

Under AGAAP classification betwesn current and
non-current poriions of the provision for long service leave
was basad on histodc trends of payments and utiisation.
Under A¥RS, provision for iong service leave is classifiad as
current when the employees’ entitiermants vast, consistent
with the requirements of AASB 119 Employes Benelits,

Thig has the effect of increasing the current portion of the
provision for long service faave by $122.2 midion (Company.
$106.2 million) ai the date of teansition, with a coresponding
decrease in the non-currant portion,

AL 26 June 2005, the current portion of the provision
increased by $126.4 million (Comgany: $111.3 million)
with a corresponding decrease in the nor-current porticn.

Investment in associate

Under AGAAP investmant in associate with a carrying
value of $3.6 million {Company: $ail) at 28 Sune 2004 was
presented separately from ciher financial assets on the fac
of the palance sheet. Under AIFRS this balance is olassil
i other financial assats.

fied
B Property, plant and eguipment

On initiat adoption of AIFRS, the Directors have alectad
that property, piant and eqguipmant wil be measurad at cost.
As permitied by the elaction available undar AASE 1, cartain
iterms of property, plant and eguipmeant that were praviously
revaiued were rastated st cost on transition. Conseguanily,
the assat revaluation reserve balance of $63.3 million
(Cornpany: $nil) relating to these asseis was sgjustad against
property, plant and equipmant as a: 28 June 2004 and
fepreciation of $10.3 million {Campany: $nil) refating o

tha revaiuations recognised prios to ransition was reversad
against retained earnings on transition. The remaining
balance in the asset revalusiion reserve of $8.6 million
[Compsany: $0.6 million) represents revaluations that relste

10 assets disposad of in pricr pariods. This balance was
sransfarred 1o retained sarmings on transition. For the

52 week percd ended 26 June 2005, further depreciation
of $1.2 milion {Company: $nill relzting 1o the previous
revalued amounts was reversed from the AIFRS

incoma siatament,

RS requires that all research activities in relation W0 a
project ba axpensed as incurrad, including evatuative and
certain feasibility expenditure. Praviously this expenditure
was capilatised if it was expectad, beyond reascnable
doubt, o ba recoverable. The carrying value of assats that
have previcusly been capitatised up to the transition date
amounting o $18.9 milion (Company: $18.8 millicn), nat
of accumuialed amortisation, was adjusted zgainst retained
garnings. During the 52 weeks ended 26 Zune 2005 a
furthar $9.8 mition (Company: $9.8 milion! of assats,
nat of accurmuiated armortization, which were capitalised
under AGAAP were writtan off 1o the income statement
under AFRS.

G Leased assets

Operating lease expenditure

Under AASE N7 Leases, operaling lease expenses are
racognised on a straight-ling basis unless another systematic
basis is representative of the tme pattern of the user's
henefil, even if the paymeants are not on that basis. Fixed rale
nereasss 1o ese rental payments, excluding contingent or
index-baged rental increases, such as TP, Wmover rantal
and other similar increzses, are recognisad on a straight-ling
basis cver the lease terrm. An assal or liability arises for the
diffarence betweean the amount paid and the lgase axpansea
brought o account o a straight-ling basis, Under AGAAE
fixad rental escaizlions were recognised &5 an expense in
the period that they were incurred.

This has resuited in the recognition of a deferrad rental
axpense izbility of $53.3 milliory (Comgany: $50.9 million)
znd a corregponding reduciion in retained ezmings a8 at
trangition date. Thers has beer a decreass in the rental
expense with g corresponding reduction in the liabitity of
$3.8 milion (Company: 38.6 million] for the 52 weaks ended
26 June 2008 Afurther $2.4 million (Company: Snil} was
racognisad against goodwili on acguisition of ALH

during 2005,

D Business combinations

The corsolidatad entity has zpplied AASE 3 Business
Combinztions, 10 ali busingss cominations that have
ocourred sinca 28 June 2004 the date of ransition
10 AlFHS],

The rastructuring provision recognised on the scguisition

of ALM under AGAAP as at 28 June 2005 does not maet tha
recognition requirements under AIFRS. As g resull goodwill
znd profit before tax for the B2 weeks ended 26 June 2005
have decrsazed by $9.2 million {Company: $nil). This
adiustment is net of tax of $3.9 milion {Company: $nill.
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E Intangible assets

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the differsnce between the cost

of & business combination and the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and cordingent liabilities
acquirad. In respect of acguisitions prior to the transition
date, goodwilt has besn included on the basis of its deemed
cost, being its writlen down value recorded under previcus
AGAAP as et 28 June 2004

Amortisation
From 28 Juna 2004, goodwill and intangibie assels with
indefinite usetul life will not be subject o amortisation sutl
instead will be tested for impairment annually and whanever
tharg is an indication of impairment. Changes in useiul life
on tranzsition 0 AIFAS are accounted for prospectively. As
result, the carrying amount of goodwill has increased by
$4'1 8 million (Company: $22.5 mildon} at 26 June 20085,
baing the reversat of the goodwill amortisation charge for
the 52 weeks ended 26 June 2005,

F impairment

For the consolidated entity and the Company no imgairmaeant

loss has baen identifiad either on transaition o AIFRS, or for
the 52 weeks snded 26 June 2008,

G Foreign currency

Financiat Statements of foreign operations

On initiat adoptionr of AIFRS, as permitted by the elactions
availzble undar AASE 1, the foraign currency translation
FAREIVE WS IB381 10 2ero as at 28 Juns 2004 with an
offsetting decrease in relainad sarnings of the consclidated
antity of $6.4 midicn [Company: Snil]. From 28 June 2004,
the nal assels and refated goodwill on consolidation relstad
o foreign operations have baan restated at yvear and spot
ratas in accordance with AASE 121 The Fliacts of Changes
in Forgign Exchange Ratas.

H Employee benefits

Defined benefit plans

Woclworths is the employer-sponsor of a defined benefi
superannuation fund, Under AIFRE, the ampioyer sponsor
is reguired to recognise a lability lor asset) whers the
prasent wd benefit obligation, adjusted for

tvalue of the d
unrecognised past service cost excesds (i less than) the fair
value of the undertying net assets of the fund (hareinafiar
refarred 1o as the “defined benafit obiigation™).

2N

The rasuiting liability or asset iz grossed up for any
contribuiions tax as reguired oy AASE 119 Employes
Banafits fAASB N4 {revisad). The basis of caloulating
tha defined banefit oblrgdtzon and refelad axpensas under
AIFHS, and thc traztmant of aciuarial gaing and lossas is
sat out in Note 10,

Under previcus AGAAE Woolworths recognisad
contriputions 10 the superannuation funds &s an expanse
when dug and payable and did not racognise any liability
or azssat in relztion o fund deficits or surpiuses unlass there
was a current obligation 1o fund the deficit. Woolworths'
contributions 1o the defined benefit superannuation funds
weara duterrined on a vested benefil basis. The additional
funding that would he reguired i Woolworths ware 1o have
funded the acorusd benefils have been disciossd in the
Wioolworths Annual Report for the 52 weeks ended 27 June
2004, Thg 2005 Annuzl Report disclosed & shorifzll of
$25.0 million (Company: $25.0 milliion} as of the latest
actuarizl valuation performed, baing 37 Aagust 2002

Al zhe date of transition, an amount of $21.0 milion
{Company: $31.0 milion}, including curnulative actuarial
gains and losses existing at that time, was recognised &5 a
liazility of the consolidated entity and the Company with a
corresponding decrezse in retained samings.

For the 52 weeks anded 26 June 2008 the adjustment in the
conzclidated aentity 10 recogrise the incrazse in the dafined
banefit chligation for the fnancial year is $1.0 million
[Company: 51.C milion). An expanse relating o the

defined benefit plan of $73.6 mildon {Company:

$73.0 million) was recognisad under AFRS with & furthar
$10.0 mitlion [Company: $10.0 million) recognised girectly

in retained earnings (representing the actuarizl gains and
losses for the pericd). The pravious AGAAP expense for the
B2 wenk p&.iod anded 26 Juna 20085, being the conwributions
paid by the consolidazed entity (o the fund, of $82.0 million
(Company: $382.0 midicn) is reversed under AIFRS. This
resulted in a net incresse o the net profit belore tax
comgared o pravious AGAAP for the B2 week period ended
26 June 2005 of $9.0 million (Company: 2.0 million) (Being
tha $73.0 million (Company: $73 million} expansa required
by AIFRS lass the $82.C million {Company: $82.0 milion)
expense determingd using previous AGAAP) AL 26 June
200% the defined benafit liabiity is $32.C miflicn

[{Company: $32.C mitlion).

Annual leave

Under pravious AGAAP. annual lzave was recognised at
ihe aracunts expectad to be paid 1o settie the abligation
including associated on-costs. Under AIFRS, whare this
amount is not expected 0 be setiled within one yaar it
has been discounted toils prasent valug using the
Commonwealth Government bond rate approximating
the expecled setilermant of the obligation. Al transition
ther annual leave provision was reduced oy $2.3 million
(Cormpany: $2.3 miflion). As at 26 June 2008, the value of
the discount 1o the annuai leave provision had increased
by $0.2 miflion {Company: $0.2 miliion).

| Share-based payments

Equity-based remuneration {including options)

Undear AFRS, squity settied share-based paymaents form
pari of the remunaration of employvess {including execulivas),
Under AGAAP the Company did not recogniss an exganse




for any share-based ramuneration, inciuding equity seitiad
share-bazed payments such as options. The accounting
policias refating 1o the recognition of share-based payments
under AIFRS are set outin Note 10,

Ag permitied by the elactions available under AASE 1,
Woohworths did nol relrogpectively recognise the fair
valug of share-based payments that have vestad prios to
3 Jaﬁﬁiry 2008, Furthermors, no adjustrment was made for
share-based payments qumtrd bafore 7 Novambear 2002

On fransition to AIFRS, retzined sarmings of the consclidated
antity decressed and reservas increased by $5.1 million
[Compsany: $5.3 midion). For the 52 weeks ended 26 Juna
2008, amployves banafits expanse and reserves increasad

by $10.2 milgon {Cormpany: $10.2 million).

Employee Share Plan {(ESP}

The Group ocperales an Employes Share Plan (ESP) whereby
it provides intarast loans to salectad employaes 1o
purchase shares in the Company. All shares acquired
under the ESP are hald by a wholly-cwnad subsidiary of
Woolworths as trustas of the share plan trust. Dividends
paid by Woolworths are used to repay the emplioyes loans
(zfter paymant of a porticn of the dividend to the employes
10 covar any ax liabitities). The loans are limited recourse
and if the employes elecis not (o repay the lozn, the
underlying shares are sold o recover the cutstanding

loan batance.

Wo&wor hs LSP WETE %old in 2002 10 f,rmm,ml institution.
Under AFRS g liability squal 1o that part of these raceivable
balences not yet repaid by the employes will be recognisad
g% a izbility as the finangial institution has recourss o the
Company untii the share plan vesting conditions have been
satisfied. Al transition, this has resuiad in an increass

in lfaiilities in the consoidated antity of $19.2 million
(Company: $19.2 milont with $5.7 million (Company:

$5.1 mildon) being disclosed as & currant Hability and

$14.1 million {Cormpany: $14.1 million) &s non-curmant.

AL 26 June 2005, this gave rise Lo an increasa in lzbilities

i the consclidatad entity of $14.3 million (Company:

$34.3 million) with $4.3 million (Comzany: $4.3 million)
being disciosad a5 a surrent liability and the balance of
$10.0 mitlicn ([Company: $10.0 million) being disclosad as a
non-currant liability.

Under AFRS, the ESP entitiermants and zssociated limited
recourse loeng 1o the amployaes are con cid d o bean
oplion uri the rrmyoy@e repays tha loan. The options
are accounted for s sel out above and the fdw value
adjustments are included in the aguity-based remuneration
adjustment above. Further, under AIFRS, the consciidated
antity and the Company are considerad able 10 contred the
sharas held in trust until the loan is repzid. Accordingly, at
"r'ar“siti an, the underlying shares and loan 10 the empioyeas

gre aliminated on consolidation of the share frust reducing
'_r..a consclidated antity’s net azsets and nat eguity by

$108.9 million {Company: $108.9 million). The equity
component compriges $120.6 million (Company,

$120.6 million) being the inftial share fssue price lass

%117 mildon {Company: $11.7 million) of dividends on
shares hald in trust applied o reduce the related loan valae.
Any shargs forfeited ara soid on market and the procesds
of this sale are contributed 1o the Woolworths Group
Superannuation Plan.

For the BZ week period ended 26 June 2008, the
sonsoidation rasulted in recefvables and nat aguity
decreasing by $87.8 million {Company: $87.3 miilion)
including a $3.% millicn (Compary: $3.1 million) increzse in
share capital retating to incramentat proceeds from the zale
of {orfeited shares on- mafkm, and cash has increased by
$1.5 million (Company: $1.5 milion).

J Inventory
Woolworths receivas settiemaeant discounts from suppliers
for early paymant of amounts due, Under AGAAP theze
SMOoUNLS wera recognised as revenue when eamed.
Undear AIFRS, sattlement discounts and rebates receivad
from vendors are recognised as & reduction of cost of sales
tor inventory) rather than as revenue. This has resulted
in & redustion in irventory and relained aarnings of the
sonsoldatad entity on fransition 1o AIFRS of approximataly
$8.0 milion {Company: $8.0 million) relating to the redaction
irn the cost of stock-on-hend at pericd end 28 8 resull of
including settlement discounts in the valuation of inventory.
The agjustraent relating to the 52 weeks ended 26 June 2005
is a decraase in inveniory and a Cormmesponting increase in
ost of sales of $6.3 million (Compary: $0.3 millicn).

Settiament discounts, rabates and other purchase
sllowancaes totalling $472.2 million {Company:

B39E.Z million), praviously recognised in other oparating
revenue have been reclassified to cost of saias for the
52 week pericd endad 26 June 2005,

K Make good provisions

The consolidated enity has certain operating leases that
raquire the assel 1o be returned to the lassor in its arigina
condition. These obbgations relale to wear and tear on

the premisas and nol dismantling obligations, The

oparating leass payrments do not include an alement for
rapairsfovarhauls, Under AGAAP, the costs of rafurbishimant
gra not recogrised until itis probabie that the expenditure
will be incurred, wheraas under AIFRS a provision for
refurbishment costs must be recognised over the period of
the lease, measured at the expacted cost of refurbishment
st azch reporting date. At tha date of transition, an amount
of $8, 4 midlion (Comgary: $6.4 million) was recognised as

& lighifity of the conscldated antity with a corresponding
dacrease in retained sarnings. This provision has not

been ulilised during the 52 waeks anded 28 Juneg 2005,

The adjustment relating 1o the 52 weeks endad 28 June 2008
i5 an increase in the provigion of $0.5 million {Company:
$0.5 million).
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L Revenue ~ fuel discount vouchers

Woolworths izsues fusl discount vouchers {on shopper
dockats) 10 supermarket and BIG W customers in recogaition
of their loyalty, Under AGAAP, the full amount of the
supermarket and BIG W sales wera recognised as revenue
with no provision raised for angoing obligations asscciated
with discount vouchars, This traziment racognised that
sunstantiafly all of the transaction had been completed

and the incremenial cost of honoring discount vouchers

was not raaterial,

Under AASE 118 ravenus componants of multi-slamant
fransactions mast be ireated separately 2t fair value, whare
tharg are cngoing parformance or dalivery obligations.
Accordingly, under AIFRS a proportion of ravenus
recogrised on supermarket and 316G W sales is deferred,
reflacting the ongoing obligation associated with
unradeamad fusl vouchars, The provision arising is
refeased in a pattern refiscting the historical redemption

of Tue! discount vouchars,

Al the date of transition, ar amount of $3.3 million
Company: $3.3 mitlicn) was recognised as & liability of the
consolidated entity and the Company with a corresponding
decrease in relained eamings. The adjustment relzting 1o the
B2 weeks ended 26 June 20085 is an increase in the provision
of $0.5 miliion {Company: $C.5 mitlicn),

M Taxation

Thg AFRS transition adjustments set out elsewhers in this
note resultad in 8 net increase 1o the deferred 1&x asset of
$47.1 midicr [Company: $46.1 milion), recognised against
retained sarnings. In addition, deferrad lax balances are now
shown or & net basis o the extent that they ars payable to
or receivabie from the same laxation suthorily. Accordingly,
doferred 1ax Habilties of $4.5 million [Company: $3.6 million)
weare reclassified 1o the net deferred 1ax asset at transition.

For the 52 week pericd ended 28 June 2005, the nat
increase in deferred tax sssets was $22.8 million
[Company: $5.7 milfion} and comgrised:

5471 mildon {Cormpany: $48.1 million} increage &5 a result
of the transition 1o AIFRS recognised against retained
BAMINGS;

%11 millfon {Company: $1.8 million) decresse lor the tax
aliact of AIFRS adjustmenis for the 52 wesk pericd endad
26 Juna 2008 increaging incora 1ax axpanse;

%3.0 miflicn (Company: $3.0 million} increase for the tax
affact of iterns recognised directly in retained earmings for
the 2 week period ended 26 June 20085,

%14.0 million {Company: $nil} decrease for the tax effect
of the revaiuation of MGW licances on the change from
gquity accounting to consolidation, recognisad

%7.0 milllon {Company: $nill in asset revaluation rasarve
and $7.0 mitlion [Company: Snil] in outside aguity
interasis;
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$12. 4 million {Comgany: $12.8 million) decrasse for the
raclassification of deferred tax lizbilities to net defarrad
tax assets; and

$28.8 mildon decrease in defaerrad tax assats of

the Comparny arising from the application of UIG
Interpretation 1052 Tax Consolidation Accounting,
describad in the following section,

Tax consolidation

The consolidated antity had applied UIG Abstract 82 Incoma
Tax Accounting Under the Tax Consclidation System for tax
consclidation purposes under AGAAP resulting in the
Company as the head sntity of the tax consclidated group
recegaising both current and deferred t2x in refation o the
wholiy-ownad subsidiaries in the tax consclidatad group.
Under AFRAS, the consolidatad entity has adopted UG
Inerpretation 1052 which reguires the subsidiaries to initially
recognise both current and deferrsd taxes sefore
recegnising the head entity’s assumgption of the current tax
lianility or asset and deferred tax assel from lax lossas,

The entities in the Austraizn lax consolidated group have
revised the tax funding arrangement to address only currant
tax amounts and deferred tex assels from (ax lossas so that
no contributions or distributions 1o aquity participants are
expectad 1o arise in the future. There is no impact from
implemeantaticn of UIG intargretation 3052 on the
consclidated entity &s at transition or for the 52 weesk pericd
anded 26 June 2005 as upon consolidation the
intar-company balances are eliminated,

For tha Company, tha application of LG Interpratation 1052
resulted in a reduction of the deferred tax asset balence by

$28.8 midlicn at the date of fransition with a corresponding

inCrEases i intarcomaoany recaivabias.

Tax expensa of the Company decreasad by $22.9 rmilfion

at the date of transition, which is recognised in retained
earnings, with a corrasponding increzse inintarcompany
recaivables, For the 52 weaek period anded 26 June 2005,
tax axpense of the Company decraased by $34.7 million
with a corresponding increase in inlercompany receivaiies,

N Bebt establishment costs

Capitalised asstzblishment costs were praviously disclosed
as other assels, Under AFRE, such costs are included in
interest basring dabilities. An armount of $3.6 million
[Company: 3.8 million) was reciassified from aszsets o
liabifities at 26 June 2005,

O Outside equity interest

Adiusiments made under AIFRS have been allocated to
ouiside aguity interast 1o the extant that these adjusimants
are in raspact of the ALM Group. The aliocation of the impact
of thasa adjustments is based on the 25% oulside eqguily
intarest share.

Statement of cash flows

The above adjiustmants had no impact on the statermant
of cash flows for the 52 week period ended 26 Jung 2008,
other than for some reclassifications,
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Retained earnings
The sffect of the above sdjustmaents on retained azrnings iz as follows:
Proparty, plant and equipment ~ non-capitalisable items g (18.9] 116.8)
Proparty, plant and equipment - depreciztion saving on
writg-back 1o cost HEN
Capital profit resarve transler A 66.2 2.6
General reserve transfer A 469 45 5
Foraign currency translation reserve transfer G 10.4)
Assel revalugtion raserve transfer g 8.6 0.6
Cafined banafit plan 4 (31.0% 110.0) 131.03 1005
Ment straight-line adjustment c (53.3) (50.9)
Fued discount vouchars i i3.3) 13.3)
Fouity-based remunaration 5.1 5.1
Annual leave discounting B 2.3 2.3
Make good provision 1< 6.4 (6.4}
[nvantory J (8.0 18.0)
Consolidation of Employes Share Plan | 1.7 0.4 1.7 04
Ceferrad 1ax i 471 30 461 3.0
Tax consciidation 229
Total adjustment to retainsd samings o677 5.6 10.2 &6
Attributabie to:
Eouity holders of the parent 66.7 6.6 10.2 16 6)
Outside aouity interast

66.7 6.8 10,2 (6.6)
Relgined eamings (AGAAP) 1043 9780 506.0 8456
Transition reiained ezrnings adjustroaent 66.7 66,7 0.2 10.2
MRS current pericd retained earmings adjusiment 8.8 i6.8)
AFRS profit after tax amandments 257 50.6
Closing ratained ezrmings [AIFRS) FRARY, 10838 5182 7001
The reconciliation ebove should be rezd in conjunction with the notes 45 set out on pages 148 to 150



NOTESTO THE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 EXPLANATION OF TRANSITION TO AIERS (CONTINUED)

2005 batance sheets

The effect of the ebove sdiustments on the bzlance sheats of the consolidated entity and the Company as at 26 June 2005 are

as foliows:

Consolidated
As b 26 fune 2005
Effect of transition

Wenlunrrihs Limited
Asab 20 fnre HWE
Effect af transition

Nuotes  Previous GAAP o AIFRS AIFRS  Previons GAAD fo AIFRS AIFRS
fim it S Fwi $ni Fwi

Assets
Cash | 4323 15 4338 3187 15 313.2
Trade and othar recaivables A 480.0 1058 5958 1947 925 2872
Inverstories N 1.977.3 177 196898 1,528.7 (773 15190
Ascets hald for sale Jiy 287 372 6h.4 0.2 0.2
Other A 109.2 {108.2} 961 19613
Total current assets 3,037.0 274 3,084.4 21294 (19.8) 2.118.6
Trade and othar recaivables Al 79.6 B3.8 HiN 3,011.4 474 .4 3,485.8
Other financiat assets 1.1 1.1 152.3 1523
Property, plant and equigment AR 35526 193.3) 3,358.3 1,8455 (267} 1918.2
Intzngibias D,k 20114 36.C 2,046.4 3052 225 7T
Daferrad tax assals M 2651 226 2877 2384 57 2443
Other A 109 1109 10,9 (10.9)
Total non-currant assais 5,.970.9 1210.2) 57107 5,784 465.0 82153
Total assets B,G579 {182.8) 8,775 78835 4552 B,3387
Liabiiities
Trade and othar payables A 23356 5805 2,918 20802 912.4 2,8592.6
Accruals A 651.9 65%.9) 4587 [A5B8.7)
Borrowings 2354 2355 235.0 235.0
Currant tax liabilities 1055 1055 115.9 HER
Frovisions AHLKL 3935 1306 k235 3279 114.9 442 8
Total current Habilities 3,722.0 58,6 37808 3,215.7 5706 37863
Borrowings N 26140 3.8} 26104 2,603.C [3.8) 2,599.4
Caferred tax liabilities M 12.4 i12.4% R 12.8)
Provisions AR 412.4 122.4} 280.G 3798 3073 2725
Other C.H,I 939 439 B63 B6.3
Total non-currant liabilities 3,038.8 (44 .5) 2,984.3 2,995 8 (37.4) 205872
Total Hzbiiilies &780.8 141 87749 6,211.3 B33.2 #7445
Mai assels 2,197.1 {196 9 2,00072 1,672.2 (78.0) 1.584.2
Equity
lsgued capital | 977 3.1 481.0 9779 33 981.0
Shares hald in trust | 1102.2) 102,21 02,23 {102.2)
Reserves ALBGI 2079 1763} 318 487 (33.4) 15.3
Retained sarmings 9v8.0 858 1,0683.8 645 8 54 5 7003
Equily atiributable to the members
of Woolworths Limited 2838 [189.68} 1,974.2 1.672.2 (78.0) 1.584.2
Minority interast O 33.3 (7.3 26,0
Total equity 2,197.1 {1969} 2,00072 1.672.2 (78.0) 1.584.2

The reconciiiztion above should be rezd In conjunciion with the notes 4s set out on pages 148 to 31850,
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Reconciliation of profit for financial year ended 26 June 2005

Crmsefidited
Effect af transition

Waalmrihs Limited
Effect of transition

Motes  Prezdous GAAR In AIFRS AIFRS Previous GAAR o ATERS AIERS
i St St LS k3 LS

Mevenue from the sale of goods 31,3582.8 31,3525 26,0278 26,0278
Other cperating revenue g 6009 4722 1287 81864 i396.2) 1202
Total ravenue from operations 31,8534 {472.2} 314812 28,5442 {396.2) 28,1480
Cost of sales AL (2£150.8) 471.9 [23,678.9) (20,300.2) 3980 (19,704.2)
Gross profiy 7B02.8 0.3 78023 64440 (C.2) 6,443.8
Other ravenue A 3654 270.2 5.2 63.0 12.3 75.3
Other income Fi 0.2 0.2 - 45 4.5
Share of profit in associated company 2.5 25
Branch expenses ALCE (5.361.5) 331.6 15,029.9) 4343 2] 325 14,1097
Adrninigtration expenses AEC MK ,526.0 152.2) 1,578.2) (1,296 .6) (33.9] (1,330C.5)
Farnings before interast and tax 1,283.0 121 1,302% 1,068.2 5.6 10838
Financizl expanse 1643} (164.1) 122.6) (122.6)
Financial income A 10.4 38 4.0 323 2.4 345
MNet financing cost 1537 38 150,31 (9053 2.4 (BB
MNet profd before income tax expense 13283 227 1,152.0 9777 18.0 9957
Incoma tax axpensa M (3377 2.9 {334.8) {321.3) 329 (2884
Profit after income tax expanse 7918 258 817.2 856.4 509 7073
MNet profit atiributabie 1o
Fouity holders of the parent entity 7505 257 816.2 656.4 50.9 J0713
Minority iniarest 1.1 0.3 1.0
Profit for the pericd 7918 258 817.2 8564 50.9 073
Basic EPS [cants per share) B4 79.159
Diluled EPS (cants per share! 75B.3% 7894
The reconciliation ebove should be rezd in conjunction with the notes 45 set out on pages 148 to 150
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NOTESTO THE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 EXPLANATION OF TRANSITION TO AIERS (CONTINUED)

2004 transition balance sheets

The effect of the zbove zdjustments on the belance sheats of the consolidaied entily and the Company on transition 1o AIFRS,

baing 28 June 2004, are as follows:

Consolidated
As ol D fune 204
Effect of transition

Wealunreihs Limited
Asat 28 e 203
Effect af transition

Nuotes  Previous GAAP o AIFRS AIFRS  Previons GAAD fo AIFRS AIFRS
fim it i Fi $ni Fwi

Assets
Cash 3489 : 3489 314.5 - 314.5
Trade and othar recaivables A 208.6 2.3 3209 1697 100.4 2704
Inveniorias N 1,847.0 8.0 1,838.0 1,472.3 (8.0) 1,464.3
Assets hald for sale 258.6 2598 26.2 282
Other A 112.3 {123} 1004 1G04y
Total current assets 27784 8.0 276884 20835 (8.0 2,0715.5
Trade and othar recaivables Al 98 4 84,00 2.4 1,048.8 £04 5 1,454.3
Investments using the aguity method Fi§ 36 (3.6
Other financial sssets A 28.0 3.6 318 108.6 106.0
Property, plant and eguigment AR 24676 1308 23368 1.809.6 116.8) 1,582.8
Intzngities K723 572.3 392y - 3821
Daferrad tax assels Yl 1954 42.8 2380 1655 13.7 209.6
Other A 5.7 5.7 57 5.7
Total non-currant asseis 3,369.0 773 3,391 3,368 G577 3,054 8
Total assets 61454 {185.9} 598595 5,442 6 3BT 58303
Liabiiities
Trade and othar payables A 23763 5007 28770 1,944 .4 BELE 28790
Accruats A B54.5 1554 5) 4427 (£42.7;
Borrowings 18.0 18.C 17.0 - 7.0
Current tax labiities 132.2 132.2 133.0 133.0
Frovisions AELKL 3480 1256 4738 3187 1096 426 3
Total current Habilities 3,2250 71.8 3,3008 2,60348 5515 34883
Borrowings 484 8 494.8 4833 483.3
Gaferrad tax liabilities A 4.5 4.5 3.8 (3.5}
Provisions ALK 364.6 118, 2} 246.4 3388 102.2) 236.6
Other C.H,I 98.4 484 896.0 960
Total non-currant liabilities HE63.9 i24.3) 8396 Has7 9.8} 8159
Total dabiiities 4,002.9 475 4140.4 37208 54317 42712
Mai assels 2,0825 {2334} 1,819.1 1,7133 154.0) 1,55%.1
Equity
lsguad capiial R75.4 575.4 575 4 575.4
Shares hald in trust | £120.6) 11208} (120.8) [120.6)
Reserves ALB.G, 184.6 1179.5; 51 48.7 143.8) 51
Retained sarmings 7043 &6.7 771.C 5060 10.2 516.2
Equily attributable to the meambers
of Woohworths Limited 14643 {2334} 1,230.9 11303 (154,03 9783
Wookworths Incomea Notas 5830 . 583.G 583G 583.0
Minority fnterest 5.2 52
Total equity 2,0825 {2334} 1,819.1 1,7133 (154,03 1,550.%

The reconciiiztion above should be rezd In conjunciion with the notes 4s set out on pages 148 to 31850,

164



Financial instruments

Change in accounting poticy

In the current financizl year the consclidated entity adopted for the first time AASE 132 Financial Instruments: Disciosure and
Prasentation {AASE 132} and AASE 1398 Financial Instrurments: Recognition and Measureraent [AASE 138) This change in
accounting policy resulted from the election made In zccordance with the transition rules contained in AASE 1, which does not
require tha restatermnment of comparative information for financial instremants within the scope of AASE 132 and AASE 138,

The adoption of AASE 138 has resulied in the consclidaled enlity recognising al derivative financial instruments as assais or
liakilities at fair value. This change has baen accouniad for by adiusting the opaning balance of equily {retained sarnings and

The impact on the balance sheet as &t 27 June 2005 iz set owt below. The notes below describe the major companants of theze
irmipacts. The trensitional provisions will not have any affect in future reporting pericds.

Application of AASE 132 and AASE 139 prospaciively from 27 June 2005 for the conzclidated entity and the Comgpany:

ipitct of change AIFRS

Closing balance innccounting apening alae

26 fume 2005 odicy 27 fune 20405

Nuofes Dr#Cr) I ilrd IheftCrl

i St LS

Forgign exchangea darivative liability i (0.4} 10.4)
Madge azsal

Cross-currancy sSwaps 3 34.0 340
Daforred tax assat (net) 4 2877 3.3 2910
Borrowings 3 12,845 .9) (14 .6} 12,8680.5)
Medge liability:

Interest rate swaps 2 - 129.2) 1292
Medging reserve 2.3 6.9 6.9
Metainad sarmings 12,3 (1,063.8) (1,063 8
Total (3,622 0 13,6220




NOTESTO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 EXPLANATION OF TRANSITION TO AIERS (CONTINUED)

{1} Forgign exchange contracts

Under AFRS, foreign sxchange derivatives are requirad 1o be recognised at fair value on the balancs sheel. Fair valus
reprasents the difference batwesn the condracted forward rate and the period end forward rate and reprasents an unrealised
discounted (gt applicable current intarest retes) gain or loss on the contract at a point in time. AL 27 June 2005, the fair value
of the forward forefgn exchange contracis regresented an unreslissd loss of $0.4 milion {Company: $6.4 million) resulting in
the recognition of foreign exchange derivativas liabitity of $6.4 million (Company: $0.£ milion} and dabit to the hadging
reserve in equity of $0.4 million {Company: $0.4 million).

{2) Interest rate swaps — cash flow hedges

Under AIFRS, the interast rate swaps usaed 10 hedge the consolidated entity's interest tearing liability exposure are required
10 ba recogrised at fair vaiue on the balance sheet, Fair valug reprasents the present value {discounted 21 applicable current
irtarest rates) at reporting date of the net future interest coupons associzted with the swap. AL 27 June 2005, the fair value of
interast rale swaps totaled $29.2 miticn ([Company: $29.2 millicn) resulting in the recognition of & hadgs Ifabiity inon-current
of $29.2 million [Company: $29.2 million) with an equal amount debited 1o the hedge resarve in aguity.

{3} Cross-currency swaps and foreign denominated debt

Ther consolidatad antity has enterad into cross-currency swaps related to its USD dencminatad toans. Under AIFRS thae swaps
are recogrised at fair velue on the balance shaet. Fair vailue of 2 cross-currency swap represents the aggregate of the present
value {discounted at applicatis current intarest rates) at reporting date of the future interest rate coupons under the swap and
the difference batwean the contracted forward exchange rate in the swap and the pericd end forward exchange rate, At

27 June 2005, thase swaps had a fair value of $34 milion {Company: $34 million) and accordingly a hedge asset non-current}
WES reccgiised.

Simultanecusly, under AFRS, the foreign dencminated debt has also baen restated to period end exchange rates resulling in
nat increass 1o the dabi of $14.8 million {Company: $14.6 million}.

A hedge assat of $34 million (Compary: $34 million) s recognised with a corresponding incresse o intergst-bearing liabilities
of $14.6 million {Company: $14.8 milion} and $19.4 mitlion {Company: $19.4 million) in a hedging reserve,

{4} Tax effect

The tax affect of the sbove adjustments was to increase the net defarred tax asset at 28 June 2008 by 3.3 mitlion (Company:
$3.3 milion) recogrised as $G.5 million (Comgpary: $0.5 milion} (o retzined samings and $2.8 million (Company: $2.8 million)
o the hedging raserve.




DIRECTORS
DECLARATION

The Diraciors deciara that:

(z)in the Directors’ opinion, there are reasenable grounds (o believe that the Company
wiil be &ble to pay its debis as and when they bacome due and payableg;

(blin the Cireclors” opinion, the attached Financial Stzlaments and notes theralo arg in
accordanca with the Corporations Act 2007, including compliance with zccouniing
standards and giving & frue and fair view of the financia! position and parformance
of the consolidatad entity; and

(c) the Diractors have baan given the declarations required by 5. 2954 of the Corporations
Act 2001

Al the date of this declaration, the Company is within the clzss of cormpanies af
ASIC Class Order 98/1418. The nature of the Deed of Cross Guarantes is such that ¢
comgary which is party o the Deed guarantass to each craditer payment in fudl of any debt
in zccordance with the Deed of Cross Guarantse.

In the Directors’ opinion, there are reesonable grounds o believe thal the Company and the
comgaries to which the ASIC Class Order applies, as detailed in Note 28 to the Financial
Staterments will, as a group, be able to meat any cbligations or liabilities o which they are,
or may become, subject by virtue of the deed of cross guaranteas,

Signed in accordance with a resclution of the Directors made pursuant to s.295(5) of the
Corporaticns Act 2001,

On behai of the Directors

(T o3 L.C0a

James Strong Roger Corbett
Chairman Group Managing Director/CEQ



INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF WOOLWORTHS LIMITED

B Celoitta Touche Tohmatsu
e OItte ARN, 74 490121 06D

Grogsvancr Place

225 George Straat

Sydnay NSW 2000

PO Box N250 Grosvenoes Place
Sydnay NSW 1220 Austrzlia
X 1030755

Tel +81 (0) 2 8322 7000

Fax: +81 101 2 9322 70018
vy deloitte. com.au

Scope

The financial report, compensation disclosures and directors’ responsibility

Thier financizl report comprises the balance shaels, income statements, statermant of cash
Hows, slatemenis of recognised income and expense, 3 suramary of significant accounting
policies and other exglanatory notes and the directors” declzration for both Woolworths Limiled
(the companyt and thae consclidated antity, Tor the finzncial vear ended 25 Zune 2006 as sat out
on pages 75 1o 157, The conscidated entity comprises the company and tha antities it
controfled at the year's end or from time o tima during the financial year.

As permitied by the Corporations Regulations 2007, the company has disciosed information
about the compeansation of key managemeant gerzonnel (“compensation disclosures”) as
requirad by paragraphs Aus 25 4 1o Aus 2572 of Accounting Standard AASE 124 Related Farty
Disclosures {"AASE 124"}, under the haading “rermuneration report” set out in Section 3
"Exacutive Remuneration including Executive Directors” and Saction 4 "Non-executive
Directors’ Remunerstion” {axcept for Sub-Saction 4 8 “Appointment Lettars, Deeds of Access,
Ingurance and Indemnity, Cisclosure Deeds”) of the direclors” report, and not in the fingncial
raport. These companzation disclosuras are identfied in the dirgciors’ raport s baing subject
o audil. The remunaration report also containg information not subject 10 audit,

The diraciors of tha company are responsibie for the preparation and true and fair
prasentation of the financial report in accordanca with Accounting Standards in Austratiz
and the Corparations Act 2007, Thig includes rasponsibility for the maintenznce of adaguate
financial records and intarmal controls that ere designed to prevent and delact fraud and error,
and Tor the sccounting policies and accounting estimates inherant in the financial repori.

The directors are alsc responsitle for the preparation and praseniation of the compensation
diselosures containad in the direclors’ raport in sccordance with the Corporations
Hegulations 2007,

Audit approach

We have conducted an independant audit of the Tinancizl report and compenszation disciosures
i order 1o eXpress an opinion on them o the members of the company. Our aadit hag been
conduciad in zecordance with Austraiizn Auditing Standards 10 provide reascnable assurances
whathar the financial seport is free of material misstatament and the compensation disclosuras
comply withh AASE 124, The natura of an audit is influsnced by factors such as the use of
professional judgamant, selective (gsting, the inhearent limitations of internal controls, znd the
gvailability of parsuasive rather than conclusive evidence. Tharefare, an audit cannol guarantes
that all material mizstaterments have been detected.

Wea parformed procedures to form an opinion whether, in &l material respects, the financial
report s preseniad fairy in accordance with Accounting Standards in Austrelia and the

tarmber ot
Liabizity fimited by & scheme approved under Professional Standasds Legisiation. Delote Touche Tohmatsu



Corporations Act 2007 so as (o prasent a view which is consistent with our understanding
company’s and the conscldatad entity’s Tinegnciz! positions, and performance as represented by
the resulls of thelr oparations, their changes in eguity and their cash flows and whather the
compensation disclosures comply with AASE 124,

Our procedures included examination, on & 185t basis, of evidence supporling the amounts and
other disclesures in the financial report and the compensation disclosures in the diractors’
regort, and the evaluation of accounting policies and significant accounting estimates made by
the dirgctors.

Wihile we considaered the effectiveness of management’s internzl controls over financial
reporting whan datarmining the nature and extent of cur proceduras, our sudit was not
designed 10 provide assurance on internal conirols,

The audit opinion expressed in this report has Sean formed on the sbove basis.
Auadit opinion

In our opinion:

(1) the financial report of Woolworths Limited is in accordances with the Corporations Act 2007,
including:

i) giving a true and Tair view of the company's and consolidated entity’s financial positions
&8 at 25 June 2008 and of their parformance Tor the year ended on that date; and

iy complying with Accounting Standards in Austraiiz and the Carporations Regulations 2007,
and

(2} the compansation disclosuras that are contained in Section 3 "Executive Remuneration
including Exacutive Cirectors” and Section 4 "Non-exacutive Directors” Remunaration”
{excapt for Sub-Saction £ 8 "Appointment Letiars, Deeds of Access, Insurance and
Indernnity, Disclosura Deads™) under the hezding "Remuneration Report” of the directors’
report comply with paragraphs Aus 25 4 (o Aus 25.7.2 of Accounting Standard AASE 124
Felated Party Disclosures.

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOMMATSU

Fod Smith

Farinar

Chariered Accountants
Sydney, 22 Sapteamber 2006



SHAREHOLDER
INFORMATION

Tha shareholder information set cut below was applicable &s at 19 Seplember 2006,

Number of shareholders
Thare were 336,400 shareholders, holding 1,184,678, 787 fully paid ordinary sharas.

Distribution of equity securities
(&} Anaiyais of numbars of sharsholdars by size of holding:

Range of fully paid erdinary (FPG) staresfoptions®

Numter of Nimber of

PR holders FIC shinres

Nrmber of
Crptien folders

11,600 180,201 sEaszzy -

1,001 - 5,000 128,221 251,278 410 274
5001 - 10,000 12,418 86,062,250 353
10,001 - 300,000 5,648 114,881,341 929
100,007 - and over 211 658,608,858 23
Total 336,400 1,184,676,787 1,579

(b) There were 8,028 holders of less than & marketable parcel of ordinary shares.

20 targest shareholders
The names of the 20 largest holdars of shares are listed below:

Mirme

Numiber of fully paid

orditmiry shares

Percentinge of
Fastent capitil'te

st

JP Maorgan Nominees Ausirada Limited
Mationat Nominaes Limited
Whastpac Custodian Nominees Lirmited
Citiorp Nominess Ply Limited
Cueensland invesimant Corporation
ANZ Nomineas Limited (cagh income acoouni)
Cogent Nominees Pry Limited

ANZ Nominses Limited [income reinvast plan)

AP Life Limited
0 HSBC Custody Nominagss {Australial Limited
11 Woolworths Custodian Py Lid
12 Austrzlian Foundation Investmeant Comparny Limnitad
13 Perpetual Trustes Company Limited
14 Citicorp Nomineas Ply Limited
5 Austrzlian Nominees Py Limited
16 Cogent Nominees Piy Limited
17 1AG Nominaes Pty Limited
18 Austrzlian Nominess Pty Limited
19 Citicorp Nominasgs Pty Limited
20 Argo lnvastmenis Limitad

P o v SR I O N P i )

181,188,530
126,255 480
112,208,384
31,890,577
29,127,216
17,841,862
15,684,435
13,208,015
11,837,709
11,687 463
9,645,068
6,203,729
4,753,761
4,670,078
4,434,714
3,710,093
3,568,988
3285104
3,243.540
3341723

13.81
10.66
9.47
2.68
2.48
151
1.32
1.1%
1.00
0.59
0.81
0.52
0.40
0.39
0.37
0.31
0.30
0.27
G.z27
0.27

Substantial sharehoiders

As at 19 Saptember 2006 there wers no subsizntial shareholdars in the Company that he

sharehoiding notices.

Unquoted equity securities

20 providad supstantiat

As at 19 Saeptember 20086 there werg 27,125,027 options grantad over unissusd ordinary shares in the Company to employees,
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Woolworths Notes

On 26 October 2005, Woechworths announced thet it intended o redeam the WINs in azrly 2006, On 3 Aprid 2008, the Cormpany
anrounced to the ASX an offar of perpatual unsecured, subordinated, cumulative notas at $300 aach (Woolworths Notas) to
raise up to $BC0 million and lodged with the Australian Sacurities and Investmants Cormmission a prospacius for the Offer

The Offar comprised an Eligible WiNs Holder Offer, a Broker Firm Offer and an institutional Offer.

On & June 20086, the Company redeemed ali $800 million in Taca value of the WiNs and allottad all six million Woolworths Notes.
Normal setilement trading for the Woolworths MNotes on ASX commenced on 9 June 2008, Woolworihs Notas ere guoted undar
tha ASX code WOWHIE.

Voting rights

On a show of hands, at & General Meating of the Company, every member present in person or by proxy shall have one vote
and upon a poli ezch person present in parscn or by proxy shall have one voie for each ordinary share hald.

Sharehoider enquiries

Ernguiriss and correspondence ragarding shareholdings should be directed to Woolworths Limited Share Registran
Computarshare Investor Servicas Py Limited by telephone on 1300 368 884, by facsimile on (G2} B235 8150 or gnline vig the
Shareholder Centre on Woolworths Limited wabsite sl wwwowoolworthislimited. com au or by visiting the Computarshare
wishigite al www sompulershars com.au.

Changed your address?
If you change your address, please prompily notify our Share Registrar in writing. Please guote your Shareholder Referance
Mumber and your oid address as addad security. Change of address advice forms can be downloaded vis the Shareholder

:

Centre on Woolworths Limited website st wwwwooblworthslimited.com.au.

Employee shareholder information
For information on Woohworths Limited employee shareholdings please coniact

Wioohworihs Shareholder Relations

P inoolworths Way

Bedz Vista NSW 2153

snhone {02) BBBE 1066 or (07) 8885 1088
girmite: {07) BRER 1086 or {02) BBEE 1068

Finat dividend
The final dividend of 31 cants par share wili be paid on 8 October 2008 1o sharaholdars antitled (o receive dividends and
regisiared on 8 September 2008 (Record Date).

Direct payment to shareholders’ accounts

Uividends may be paid directly into bank, building scciety or credit union accounts in Australia. Payments are slectronically
creditad on the dividend paymeant daie and a dividend advice confirming deposit details can aither ba mafed to sharahoidars
or is available online should holders slect.
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SHAREHOLDER
INFORMATION

Commurications by email

Mora and mora of cur shareholders are enjoying the beneafits of receiving Woolworths' communications via emait, Thig provides
fagl, effective zccess o information you would normally receive by mail, and it heips us (o reduce costs (o Both tha environment
and the Company.

Visit the Woolworths Limited websiie al wwwowoolworthslimitad.com.aufshereholdercents and click on tha link providad.
Alternativaly, visit the Computershare website at www.comgputarshare com.au/zu/se.

Be sure 1o have your Sharehelder Beference Number (SEN) or Holder identification Nurabar (HHIN) handy. You can choose 1o
receive the Annual Report, Notice of Meeting/Proxy Form and dividend advices by email.

Dividend Relnvestrent Plan {DRP}

Eligible shargholders rmay alect 10 participaia in the DRP in respact 10 all or part of their sharehoiding, subject to any maximum
andfor minimura number of shares to participate in the DRP that the Directors may specify. There is currently no miniraum or
rmaximurm nurnber of sharas which a shareholder {other than & brokes's claaring accounts, nominges and caridin trusteas) may
designale as participating in the DRP. Application forms are available from Woolworths Limited's Share Registrar, or can be
downloaded from Woolworths Limited weabsite.

Uncertificated share register
The share register is wholly uncertificated. Shareholder statermnents are issued within five business days after the and of any
rronth in which transactions are registerad in respect of your sharehoiding.

Woolworths communications
As well 28 this Annual Report, Woolworths communications for shareholderss include:

The Haif Year Resuits Surmmary, which is matled with the rgarim Cividend in April.

Gurwabsite, wwwwoohwvorthslimitad. com.au, providas investors with information sbout Woolworths Limited, including

copies of Annual Reports, Chairman’s Address, Haif Year Resulis Summary and Releases 1o the ASX by tha Company.
Removal from the Annual Report maiting list
Shzrgholders who do not want o receive the Annual Report shouid advise Woolworihs Limited's Share Registrar in writing.
Thage shareholders will continue (o receive all cther shareholder information, including Notices of alt Annual Genaral Maetings.

o

Stock exchangs listings
Woolworths Lirnited ordinary shares are listed on the Australian Stock Exchange.

American depository receipts
Woclworths Limited sharas may be traded in sponsored American depository receigts form in the United States.
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Lhate of dfvidend Type Cemts per share Franking Rafe DR Price
History of dividends paid

30111963 Fina: 6 canig 39% $2.95
29/04/1994 Int@rim 6 canis 39% $2.89
30119584 Fina: 6 canig 39%+33% $2.60
28/04/19585 Int@rim 6 canis 33% $2.72
17111585 Finai B canig 39%+33% $2.80
26/04/1998 Intarirm 7 canig 33% %2.87
1211868 Fina: B canig 36% $2.58
24/04/1997 Intarim 7 canis 36% $3.22
IHI01997 Fina 9 qents 36% £3.04
240411998 Intarim 8 cents 36% $5.35
Q01905 Fina: 9 canig 36% 518
30041055 Intarim B oantg 36% $4.83
BAGE59 Fina: 10 canig 36% £5.19
28/04/2000 Intarim 10 cents 36% $4.92
BAGECO0 Finai 13 canig 34% $6.61
2H0442008 Intarim 17 canis 34% £7.99
RGO Finai 15 canig 30% $10.98
300472002 Intarim 15 cantg 30% $12.23
BAG2002 Finai 18 cantg 30% $13.78
30042003 Intarirm 18 cants 30% $11.71
3NG2c03 Finai 271 cenig 30% $11.37
30/047 2004 Intarim 21 canis 30% £11.49
BNO2004 Fina: 24 cenig 30% $13.16
29/04/2008 Interim 24 canis 30% $15.50
FEGH20048 Fina: 27 canis 30% $38.77
28/04/20086 Interim 28 cants 30% $18.26
O8N0 00E Finat 31 cantsg 30% $19.753
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SHAREHOLDERSY
CALENDAR

2006

Gctober
& Paymaent date for Finzl Dividend
23 Announcement of first quarter ssles results

November

24 Annual General Mealing

The Parkside Auditorium

Sydnay Convention and Exhibition Cenira
Carling Harbour

Sydnay NSW

December

15 Interest Payment on Woolworths Income Notes
2007

January/February

Anncuncaement of second quarter sales resulis
Haf Year Resuits announcement

March
15 Interast Peyment on Woolworths Income Notes
Aprit

Mecord date for Intgrim Dividend

Payraant of Intarim Dividend

Maiting of Summary of Half Year Results
Anncuncamant of third quarter sales resulis

June

15 Interast Peyrmant on Woolworths Income Notes

July
Annocuncement of fourth quartar sales resulls

August
Predirminary Full Year Results and Final Dividend arnouncemeant

Please note: the timing of events may be subject 1o change.
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WOOLWORTHS LIMITED a.snN. 88000 01 675
NOTICE OF ANNUAL
GENERAL MEETING 2006

Naotice is hereby given that the eighty-fivst Annual General Meeting of
Members of Woolworths Limited will be held on Friday, 24 November
2006 af the Parkside Awditorium, Svdney Convention and Exhibition
Centre, Darling Marbour, Sydney, NSW, commencing at 11.00am.

AGENDA

Ordinary Business

1. Financial Statements and Reports

To receive and consider the Financial Report of the
Company and the Reports of the Divectors and
Auditor for the financial period ended 25 fune 2006.
2. Rermuneration Report

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following
resolution as an ordinary resolution:

“That the Remuneration Report fwhich forms part
of the Directors” Report) for the financial vear ended
25 June 2006 be adopted”.

Note: the vote on this resolution is advisovy only and does
wot bind the Directors or the Company.

3. Election of Directors

fat Toelect ags a Director My Thomas William
Pockett, such appointment to take effect at the
conclusion of the Annual General Meeting,

fhy Torre-elect as a Director My lohn Frederick
Astbary who retives by rotation in accordance
with Article 103 of the Company's Constitution
and being eligible offers himself for re-election.

fc} Toelectas a Director Mr Stephen Mayne, such
appointment to take effect at the conclusion of
the Annual General Meeting.

fdy Torelect as a Director My Michael Gerazd
Lascombe who retires in accordance with Article
WAL of the Company’s Constitution and being
eligible offers himsell for election.

fe} Torve-elect as a Director Mr James Alexander
Strong who retires by rotation in accordance with
Article 1003 of the Company’s Constitution and
being eligible offers himsell for re-election.

Note: There ave floe candidates standing for four available
Board positions. Shareholders may vote in favour of up

fo fouer candidates. Voies in firoour of five candidates

will be invalid. Sharcholders may vole aguinst as

many candidates as they wish. Refer to page [7] of the
Explanatory Nofes for information ;4'15?(_mrdf‘:ng b poting
on Resolutions 3a) to (e} will be defermined.



Special Business

4. Execative Directors” Options

{2} Group Managing Dirvector's Options
Tor consider and, if thought fit, to pass the
following as an ordinary resolution:
“That the grant o the Group Managing Director
and Chief Executive Offices of the Company,
Mr Michael Luscombe, of up to a maximum
of 1,500,000 options to subseribe for ordinary
shages in the Company, such options to be
granted pursuant fo the Woolworths Long Term
Incentive Plan {"Plan”} in accordance with the
terms of the Plan and as described in the Notes
accompanying the Notice of Annual General
Meeting convening this meeting, be approved
for alt puzposes including for the purpose of
ASX Listing Rule 100147

{b} Director of Finance's Options

oy consider and if thought fit, to pass the
following as an ordinary resolution.

“That the grant to the Director of Finance,

Mr Thomas William Pockett of up to a maxtmum
of TH0,000 options to subscribe for ordinary
shazes in the Comparny, such options to be
sranted pursuant to the Plan in accordance
with the terms of the Plan and as described in
the Notes accompanying the Notice of Annual
General Meeling comvening this meeating, be
approved for all purposes including for the
purpose of ASX Listing Rule 11147

Note: If shavefiolders approve Resolufions 4(a) and

{h), a maxinun of 1,300,000 Optivns will be issued fo
My Luscontbe and o maxinasn of FHO000 Options will

be issued to My Pockett by no later than three years after
the passiog of this vesolution. It is anticipated that the
first grant of Options to Mr Luscombe and My Pockett
undey the Plan will be made in 2006 (Fhe “2006 Grant”}.
The maximunt number of Qptions that will be granted to
My Luscombe and My Pockett under the 2006 Grant will
be determined by the Dirvectors, but will not exceed 500,000
in the case of My Luscombe, and 250,600 in the cage of Mr
Pockett. Refer to page (151 of the Explanatery Notes for
wiore Binformation regarding the proposed 2006 Grant.

5. Adoption of New Constitution

Ter consider and, if thought Bt to pass the following
resolution ag a special resolution:

“Fhat the Constitution of the Company is repealed
and the Constitution in the form tabled at the meeting
and initialled by the Chairman for the purposes of
identification, is adopted as the Constitution of the
Company, with effect from the close of this meeting.”

Voting Exchesion Statement

The Company will distegard any votes cast on
Resolutions 4 (a) o (b} by any of the Directors

{except a Director who s ineligible to participate in
ahy employes incentive scheme in relation to the
Companyy and any associate of a Director. However,
the Company need not disregard a vote if:

@y it is cast by a Director or an associate of a Director
as proxy for a person who is entitled to vote, in
accordance with the dizections on the proxy form;
or

it s cast by a Director who is chairing the
meeting as proxy for a person who is entitled to
wote, in accordance with a direction on the proxy
form to vote as the proxy decides.

Dated: xxx 2006
By order of the Board

P ] Horton
Comparny Secretary



Ehgibility to Vote

Regulation 7.11.37 of the Corporalions Regulations 2001
permits the Company to specify a thne, not more than
A8 hours before the meeting, at which a snapshot’

of shareholders wiil be taken for the purposes of
determining shareholder entitlements to vote at the
meeting,

The Company’s Directors have determined that
all shares of the Company that arve quoted on ASX at
hCpm {Sydney time) on Wednesday 22 November
20046 shall, for the purposes of determining voting
entitlfements at the Annual General Meeting, be taken
to be held by the persons registered as holding the
shages at that time.

This means that any person registered as the holder
of an ordinary share in the capital of the Company at
Lhpm {Sydney time) on Wednesday 22 November
20436, 1s entitied to attend and vote at the Annual
General Meeting in respect of that share,

Proxies

A Member entitled to attend and vote is entitled to
appoint not mote than bwo proxies.

A prosy need not be a Member of the Company
A Member who is entitled to cast two or more votes
may appoint two persons and may specily the
proportion of number of votes which each proxy iy
appointed to exercls

Hovou wish to Llppnm[ a proxy, vou can use the
Proxy Form accompanying this Notice

You can alse submit vour proxy appointment
ontine by visiting the webpage: www.computershare.
comiausproxyiwow. To use this online faciiity, vou
will need your Shareholder Reference Number
(SRNY or Holder identification Number (F1IN) and
postecode, ag shown on vour proxy form. You will be
taken to have signed the proxy form if vou lodge it in
accordance with the instructions on the website. A
proxy cannot be appointed electronically by a person
appointed by a shareholder under a Power of Altormey
or shmilay authorityv

The ondine proxy facility may not be suitable for
some members who wish to split their votes on an
itern of business or appoint two proxies with different
voting directions. Please read the instructions for the
ondine proxy facility cavefully before vou lodge vous
oy aqmg this facility.
of hands, every person present and
qua] «dd 1o vote shall have one vote. It you have
appointed a proxy and the proxy appointed (s also
a Member, or a proxy for another Member, any
direction to the proxy on how to vote may not be
effective on a show of hands. Your divections will be
effective if a poll is held.

To be effective, vour online proxy appointment
miust be lodzed through the above webpage by
no later than 48 hours prior to the Meeting,.

To be effective, vour Proxy Form and the Power
af Atforney or other a uthority {f any) under which
it is signed or a copy of the Power of Attorey or
ather authority, cestified as a true copy by Statutory
Declaration, must be received no later than
48 hwuis prior to the Meeting by Woolworths
Share Registrar, Computershare Investor Services
Pry Limited, {using the reply paid envelope enclosed)
aor by facsimile to (03) 9473 2118 or at the Registerad
Crfice of Woolworths Limited, § Woolworths Way,
Bella Vista NSW 2153,

Explanatory Notes

1. Financial statements and reports
Ag required by section 317 of the Corporations Act
2007 {Cihy, the Financial Report, Directors” Report
and Auditor’s Report of the Company and the
consolidated entity for the most recent financial vear
will be laid before the meeting. Shareholders will be
provided with the opportunity to ask questions about
the reports.

There is no requirement for a formal resolation
on this item. Accordingly, there will be no formal
resolttion put to the meeting,

2. Remuneration Report
The Company’s Remuneration Report for the period
ended 25 June 2006 is set out on pages [xx] to [xx]
of the 2006 Annual Report and is also available on
Waoobworths website at wwwwoolworths.contau.
The Remuneration Report inclades an explanation
af the Company’s remuneration policy and the
remuneration arrangements in place tor Directors
and certain senior executives whose remuneration
arrangements are required by law to be disclosed.
The Remuneration Report also details the decision
by the Directors to cease the ongoing accrual of
benefits under Retirement Deeds, which were
approved by shareholders in N

fvemiber 1998 and
entitled each non-executive Director {appointed
prios to January 2004) to recetve an allowance on
retirement as a Divector after a minimum period
af service. Accruals ceased on 1 August 2006, and
thv benefits acerued to that date w 11[ be indexed by
reference to the 90 Day Australian Bank Bill Swap
Reference Rate and may be rolled into a defined
benefit superannuation fund.

At Woolworths, all of our emplovees play an
important role in delivering the Comparny’s financial
performance and our remuneration policies have
been developed to provide market competitive
remuneration in order to sustain Woolworths’




cormpetitive advantage and protect the interests
of shaveholders.

Woolworths has an achievement and performance
orfented cudture which our remuneration policies
serve o drive and support. In recognising the
importance of our people o our success, in excess of
46,000 current Woolworths emplovees participate
in various equitv-based schemes, sharing in the
Company’s suceess and aligning their interests with
that of other shareholders. Remuneration policy
ig aligned with both our financial and strategic
business objectives and recognises that people are
a major contributor ko sustained improvements in
performance.

Woolworths” remuneration policy for all
executives ensures:

- remuneration is market competitive and designed
to attract, motivate and retain key executives;

- demanding performance measures are applied to
both short and long-term “at risk” remuneration;

- short-term performance is linked to both financial
and non-financial performance measures; and

- ong-term pecformance Is measured through
shareholder value creation.

In summary, the Remuneration Report:

- explains the Board's policy for determining the
nature and amount of rermuneration of Digectors
and senior managers of the Compaty;

- explaing the relationship between the Board's
remnuneration policy and the Company’s
performance;

- details and explains any performance conditions
applicable to the remuneation of Directors and
senior managars of the Company; and

- sets out remuneration details for each Director and
the five specified senior executives of the Company
(inclucting the value of any options granted to those
persens),

As reguired by the Corporations Act 2607 (Cthy, a non-
binding resolation to adopt the Remuneration Report
is to be put to shageholders at the meeting. The vote
on this resolution is advisory only and does not bind
the Directors or the Compary.

The Divectors recommensd that shareholders vole in favour
of the resolufion o adopt the Remuneration Report.

3. Retivement and election of Directors
Inaccordance with Article 1003 of the Company’s
Constitution, which provides for the rettrement by
rotation at each annual genetal meeting of one-third
of the Directors and in accordance with Australian
Stock Exchange Limited Listing Rule 14.4, which
prohibits Directors from holding office (without

re-election) past the third annual general meeting
following the Director’s appointiment or three years,
whichever is longer, Mr James Strong and Mr John
Asthury ave to retire at the Annual General Meveting
on 24 November 2006 (Annual General Meeting™).

In accordance with Acticle 10.5 of the Company’s
Constitution, both Mr Strong and Mr Astbuyy are
eligible for re-election and have submitted themselves
for re-election at the Annual General Meeting,

In accordance with Article 10,9, of the Company’s
Constitution, Mr Michael Luscombe has been
appointed as a Director, as an addition to the
existing DHrectors.

In accordance with Article 10,1 of the Company’s
Constitution, Mr Luscombe is eligible for election
and has submitted himself for election at the Annual
Ceneral Meeting,

Mr Pockettis not curtently a Director but being
eligibie for election, and having been nominated by
the Board, has submitted himsell for election at the
Annuaal General Meeting, I elected, his appoinbment
will take effect at the conclusion of the Annual
Ceneral Meeting,

In addition to the candidates set out above, an
external candicate, Mr Stephen Mayne, seeks election
to the Board, Mr Mayne is not currently a Direct
being eligible for election, has submitted hinself for
election at the Annual General Meeting. If elected, his
appointment will take effect at the conclusion of the
Annual General Meeting,

The Board's policy on Board compesition is to
ensure that the Board comprises an appropriate mix
of skifls s as to provide the necessary breadth and
depth of knowledge and experience which is required
to meet the Company’s responsibilities and objectives.

There are five candidates standing for four available
Board positions. Accordingly, if more than four
candidates receive more votes “for” than “against”,
only the four candidates who receive the greatest
number of votes “for” will be elected to the Board.

The manner in which candidates are listed in this
notice and on the proxy form has been determined by
the auditor conducting a bailot. This itern of business
will be determined by a poll.

The following voting system will be adopted in
relation to Resolutions 3{a} to (o)

- Shareholders may vote in favour of up to four
candidates. If a Shareholder votes in favouy of all
five candidates then all their votes will be invalid.
Shareholders may vote against as many candidates
ay they wish.

To be elected, a candidate must teceive more voles
in favour of thetr election than against.




- I more than four candidates recefve an excess
af votes in favour over votes against, the fouy
candidates with the most votes in favour will
be elected (votes against the candidates will be
disregarded for this part of the count).
Mr James Strong, Chalrman, and the other Directors,
intend to vote open proxies given to them “against”
the election of Mr Mavne and “Tor” the election of
Mesgars Strong, Astbury, Luscombe and Pockett,
Detalls of the

candidates are seb oub helow:

Thomas Willkam Pockett
Director of Finance
Mr Pocieett was educated in Sydney receiving a
Bachelor of Commerce degree from the University
of New South Wales. He is a member of the Group
of 100 and was the National President from August
2K o Jaruary 2003, Me s an Augtralian Chartered
Accountant {ACA) and was a member of the Financial
Reporting Council from Mazeh 2003 to March 2006,
Fe joined Woolworths Limited as Chief Financial
Officer I August 2002, He previously held the
position of Deputy Chief Financial Giticer at the
Commonwealth Bank of Australia. Priosto his role
w lth the CBA he was with Lend Lease Corporation.
¥hilst at Lend Lease he held several senior finance
s v different companies across the Lend Lease
Group including Property and Financial Services
with his last position before moving being General
Manager Finance for Lend Lease Corporation.
Prior to Lend Lease he was with Chartered
Accounting firm Deloitte,

I'CH:

John Frederick Astbury FAICD
Chairman Audit Committee and Member,
Corporate Governance Committee
Mr Astbury Is also a Director of AMP Limited since
September 2004 and of FAG Limited since April 200T
He was previously Finance Director of Lend Lease
Corporation Limited and a Chief General Manager,
National Australia Bank Limited. Fe had a long
career in banking and financial services in both the
UK and Australia.

My Astbury was appointed a Divector of
Woolworths Limited in January 2004, Age 62.

Siephen B Mayne
lowing statement is based on information
s Mavne with his nomination.

S[vp e '\%avnv is a Walkley Award-winning
busines ;ourz:al. ist and a retail corporate governance
campaigner. He founded the independent website
wiwwcrikevcomiau, and is a co-founder of People
Powaer, & new political party which campaigns for
greater accountability in public life. Fe hag stated

that he s standing on a platform that Woolworths
civests its pambling interests, notably appmximatf‘[}-’
6,000 poker machines operated by ite 75
subsidiary ALF Group Pry Lid {and Al H s whoily-
owned subsidiaries), in the interests of ereates
corporate social responsibility. It is Mr Mayne's beffel
that a company such as Woolworths should not be
Australia’s [&wvst operator of poker machine venues
due to what My Mavne considers to be the social
damage thay cause.

Mr Mayne recetved a Bachelor of Commerce degree
fronm the University of Melbourne. Age 37,

Michael Gerard Luscombe
Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director
Mg Luscombe is a graduate of Monash University
and Monash Mt Eiiza Business School, In 1992, as
a graduate of the Victorian Community Leadership
Programme, he was made a Williamson Fellow.

Mr Lugcombe is a long-term employee of
Woolworths. His career extends over twenty-
eizhi vears starting as a Management Trainee in
Woobworths Victoria,

He was appointed Chief Executive Otficer and
Managing Director on 1 October, succeeding
My Roper Corbett. Mr Luscombe wag appointed
Chiel Operating Officer in June 2006, having been
Director of Supermarkets since September 2004, Prior
to that Mr Luscombe held positions as Chief General
Manager Supermarkets, Buying and Marketing,
General Manager Supply Chain, General Manager
Buving Long Life Products for Supermarkets, Safeway
'\Evu}mmham;‘j and Marketing Manages, Senior
Category Manages, Safeway Retail Operations
Manager, Area Manager, Training and Development
Manager, and Store Manager.

Mr Lugcombe was appointed a Divector of
Woolworths Limited in June 2006, Age 33

REd

James Alexander Strong

Chairman. Member Corporate Governance
Committee, Audit Committee and Personnel
Policy Committee

M Strong s cwrrently Chairman of Insurance
Australia Group Limited (IAG), Rip Canl Group Py
Licd and the Australia Council for ihv Arts. He is also
a Divector of Qantas Alrways Limited. Mr Strong

is aleo & member of the boards of various sporting
arganisations.

Fe was the Chief Executive and Managing Director
of Qantas Alrways Limited until March 2001, and
previcusly the Chief Executive of Australian Alriines
Limited, Managing Partner and National Chairman
of Corrs Chambers Westgarth Solicitors and Group
Chief Executive of DB Group Limited (New Zealand}.




He was appointed a Director of Woeolworths Limited
in March 2000 and Chairman in April, 2001, Age 62

The Divectors, having comducted an assessment of the
performance of ench of My Strong and Mr Astbury,
beliewe that il is in the Interests of shaveholders that each
candidale be re-elected ag ¢ member of the Board, and

veconmmends (iwith My Strong and My Astbury abstafning

fronat voting in vespect of his owm appoiniment) that you
vote i1 frvour of ench corresponding resoludion.

The Directors recommend that My Luscombe and
My Pockett be elected as menbers of the Board, and
recontmenst (with Mr Luscombe albstaining from voting
in respect of his ewn appointment) that you vofe in
fazour of the corresponding resolitions.

Having vegard lo the scale and complexity of
the Compary's business, ench Dirvector believes
that My Mayne does nol have the experience and
skill regquived of @ Divector of Woolworths Lintited.
Therefore, each Divector beligves that it is not in the
best fnterests of shareholders that Mr Mayne be elected,
and recommends that shaveholders voke against the
corresporling resolution,

The folloeing fable summarises the Director’s
recommendations in relation to voting on the election
of candidates to the Board, as detailed above:

Candidates whorn  Candidates whom
the Direciors the Directors
FEGORRHTI RN racommend you

Candidate wou vote FOR vote AGAINST
Thomas William Pockett o

Jahn Frederick Astbury .

Stephen D Mayne ©
Michael Gerard tuscombe .

James Alexander Strong .

4. Execative Divectors’ Options
The purpose of Resolutions 44a) and (b} is to approve
the grant of up to 1,340,000 options ("Options™)
to the Company’s Group Managing Director and
Chief Executive Officer (“CEO™, Mr Luscombe
arwl the grant of up to 750,000 options to the
Company’s Director of Finance, Mr Pockett, under
the Woolworths Long Ferm Incentive Plan {"Flan™).
Resolution 4¢b} s being put to shareholders in
anticipation of Mr Pockett being elected to the Board
frefar o Explanatory Notes relating to Resolution 3),
and being & Director at the grant date of the Options,
The Plan was approved by shareholders in
November 2004 and includes four sepazate sub-
plans. The sub-plans relate to Options, Performance
Rights, Performance Shares and Awards respectively.
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Subject to approval by members, the Board proposes
that Options will be issued o Mr Luscombe and

Mr Pockett under the Plan and on the terms
swmimarised below, In the Board's view, the hagdles
which must be satistied before the Options are
exercisable [ink the wtimate value of the Cptions to
the continued growth in the Compary’s earmings and
further improvements in total shareholder returns.
They will also provide a major incentive for both

Mr Luscombe and My Pockett o ensure that the
Company will continue its supetior performance.

It shiould be noted that the issue of options to
senior executives is a well established and standard
component of the Company’s remuneration
structures. The Directors, other than Mr Luscombe
in view of his personal interest in the resolutions,
believe it is appropriate to grant Mr Luscombe and
Mr Pockett the Options under the Plan.

Summary of the Option Sub-plan

Asummary of the key features of the long-term
incentive arrangements for the grants of Options to
eligible Emplovees {ncluding Execative Directors)
ander the Plan is set out below. A grant of Options to
a particular Emplovee is subject to the Plan Rules and
the terms of the specitic grant.

Invitation to Participate - selected Employees
will be Invited to apply for up to a speciiled number
of Options.

Options are Non-transferable - an Option
granted to an Emplovee is not transterable, except
with express approval or by foree of law on death o
legal incapacity.

Exercise Price ~ the exetcise price will be the
amount determined by the calculation of the volume
weighted average price of the Company’s Shares
traded on the five trading days prior to the effective
grant date (“Effective Date”) of the Optlons.

Performance Hurdles - the Board has determined
that the vesting or exercise of Options is to be
conditional on the achievement of performance
hurdles set out in the terms of the specific grant.

Proposed Grant of Options to Mr Luscombe
and Mr Pockett

Fnitial grant

Itig anticipated that the first grant of Options to
Mr Luscombe and My Pockett undey the Plan will
e made in 2006 Ghe “2006 Grant™). The maximum
number of Gptions that will be granted to

Mr Luscombe and My Pockett undes the 2006 Grant
will be determined by the Directors, but will not
exceed 500,66 in the case of My Luscombe, and
ZRG,000 in the case of Mr Pockett,



Maximum number of Options issued under the Plan
The maximurm number of Gptions that may be
acquired by all participants under the Plan for whom
shareholder approval is required is 2,250,000

Price

The Options will be issued at no cost to Mr Luscombe

and Mr Pockett. The Optiong will be exercisable,

subject to the vesting and exercise conditions
described below being met, at a price per Option of:

- in refation o Options in the 200 Grant, $19.47,
being the volume weighted average price of the
Compary's shares traded on the ASX on the tive
trading days prior to 1 July 2006, and

- in relation to Options granted after the 2006 Grant,
an amount that is the volume weighted average
price of the Company’s shares traded on the ASX
on the tive trading davs prior to the Effective Date
of those Options.

e

Performance Hurdles for the 2006 Grant
Performance Hurdles applicable to both

Mr Pockett and My Luscoimbe

Dretails of the current performance hurdles that will
apply to alt of the Options granted to Mr Pockelt
and to at least 50% of the Options granted to

Mr Luscombe in the 2006 Grant, are set out below,
It Is anticipated that the performance hurdles for
Options granted to My Pockett in 2007 and 2008, and
at feast 50% of the Crptions granted to Mr Luscombe
in those vears, will be made on similar terms
falthough this has not been finaily detesmined).

Percentage of Options

Tranche irs total grant that vest

The performance hurdles that will apply to the
remainder of the Options granted to Mr Lusconbe
in the 2006 Grant are detailed on page [15].

For the avoidance of doubt, references in this
section to the “total grant” or “total number of
Options” should be read in the case of Mr Luscombe
ag teferences to the 5% or more of his Options that
will be subject to these hurdies.

Options granted to Eligible Executives will be
fssued on the basis of Earnings Per Share ("EPS™)
performance hurdle vesting conditions for 50% of
the total number of Options granted and a Total
Shareholder Retum ("TSRY performance hurdle
vesting condition for the remaining 50% of the
Options pranted.

Options will vest in five tranches, each of which hag
different performance hurdles. Options in Tranches 1
and 2 vest four vears after the Effective Date provided
the performance hurdles are met. Options in Tranches
3 tor 5 vest tive vears after the Effective Date, provided
the performance hurdles are met.

Vested Options may only be exercised after the
fifth anniversary of the Effective Date unless the
early exercise provisions of the Rales apply {see
below). All unexercised Options lapse on the expiry
date {which is five vears and six months alter the
Effective Date). These exercise conditions and the
performance hurdles for vesting are summarised in
the following table.

Performance hurdle

to be achisved Exarcise pariod

12.5%

Average annual
EPS growth of
a. over 4 years

From the fifth anniversary of the
Effective Date to the expiry date

Average annual
EPS growth of
a. over 4 years

From the fifth anniversary of the
Effective Date to the expiry date

Average annual
EPS growth of
a. vver b years

From the fifth anniversary of the
Effective Date to the expiry date

Tranche 4 12.5% Average annual
EPS growth of

11% p.a. over b years

Tranche 5 12.5% ~ 50% TSR hurdle

From the fifth anniversary of the
Effective Date to the expiry date

From the fifth anniversary of the
Effective Bate to the expiry date




Earnings Per Share Performance Hurdle
for Vesting
The performance hurdles for the Options comprizsed
in Tranches 1 to 4 (representing 30% of the total
grant) are based on the growth of Woolworths’
Earnings Per Share from one financial vear to
bhie mext.

Of the Gptions comprised in Tranches 1 and 2, the
namber of Options that will vest at the end of four
vodrs from the Effective Date will be as follows:

- (Tranche 1): if the average annual EPS growth owver
the period from the Effective Date to the fourth
anniversary of the Effective Date is at least 1

15

(3% per
5% of the total grant of

annum compounded, 12
Options vest; and

- (Tranche 2): if the average annual EPS growth over
the period from the E

ective Date to the fourth
anniversary of the E

wotive Date Is at least 11% per
ansum L‘(']I’!’l}.’)(')z_lﬂd@d, ars additional 12.5% of the
total grant of Options vest.
(M the Optmns comprised in Tranches 3 and 4, the
namber of Options that will vest at the end of fve
vears from the E. chive Date will be as follows:
- (Tranche 3): if the average annual EPS growth
over the pei.md from the Effective Date to the fifth
anniversary of the Effective Date 15 at [east 10% per
annum compounded, 12.5% of the total grant of
Options ves '; and
- (Tranche 43: if the average annual EPS growth
over the pe: (:}d from the Effective Date to the tifth
anniversary of the Effective Date is Cli least 11% per
annum compounded, an additional 4 oof the
total grant of Options vest.
Earnings Per Share is the non-dilutive EPS which
wiil be measured as the net profit after outside equity
interests divided by the weighted average number of
Shares on issue (where the closing balance of Shares
on issue includes ordinary Share issues and dividend
reinvestment plan issues) over the relevant period.

T

Total Shareholder Return Perfonmance Hurdle
for Vesting

The performance hurdle relating to Tranche 5
{representing the remaining 50% of the grant} is
based on the relative growth } in the Woolworths'
Accumudative Index (which s a measurerment of
Woolworths” TSR], over the perl(:;d of five vears from
the Effective Date, compared with the TSR growth
of & peer group of comparable companies. IF growth
in the Woolworths” Accumulative Index vquais or
exceeds the nominated percentile ranking of T5R
growth of the peer group of companies, Options will
vest in accordance with the table below.

Fou the purposes of this caleulation, the peer group

will be the constituent companies (from time to

time} of the Accumulation Index which is prepared

by reference to the S&P/ASX 10 Industaial Index
{excluding companies in the ASX Banks and Finance
Accumulation Tndes, ASX Resources and ASX Trasts
and any companies that have merged, had a share
reconstruction or been delisted as at the measuzement
date}, collectively referred to as the “Comparator
Companies”,

Broadly, TSR measures growth in a company's
share price plus dividends notionally reinvested in the
company’s shares,

For the purpose of measuring TSR performance,

a three-month smoothing period will be used to
eliminate market volatility. Using the Accumnulation
Index, the Comparator Compantes will be ranked
with the company with the highest TSR fizure having
the highest ranking and the other companies ranked
below it according to their respective TSR figures, in
descending order.

The numbrer of Options in Tranche 5 which vest
depends upon Woolworths” TSR figure relative
to the percentile performance of the Comparator
Companies, as follows:

Weoolworths TSB equals
of excaeds the following
percentite of the

Comparastor Companies

Parcentage of Options
i total grant that vest

a0th percentile 12.5%
8hth percentile 25.0%
7Oth percentile 37.5%
7ath percentils 50.0%

Where Woolworths” TSR falls between two of the
stated percentiles, the percentage of Options that
become vested will be pro rata on the basis of the
Woolworths' TSR performance.

Performance Hurdles applicable o

Mr Luscombe only

Up to 5% of the Options granted to My Luscombe
under the 2006 Grant will be subject to different
performance hurdles to those specified above. While
the performance hurdles for each Tranche will be of
asimilar nature, they will need to be achieved over a
three-year period {rather than the four-vear period
that applies to Tranches 1 and 2 above, and the five-
vear period that appiies to Tranches 3 to 5 above). In
addition, any Options which vest in Mr Luscombe
under these varied hurdies will be exercisable from
the third anniversary of the Effective Date {rathes
than from the ith anniversary of the Effective Date,
which appiies to the other Options).

The performance hurdles that will apply to ap
£ B0% of Mr Luscombe’s Options in grants made
during 2007 and 2008 have not vet been determined.

X3




Other terms of the Options

Exercise of Options - the Board will prescribe a date
or dates on which Options become exercisable. On

or after the prescribed date, and provided any othes
vesting or exercise conditions prescribed by the Board
have been achieved, the Emplovee may acquire that
number of the Shares by exetcising the same number
of Options, An Option will expire if it is not exercised
within the [ite of the Option.

Early Exercise — carly exercise of the Options
may be permitted at the discretion of the Board, or
its delegate, if the Emploves ceases employment
with apy participating Woolworths Group company
(“Participating Company”} in clreumstances
such as death, retirement, ceasing emplovment
because of iliness, incapacity, redundancy or where
otherwise permitted by the Board or its delegate.
Early exercise of Cptions may also be permitted on
a takeover, scheme of arrangement, or winding up
of Woolwarths, subject to Board or its delegate’s
approval.

Unexercised Options of Emplovees whose
et {'a\rmen[' is ferminated for cause may only be
exercised if permitted at the discretion of the Board
o its delegate.

Entitlement on Exercise - on exercise of Cptions,
Woolworths will issue the Shares resulting from
the exercise of Options to the person exercising
the Options.

Reconstruction and Bonus Issues — an Emploves’s
entitlement to Shages Lmdvl an Oiption will be
adjusted to take account of capital reconstructions
and bonug issues as if the Option had been exercised
before the determination of entitlements in respect of
Ehose issues.

Restriction on Disposal of Shares — the Board
may impose 4 vestriction on disposal of Shages issued
on exercise of an Option.

Other information relating to the proposed grant
of Options

ASX Listing Rule 10514 provides that a Hsted compatny
must not permit a Director to acquire Shares or

rights to Shares ander an employee incentive scheme
it the approval of shareholders by ordinary
olttion,

Inaccordance with Listing Rules 10,14 and 1015
the folowing additional information is provided for
shareholders:

- No Digector othey than Mr Luscombe and

M Pockett is eligible to participate in the issue

of Options under the Woolworths Long Term

fncentive Plan the subject of resolutions 4{a} and

fby. No Director has received any grants of Options

under the Plan since the Plan was approved by
shareholders.

- Upon satisfaction of the relevant vesting conditions
as referred to above, each of Mr Luscombe and
Mr Pockett will be entitled to exercise each Option
and be ssued with one fully paid ordinary share
in the Company (subject to the terms of the issae
of the Options relating to capital reconstructions
of the Company and other matters required by the
Listing Rules).

- Noloan will be provided by the Company in
relation to the grant or exercise of the Options.

- I shazeholders approve resolution 4a) and (b a
maximum of 1,500,000 Gptions will be ssued to Mr
Lugcombe and a maximum of 750,000 Options will
be fssted to Mr Pockett by no later than three vears
after the passing of this resolution.

- Ay new member of the Board will not be issued
Options under the Plan until further shareholder
approval is obtained under the relevant ASX
Listing Rules.

- Details of Options or Shares ssued undet the

Plan in any financial vear will be published in the

Company’s Annual Report along with confirmation
that the issue was approved by sh&wim[d SEREN

accordance with ASX Listing Rule 10.14.

The Acceleration of Vesting

Under section 2008 of the Corporations Act, a
company may ohly give a person a benefit in
connection with thelr ceasing to hold a board

or managerial office in the company or a related
body corporate if it is approved by shareholders
or an exemption applies. Accordingly, approval is
also sought for any benefit which Mr Luscombe
and Mr Pockett may recelve under the Plan on
termination of their employment {(for example, if they
are totally and permanently disabled).

The Directors other than Mr Luscowtbe recomimensd Hat
shareholders vote in favour of Resolutions 4(a) and (5).
My Luscombe does nof give a recommendation in view
of his personal inferest in the resolutions.

5. Adoption of new Constitation
Since adoption, the Company’s Constitution has been
amended from time to time. While there have been
some amendments to address specific changes in the
Tawy, it has not been updated in a substantial fashion.
Having regard to the time which has elapsed since
the Constitution was adopted, and the specific nature
aof the subsequent changes, the Directors considered
that it was in the inlerests of good governance
to undertake a n‘}n“lps‘eh@m[\*e review of the
Comstitetion. As a result of that teview it is proposed




to apdate the Constitution in a cohesive faghion,
having regard to current law and practice, and recent
amendmaents to the Corperations Act 2007 {(“Act”) and
the ASX Listing Rules.

As some of those changes to the Constitution (such
as changes in terminology) would affect a substantial
number of Articles, it is proposed o adopt a new
Constitution, rather than amend the existing
document.

The majority of the changes introduced under the
new Constitution are administrative in nature, and
on this basis, the Company does not believe they will
have a significant tmpact on shareholders. To agsist
shareholders, a summary of the more signiticant
changes are set out below. (Unless indicated to the
contrasy, references to Articles below age references to
Articles in the proposed replacement Consgtitution.}

Share gualification of DHrectors (Article 10.15)
Under Article 1008 of the current Constitution,

each Director at the time of his or her appolntment
and while holding office as a Director, must be the
registered holder or beneficial owner {(whether alone
or jointly with another person) of at least 5,000 fully
paid ordinary shares in the Company.

Having regard to the current remuneration policy
for Directors and the signilicant increase in the
value of the Company's shares in recent years, it is
proposed to amend the constitutional requirement
that ail Digectors hold at least 5,000 shazes. Instead a
new Article 115 will enable the Beard to determine
poticies on shate ownership for non-executive
Directors from time to time. The Directors consides
that the increased dexibility of this provision will
allow the Directors to better reflect the interests of the
Comparry, by ensuring that non-executive Directors
have an equity interest in the Company which is
appropriate for the Company and the crcumstances
of the Directors from time to time. | is proposed
that initially, the Board will adopt & policy that
requizes non-executive Directors to satisfy a share
qualification of SN shares in the Company, which
may be held either personally, or theough a personal
superannuation fund.

Remuneration of Directors {Article 10.8}

In addition to the existing powers relating to Director

remunetation, the new Constitution will:

- make it expliclt that remunesation is provided
whotly in cash unless the board, with agreement of
the Director concerned, determine that part is to be
satisfied in the form of non-cash benefits, including
the purchase of shages or the grant of options to
stbseribe for shares. The sum determined by the
Company In general meeting does not include

remuneration fwhether in the form of share, option
or other equity plans) which has been separately
approved by the Company in general meeting,

o which is not required to be approved by the
Comparny in general meeting under the Listing
Rules;
provide that in making the determination above,
the THrectors may fix the value of any non-cash
benefit; and

make i expiiclt that the Director’s remuneration
accrues from day to day, except for any non-cash
benefit which is taken to accrue at the time the
benefit is provided, subject to the terms on which

the benetit is provided.

These changes are consistent with the more fexible
share qualification provision referred to above.

In relation (o superannuation contributions, it is
intended to include a new Article HLY which provides
that, if required by law, the Company may male
contributions to a fund for the purpose of making
provision for or obtaining superannuation benetits
for a Director, A contribution made by the Company
under this article will not be remuneration to which
any limit on total remuneration under Article U8
applies, provided the contribution is excluded from
the amount approved by shaseholders under the

Listing Rules.

Indemnity and Insurance provided
to Directors and Officers (Article 20)
The new Constitution will also have an updated
provision relating to the ingurance for, and
indemnification of, Divectors. In particular, itis
proposed to extend the existing Article in the
Constitution to permit indemnification and insurance
to be provided to officers of the Company genezally
{(whereas the existing Article is l[imited o current o
tormer Directors or Secretaries of the Company).

The changes are also intended to ensure that
the Article witl be consistent with the proposed
amendrment to the Trade Practices Act {which have vet
to be enacted at the date of this notice) and any other
future Australian legislation which may restrict how
the Company indemnifies its officers, by ensuring
that the provisions are those which are permitted by
Australian legisiation In torce from time to time.

Electronic Notices of Meeting (Article 8.3}
The new Constitution will expressly enable the
Company to provide notices of general meetings
to shareholders electronically, and refiects the
curzent provisions of the Corporations Act. Where
ashareholder elects to recelve notices electronically,
the Company proposes to send electronic notices of
meeting to them.




Retirement and Election of Directors {Article 10.3}
It is propoged to replace the existing clauses which
provide for the rotation of one-third of Directors at
each annual peneral meeting with an updated clause
which maore closely reflects the three-veay rotation
reguirements set out in Listing Rules 14.4 and 14.5,
and current corporate practice. The Listing Rules
require Directors to retire at the thisd annual general
mecting after thelr appointment or after three vears,
whichever is longer. It is proposed to remove the
additional requirement in the current Constitution
for & third of the Directors to retive each year. This s
expected to have [ittle practical impact.

Proportional Takeover Provisions in

the Constitation {Articles 6.9 fo 6.14)

At the annual general meeting of the Company held
on 21 November 2003, shareholders approved the
proportional takeover approval provisions in Articles
512 to 5.19 of the Company’s current Constitution
which prowvide that a transfer of shares resulting

from a propostional takeover bid made for shazes

in the Company cannot be registesed unless the
shareholders in general meeting approve the bid. This
followed shareholder approval of the insertion in the
Company's Constitution of the same provisions at the
298 and 200K annual general meetings.

Einder the Act proportional takeover approval
provisions must be renewed by shareholders every
three years or otherwise thev lapse and cease to
apply. The proportional takeover approval provisions
which are contained in Avticles 512 to 519 of the
Company's carrent Constitution were last approved
by shareholders on 21 November 2003 and hence will
cease to apply from 20 November 2006, The Directors
consider that it is in the interests of the Company’s
shareholders to have proportional takeover provisions
I the Constitution and shareholders are asked to
affirm the continued operation of Articles 512 to 5.19
inclusive, in materially the same terms, as Articles
6.5 to 6,14 of the new Constitution. Articles 6.9 to
614 of the new Constitution will cease to apply
after three vears unless rerewed by shareholders in
general meeting.

Etfect of proposed provision:

If Articles 6.9 to 6.14 are approved upon adoption of
the new Constitution and a proportional takeover
bid is made for a da hiares in the Company, the
Drirectors will be required to either convene a general
meeting of shareholders in that clags to vole ona
sofution to approve the proportional takeover bid or
to conduct a postal ballot to approve the proportional
takeover bid. The tesolution must be voted on at least
14 days before the bid ¢ The bidder and any
associates will be excluded from voting.

I'e

I the resolution is rejected by shareholders,
then the bid will be deemed to be withdrawn
and registration of any sharves resulting from the
proportional bid will be prohibited. Acceptances wiil
be retumned and any contracts formed by acceplances
will be rescinded.

I the resolution is approved, transfers of shares to
the bidder will be registered provided they comply
with other provisions of the Company’s Constitution.

IF no resolution is voted on at least 14 days before
the close of the bid then a resolution to approve the
bid will be deemed to have been passed in accordance
with these provisions.

In accordance with section 648G of the Act, the
provisions of the proposed Articles will expire three
vears from the date of the Annual General Meeting,
unless previously renewed by shareholdess by special
resolution.

Reasons for proposing resolution:

Part 6.5 Division 5 of the Act permits a company to
include proportional takeover approval provisions in
its constitution. A proportional takeover bid is & bid to
buy a specified portion of each shareholders shares,

The Directors consider that it is in the inferests of
the Company’s shareholders to have a proportional
takeover approval rule in its Constitution as it
gives shareholders the opportunity to vote on a
proposed proportional takeover bid. If the proposed
proportional takeover bid wete not subject to sach
a vote, control of the Company may be acquired by
a party holding less than a majority stake without
shareholders having the opportunity to dispose of
ail their shaves. This leaves shareholders at risk of
becoming part of a minority interest in the Compaty,
which would result in them suffering a decrease
in the value of thety shareholding as the reduced
apportunities to dispose of their remaining shares
would lead to lower prices for the Company's shares.

The proposed provisions give shareholders the
apportunity to decide whether a proportional
takeover bid should proceed. H it does proceed,
individual shareholders can make a separate decision
as 1o whether they wish o accept the bid for the
spectiied proportion of their shares.

Present acguisition proposals:

At the date of this Notice of Meeting, none of the
Directors is aware of any proposal by a person o
acguize, of ko increase the extent of, a substantial
interest in the Company.
Potential advantages ¢
The propesed provisions are considered advantageous
as they will enable the Directors to ascertain the
views of shareholders on any provisional takeover
bid. Apart from this, there is no specific advantage or




disadvantage for Directors, as divectors, on inserting
the proportional takeover approval provisions.

The provisions could make it easier for Divectors to
discharge their iduciary and statutory duties to the
Company and shareholders in respect of a bid as it

allows the Directors to formally ascertain the views of

shareholders in respect of the bid.

The provisions will ensure that all shareholders
wiil have the opportunity to consider a proportional
takeover bid and vote on whether it should be
permitted to proceed. This should engure that
the terms of any futuge proportional takeover
bict are structured to be attractive to a majority of
independent shareholders. Alternatively it may be
argued that the takeover approval provisions make a
proportional takeover more difficudt to achieve and
therefore proportional bids will be discouraged. This
in turn may reduce opportunities which shageholders
ray have to sell some of their shazes at an attractive
price to persons securing control of the Company and
mtay reduce an element of takeover speculation from
the Company's share price.

Administrative Changes
There are other changes between the existing

arl replacement Constitutions which are more

adrministrative in natuze, o which have regard fo

legislative changes which have occurred in the period
since the Constitution was last adopted. They include:

- updating proceduzes relating to redeemable
preference shages;

- apdating references to the ASX Market Rules,

ACH Clearing Rules and ASTC Settlement Rules
(this change is not material and simply reflects the
fact that definitions relating to these Ruales have
been replaced);

- including an express power of delegation for
Directors which is in substitution for, and to the
exciugion of, the power conferved by s198D of the
Corporations Act;

- clartiving that whilst acting as a Director, an
alternate Director is not an agent of the appointer,
and the alternate is responsible to the exclusion of
the appointer for alternate’s own acts and defaults;

- that the Company has a first and paramount lien on
each share registered in the name of the member
for all money payable to the Company by the
member ander any loans made under an emploves
incentive scheme;

- extending the Articles to give power to change the
place of a general meeting {and not just the date
and tirme};

- updating the provisions relating to genetal
notiffeation of changes to the general meeting,
This extends the existing Article by including

various methods by which notification may
ke made;

- including a provision about evidence of service
of notices, as well as updating the existing
provisions relating to notices; and

- removing coditication of the Corporations Act
provisions regasding notices of meatings, proxies
worting rights, and genesally incorporating by
treference the provisions as permitted by the
Corporations Act.

In addition, a number of redundant Articles in the

current Constitution have not been retained in the

proposed replacement Constitution. These include

Articles relating to:

shaze/option certificates and CHESS statements

{(existing Articles 2.11-2.15),

proceedings for the recovery of a call (existing

Article 4.11);

duplicate provisions relating to joint holders

{existing Article 6.7)

the forfeiture and surrender of shares (existing

Article 714 and 715);

votlng procedures applicable to different parcels of

parthy paid shares (existing Article 9.27);

the fact that a share qualification does not apply to

alternate directors (existing Article 12.8);

the powers conferred on a Managing Director and

Executive Director, and in particular, removing the

provision which provides that any such powers may

be concurrent with or to the exclusion of the powers
of the Directors {existing Avticle 12.38); and

the ranking of holders of restricted securities on a

winding up (existing Article 20.3).

While the majority of the changes to the Congtitution

are administrative in nature, the proposed

amendments are numerous. For this reason, the above
sammary is not an all-encompassing list but rather
asummary of the kev differences only. Coples of the
proposed replacement Constitution and the existing

Comstitution, can be viewed on the Company’s

website ab wwwwoolwortha.com.au or by contacting

the Company’s Share Registrar, Computershare

Investor Services Poy Limited on telephone

1300 368 664 or facsimile number ((13) 9473 2564,

Shareholders may also view a copy of the Company’s

Constitution at the office of Computershare Investor

Services Pty Limitee at Level 12, 565 Bourke Street,

Melbourse VIC 3000 or Level 3, 60 Carringlon Street,

Sypdney NSW 2000

-

The Divectors consider the adoption of the proposed

aew Constifution, fncluding the proposed proportional
takeerwer provisions, is in the best inferests of shareholders
and aceordingly vecowmmend thal you vote i favour of
the resolutfon.
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Voting directions fo your proxy - please mark X' fo indicate your directions

Ordinary Business Special Business:

2. Remuneration Report Executive Directors’ Options

dfa) Grant of Options to Group Managing
Director

Election of Directors
3a) To elect Mr Thomas William Pockett

as & Director*
4iby Grant of Cptions o Director of
3ib) To re-elect Mr John Frederick Astbury Finance

as & Director™
3fc} To elect Mr Stephen D Mayne as a
Director™

3id) To efect My Michaet Gerard Luscombe
as & Director*

5. Adoption of New Constitution

In addition to the intentlon advised sbove, the Chairman of the Meeting intends to vote
undirected proxies in favour of sach of the other Hems of business except ftemn 3{c}. The
Chairman of the meeting intends to vote undirected proxies against lem el

* If you mark the Abstain box for 2 particular Hem, you are directing your proogy not to vote
oy your behalf on a show of hands ar on @ poll and your votes wiff not be sounted in
computing the required majoridy on g poll,

Appom{;ng a second Proxy ** MPGRTANT: You may only vots in favour of a maximum of 4 candidates. Voles i favour
of B candidates will be invalid, Refer to the natrections overleal for more information.

3a) To re-slect Mr James Alexander
Strong as g Director™

#We wigh to appoint & gecond proxy

Mark with an "X if
you wish to appointa AND
second proxy.

tate the percentage of your voling rights or the
umber of securities for this Proxy Form,

PLEASE SIGN HERE  This section must be signed in accordance with the instructions overleaf fo enable your directions fo be implemented.
Individual or Securityholder 1 Securityholder 2 Securityholder 3

Sole Director and Sole Company Secretary Director DirectoriCompany Secretary
In addition to signing the Proxy form in the above box{es) please provide the information below in case we need fo contact you. / /
Contact Name Contact Daytime Telephone Date
B wow 2P X vz T



How to complete th_e Proxy Form

___'YourAddress T T T T e
- This is your address as it appears on the company’s share reglster ifthis mfcrmanon is incorrect, ptaase mark the box and make the correctaon_ '
.. on the form. Securityholders sponsored by a broker {in which case your reference number overleaf will commance thh an x) sheuld adwse
. your broker of any changes Please noie, you canmz cbange cwnersh:p cnf your sectmues usmg thls form o

- __'-:_Appoin_tment ofa Proxy s B R - :__ e e LT o
- H you wish to appoint the Chalrman of the Meeting as your proxy, mark ihe box. Ef the mdmduat or body corperaie Yo wmh te appemt as your_ -
- proxy Is someone other than the Chairman of the Mesting please write the full name of that individual or body corporate in the space provided. -

.. Hyou leave this section blank, or your named proxy does not attend the meeting, the Chairman of the Mesting will be your proxy. A proxy .
" neged not ba a secuntyhelder of the ccmpany Do net wme the name of tha zssuer company or the regsstered securﬁyhoider in the space :

~Votes on ifems ofBusmess T e e S

... You may direct your proxy how 1o vole by piacmg a mark in one of the three boxes cppesne each tiem ef business. Ali your securities watl be
- “voted in accordance with such a direction uniess you indicate only a portion-of voling rights are to be voted on any lem by inserting the

... percentage or number of securities you wish to vote in the appropriate box or boxes. f you do not mark any of the boxes on-a given item, - ™

.. your proxy may vole as he or she chooses. H you mark more than one box on an item your voie on that item will be invalid, unless the marks _'

. are a number or percentage of shares Ef you aitempt o vote m excess of your sharehoidmg on. the share reglster whether by one pruxy o )

- two, your vote will be invalid, o . N o e U : T SO

'- Hams 3{a) to 3{e) relate to the elect;on of D]ractors Thez‘a are five candldaies stamimg for f{)ur avaliable Board pesﬁms You may vote in
__'_'favour of up 1o four candidates. Voies In favour of five candidates will be invalld. You may vole against as many candidates as.you wish,

~ if the Chiairman of the Mesling is your proxy and you do not direct your proxy how 1o vote on lem 4{a) & 4(b), you must mark the box next _
‘10 the heading “IMPORTANT: FOR ITEM 4{a) & 4(b) BELOW" or the Chalrman of the Meeting will not be able to vote your proxy on that ftem. -
" The Chairman of the Meeting intends to vole undirected proxies in favour of ltem 4{a) & 4(b} and each of the other stems ef busmesa except
.. em 3{s). The Chairman of the Meeting- miends to vote undsrecied pmmes agamst tem 3{ 0. _

: .-.__'_'-Appomtment of a Second Pfoxy SRR TR S LT
- You are entitled o appoint up to two proxies to attend the meetmg and vote on a poEI if you w1sh to appemt a second pmxy, an addltlonat
Proxy Form may be _obtained by tetephonmg the campanys share registry or you may copy thrs ferm - _' T :

- To appoint a second. proxy you must: S R
{a) . indicate that you wish to appoint a second proxy by marking the box T T T e e T e e T

~- {b} . "on each of the first Proxy Form and the second Proxy Form state the perceniage of your Votmg nghts or number of secwmes applicabfe Ve
" o that form together being no more than 100% of your total shareholding). If the appointments do not specify the percemage of number. '
- of voles that each proxy may exercise, each proxy may exarcsse half your vetes Fractlons of Votes mli be disregarded ) )
e} .. return both forms mgeiher in ihe same envelope o . e L

.- Signing Instructions S

- You must s;gn ihls fﬂrm as follows in the spaces pmwded T e
U individuad: ... ~where the holding is in-one name, the hoidea‘ must : sugn Tl e T T
"~ Jolnt Holding: ~where the holding is in more than one name, all of the securﬁyheiders shouid sign. e

- Power Qf-_Attomey: -7 do sign under Power of Attomey, you must have already lodged this document with the regzstry if you have not
L T e e 7 previously lodged this documem for noiatsen piease aﬁach a cernfled photocopy of me Pewer ﬂf Atiomey to ih1s
- form when you refurn it - ' '_ .
. wherg the company has a Scie Director who i atse the Sole Company Secreiary, this form must be signed by that e
~..person. If the company {pursuant fo section 204A of the Corporations Act 2001} does not have a Company
Secretary. a Sole Dirgctor can also sign alone. Otherw;se this form must be 31gned by a Dzrectorjomily with enher

Ef a represeniatwa of a corparate Securaiyhoidar of proxy is to attend the meetmg the appropnate "Cemﬁcate of Appcmtment of Coa‘porate S
- 'Representative” should be prcduced prmr fo admtssmn A form of the certmcaia may be obiamed from the companys share reglstry orat.
I, computershara com.” : - e . S

 Lodgement of a Proxy ..... '

. .[This Proxy Form {and any Power of Am)mey undef whlch itis szgned) must be receaved at an address glven baiow ao iaier 1han 48 hours '. SRR
~.. before the commencement of the meetmg as shown on. the Notice of Meeting aftached. Any Proxy Form received affer that time will not be .
" valid for the scheduled mesfing. T T LT ey e e e T T

Documents may be lodged using the reply paid envelope or:

N PERSON  Ragistered Office - 1 Woolworths Way, Bella Vista, ONLINE  Proxies can also be lodged oniine via the following webpage:
NSW 2153 Australia <http:/fwww.computershare.comfaulproxy/wow>. To use this online
Share Registry - Compulershare Investor Services Pty Limited, facility you will need your Shareholder Reference Number {SRN)
Level 2, 60 Carringlon Street, Sydney NSW 2000 Australia or Holder tdentification Mumber (HiN} and postcode, as shown on

BY MAIL Registered Office - 1 Woolworths Way, Bella Vista, your proxy form. You will be taken to have signed your proxy if
NSW 2153 Australia you lodge it in accordance with the instructions on the website.
Share Registry - Compulershare investor Services Pty Limited, The online proxy facility may not be suitable for some
GPO Box 242, Melbourne VIC 8060 Australia securityholders who wish to splif their voles on an item of

BY FAX 8139473 2118 business or appoint two proxies with different voting directions.
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